
 
 
 
 

Tourism, Equalities, Communities & 
Culture Committee 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 17 June 2021 

Time: 4.00pm 

Venue Hove Town Hall - Council Chamber 

Members: Councillors:  Osborne (Joint Chair), Powell (Joint Chair), Rainey 
(Deputy Chair), Evans (Opposition Spokesperson), Grimshaw 
(Opposition Spokesperson), Simson (Group Spokesperson), 
Brown, Childs, Ebel and Littman 

Invitees: Lola Banjoko (B&H - CCG), Joanna Martindale (Community 
Voluntary Sector), Nick May (Sussex Police) and Stephanie Prior 

Contact: Mark Wall 
Head of Democratic Services 
01273 291006 
mark.wall@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Electronic agendas can also be accessed through our meetings app available through 
ModernGov: iOS/Windows/Android 
 

This agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 
 

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/modgov/9nblggh0c7s7#activetab=pivot:overviewtab
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB


AGENDA 
 

PART ONE Page 

 

 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

1 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declarations of Substitutes:  Where councillors are unable to 
attend a meeting, a substitute Member from the same political 
group may attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest:   
 

(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests; 
(b) Any other interests required to be registered under the local 

code; 
(c) Any other general interest as a result of which a decision on 

the matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting you or a 
partner more than a majority of other people or businesses in 
the ward/s affected by the decision. 

 
In each case, you need to declare  
(i) the item on the agenda the interest relates to; 
(ii) the nature of the interest; and 
(iii) whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest or some other 

interest. 
 
If unsure, Members should seek advice from the committee lawyer 
or administrator preferably before the meeting. 

 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public:  To consider whether, in view of 

the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
Note: Any item appearing in Part Two of the agenda states in its 

heading the category under which the information disclosed 
in the report is exempt from disclosure and therefore not 
available to the press and public. A list and description of 
the exempt categories is available for public inspection at 
Brighton and Hove Town Halls and on-line in the 
Constitution at part 7.1. 

 

 

2 MINUTES 9 - 34 

 To consider the minutes of the meeting held on the 11th March 2021.  

 Contact Officer: Mark Wall Tel: 01273 291006  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

3 CHAIRS COMMUNICATIONS  



 

4 CALL OVER  

 (a) Items (7 – 14) will be read out at the meeting and Members invited 
to reserve the items for consideration. 

 
(b) Those items not reserved will be taken as having been received 

and the reports’ recommendations agreed. 

 

 

5 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by members of the public: 
 
(a) Petitions: To receive any petitions notified by members of the 

public by the due date of the 3 June 2021; 
 
(b) Written Questions: To receive any questions submitted by the 

due date of 12 noon on the 11 June 2021; 
 
(c) Deputations: To receive any deputations submitted by the due 

date of 12 noon on the 11 June 2021. 

 

 

6 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by Members: 

(a) Petitions: To receive any petitions; 

(b) Written Questions: To consider any written questions; 

(c) Letters: To consider any letters; 

(d) Notices of Motion: to consider any Notices of Motion submitted 
directly to the Committee. 

 

 

7 ANTI-RACISM PLEDGE UPDATE 35 - 40 

 Report of the Executive Director for Housing, Neighbourhoods & 
Communities. 

 

 Contact Officer: Emma McDermott Tel: 01273 296805  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

8 TOURISM RECOVERY PLAN 41 - 80 

 Report of the Executive Director for Economy, Environment & Culture.  

 Contact Officer: Howard Barden Tel: 01273 292646  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

9 MHCLG FUNDING AWARD 81 - 106 

 Report of the Executive Director for Housing, Neighbourhoods & 
Communities. 

 

 Contact Officer: Jo Player Tel: 01273 292488  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   



 

10 CIL GOVERNANCE & S106 MEMBER PROTOCOL 107 - 132 

 Report of the Executive Director for Economy, Environment & Culture.  

 Contact Officer: Simon Barrett Tel: 01273 290000  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

11 BEACH CHALET FEASIBILITY STUDY AND LETTING POLICY 133 - 206 

 Report of the Executive Director for Economy, Environment & Culture.  

 Contact Officer: Ian Shurrock Tel: 01273 292084  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

12 URBAN DESIGN FRAMEWORK SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT (UDF SPD) 

207 - 466 

 Report of the Executive Director for Economy, Environment & Culture.  

 Contact Officer: Paula Goncalves Tel: 01273 292352  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

13 VOLK'S RAILWAY POTENTIAL IMPROVEMENTS 467 - 482 

 Report of the Executive Director for Economy, Environment & Culture.  

 Contact Officer: Ian Shurrock Tel: 01273 292084  
 Ward Affected: East Brighton; Queen's Park; 

Rottingdean Coastal 
  

 

14 NEW EVENT REQUESTS 2021  

 Report of the Executive Director for Economy, Environment & Culture (to 
follow). 

 

 Contact Officer: Ian Shurrock Tel: 01273 292084  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

15 ITEMS REFERRED FOR FULL COUNCIL  

 To consider items to be submitted to the 15 July 2021 Council meeting for 
information. 

In accordance with Procedure Rule 24.3a, the Committee may determine 
that any item is to be included in its report to Council. In addition, 
any Group may specify one further item to be included by notifying the 
Chief Executive no later than 10am on the eighth working day before the 
Council meeting at which the report is to be made, or if the Committee 
meeting take place after this deadline, immediately at the conclusion of 
the Committee meeting 

 

 
 

 
Date of Publication - Wednesday, 9 June 2021 

 

 



 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made on 
the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be raised 
can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fourth working day before the meeting. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
Infra-red hearing aids are available for use during the meeting. If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the receptionist on arrival. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Mark Wall, (01273 
291006, email mark.wall@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email democratic.services@brighton-
hove.gov.uk  
 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website.  At the 
start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  You 
should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 1998.  
Data collected during this web cast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy. 
 
Therefore, by entering the meeting room and using the seats in the chamber you are deemed 
to be consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for the purpose of web casting and/or Member training.  If members of the public 
do not wish to have their image captured, they should sit in the public gallery area. 
 
ACCESS NOTICE 
The Public Gallery is situated on the first floor of the Town Hall and is limited in size but does 
have 2 spaces designated for wheelchair users.  The lift cannot be used in an emergency.  
Evac Chairs are available for self-transfer and you are requested to inform Reception prior to 
going up to the Public Gallery.  For your own safety please do not go beyond the Ground 
Floor if you are unable to use the stairs. 
Please inform staff on Reception of this affects you so that you can be directed to the Council 
Chamber where you can watch the meeting or if you need to take part in the proceedings e.g. 
because you have submitted a public question. 
 
FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by council staff.  
It is vital that you follow their instructions: 

 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 

 Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

 Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further instructions; and 

 Do not re-enter the building until told that it is safe to do so. 

 

     

mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk




BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 
 

4.00pm 11 MARCH 2021 
 

VIRTUAL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present:  Councillor  Powell (Joint Chair), Osborne (Joint Chair), Ebel (Joint 
Deputy Chair), Evans (Opposition Spokesperson), Nemeth (Group 
Spokesperson), Grimshaw, Mac Cafferty, Mears, O'Quinn and Simson 

 
Other Members present: Joanna Martindale, Lola Banjoko, Nick May and 
Stephanie Prior.  

 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

69 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
69 (a) Declarations of substitutes 
 
69.1 There were no declarations of substitutes. 
 
69 (b) Declarations of interest 
 
69.2  Councillor Powell declared a personal and non-prejudicial interest in the matters on the 

agenda as she was employed by Sussex Police. She also stated that in relation to the 
matters concerning RISE, her partner consulted with and worked with Rise during 2017-
18 but not on the upcoming work included in the agenda. 

 
69.3 Councillor MacCafferty declared a personal and non-prejudicial interest in Item 80 as a 

members of the Dome and Pavilion. 
 
69.4  Councillor O’Quinn declared a personal and non-prejudicial interest in Item 80 as she 

held a trusteeship of the Brighton Dome Festival. 
 
69 (c) Exclusion of press and public 
 
69.5  In accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the committee 

considered whether the public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item of business on the grounds that it is likely in view of the 
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present during it, there would be disclosure to them of confidential information as 
defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act. 

 

7



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

69.6  RESOLVED: That the public be not excluded during consideration of any item of 
business on the agenda. 

 
70 MINUTES 
 
70.1 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the previous meeting held on the 14th January 2021 

be approved as a correct record of the meeting. 
 
70.2 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on the 19th November be amended. 
 
71 CHAIRS COMMUNICATIONS 
 
71.1 The Chair gave the following communications, the new Business and IP Centre based in 

Jubilee Library has been operating online during lockdown, working with the Brighton 
Chamber to deliver support to local businesses.  In February they held 18 online events 
and had 86 people attend them.  These events included: 

 Reset. Restart: workshops, individual and networking sessions*  

 Business Information Clinics  

 Workshops on how to use business databases  

The Reset. Restart programme is for established companies, sole traders and micro 
businesses and start-ups less than three years old.  It is designed to give people the 
skills they need to help get their business back on its feet. The Reset. Restart 
programme is being extended and the Business and IP Centre staff in Jubilee Library 
are working with the Brighton Chamber to re-run the workshops throughout April and 
May. 

 
72 CALL OVER 
 
72.1 The following items were reserved for discussion: 
 

Item 75 Prevent (preventing terrorism ad extremism) 
Item 76 Oxford Court PSPO Review (Gating Scheme) 
Item 77 Update on Anti-Racism Work 
Item 78 Libraries Strategy Procedures for Consultation and Engagement 
Item 79 City of Sanctuary Re-accreditation 
Item 80 Royal Pavilion and Museums Trust – Plan 2021/22  
Item 81 Brighton Dome Brighton Festival Report 2020-2021 
Item 83 Christmas Market 
Item 84 Commissioning of Domestic Violence and Abuse Services 
 

72.2 The Democratic Services Officer confirmed that following item listed on the agenda had 
been approved: 

 
Item 82 Review Assessment for City Plan Part One. 

 
 
 
 
 

8



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 
73 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 

(a) Petitions 
 

(i) Save Hove and Portslade Seafront 
 
73.1 The Chair thanked Andrea for the petition and stated that the council fully appreciated 

the important role it had to influence the well-being of residents and visitors across the 
wide-range of services that it provided from social care to waste collection as well as 
infrastructure improvement projects. Significant investment takes place in infrastructure 
projects which has included in recent years on the Seafront the restoration of the Shelter 
Hall and the West Pier Arches. However, with regards to the Seafront the age of the 
Victorian seafront infrastructure created a particular challenge. 

 
The council was responsible for maintenance across 13km of seafront which stretched 
from Hove Lagoon to Saltdean.  The maintenance of assets was not divided by 
geographical area but was prioritised by factors such as health and safety risk, condition 
and level of urgency. The planned maintenance of the seafront railings and seafront 
furniture falls under the Corporate Planned Maintenance budget. This budget stands at 
£3,003,603 in 2020-21 and covers planned maintenance works as well as statutory 
compliance works to all civic, operational and historic council buildings across our City. 
The latter covers around £1m of the total allocation and relates to fabric maintenance 
arrangements, such as clearance of roofs and gutters, graffiti removal, mechanical and 
electrical testing, boiler and lift servicing and legionella controls. Furthermore, there is 
£700k ring-fenced to support the maintenance of historic buildings held in two lease 
Trust arrangements. 
 
The remaining budget is prioritised in consultation with service Client officers to address 
the highest critical and most essential maintenance works using a works prioritisation 
matrix. Allocation is across the City as a whole and not divided between any specific 
geographic areas within. The aim is to ensure that statutory compliance works and 
higher risk Health and Safety issues are addressed. Essential maintenance includes 
works of a structural nature and those that keep our buildings watertight. 
 
Like most local authorities, the council faces a backlog in its required planned 
maintenance, extreme budget challenges and our small and limited maintenance 
budgets are inadequate for the need. Financial controls applied over a number of years 
have meant substantial cuts in what can be achieved within the annual programme. 
That in turn increases our prioritised volumes of required maintenance with associated 
risk. 
 
The seafront allocation for 2020-21 stands at £363,800. For holding structural repairs 
and health and safety works Madeira Terrace has been allocated £151,500. There is 
£100k for railing redecoration in Hove, £50k for shelter and bench repairs and an 
allocation of £37k for the Volk’s Railway. 

 

9



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 
The work is tendered to professional building contractors and decorators and overseen 
by council Building Surveyors – see above. 

 
It is necessary for expenditure to be prioritised due to the pressures on council budgets 
across the services that are provided. If residents wished to crowdfund to support 
maintenance of a specific restoration project agreed with the council, then such 
assistance would be welcome.” 

 
73.2 RESOLVED: That the petition be noted. 
 

(b) Written Questions 
 
73.3 Mr Jay Butler asked the following question, I have designed and now seek permission to 

install a Covid Memorial set into existing concrete on the undercliff at Ovingdean. This 
would require incising the design approximately 4cm into the surface then infilling with 
white concrete incorporating shells from the local beach. I am consulting with local 
community leaders, including our local vicar, who is in favour. This would be a 
community project requiring no material, installation or ongoing maintenance costs on 
the part of the council. Further I intend full consultation on Risk Assessment/ Health & 
Safety with the relevant authority for the installation period approximately four days.” 

 
73.4 The Chair thanked Mr Butler and replied, your suggestion sounds very interesting and 

I’m glad to hear you’re working on this with the local community. In terms of any 
consents you might need – I am advised you may need planning permission. I would 
suggest you send the details to the planning service and officers will provide you with 
informal advice. The email address for this will be sent to you after the meeting.  

 

Financial 
Year 

Location Amount 
spent/allocated 
from Planned 
Maintenance 
Budget 

Contractor 

2020/21 Hove Promenade -
seafront railings & 
shelters 

£150,000 allocated PH Beck Ltd 

2019/20 Brighton Kings Rd, 
Madeira Drive & 
Marine Parade – 
Seafront railings 

£246,345 

 
PH Beck Ltd 

2018/19 Hove Promenade - 2 x 
shelter refurbishment 

£163,651 JG&JR 
Lanridges 
 

2017/18 Hove Promenade – 
Hove Lagoon – Peace 
Statue seafront 
railings & shelters 

£239,472 Ellis Building 
Contractors 

2016/17 Brighton – Sections of 
Madeira Drive, Kings 
Road, Marine Parade. 

£166,100 Ellis Building 
Contractors 
 

10



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

Given the potential for causing long term maintenance problems by drilling or removing 
significant depths of concrete from the seawall and associated structures on the 
undercliff, the Council’s Coast Protection Manager would need to be satisfied by the 
design and installation specification.  He will be happy to make contact. 

 
73.5 Mr Butler asked a supplementary question and enquired if Councillor Mears could 

forward the design to Members of the Committee for further information.  
 
73.6 The Chair stated that the designs should be sent to officers in Planning, however he 

welcomed Councillor Mears’ extra details and asked that they be sent to the relevant 
officers. 

 
73.7 Mr Roy Pennington asked the following question,  TECC 19/11/2020 will be changed to 

reassure and respect tenants with indefinite agreements (see item 40 PUBLIC 
INVOLVEMENT (b) Written Questions (i) Beach Chalets Report Removal) and that the 
qualified decision made 14 January 2021 was thus made on inadequate and misleading 
data and must still require legal advice before implementation, how could the committee 
make such an wholly unreasonable and irrational decision to evict tenants with indefinite 
agreements without not revisiting the matter properly? 

 

73.8 The Chair replied, thank you Mr Pennington for your question and for bringing the matter 
to our attention. There was an error in the minutes of TECC on 19 November 2020 
when they were presented for approval on 14 January 2021. Your question related to 
the failure to record the comment from the Chair, when it was said that there would be a 
report to the January TECC Committee. The Chair’s comment was ‘we will listen to your 
concerns and the many valuable points made by people with indefinite licences.’  

 
When the committee on the 14 January was asked to approve the minutes of the 
November meeting, Councillor Amanda Evans raised the issue on behalf of Mr 
Pennington, who had emailed her, that there was an inaccuracy in the minutes and the 
Democratic Services Officer agreed to review the minutes. It was therefore clear to the 
Committee on the 14 January that the minutes were not accurate in one area.  

 
The committee did reconsider the matter in January and made a decision based on the 
officer report presented to them. The decision on the 14 January 2021 was not made 
with inadequate and misleading data. Our legal advisor has considered Mr Pennington’s 
question and has no concerns about the decision made by the committee on this date. 

 
73.9 Mr Pennington asked a supplementary question and enquired if the Committee had 

taken expert Counsel’s opinion and if so when the public would be informed. 
 
73.10 The Chair noted the question and requested that the Legal Advisor provide a written 

response. 
 
73.11 Mr Christopher Hawtree asked the following question, over two years ago I was told at 

this Committee, in a reply to a supplementary, that there would be a report on the 
current system of selection and allocation of book stock in our libraries. About a year 
ago I asked at this Committee when this report would appear but did not receive a reply. 
Can the Chair please tell us about securing this report forthwith, what with the failure of 
wholesalers Bertrams?  

11



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 
73.12 The Chair thanked Mr Hawtree for his question and stated that the issue of selection 

and allocation of book stock will link to our wider Libraries Strategy. Consultation and 
development of the strategy was halted last year because of the Covid pandemic but as 
outlined elsewhere on the agenda, it is recommended that this process now restarts .  If 
the recommendations are agreed, the Libraries Stock Policy will be considered 
alongside the Libraries Strategy at the November TECC committee. 

 
The council procures library stock and bibliographic services through the Jubilee Library 
PFI contract and this contract is unaffected by Bertrams going into administration. The 
council’s PFI partners have secured alternative suppliers to replace the sub-contract 
they had with Bertrams. 

 
It is worth noting that the council’s library staff already retain the responsibility for book 
selection and carry out this role in several ways.  This includes creating purchasing 
profiles for obvious book-buying such as getting the latest publications from top-selling 
authors, as well as selecting some of the more esoteric or locally focused stock 
themselves. 

 
73.13 Mr Hawtree asked a supplementary question and noted the emphasis on top selling 

authors and esoteric books over the importance of books that reflected the interests of 
communities and requested that the libraries report being authored due in November be 
brought forward.  

 
73.14 The Chair stated that this could not be brought forward as consultation was to be 

undertaken over the coming months. 
 
73.15 Ms Imogen Casebourne asked the following question, Does the Council agree that the 

document entitled Land Contamination: Risk Management, mentioned by the Council 
Leader in his reply to the deputation of 22/10/20, does not give details of safe 
remediation techniques?"     

 
73.16 The Chair thanked Ms Casebourne for her question and stated that as the Gas Works 

site is contaminated and requires remediation work - any future planning application on 
the Gas Works site will require detailed information to be submitted in accordance with 
national guidance called: Land contamination: risk management. 

 

The Chair further qualified that the document was new and that “Remediation is highly 
technical, regulated and is licensed and overseen by the Health and Safety Executive”  
In terms of your question about the Land Contamination: Risk Management (LCRM) 
guidance, no we don’t agree. It does give details of safe remediation techniques.  

 
He noted that the document was recently revised by the Environment Agency and 
published on 8th October 2020. The council must refer to this guidance, issued and 
agreed by central government, when considering contaminated sites. The revised 
guidance fully details options and steps to be carried out to ensure there is effective 
remediation proposed for contaminated sites. 

 
73.16 Ms Casebourne asked a supplementary question and requested a follow up meeting to 

look at how land risk management had been undertaken on sites. 

12



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 
73.17 The Chair stated that a meeting with officers could be arranged.  
 
73.18 Mr Stephen White asked the following question, in the interests of democracy, the 

council rightly encourages developers to engage with local communities concerning 
their planning applications prior to submission. But what happens when a developer fails 
to provide plans that are clear and sufficiently finalised for residents to be able to assess 
the full potential impact of the development on their own lives and on their 
neighbourhood and what effect, if any, might such a failure to provide a proper public 
consultation have on the council’s attitude to the developer’s planning application? 
  

 
73.19 The Chair thanked Mr White for his question and stated that he had been advised that 

the proposal for the Gas Works is at pre-application stage and this is the early stage at 
which we ask developers to engage with residents on big schemes like the Gas Works. 
For this reason, however, often the detail of the scheme hasn’t been fully worked up yet 
– particularly where the developer is still in early discussions with our planning officers. I 
understand this is the case in this instance.  
 
I appreciate this can be frustrating – but what it means is that some of the early 
comments received from residents can still help to shape the final proposals. I’m 
advised the planning application is due in the summer and I can assure you that 
residents will be consulted once it is received. The full details will be available, and you’ll 
be given time to look at these and make your comments. 
 

73.20 Mr White asked a supplementary question and enquired what could be done to deter 
developers from using the public consultation period as nothing more than a tick box 
exercise. 

 
73.21 The Head of Planning assured Mr White that while it was very difficult for developers to 

provide details, BHCC would push to provide as much information as possible. It was 
further noted that there was still an opportunity to influence and change proposals. 

 
73.22 Mr Pip Tyler asked the following question, the City Plan Part One was adopted in March 

2016 and Policy DA2 covered major development in East Brighton. The gasworks site 
was designated for 2,000 sqm of workspace and a minimum of 85 residential units. 
Providing a mix of dwelling type, tenure and size the design should positively contribute 
to the character of existing buildings in the area, creating an attractive urban 
environment. 

 
The current proposal is for around 700 dwellings - nearly 10X that in the City Plan – 
where did the changes to the Plan happen to encourage developers to think in this scale 
and mass? 

 
73.23 The Chair thanked Mr Tyler for his question and stated that the number of residential 

units allocated in the City Plan is expressed as a minimum. The reason for this is that 
there is a significant shortfall in meeting housing needs in Brighton & Hove. In terms of 
the proposal, it is the decision of a developer as to what they propose in their planning 
application, but they will be required to respond to all policies in the City Plan. These 
include design, sustainability, amenity and transport policies. Planning Officers with 

13



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

scrutinise the proposals once the planning application is submitted. It is expected to be 
received in the summer and residents will be consulted. 

 
73.24 Mr Tyler asked a supplementary question and enquired if residents will have a chance 

to have input on building plans in the city. 
 
73.25 The Chair confirmed that there would be opportunities for residents to submit their input 

to consultations that would be undertaken in future. 
 
73.26 Ms Ali Ceesay asked the following question on behalf of Ms Jean Calder, recent 

decisions regarding RISE suggest Council officers may have less of an understanding 
than they once had of the discrimination, harassment and violence suffered by the city’s 
women and girls and the legal protections that exist to protect their sex based rights. 
This creates a de facto equalities ‘pecking order’ which leaves the city’s females 
languishing near the bottom. What will councillors do to ensure that institutional sexism 
within the council is identified and challenge and that council personnel (and wherever 
possible partner agencies) are adequately trained and equipped to protect the sex 
based legal rights of women and girls? 

 
73.27 The Chair thanked Ms Ceesay for her question and stated that at Brighton & Hove City 

Council our commitment to equality and inclusion is unwavering. Our vision is for a more 
equal city where no one is left behind. We are proud to support the rights of women and 
girls in the work that we do. 

It is our shared priority to end domestic and sexual violence and abuse across the 
county and keep people safe. To support our work in this area we co-produced the Pan-
Sussex Strategic Framework for Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse 2020-
24. This sets out our vision for Brighton & Hove and East Sussex and aims for a future 
where everyone can live safe lives, without the threat or experience of domestic and 
sexual violence and abuse. 
 
Alongside our partners across Sussex we are working together to break down barriers 
between sectors and services, in neighbourhoods and communities, recognising that 
Domestic and Sexual Violence is everyone’s business; and that responsibility for 
tackling the issue is truly shared. 
 
The Council undertakes Equality Impact Assessments when designing or redesigning 
services which explores impacts on every protected characteristic, including sex. We 
believe in both meeting and going beyond the legal minimum set by the Equality Act to 
champion truly inclusive and intersectional practice.  
 
We took a leading role in supporting residents and communities in our city in the context 
of COVID-19 crisis – recognising the disproportionate impact on women and girls. 
Throughout the pandemic we have responded to local and national gender-based 
research and are working in partnership with our Community and Voluntary Sector and 
to ensure that issues impacting women and girls are understood and addressed 
throughout the crisis. We have also taken huge steps to support children and families – 
including creating new food banks and giving direct individual support. 
 

14



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

The council also commissions and provides focused activities and events for women 
and girls in the city in areas where women are underrepresented, such as in sport.  58% 
of council staff are women, not including school’s staff. We have a higher representation 
of women in senior positions. 61% of staff being paid at the upper pay band are women. 
As a result, our gender pay gap is the opposite of the national gender pay gap, with on 
average women being paid more than men across our workforce. 

Women may be attracted to the council due to our generous flexible working 
opportunities and support. We deliver workshops and development opportunities to 
support women – such as ‘support during the menopause’ and ‘active bystander’ 
training. 
 
We also have a range of policies in place to support and educate staff including ‘Support 
for Employees experiencing Domestic Violence & Abuse or Sexual Violence’ and 
guidance on addressing domestic violence abuse, sexual violence and other violence 
against women and girls crime types in commissioning and procurement activity. 

Finally, we also celebrate women with annual events as part of International Women’s 
Day. This year we asked council staff to challenge and call out gender bias and 
inequality and actively celebrate women's achievements. Our fantastic Women’s 
Network put on a day of activities for women focused on self-care and have provided 
peer to peer support for women throughout the pandemic. Our Women’s network 
provides a place for staff to seek support and ensure we’re able to consider the needs of 
women in everything that we do.” 

 
73.28 Ms Ceesay asked a supplementary question and requested that the Committee 

considered all survivors as relevant stakeholders in all issues going forward. 
 
73.29 The Chair agreed that it was vital for survivors to be involved in issues and that efforts 

were being undertaken to look at service user involvement. 
 
73.30 Ms Farnell asked the following question, When the current commission for Domestic 

Abuse services in the city started, six years ago, RISE were asked to set up The Portal 
as a very important central referral point for everyone who needs to access support. 
Now that this website is up and running, why has the council decided to scrap it and 
replace it with a ‘Victim Hub’? 

 
73.31 The Chair thanked Ms Farnell for her question and stated that there will be a single point 

of contact telephone number for the commissioned community-based domestic abuse 
service provided by Victim Support from 1st April. This will be promoted in advance of 
the contract going live. The Victim Hub is a multi-agency team based in the MASH 
(Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub) for ease of liaison with specialist safeguarding teams, 
incorporating Sussex Police, IDVAs (Independent Domestic Abuse Advisors), ISVAs 
(Independent Sexual Violence Advisors) and Stalking and Harassment Support 
Workers. The Victims Hub model has been co-designed with cross-sector partners 
involved in risk assessment, referral and initial assessment, to improve victim 
experience and outcomes through focus on service pathways and being trauma 
informed. The more we can reduce the number of times a victim has to tell their story, 
the more likely they are to remain engaged with both support and criminal justice 
services. 

15



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 
73.32 As a supplementary Ms Farnell noted that the vast majority of users didn’t see 

themselves as victims and sought contact details regarding victim hubs. 
 
73.33 The Chair offered to provide a written response. 
 
73.34 Ms Alice Strutt addressed the panel and gave the following question: 

"The UN’s Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women recommended in 2017 that 
“States should allocate adequate financial and human resources for the adequate 
implementation of integrated policies, measures and programmes to prevent and 
combat gender-based violence against women, including appropriate financial and 
human resources for the establishment and running of shelters, including those 
operated by non-governmental organizations.” Does the committee think that services 
for survivors of domestic abuse in Brighton & Hove are more, or less likely to be 
integrated after April 1st, given there are to be three organisations delivering them 
instead of one?"  

 
73.35 The Chair thanked Ms Strutt and stated that with Victim Support also taking on the 

higher risk referrals from 1st April, we expect the pathways into services to become even 
more integrated for victim/ survivors. As part of our social value evaluation of tender 
submissions, successful bidders were required to set out their approach to working 
collaboratively across the system, and in that spirit, Stonewater Ltd and Victim Support 
are already working closely to ensure that pathways into and out of refuge provision are 
integrated. 

 
73.36 As a supplementary Ms Strutt enquired why the cross-party working group had not been 

set up previously and noted that the post for Commissioner had been filled by 2 people 
and was in the process of rehiring. A written response was further requested. 

 
73.37 The Chair affirmed commitment to setting up a Working Group to consider this issue 

and agreed to provide a written response. 
 
73.38 Ms J Parnwell addressed the Committee and gave the following question, The Brighton 

& Hove City Council Social Value Framework states that “Every tender will have 
considered social value and have at least one outcome included, unless there is a 
legitimate reason not to”. It also says, “In considering the social value outcomes, 
commissioners and procurement officers will need to work out the weight given to social 
value, which in Brighton & Hove will range from 10-30%”. Please can you tell me what 
the social value outcomes were for Lots 1 and 5 of the procurement process for 
Domestic Abuse Services, how much weight these were given in the scoring process? 

 
73.39  The Chair thanked Ms Parnwell for her question and stated that the tender specification 

and quality questions were drafted in line with the Brighton and Hove Social Value 
Framework and the Social Value Act.  Social value was embedded in the quality 
questions which bidders were asked. Social value is referred to in the report which will 
be discussed later in the agenda. The report confirms that the Council met its obligations 
in relation to social value.  The Member Working Group which we will discuss later in the 
agenda may consider the Council’s approach to social value.  

 

16



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

I am sorry I am not able to provide detailed information about the evaluation. As I said at 
the outset, we have to protect the council and follow the legal advice we are given so 
that is why I cannot give you more precise information about the evaluation. 

 
73.40 Ms Parnwell referred to the report and enquired if BHCC would publish the equality 

impact assessment, tender document and evaluation documents to provide an 
explanation on how social value and equalities were included in this decision. Further 
clarity was sought on the points system used and if this was moderated by an external 
party. 

 
73.41 The Chair stated that the Working Group would look at many issues, it was requested 

that the legal team provide a written response. 
 
73.42 Ms A addressed the Committee and asked the following question, the Strategic 

Assessment of Crime and Community Safety, brought to this committee in May 2020, 
showed that 335 RISE clients expressed a need for housing in 2018-19, but the refuge 
only had capacity for 58 people. Calls to the helpline and referrals of people at high risk 
have increased since the start of the Covid pandemic.  
 
Will this committee make a commitment to ringfence the £600,000 of additional 
government funding so that local specialist organisations can create additional refuge 
places provided separately from the generic contract awarded to Stonewater Ltd? 

  
73.43  The Chair thanked Ms A for her question and stated that the council welcomed 

MHCLG’s decision to provide additional funding to support victims of domestic abuse. 
We welcome the Domestic Abuse Bill which is making its way through parliament. For 
the first time local authorities will be under a legal obligation to provide safe refuge for 
vulnerable women. MHCLG have provided strict requirements for this funding which the 
Council will need to meet. The funding provided will be subject of a future report to this 
committee.  

 
The Council will establish a fair and transparent process to determine how the funding is 
allocated.  

 
73.44 Ms A referred to the corporate plan 2020 goal of buying goods services locally and 

requested BHCC promise to make a commitment that allocations would be in line with 
this and asked that a written response be provided. 

 
73.45 The Chair noted that this was in the corporate plan and that the Member Working Group 

would look at this. 
 
73.46 Ms Nicola Benge addressed the Committee and asked the following question, A report 

to the NICE Committee in October 2018 said: “RISE and its subcontracted partner, 
Survivors Network, raise and invest significant funds in their own right to deliver services 
for victims and survivors outside The Portal and should be noted as key contributors to 
the funding landscape.” If RISE is no longer the main provider of refuge and casework 
services, it will be much harder for them to raise these additional funds, given that many 
dedicated grants rely on match funding. How will the council act to prevent this decision 
from destabilising RISE and therefore endangering their self-funded community 
services? 

17



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 
73.47 The Chair thanked Ms Benge for her question and stated that the Council is grateful for 

the service which RISE has provided. The Council has allocated additional funding to 
support the organisation and many members of the council have met with RISE. I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank RISE for working with new providers to ensure a 
smooth and safe transition so that services for very vulnerable users are not disrupted. 
Staff are having TUPE meetings, premises will be transferred.  

 
We would also like to take this opportunity to express support for the incoming 
providers. 

 
73.48 As a supplementary, Ms Benge noted that Rise was at the heart of the community of 

survivors who also provided serious and vital contributions and enquired no audit had 
been conducted into this issue. 

 
73.49 The Chair requested that Legal Team provide a written response. 
 
73.50 Ms Emily West addressed the Committee and asked the following question, how will the 

voice of service users be heard as part of the monitoring, evaluation and review of the 
new Domestic Abuse contracts? 

 
73.51  The Chair thanked Ms West for her question and stated that the contracts will be 

monitored against a suite of outcome key performance indicated. These KPIs included:  

90% feel safe from external risks whilst living in the refuge 
90% leave feeling safer.  

 
In relation to the community-based services:  

 
80% report increased resilience and ability to cope. 
 

73.52 Ms West enquired if BHCC would commit to setting up an ongoing service user panel so 
that users were given a voice. 

 
73.53 The Chair stated that the Members Working Group would consider this and that this 

may need a report in future due to resource implications. 
 
73.54 Councillor Nemeth requested that all written responses be included and provided to 

members as a single document. 
 
73.55 The Chair agreed. 
 

(c) Deputations 
 
73.56 Mr Tancred presented his deputation. 
 
73.57  The Chair thanked Mr. Tancred and replied, with regards to the matters that you raise: 

1) Beach huts and beach chalets are different entities and therefore it is appropriate 
that the policies are specific to the requirements of beach huts and beach chalets 
separately. The beach huts are owned by local residents who pay a licence fee to 

18



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

place their hut on Council land. Beach huts are bought and sold on the open market. 
The beach chalets are owned by the Council and are let to local residents under a 
Chalet Licence Agreement. 

 
2) Consultation – the council wishes to listen to the views of residents and therefore an 

on-line consultation portal has been developed to enable that to be achieved as 
easily as possible. The council has limited resources and it is acknowledged that 
any consultation exercise can only be as accurate as the information submitted by 
consultees. 

 
3) Allocations of beach chalets – Beach chalets are allocated according to waiting lists 

and an individual is allocated to that waiting list if it is open to new applicants. 
 
As you will be aware the committee have agreed to a further report on the feasibility of 
providing new Beach Chalets, which will be considered at a future meeting of the 
committee.” 

 
73.58 RESOLVED: That the deputation be noted. 
 
74 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT 
 
 (a) Member Questions 
 

(i) Sea Swimming 
 
74.1 Councillor Nemeth asked the following question, “Given the increase in the number of 

sea swimmers in recent years, and given the prevalence of troubling safety incidents in 
West Hove, would the Chair support my call for a new lifeguard station, with associated 
safety flags and facilities, in Wish Ward?” 

 
74.2 The Chair replied, it is the council’s intention for summer 2021 to provide beach 

lifeguard cover which replicates, as far as is feasible, the pre-Covid lifeguard service. 
 This means that lifeguards would operate on the beach in West Hove over a 6 week 
period for the traditional school summer holiday. However, there are significant caveats 
to this which centre on the ability to recruit a sufficient number of qualified beach 
lifeguards to cover these posts, as well as compliance with whatever Covid restrictions 
and operating protocols may be in place at the time.   

 
During the pandemic beach lifeguard training and assessment courses have not been 
able to run and it is not clear when this restriction may be lifted.  On a national level this 
has significantly reduced the number of qualified beach lifeguards from which beach 
operators can select their seasonal staff.  The issue faced by the council is centred on 
the availability of appropriately qualified staff.  The council is aware that the number of 
sea swimmers and water users has grown exponentially in the past year.  This has been 
due in part to the prolonged period of warm weather we experienced, but principally due 
to the lack of alternative leisure opportunities and the number of resident and visitors 
who enjoyed staycations as a result of Covid-19 restrictions.  However, this sudden 
increase in sea users has affected all of our coastline, not just the beaches in Wish 
Ward.  Whilst we appreciate the number of people using the beaches in Wish Ward may 

19



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

have increased last year, when compared with other council operated beaches the 
physical, behavioural and environmental risk factors have not increased in parallel.” 

 
74.3 Councillor Nemeth requested that the Chair keep an open mind on this matter.  
 
74.4 The Chair confirmed that he always kept an open mind on matters. 
 

(ii) West Pier 
 
74.5 Councillor Nemeth asked the following question, “What is the Administration’s position 

on the future of the West Pier; a much-photographed tourist asset which is of course 
privately-owned but liable to collapse/deterioration?” 

 
74.6 The Chair replied, “The West Pier Trust as owners of the freehold of the original west 

pier, have consulted their members on the future of the pier.  It has been agreed that 
while a new contemporary West Pier remains a long term aim it is not achievable in the 
short to medium term.   The West Pier Trust have chosen to focus their fundraising 
efforts instead, on a restoration of one of the original old West Pier kiosks which would 
be placed at a designated site on the new landscaping to the east of i360 and would be 
used as a community and education centre.     It is also worth noting that two extremely 
beautifully replicated tollbooths from the West Pier also form part of the Brighton i360 
building and in this sense keep the spirit of the old pier very much alive on the current 
site. 

The council do not own the West Pier, or the landward end. The owner, the West Pier 
Trust is a charitable trust.   The council’s key role therefore has been to ensure the 
Section 106 obligations within the planning obligations are carried out in relation to the 
existing sea wreckage between the shore and the "sea island" (the remaining frame of 
the original pier head pavilion) .   Part of the wreckage was removed during the build of 
the i360 and the columns were relocated as part of the landscaping works.   The area 
between the shoreline and the sea island is inspected regularly by the Trust and where 
wreckage appears and is a potential danger to swimmers or small craft arrangements 
are made for its removal.” 

74.7 Councillor Nemeth requested the Chair push the West Pier Trust to make sure there 
was a plan in place. 

74.8 The Chair stated it was important to keep an open mind and suggested Councillors and 
himself look at the feasibility of meeting with West Pier Trust. 

 
(iii) King Alfred 

 
74.9 Councillor Nemeth asked the following question, “The last two King Alfred Leisure 

Centre development attempts collapse through proposals not being financially viable 
with the principal non-sport related net cost being ‘Affordable’ housing. What 
representations has the Chair of this committee made, in her capacity as head of sports 
for the City, to ensure that housing development dreams do not trump sports provision 
once again?” 

 

20



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

74.10  The Chair replied, “Replacing the ageing and deteriorating King Alfred Leisure Centre is 
a longstanding priority, the need for which increases year on year. The projects primary 
objective is to deliver improved, extended, and modern sports facilities, whether on the 
existing site or elsewhere in the west of the city. This forms a key element of the city-
wide Sports Facilities Investment Plan that is nearing completion, and which is 
scheduled to be reported to this committee in June. 

  
When terminating the previous project in October 2019, the Policy & Resources 
Committee agreed that, in formulating the next project, it must address financial viability. 
This has been a fundamental consideration in the development of the revised project. 
Whilst the delivery and financing arrangements are yet to be determined, an enabling 
development, predominantly much needed new homes, will be an essential part of the 
package. The number of homes and the level of affordable housing will be considered at 
the appropriate time and with due regard to financial viability.  

  
As chair of this committee I am in regular discussion with Councillor MacCafferty, 
Leader of the Council and Chair of the King Alfred Project Board, and we will continue to 
explore all ways possible to get the most we can from the site so it is of maximum 
benefit to local people” 

 
(iv) Urgent Call to Address Crime  

 
74.11 Councillor Childs asked the following question, “Given the intolerable level of 

harassment, drug crime and anti-social behaviour outside and around the Coop 
Supermarket on St James St, what urgent action will be taken by the Council and 
Sussex Police to prevent the lives of residents, Coop employees and customers being 
further blighted?” 

 
74.12  The Chair replied, “Thank you for the question Cllr Childs. I am aware that there have 

been two meetings with yourself and council officers, police colleagues and other 
partners to explore the issues regarding St James St and the issues around the Co-op. 
 Partners are working together to identify people of particular concern so that 
engagement can take place with them and appropriate support packages can 
be explored B&H Police regularly patrol the area and will continue to do so. A day of 
action was carried out by police on 2nd March in various spots across the city. One of 
which was St James’s Street with focus on the area at the back of the Co-Op. Letter 
drops were completed, whereby officers were knocking on doors of local residents to 
encourage reporting of crimes to the police, as well as obtaining any info from them, and 
listening to their concerns. It is vital that residents report instances of ASB and crime so 
that resources can be targeted where it is most appropriate to do so. 

 
Hi vis foot patrol in the area was conducted by 2 PCSO’s and 4 PC’s. Lots of residents 
were happy that the patrols were taking place and appreciated the impact they have. 

 
Reports of issues raised by the Co-op will be shared with the police via the Business 
Crime Reduction Partnership. Police colleagues have also been made aware of the new 
outreach service. There are currently ongoing discussions with the new provider to look 
into how they  will link into partnership work to address substance misuse related 
begging and ASB. I understand that the police alongside yourself, will look at any 
environmental changes which might be implemented to improve matters in the area and 

21



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

that once identified will be discussed with the store manager. The police have agreed to 
look at the use of community protection warnings to those individuals causing most 
concern.” 

 
74.13 Councillor Childs requested a policy be brought against hard drug use in public places. 
 
74.14 The Chair offered to consult further on this. 
 

(v) Fly-Posting on the Seafront 
 
74.15  Councillor Nemeth asked the following question, “Would the Chair join community 

groups, amenity societies and tourist businesses by making a strong and unequivocal 
statement against fly-posting on the Brighton & Hove seafront, and will she pledge to 
call on colleagues to investigate and prosecute where possible those participating in fly-
posting campaigns in tourist areas?” 

 
74.16  The Chair replied, “I agree that illegal fly-posting is a blight on the environment, whether 

the seafront or other areas. The legislation is very specific in relation to fly-posting in that 
the Fixed Penalty Notice can only be issued to the individual committing the act, not the 
venue or promoter relating to the event or promotion.  

 
The seafront forms part of the Environmental Enforcement Team’s patrol route, with 
officers patrolling extensively during the summer months, to deter environmental crimes, 
including fly-posting. Officers will issue a Fixed Penalty Notice to anyone caught fly-
posting.” 

 
74.17 Councillor Nemeth stated that there should be no distinction between illegal flyposting 

that was attractive and that wasn’t and that this must be brought down regardless. 
 
74.18 The Chair stated support for this and noted that the relevant department be involved in 

this. 
 

(vi) Funding for Memorial Plaque 
 

74.19 Councillor Childs asked the following question, “I was delighted that the Planning 
Committee agreed to the informative that I proposed to attach a plaque to the new 
development of the Coop Lewes Rd, in memorial to the 20 residents killed there by a 
Luftwaffe bomb in Sept 1940. Whilst the developers have agreed to assist with the cost, 
should there be a shortfall, would the Committee be prepared to consider funding given 
that the costs are likely to be in the hundreds of pounds only?” 

 
74.20  The Chair replied, “I very much welcome the proposal for a Blue Plaque to 

commemorate this sad event. I am advised by officers that this was supported strongly 
by Planning Committee and was secured by an informative attached to the planning 
permission.  

 
In terms of funding for this – officers would expect this to be funded by the applicant. I’m 
afraid there is no council funding available in these circumstances – however, I’m 
advised that the applicant attended committee and indicated their willingness to carry 
this out.”  

22



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 
74.21 Councillor Childs enquired if Committee would agree to work with Councillor Grimshaw 

and himself at considering alternative ways of commemorating other victims of this site. 
 
74.22 The Chair agreed to arrange a meeting to set a place to commemorate and start a 

project on this with regard to the City’s rich history. 
 

(vii) Communal Beach Hut 
 
74.23 Councillor Fishleigh asked the following question, “Whilst I appreciate that the council is 

reviewing its beach chalet and hut strategy, we have an urgent need for a communal 
beach hut in Saltdean which will provide a base and storage for the fast-growing 
Saltdean surf and swim club. 

 
Please can we put up a wooden beach hut on the Undercliff. We will pay for everything 
including insurance. We are also happy to pay ground rent to the council. 

 
It can be moved to a different location if necessary, once the beach 
chalet/hut strategy is agreed.” 

 
74.24  The Chair replied, “The seafront has become the most popular destination in the city for 

residents and visitors to spend their leisure time.  As a result, the council’s Seafront 
Team receive numerous requests from individuals, groups and businesses seeking to 
establish a presence on the seafront.  It is necessary therefore, for the council to 
carefully manage and control what is built on the seafront in order to protect that which 
makes the seafront such an appealing place to be.   

 
The addition of new buildings and facilities must follow due process and be considered 
within the wider strategy and policies for the seafront.  It is the council’s policy to tender 
any opportunities to build or develop land on the seafront whenever these become 
available.  This is to ensure all new property opportunities, whether for commercial or 
community use, are offered in a fair and open way.   

 
The council therefore cannot give consent to for a beach hut to be built on the 
Undercliff.  However, if the Saltdean Surf and Swim Club are looking for temporary 
storage for beach specific equipment which cannot be accommodated elsewhere then 
officers will be pleased to link with the Club to identify whether there is any space within 
existing council premises.” 

 
(b) Member Letter 

 
74.25 Councillor Powell addressed the Committee and read her letter. 
 
74.26 RESOLVED – That the letter be noted. 
 

(c) Member Notices of Motion 
 

(i) Register of Heritage Assets 
 

23



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 74.27 The Chair noted the motion and informed the committee that as requested at full Council 
he had asked officers to prepare a report for a future meeting of the committee. 

 
74.28 RESOLVED: That the information be noted, and a report be brought back to a future 

meeting of the committee.  
 

(ii) Commitment to Helping Those with Hidden Disabilities 
 
74.29  The Chair referred to the motion and stated that Brighton & Hove City is committed to 

helping disabled people, including those with hidden disabilities and conditions. The 
Council will be developing an action plan, and undertaking a programme of work in 
2021, with the central aim of creating a more inclusive and accessible city for disabled 
people.  

 
This work will be co-produced between the council, relevant partner organisations and 
disabled people. We are engaging with local Community and Voluntary Sector 
organisations and social enterprises that support and work with disabled people 
(including people with hidden disabilities and conditions) to explore the scope of this 
programme.  

 
Through this process we will be focusing on a number of themes to support collective 
progress towards aspirations around accessibility. This will include supporting council 
services and local businesses to become more inclusive and accessible for disabled 
people. 

 
We are keen to explore the Hidden Disabilities Sunflower scheme as part of this work, 
alongside other positive schemes, in partnership with disabled people. We recognise the 
national reach of this scheme and are happy to consider what its impact will be locally. 
Our aim is to drive forward and promote initiatives and schemes that will have the most 
impact for disabled people and positive outcomes for creating a more accessible city. 
Through our programme of research, engagement and collaboration we believe we will 
be best placed to do this effectively. 

 
In addition to the above, Brighton & Hove City Council also continues supporting 
disabled residents and staff through a variety of positive initiatives and approaches. We 
continue to offer opportunities through our Supported Employment Programme – an 
employability skills programme aimed at disabled people (including those with hidden 
disabilities and conditions). 

 
We also continue to develop our skills and understanding with a range of learning and 
development opportunities for staff including, Dyslexia and Neurodiversity in the 
Workplace, Inclusion Essentials, Inclusive Leadership, Making Reasonable 
Adjustments, Mental Health Awareness, Suicide Awareness, and Resilience training. 

 
We continue to engage with and support local events including Disability Pride and 
What’s Out There and we celebrated neurodiversity day this year with an in-house event 
for staff led by our Disabled Workers and Carers Network. 

 
The council has a number of projects underway in relation to accessibility including a 
project on Assistive Technology, and another on responding to the new digital 

24



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

accessibility laws. We will be developing guidance and a training programme to support 
this agenda. 

 
Co-production is central to our approach towards equality and inclusion. We work in 
partnership with our Disabled Workers and Carers Network on matters around 
accessibility and inclusion for disabled staff. For example, through this partnership 
working we are developing guidance and resources for managers to support 
neurodiverse staff, staff well workforce surveys, and new policies. 

 
We will continue to work with our Disabled Workers and Carers Network on shared aims 
around accessibility, including support for those with hidden disabilities and conditions. 
We will also seek their views on schemes like the Hidden Disability Sunflower scheme 
and explore if this would be effective for staff in the council. This will be aligned to our 
wider programme of work to create a more inclusive and accessible city for residents, 
outlined above. 

 
74.30 Councillor Williams noted the comments and expressed the need to ensure that there 

was access to purchase lanyards.  
 
74.31 RESOLVED: That the Notice of Motion be noted. 
 

(iii) Pavilion Gardens Summer Concerts 
 
74.32 Councillor Mears proposed the Notice of Motion on behalf of the Conservative Group, 

which Was formally seconded by Councillor Nemeth. 
 
74.34 The Chair stated that the gardens have been leased to the Royal Pavilion and Museums 

Trust. They have responsibility for the upkeep of the area and for any events which 
happen there. I realise it has been a very hard year for the Trust because of the 
Pandemic and they cannot afford to support the concert series in 2021. For this reason, 
I can confirm that the Council will provide a budget of up to £2,600 or £200 per concert 
in 2021/22 to cover this cost. Despite our budgets being very constrained, we know that 
culture plays an important part in the health and wellbeing of our residents, especially as 
we emerge from the Pandemic. The Council’s Outdoor Events team will discuss making 
these funds available with the Trust. Officers will also discuss steps required to ensure 
the concerts comply with government regulations regarding COVID safety.”  

 
74.35 RESOLVED: That the Notice of Motion be noted. 
 
75 PREVENT (PREVENTING TERRORISM AND EXTREMISM) 
 
75.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director for Housing, 

Neighbourhoods & Communities which sought to update Members on the legislative, 
policy context, risks nationally and locally and actions to manage risks and achieve 
compliance with the Counter Terrorism and Border Security Act 2019. The report was 
provided by the Prevent Coordinator. 

 
75.2 Councillors thanked officers for bringing this report to committee and noted its 

importance.  
 

25



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

75.3 Stephanie Prior enquired if people, in general, were doing enough to address this issue. 
 
75.4 The Prevent Co-ordinator stated that there were real issues of discrimination which 

could play into the hands of those wanting to recruit vulnerable individuals and that it 
was important to provide platforms and opportunities to deal with this. 

 
75.5 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the requirements of the Prevent Duty, the actions required by partners to 
achieve compliance and role of the Prevent Board be noted; and 
 

2. That it be noted that the City is identified as a Prevent Priority Area and within this 
context concerted partnership actions are required to reduce risks and community 
tensions, especially following critical incidents. 

 
76 OXFORD COURT PSPO REVIEW (GATING SCHEME) 
 
76.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director for Housing, 

Neighbourhoods & Communities which detailed the proposed amendment to the PSPO 
to restrict access to the Oxford Court Alleyway.  

 
76.2 RESOLVED: That the amended Oxford Court Public Space Protection Order 2021, as 

detailed in appendix 1 to the report be approved. 
 
77 UPDATE ON ANTI-RACISM WORK 
 
77.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director for Housing, 

Neighbourhoods & Communities which provided an update on actions since the 
progress report to TECC Committee meeting 14th January 2021.  

 
77.2 Councillor Grimshaw noted the discontinuation of terms such as BAME among union 

literature as Government guidance advised against using such terms.  
 
77.3 The Chair seconded Councillor  Grimshaw’s statement and noted that a decision would 

need to be made on renaming the position of BME Standing invitee at TECC. 
 
77.4 Stephanie Prior enquired which groups were involved in this. 
 
77.5 The Head of Communities & Equality offered to have a conversation on definitions and 

labels. 
 
77.6 RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
78 LIBRARIES STRATEGY - PROCEDURES FOR CONSULTATION AND 

ENGAGEMENT 
 
78.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director for Housing, 

Neighbourhoods & Communities which outlined the process for the development of a 
Libraries Strategy for Brighton & Hove City Council. 

 

26



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

78.2 Councillor Ebel welcomed the report and enquired whether Brexit had caused any 
issues with regard to foreign language students. 

 
78.3 The Head of Library Services noted that no problems were envisioned as a result of 

Brexit. 
 
78.4 Councillor Nemeth requested that his support to improvements to Hove Library be 

placed on record. 
 
78.5 RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That the general principles that will inform the development of the libraries strategy 
as outlined in para 3.3 of the report be agreed; and  

 
(2) That the process of consultation and engagement as outlined in paras 5.1 to 5.9 of 

the report be approved. 
 
79 CITY OF SANCTUARY RE-ACCREDITATION 
 
79.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director for Housing, 

Neighbourhoods & Communities which informed Members about the city council’s 
current status with the regard of the national City of Sanctuary movement and outlines 
the steps that need to be taken to become ‘re-accredited’ as a city of sanctuary. The 
report was provided by the Community Safety Manager. 

 
79.2 Councillor Simson expressed support for this programme. 
 
79.3 RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That officers be instructed to progress an application to City of Sanctuary UK for the 
council’s reaccreditation as a City of Sanctuary as per outlined in appendix 2; 

 
(2) That full Council be recommended to endorse the City of Sanctuary Charter 

(appendix 1); 
 

(3) That officers be instructed to work with the local city of sanctuary Group – Sanctuary 
on Sea – to support the group and the council’s commitment to Brighton & Hove 
being a place of sanctuary; 

 
(4) That the council joining the City of Sanctuary Local Authority Network and being a 

member of the Network’s steering group (paragraph 3.5 of the report) be approved; 
and 

 
(5) That it be noted that the City of Sanctuary application process will be carried out as 

part of the council’s development of its Inclusive Cities Action Plan agreed at TECC 
committee September 2019. 

 
 
 
 

27



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

 
80 ROYAL PAVILION AND MUSEUMS TRUST -  PLAN FOR 2021/22 
 
80.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director for Economy, Environment 

& Culture which detailed an annual plan with regard to museum buildings, collections 
and staff for approval. 

 
80.2 Hadley Swain (Chief Executive Royal Pavilion and Museums Trust) addressed the 

committee and noted the Ice Rink would be brought back along with the Christmas 
Market. He also noted that there was a learning offer at the museum for schools.  

 
80.3 RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That the difficult circumstances facing the Trust as it moved forward into 2021/22 as 
a result of successive lockdowns and visitor restrictions over the course of the past 
year be noted; and 

 
(2) That the annual service plan for 2021/22 be approved. 

 
81 BRIGHTON DOME BRIGHTON FESTIVAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 
 
81.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director for Economy, Environment 

& Culture which detailed the delivery of alternative actions by the organisation over the 
period of closure, in addition to plans for reopening in 2021/22.  

 
81.2 Councillor O’Quinn thanked Mr Comben for youth work experience program and 

enquired if more would be done for children over the summer period. 
 
81.3 Andrew Comben (Chief Executive Brighton Dome and Brighton Festival) referred to the 

kickstart programme and stated that the Brighton Dome was working in partnership with 
20 organisations as part of a network of organisations supplying opportunities. 

 
81.4 RESOLVED: 

 
(1) That the impact of the pandemic on Brighton Dome and Brighton Festival be noted; 

and  
 

(2) That it be agreed that a report on the operations and benefits for the city of this 
organisation be presented annually to the committee. 

 
82 REVIEW ASSESSMENT FOR CITY PLAN PART ONE 
 
82.1  RESOLVED:  
 

(1) That the conclusions of the City Plan Part One review assessment as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the report be noted; and  
 

(2) That it be agreed that officers should commence work on a full review of City Plan 
Part One in accordance with the timetable set out in the Local Development 

28



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

Scheme approved at the November 2020 meeting of Tourism, Equalities, 
Communities & Culture Committee (as set out in paragraph 3.12 of the report). 

 
83 CHRISTMAS MARKET 2021 
 
83.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director, Economy, Environment & 

Culture which sought approval for landlord’s consent to stage a Christmas Market 
throughout Valley Gardens during the winters of 2021, 2022, 2023. The report was 
provided by the Assistant Director Culture, Tourism & Sport and the Events Manager. 

 
83.2 Councillor Mears expressed concern with the prospect of creating a non-safe 

environment and of the effect on small local business traders. 
 
83.3 The Assistant Director Culture, Tourism & Sport stated that the area had historically 

seen wide use by a variety of different events and noted that the area had the necessary 
utilities to support the Christmas Market. It was further noted that BHCC expected the 
market to bring in trade to the area. 

 
83.4 Councillor O’Quinn expressed concern with the presentation of the site. 
 
83.5 The Assistant Director Culture, Tourism & Sport stated that the preferred bidder was in 

extensive talks to ensure good practice. 
 
83.6 The Sport and the Events Manager stated that the curation of stalls was vital along with 

operations going out to local businesses. 
 
83.7 RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That consent for the staging of a Christmas Market, throughout Valley Gardens (St 
Peters Square, Richmond Square, Victoria Gardens North, Victoria Gardens South 
and Old Steine when available) in the winter months of 2021, 2022 and 2023, to 
E3 Events (subject to entering into formal annual licences) be agreed; and 
 

(2) That the Executive Director Economy, Environment & Culture be granted 
delegated authority to agree the terms of the annual licences. 

 
84 COMMISSIONING OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND ABUSE SERVICES 
 
84.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director of Housing, 

Neighbourhoods & Communities which informed Members of the process regarding the 
re-commissioning of the service and recommended that the Policy & Resources 
Committee be requested to approve the establishment of a Member oversight working 
group.  

 
84.2 Councillor Evans expressed support for the working group. 
 
84.3 Jo Martindale noted that social value was key and requested that the working group 

focus on collaborative commissioning and to be more creative in developing a strategy 
while making sure the voluntary sector was included. Support regarding financial 

29



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

assistance was expressed. It was noted that there was an opportunity to make an 
investment into refugees’ services and to bring cohesion to these services. 

 
84.4 The Head of Safer Communities stated that BHCC were committed to support 

organisations through the transition period. 
 
84.5 The Executive Director for Housing, Neighbourhoods & Communities stated that work 

was undertaken to make sure no one fell through any gaps. 
 
84.6 Councillor Evans proposed an amendment on behalf of the Labour Group.  
 
84.7 Councillor Grimshaw formally seconded the amendment. 
 
84.8 Councillor Simson proposed an amendment on behalf of the Conservative Group. 
 
84.9 Councillor Nemeth formally seconded the amendment. 
 
84.10 Councillor Evans clarified that the Chair of Audit & Standards did not decline a full 

investigation and quoted his comments at Audit & Standards to the effect that given the 
reports going to TECC and P& R and the proposals to set up a working group to review 
the Council’s approach, he did not consider it necessary or proportionate to establish yet 
another work stream but that they would keep this  under review and should issues 
come to light which were of legitimate interest to Audit & Standards Committee they 
would look at them.  

 
84.11 Councillor MacCafferty thanked the survivors who attended the committee and provided 

a brief overview of the events leading to the issue. It was clarified that the Green Party 
had met with campaigners and the Chief Executive of RISE to help develop a way 
forward. It was stated that the focus was on working collaboratively with all parties to 
find answers and solutions that asserted the importance of domestic violence services.  

 
84.12  Councillor Powell noted the myriad of issues highlighted by public speakers and noted 

that it would be the focus of the Member Working Group to scrutinise what had 
happened.  

 
84.13 Joanna Martindale expressed support for the third sector and stated that this had 

occurred during NICE Committee not TECC. It was clarified that the Labour Group had 
decided to close the NICE committee.  

 
84.14 Councillor Ebel noted concern with regard to the Labour amendment which would limit 

the ability for the Policy & Resources Committee to set up terms of the working group. 
 
84.15 Councillor Simson noted that it was important that this be non-political. 
 
84.16 The Chair then put the Labour Group amendment to the vote which was lost. 
 
84.17 The Chair then put the Conservative Group Motion to the vote which was carried. 
 
84.18 The Chair then put the recommendations as amended to the vote which were carried. 
 

30



 TOURISM, EQUALITIES, COMMUNITIES & CULTURE COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2021 

84.19 RESOLVED:  
 
(1) That the contents of the report be noted;  

 
(2) That the committee’s concern be expressed that the Audit & Standards Committee 

has declined to carry out a thorough investigation into the events leading to 
changes to Domestic Abuse, Domestic Violence and Sexual Violence service 
arrangements over which tens of thousands of residents have petitioned the 
Council for action; 

 
(3) That the Policy & Resources Committee be recommended to establish of a cross-

party Member Working Group to: 
 

(i) Carry out a thorough investigation into the events leading to changes to 
Domestic Abuse, Domestic Violence and Sexual Violence service 
arrangements. 

 
(ii) Review the Council’s policy and practice regarding social value and 

community wealth-building from a commissioning and procurement 
perspective including the above-mentioned services. 

 
(iii) Recommend any necessary changes and actions for improvement. 

 
85 ITEMS REFERRED FOR FULL COUNCIL 
 
85.1 No items were referred to Full Council. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 10.24pm 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed 
 
 

Chair 

Dated this day of  
 

31



32



TOURISM, EQUALITIES,  

COMMUNITIES & CULTURE 

COMMITTEE  

Agenda Item 7 

  
Brighton & Hove City Council  

 

  

Subject:  Anti-racism pledge update  

Date of Meeting:  17th June 2021 

Report of:  Executive Director Housing, Neighbourhoods, 

Communities  

Contact Officer: Name:  Emma McDermott Tel: 01273 291577 

  Email:  emma.mcdermott@brighton-hove.gov.uk   

Ward(s) affected:  All   

   

FOR GENERAL RELEASE  

  

1.  PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT  

  
1.1  The initial report on actions being taken by the council towards becoming an 

antiracist council was presented at TECC committee on 29th July 2020 and an 
update was presented on 19th November. At this meeting officers were instructed 
to provide brief updates as a standing item at every TECC committee meeting. 
This report provides an update on actions since the progress report to TECC 
committee meeting 11th March 2021.   

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:    
  

 2.1  That committee note the report.   
  
3.  CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
  
3.1  This report should be read in context of the previous reports starting with the 

report to a special TECC committee meeting in in June 2020 through to the last 
report in March 2021.   

  
3.2  Updates are noted where specific activities or progress has been made. Other 

actions from the pledges, Notices of Motion and petitions continue to be in 
progress and updates will be provided as progress develops.   

  
3.3  Engagement with communities  
  
3.3.1  The fourth meeting of the Community Advisory Group took place on 29th  April 

2021, with the second themed meeting in a series of thematic discussions and 
‘challenge’ sessions. The meeting was focused on the council’s Housing 
Services. It was attended by the Assistant Director for Housing and the Head of 

33

mailto:sarah.tighe-ford@brighton-hove.gov.uk


Tenancy Services. The meeting’s discussion centred on the services equality 
monitoring and its handling of race hate incidents.  In recognition of the breadth 
of the service, Housing officers committed to an on-going dialogue with the CAG.  

  
3.3.2   Recruitment for an independent covenorfor the Community Advisory Group 

(CAG) is underway. More information available at insert link to page. 
Membership of the CAG is open to BME-led community and voluntary groups in 
the city and active BME community activists. Any groups and/or activists 
interested in joining can email equalities@brighton-hove.gov.uk with their 
contact details to be added to the group.  

  
3.3 3  A new community engagement officer post focused on working with the BME 

residents and groups has recently been filled. The postholder has made contact 
with a wide range of groups and is developing an engagement plan to increase 
trust and confidence between communities and the council and facilitate 
discussions about the council’s anti-racism strategy.  This will likely include 
inviting CVS groups (involved in CAG and not) to run engagement sessions with 
a range of communities (specific ethnic groups and/or specific characteristics), 
open sessions for all people who’ve experienced racism and/or anti-racist allies 
and/or all residents inviting people to suggest actions on the theme: ‘What does 
an anti-racist city look and feel like?’ and parallel staff sessions to focus on 
council-specific actions.  

 
3.3.4 The council remains committed to engaging with individual communities to 

understand their unique experiences and issues, for example, anti-Black racism, 
anti-Semitism, and prejudice towards people of South-Asian heritage and of 
Chinese and South-East Asian heritage.      

  
3.4  Education and young people  

  
3.4.1 The council’s draft Anti-Racist Schools Strategy was agreed by Committee in 
 November 2020 and has now been consulted on with schools and a range of 
 stakeholders and partners. The final version of the strategy is nearly complete. 
 Funding for the strategy has been approved and an “Education Adviser: Anti-
 Racism” post is going to be advertised.  Racial literacy training and small pieces 
 of pilot work are ongoing.  
 
3.4.2 The work of the Safeguarding & Care Anti-Racist Project continues and, 
 alongside ongoing learning events and practice discussions focused on race and 
 racism. The Project Board has recently agreed an action plan and project plan 
 based on feedback from working groups made up of staff from across the service 
 that focused on staff support, practice with families, and the voice of children, 
 families and carers. 
 
 

34

mailto:equalities@brighton-hove.gov.uk


3.5  Community safety  
 
3.5.1  In April 2021 Policy & Resources Recovery sub-committee allocated £60,000 To 

support the resilience and recovery of communities disproportionately affected 
by Covid-19 by funding a pilot of 3 reporting centres including the Racial 
Harassment Forum, Rainbow Hub, and Possability People to cover all hate 
crime strands.  

 
3.6  COVID19 response  
  
3.6.1  There has been a programme of work undertaken by a multi-agency, cross 

sector, group to  ensure residents of Black, Asian and minority ethnic 
backgrounds have access to the information they require to inform their decision 
making about the vaccine and that the health system fully understands peoples’ 
barriers to accessing the vaccine.   Action includes community organised 
webinars with a range of communities, sharing of translated material, text 
messaging by Sussex Interpreting Services, direct contact with asylum seekers 
in the city and direct feedback to the NHS about communities’ concerns and 
experiences.  

  
3.6.2 In April 2021 Policy & Resources Recovery sub-committee allocated £300,000 

from the Containing Outbreak management Fund for the  provision of an 
additional ‘Communities Fund’ for BME, LGBTQ+, disability, and women’s 
community and voluntary groups across the city for whom evidence points to a 
disproportionate impact from Covid, including health inequalities, financial and 
economic impacts, impact from home schooling on future attainment, barriers to 
accessing information and support including language barriers, digital exclusion, 
mental health, and violence towards women. The funding will be managed 
through a similar process to the Communities Fund insert hyperlink. Bids will be 
encouraged from a wide range of organisations to address both individual needs 
for these groups, and intersectional needs. 

 
3.6.3  The sub-committee also allocated £150,000 to the provision of advice and 

support for migrant residents whose needs during and after the pandemic are 
made more complex by their history of migration or by their immigration status by 
providing an additional ‘connector’ role and support to associated support 
organisations.  

 
3.7  Civic leadership  
  
3.7.1  Funding was allocated at budget council in February 2021 for the progression of 

the civic leadership scheme. The intention is for the scheme to be cross-agency 
recognizing the need for greater diversity in positions across council, health, 
criminal justice. Officers are awaiting responses from partners regarding their 
involvement to inform next steps with operation Black Vote.  

  

35



3.8  Fair & Inclusive Action Plan (FIAP) anti-racism actions  
  
3.8.1   Two new HR Diversity Recruitment Consultants have started in post. The role is 

focused on supporting the council’s recruitment and retention of a more diverse 
workforce that represents the city demographics. Work includes the delivery of a 
targeted insight programme to community groups, ensuring ethnically diverse 
panels for senior roles, development of recruiting managers to ensure inclusive 
recruitment practices as well as providing initiatives to develop BME staff. 
 
The HR advisory team hold Fair & Inclusive case review meetings every Friday 
to discuss any cases that involve racism to ensure tight monitoring and 
consistent application of the racism and zero tolerance definitions.  
 
The restorative approach has been drafted and is being discussed with our two 
unions and BMEWF before final sign off.  

  
3.9  Council workforce learning and development  
  
3.9.1 35 mandatory sessions have been held on the council’s Fair and Inclusive Action 

Plan and anti-racism since October 2020. 3,400 members of staff have 
participated, and a recording is available for staff who can’t access the live 
delivery via MS Teams.  These sessions will continue every quarter as part of 
induction for new staff.  

 
3.9.2  Eight different council teams have received bespoke anti-racism training. Two 

sessions have been run for elected members and there have been seven open 
sessions attended by 112 staff.  

 
3.9.3 The bi-annual staff survey closed on 14th May. It will give an update on the 

impact of the council’s fair and inclusive actions and inform work going forward.  
 
3.9.4 A 6 month positive action programme is being piloted with 12 BME staff. Through 

a mix of self-refection, workshops and coaching the aim of the programme is to:  
 

• Prepare and develop for staff for their next role within the council  
• Develop their knowledge, experience, skills and confidence to be part of 

an inclusive culture and influence for change in the organisation if you 
choose to do so  

• Deepen their self-awareness and leverage their strengths  
• Learn about key management and leadership theories  
• Develop their communication, presentation and interpersonal skills 
• Understand organisational context, to help you shape and influence your 

own career progression 
 
 
 

36



3.10  Statues and monuments review  
 
3.10.1 In furthering the conversation within our community, it has become clear that our 

legacy as a city sits within a contested arena, with deeply held views concerning 
our common colonial history and links with enslavement and its impact on our 
past and present from a range of perspectives, and with some critical areas 
lacking an informed consensus. Because this work touches on issues of racism 
and exploitation which resonate with members of our contemporary community 
who may trace their heritage to those who suffered directly through enslavement 
and colonialism, it is important that any actions taken now stem from the fullest 
understanding and appreciation of this which we might accomplish. To this end 
the council have started discussion with the Royal Pavilion and Museums Trust 
around commissioning objective research to produce a report exploring and 
outlining these issues. 

 
4.  ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS  
  
4.1  The progress outlined above is on actions undertaken in response to the 

council’s pledge to become an anti-racist council, anti-racism Notices of Motion 
and petitions accepted by full council/committees and previously Member agreed 
work under the Fair & Inclusive Action Plan.  

  
5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION  
  

 5.1       Engagement is as outlined in paragraph 3.3  
  
6.   CONCLUSION   
  
6.1  TECC committee requested a standing item on every agenda updating on 

progress towards the council’s anti-racism commitments.  
  

 6.2  This report updates on progress and the contents are for Members to note.   
  
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS:  
  

Financial Implications:  
   
7.1 Project management and leadership of the work is being carried out as part of 

core business of the Communities, Equality and Third Sector (CETS) team. A 
budget of £10,000 has been allocated from the CETS initiatives budget to 
support the work. Financial implications arising from the other actions identified 
in  the report will be considered by the relevant service as part of their standard 
budget management processes and decisions on allocation of funding will be 
made in line with council’s budget setting process.  

  
 Finance Officer Consulted:  Michael Bentley  Date: 21/05/21  

37



  
Legal Implications:  

  
7.2 There are no legal implications arising from this report which is for noting. All of 

the actions proposed are in line with the Council’s powers and duties, in 
particular under the Equality Act 2010.  

      
 Lawyer Consulted:  Alice Rowland  Date: 21/05/21  

   
  Equalities Implications:  
  
7.3 The intention of this work is to address identified racial inequalities and racism 

experienced by people who live in, work in and visit the city. The range of 
engagement planned with people who share other characteristics in addition to 
their ethnicity will ensure that perspectives are heard from a wide range of 
people. This will enable the development of tailored and bespoke actions to 
address all forms of racism, where it is based on ethnicity, skin colour or any 
other attribute.   

  
7.4 The work is central to the council’s legal duties under the Equality Act 2010 to 

eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between communities, as well as to encourage civic engagement by 
under-represented groups. It also complements and supports the council’s Fair & 
Inclusive Action Plan in addressing the findings of the review of race diversity by 
Global HPO.  

  
  Sustainability Implications:  
  
7.5 No implications arising from this report  
  

Brexit Implications:  
  
7.6 No implications arising from this report   
  
 
 

38



TOURISM, EQUALITIES, 
COMMUNITIES & 
CULTURECOMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 8 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Tourism Recovery Plan 

Date of Meeting: 17th June 2021 

Report of: Executive Director for Economy, Environment & 
Culture 

Contact Officer: Name: Howard Barden Tel: 01273 292646 

 Email: howard.barden@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 This report outlines the impacts of COVID19 on the visitor economy of Brighton & 

Hove and the work of the city’s Destination Experience Group in guiding current 
recovery planning in the sector. 

 
1.2  Covid-19 has dealt a devasting blow to many tourism and hospitality businesses 

in Brighton & Hove, causing what maybe lasting damage to investment and 
employment.   Business, operators, employees, and freelancers have seen their 
livelihoods catastrophically impacted as they have been forced to close, in some 
circumstances partially re-open then re-close again or have been directed to 
remain closed during successive lockdowns. 

 
1.3 The Brighton & Hove Destination Experience Group (DEG) was inaugurated in 

2018 and is a working group made up of tourism business leaders in the city 
combined with council officers (Appendix 2). The purpose of the group is to 
provide a collaborative mechanism for monitoring, reviewing and improving the 
visitor experience across the city.   

 
1.4 The DEG has the remit of developing a Destination Management Plan to aid in 

the delivery of the Visitor Economy Strategy 2018-2023 (Appendix 3) approved 
by committee in 2018.  The strategy recommended prioritising two aspects of the 
Brighton Brand which are thematic strengths.  These are: 

 
• Culture – which includes heritage, the arts, architecture and events & 

festivals. 
• Wellness – this is defined in the broadest sense and means escape, fresh 

air, nature and good food. 
 
1.5 In response to the COVID19 crisis the remit of the DEG has shifted to 

concentrate on tourism recovery in Brighton & Hove.  The two-year Tourism 
Recovery Plan for the city includes a set of recommendations on how best the 
Brighton & Hove tourism sector can adapt and recover.  The two priority themes 
in 1.4 continue to be strengths for the city as a destination.  

  

39



1.6 The second half of 2021 is being seen by the tourism sector as crucial to its 
survival.   The highly successful vaccination roll-out and the Government’s four 
step roadmap on the easing of lockdown gives the sector a route to recovery. 
There continues to be a great deal of uncertainty in the sector, which is 
constraining longer term decisions, but generally there is optimism that 2021 can 
make a strong contribution to recovery if the virus is kept in check. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That the Committee adopts the Brighton & Hove Tourism Recovery Plan 

(Appendix 1) prepared under the auspices of the city’s Destination Experience 
Group.   This plan will become integral to the recovery of the sector.   
 

2.2 That the Committee notes the work of Visit Brighton, the city’s destination 
management organisation, in supporting the Tourism Recovery Plan and the 
wider visitor economy.   

 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Over the course of 2019 (pre-pandemic) the value of the visitor economy to 

Brighton & Hove was estimated at £976 million.  The city attracted over 12m 
visitors and supporting in excess of 24,000 jobs, which equated to 17.5% of all 
employment. This was the greatest level of economic impact in one year 
recorded since data analysis started in 2007. In 2021, from Jan – Mar, 
occupancy dropped in the City by approximately 63% against the equivalent 
period in 2020.  

 
3.2 The Accommodation sector did demonstrate resilience with occupancy in August 

and September of 2020, when restrictions were lifted, rebounding to levels nearly 
equivalent to previous years. (Source: STR Global Research). It may take 
between three and five years to return to the 2019 economic impact.   

 
3.3 The above figures are also reflected at a national level, the GDP figures from the 

Office for National Statistics released on the 13 April 2021 showed the severe 
impact that coronavirus is still having on the UK tourism industry compared with 
other sectors of the economy. The figures show that, compared to February 
2020: 

 

 The air transport sector is down by 91.6% 

 Travel agencies and tour operators are down by 87% 

 The accommodation sector is down by 73.9% 

 Creative, arts and entertainment are down by 59.1% 

 Food and beverage are down 51.3% 

 Museums, Libraries, and other cultural activities is down by 48% 
 

3.4 This compares to the average for the UK economy being a reduction of 7.8%, 
which demonstrates just how badly the visitor economy generally has been 
affected by the Covid19 pandemic. 

 
3.5 It is also noted that the UK lost an average of 22 restaurants per day over the last 

13 months with 10% of venues in the UK failing to open their doors at the end of 
April 2021 (Source: Curren Goodden Associates).   

40



 
3.6 The United Kingdom leaving the EU and the longer-term impact of having fewer 

overseas overnight visitors to the city - which generated over 2.3 million nights in 
2019 - is another consideration likely to have a negative effect on revenues 
generated.  

 
3.7 The recovery of the tourism sector requires all stakeholders to collaborate on 

practical solutions that are deliverable, this has been broken down into four 
Strategic Priorities, set out below. 

 

 Ensure the visitor economy is represented locally, regionally, and 
nationally to be heard on key issues: 
As funding and recovery policy is developed, it is crucial that as a major 
destination, the city is well connected and able to advocate for Brighton and 
Hove in regional, national and international dialogues and campaigns.  
Cohesive and coherent messaging from all stakeholders is required. 

 

 Build back consumer confidence and awareness: 
Engaging businesses in areas of activity such as the VisitBritain ‘Good to Go’ 
accreditation to recognise Brighton as having adopted UK standardised 
protocols. Welcoming back influencers and decision makers linked to public 
relations activity. VisitBrighton will host over 100 press & media visits to 
experience the city in 2021/22 and write about different elements of the 
tourism offer such as the dazzling attractions, superior shopping and fabulous 
food & drink. Media visits will be integral in recovery and partners across the 
city will support to deliver this activity. The #nevernormalbrighton campaign 
will be reactivated June-Dec 2021 with a support toolkit to be amplified by city 
businesses. The specific focus is on high-spend, off-season visitors, 
encouraging overnight stays and extending short breaks, whilst broadening 
the offer to encompass the Greater Brighton area.  

 

 Enhance ‘look and feel’ of City to encourage repeat, high value visits: 
The Policy & Resources (Recovery) Sub Committee on 29 March 2021 
approved the allocation of £1.01M towards the look and feel of the city.  
Streets most used by visitors have been jet washed and a programme of 
graffiti removal has been put in place, additional toilets provided at the 
seafront along with additional waste collection services in this area, in 
addition staff have been recruited to ensure COVID-safe practices are 
followed by businesses.   The City has received £0.58m from government as 
a Welcome Back Fund which will help to attract more visitors back to local 
high streets across the city through communications, events, public 
information, and temporary public realm change and in general to create 
additionality to these areas.  Use of this fund is being directed by the priorities 
outlined in the Tourism Recovery Plan.  
 
The Business Improvement District recently re-balloted the businesses in the 
BID area and on the 7th May the vote was confirmed as positive, this will 
create stability and ensure the work of the BID continues to enhance the 
unique retail and leisure offer delivering a thriving, safe, clean and vibrant city 
centre for residents and visitors alike. 

 

41



 Extend season to make Brighton a ‘must visit’ destination for high 
spend UK and International visitor’s year-round: 
In collaboration with the Cultural Recovery Governance Board and Brighton 
BID, a year-round citywide events programme is being organised in 
accordance with COVID regulations, to encourage visitors into the city over a 
longer period.  A Christmas Festival is planned for the month of December, 
connecting into the Royal Pavilion Estate and the Lanes.   A significant piece 
of work will focus on building back the conference and major business events 
programme, with a Brighton presence at meetings, conferences and 
exhibitions both in the UK and internationally.  The Brighton Centre is due to 
reopen in August 2021. Much of the business using the centre which was 
displaced due to the pandemic has relocated to the Autumn of 2021 and 
2022, along with the normal existing annual business already placed in the 
diary.  Therefore the Brighton Centre will be operating with higher event 
capacity to the end of 2022 at least, which will assist in sustaining numbers of 
visitors outside of the main visitor months. 

 
3.8 VisitBrighton has supported city businesses through the COVID19 pandemic by 

developing a Business Support Hub sign-posting business to grants, resources 
and relevant support available, providing updates on latest government 
guidance, funding opportunities for business and sharing information and 
guidance on the latest Alert Levels, and issuing 2-3 newsletters per week to the 
VisitBrighton tourism business database. 

 
3.9 VistBrighton developed the highly successful #NeverNormal marketing campaign 

in 2020. The Never Normal Brighton campaign really captured the spirit of the 
city in 2020. The campaign has been refreshed for 2021 where there is less 
emphasis on the pandemic buzzwords and instead a rallying cry to say that if you 
want a high quality get-away, we know just the place to visit. The tone and the 
language of the messaging this year will tap into that desire for people to get out 
and really make the most of post-lockdown life. The campaign will show how the 
attractions, people and activities on offer presents something different.  

 
4.    ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 The tourism recovery plan has been carefully considered and consulted upon, 

taking into account all possible options.   
 
5.    COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1    The Brighton & Hove DEG is a business-led working group providing a 

collaborative mechanism for monitoring, reviewing, and improving the destination 
experience, through collective actions.  Membership of the DEG is included as 
Appendix 2.   This group is the main route for officers to consult with the tourism 
sector. In addition, officers attend the Brighton and Hove Economic Partnership, 
which is a wide grouping of business leaders, including some from the tourism 
sector. Collectively these groups enable engagement and consultation. 

 
6.  CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 The city’s visitor economy, which includes tourism, hospitality, events, attractions 

and heritage, is widely acknowledged as having been badly damaged by the 

42



pandemic.   The plan covered by this report is designed to work alongside other 
recovery actions, for example those identified by the recovery plan for culture.  
The plan provides a focus on collective action where businesses and the council 
work together to benefit the city – protecting jobs and revenues in a sector which 
generates major employment and enhances the city’s reputation as a premier 
seaside destination.   

 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations of 

this report. The council is utilising government funding to enhance the look and 
feel of the city and support attracting visitors to the city’s high streets during the 
recovery period. The visitor economy is critical to the council’s financial position 
supporting income streams through fees and charges and business rates, and 
cost avoidance through employment. 

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: James Hengeveld Date: 24/05/21 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 There are no legal implications in this report which is for noting.  
   
 Lawyer Consulted: Alice Rowland Date: 21/5/21 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 None 
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.4 None 
 

Brexit Implications: 
 

7.5 Unknown 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
7.6 The country moved towards Step 3 of removing lockdown restrictions on the 17th 

May 2021 which enables travel, including holidays across the UK, allowing 
people to decide on the appropriate level of risk for their circumstances and most 
businesses in all but the highest risk sectors were able to reopen. 

 
Step 4 of lockdown easing will not be before 21 June 2021, the government 
hopes to be in a position to remove all legal limits on social contact. 

 
The Government have always maintained that when implementing the easing of 
lockdown they will be guided by data, not dates, so that they do not risk a surge 
in infections that would put unsustainable pressure on the NHS. For that reason, 
all the dates in the roadmap are indicative and subject to change. There will be a 

43



minimum of five weeks between each step: four weeks for the scientific data to 
reflect the changes in restrictions and to be analysed; followed by one week’s 
advance notice of the restrictions that will be eased. 

 
Only when the Government is sure that it is safe to move from one step to the 
next will the final decision be made. The decision will be based on four tests: 

 

 the vaccine deployment programme continues successfully 

 evidence shows vaccines are sufficiently effective in reducing hospitalisations 
and deaths in those vaccinated 

 infection rates do not risk a surge in hospitalisations which would put 
unsustainable pressure on the NHS 

 our assessment of the risks is not fundamentally changed by new Variants of 
Concern 

 
The Government has said it will continue to protect the public by ensuring local 
outbreaks are managed quickly and effectively and that they combat new 
dangerous variants, both within the UK and at the border. 

 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
7.7 The city has been deeply affected by the pandemic since the first lockdown  
 commenced in March 2020. The effect on health, wellbeing, the economy and  
 on individual livelihoods has been immense. It may take years for the city to  

fully recover, for example in lost jobs, accumulated debts and small businesses 
that have folded. The best route to recovery is through collective action which, 
via constructive dialogue with stakeholders, has identified a set of 
recommendations on how best the Brighton & Hove tourism sector can adapt in 
the changed tourism environment as a result of the crisis. 
 
Most tourism businesses are operating in some form of other, but generally 
under a nature of reduced capacity, which is having significant impacts on their 
turnover. As the City moves from step 3 to step 4 of roadmap, if stage 4 of the 
roadmap is not achieved whereby Government removes all legal limits on social 
contact, it is likely that this will not be a sustainable situation for hospitality 
businesses in the short term, and the risk is that as Government support is lifted 
then liquidity for many businesses will be a significant issue. 

 
 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
 
1. Brighton & Hove Tourism Recovery Plan 
 
2. Destination Experience Group members 
 
3.  Brighton & Hove Visitor Economy Strategy 2018-2023 
 

44



Brighton & Hove
Tourism Recovery Plan
2021-23

45



Strategic Priorities

1. Ensure the city’s visitor economy is 

represented locally, regionally and 

nationally to ensure maximum support

2. Build back consumer confidence and 

awareness

3. Enhance ‘look and feel’ of city to 

encourage repeat, high value visits

4. Extend season to make the city a 

‘must visit’ destination for high spend 

UK and international visitors all year 

round

46



1. Represent Brighton visitor economy locally, 

regionally and nationally

Action Lead Partner

Locally

Regular engagement with BHCC Councillors DEG / BHCC Officers

Quarterly meetings of DEG to ensure Recovery Plan is 

reviewed and updated regularly

DEG

Representation at Brighton & Hove Economic Partnership DEG Chair

Regionally

Lead member on Sussex Tourism & Culture Recovery Group 

focusing on Sussex-wide rebuilding and market positioning 

BHCC Officers

Collaboration with Tourism South East ensuring destination 

visibility

VisitBrighton (VB)

Representation on Gatwick Gateway Group to maximise 

leverage of partnership

Brilliant Brighton BID / VB

47



1. Represent Brighton visitor economy locally, 

regionally and nationally (cont.)

Action Lead Partner

Regionally (cont.)

Engagement with GTR ensuring maximum exposure and 

consideration in forward planning

VB / Tourism Alliance 

(TA local)

Nationally

Membership and collaboration with National Coastal 

Tourism Academy, informing government strategy

VB

Membership and collaboration with Tourism Alliance 

(national), feeding in to DCMS consultations

VB and BHCC officers

Regular engagement with VisitBritain building a strategic 

relationship to maximise inclusion in future marketing 

campaigns and future grant funding initiatives

BHCC with regional partners

48



2. Build back consumer confidence and awareness 

Action Lead Partner

Encourage adopters of ‘Good to Go’ accreditation to 

recognise Brighton as having adopted UK standardised 

protocols

All businesses

Share ‘Step by Step’ comms plan to ensure clear and 

consistent messaging from all City businesses to visitors

VB with all businesses 

UK PR programme, welcoming journalists and influencers  

from targeted media

VB with key partners

#nevernormalbrighton campaign Apr-Dec2021 targeted at 

high spend off season visitors with toolkit to be amplified by 

city businesses 

VB with all businesses

Engagement with English Tourism Week, 22-31 May to 

promote the innovation, quality and range of products and 

services on offer in the City to encourage more domestic 

breaks.

All businesses

New www.visitbrighton.com website by Jan 2022 to 

optimise potential visitor experience 

VB

49



3. Enhance ‘look and feel’ of Brighton & Hove

Action Lead Partner

Recruitment of a full lifeguard service, expansion of the 

COVID Marshalls team and additional Environmental Health 

Officer(s)

BHCC Teams

Removal of graffiti on public and private buildings etc. BHCC City Clean and all 

businesses

Additional waste collection services along the seafront and 

busiest areas and the provision of extra waste bins in our 

heavy footfall areas

BHCC City Clean

Pop-up shops and window dressing to re-animate high 

streets

Brilliant Brighton BID with 

landlords

Local Place Making projects to include St James Area, 

Brighton Station, Trafalgar Street.

Tourism Alliance / VB 

50



4. Extend season to make a year-round city

Action Lead Partner

Year-round citywide events programme that is organised in 

accordance with the government Road Map and guidance 

on COVID-safe event management

BHCC Outdoor Events Team 

and event organisers

Establishment of Christmas market and Christmas Festival at 

Victoria Gardens and across the City.

E3 Productions with BHCC 

and partners

Focus on building back conference and events programme 

with Brighton presence at MICE events both UK and 

internationally and development of a MICE marketing 

campaign

VB with all conference venues 

and hotels

Royal Pavilion and Museums - Bowie/MacCormack 1973-76 

and Royal Collection to end of Jan 2022.

Royal Pavilion and Museums 

Trust

Brighton Centre event programme restart September 2021, 

including Labour Party Conference and full events 

programme.

BHCC

51



4. Extend season to make a year-round City

Action Lead Partner

Re-engage with Santa Monica Travel & Tourism via Hills 

Balfour and look to develop cross working partnership for 

Spring 2022 with events and activations across both Cities. 

Sister City Project with Santa Monica to be explored for 

Summer 2022.

VB

Sealife Centre - running evening events through 2021, 

leading up to their 150th anniversary celebrations in 2022 

‘The World’s Oldest Aquarium’.

SeaLife and partners

52



1. Represent Brighton visitor economy 

locally, regionally and nationally

Current Destination Experience Group Membership 

Sector Individual

Hotels/Accommodation Andrew Mosely

Hotels/Accommodation Ben Haynes

Business Improvement District Gavin Stewart

Tourism Alliance Julia Weeks

Business Tourism Natasha Richards

Attractions/Night Time Economy Anne Ackord

Heritage Hedley Swain

Attractions Ian Hart

Retail Mark Buchanan-Smith (Chair)

Events David Hill

Culture Julian Caddy

Restaurants Association Karl Jones

BHCC Donna Chisholm (Vice Chair)

BHCC Howard Barden

BHCC Julia Gallagher

BHCC Lisa Mitchell

53



54



65
46

 B
ri

g
h

to
n

 &
 H

o
ve

 C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

s 
Te

am
   

  F
ro

n
t 

co
ve

r 
im

ag
e:

 V
is

it
B

ri
ta

in
/R

o
ya

l P
av

ili
o

n
/S

im
o

n
 A

n
d

er
so

n

Economy, Environment & Culture 

Supporting economic growth and maintaining 

an attractive, connected and well run city for 

residents, businesses and visitors

Brighton & Hove
Visitor Economy 
Strategy 
2018-2023

55



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023                                  APRIL 2018 
 

1 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

 
FOREWARD .................................................................................................. 2 

1 SETTING THE SCENE ..................................................................................... 3 

2 WHAT WE WANT TO ACHIEVE ..................................................................... 6 

3 MARKETS FOR THE FUTURE ......................................................................... 8 

4 INVESTING IN BRIGHTON’S BRAND ............................................................ 10 

5 PLANNING FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH .................................................... 13 

6 CONFERENCES ............................................................................................ 15 

7 MARKETING FOCUS ................................................................................... 18 

8 DELIVERING THE PLAN ............................................................................... 19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

2 
 

FOREWORD 
 

 
 
Councillor Alan Robins 
Chair of the Tourism Development & Culture 
Committee 
 
This is a Visitor Economy Strategy (VES) for 
Brighton & Hove.  It is a strategy for the city 
first but looks outside to identify how the city 
and region can work together on tourism for 
mutual benefit.   The work has been 
commissioned by the City Council but this is a 
strategy for everyone with a responsibility or 
an interest in the visitor economy.  Its success 
relies on everyone getting behind the 
priorities and recommendations set out here 
and working together to deliver them.  The 
strategy has been informed by consultation 
with national tourism agencies, regional 
partners and local businesses.  A separate 
Destination Management Plan, sets out 
priority actions for partnership working to 
improve visitors’ experience of the City, and 
arrangements for a new Destination 
Experience Group. 
 
The City Council is relooking at the city’s 
future, its priorities, approach and the 
delivery structures needed to realise its 
potential.  This VES has been developed at the 
same time as the Brighton & Hove Economic 
Strategy and Action Plan, and the Greater 
Brighton Inward Investment and Export 
Strategy.  It is designed to work with these 
documents, to align with the Cultural 
Framework for Brighton and inform the 20-
year Vision for Brighton & Hove.  It draws on 
the findings and recommendations of the 
hotel study undertaken for the city. It looks at 
how it can support wider city objectives to 
ensure tourism continues to deliver for 
Brighton & Hove and its businesses. 

 
 
Anne Ackord 
Chief Executive Officer of the Brighton Pier 
Group and Chair of the Tourism Alliance 
 
Brighton & Hove is a tourist city, the visitor 
economy keeps the destination thriving year-
round and helps to make it such a special 
place to live, work and study in. As the CEO of 
the Brighton Pier Group, I know how 
important tourism is to my business but the 
city as a whole needs to work collaboratively 
in order to ensure that the visitor economy 
continues to grow. I became chair of the 
Tourism Alliance in order to encourage joined-
up thinking across the industry and I am 
pleased to see that Brighton & Hove City 
Council has echoed that sentiment within this 
strategy, looking at the wider region as well as 
within the city limits.  Tourism businesses 
within Brighton are passionate about our city 
and we are keen to ensure that the visitor 
economy continues to thrive in the years to 
come and this Visitor Economy Strategy is an 
important first step. 

57



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023                                  APRIL 2018 
 

3 
 

1 SETTING THE SCENE 
THE BIG PICTURE 
 
The Visitor Economy Strategy 2018 - 2023 recognises the 
value of all visitors to the city and continues, alongside 
important work on ‘target leisure markets’ outlined in the 
strategy, to improve the visitor experience for everyone. 
Tourism is big business in Brighton & Hove.  The city 
attracts over 11 million trips that deliver nearly £886 
million of spend in Brighton & Hove. Tourism accounts for 
around 14% of all employment, equivalent to 21,000 direct 
jobs in the local economy1. 

 
Tourism is thriving and Brighton & Hove 
outperforms its peers2 on volume and value and 
in the number of tourism jobs it supports.  
However, headline figures tell only part of the 
story.   
 
An analysis of the performance of tourism shows 
that day visitors and conference tourism account 
for the strong performance of tourism in 
Brighton & Hove. Conference tourism is high 
value and important to retain and nurture, but 

day trips have a lower per head spend than short breaks.  Brighton welcomes over 9.5m day visitors 
each year accounting for just over 85% of all visitors to the city3.   
 
 
Brighton receives almost twice as many day visitors than 
Bournemouth, Cambridge or Southend.   
 
A vibrant city centre – day and evening – plus a good rail 
service from London and a good road network, makes Brighton 
an easy day trip out of the capital.   
 
Day visitors tend to come at weekends, in the summer months 
and for big festivals and events.   
 
This concentration of day trips at certain times makes them 
more visible and brings higher and fluctuating management 
issues and costs.   

                                                             
 
 
1The Economic Impact of Tourism Brighton & Hove 2016, Tourism South East  
2 Blue Sail compared the performance of Brighton in day trips, domestic overnight trips, volume and value, international 
tourism and jobs with six other comparable cities and resorts chosen variously because of their accessibility from London, 
conference tourism, international profile, cultural and heritage offer and proximity to a national park.  The cities are 
Bournemouth, Bath, Cambridge, Oxford, Winchester and Southend (outlier).      
3 The Economic Impact of Tourism Brighton & Hove 2016, Tourism South East 

-5,000 5,000 15,000 25,000

Brighton

Cambridge

Winchester

Bourne'th

All Jobs Supported

0

5

10

Brig
hton

Bourne…

Cam
bri…

So
uthend

Day Trip Volume 

2010 2013 2015

Source : Cambridge Model 2015 

0

1000

2000

200…
200…

200…
200…

201…
201…

201…

Domestic Staying Trips (000s)

Brighton

Oxford Cambridge

Bath Winchester

Southend Bournemouth

58



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

4 
 

 
Conference tourism is important to Brighton and forms most of business tourism in the city. The city 
competes directly for some very significant major conferences against cities such as Belfast, 
Liverpool, Manchester, Glasgow and Birmingham. This discretionary business is hard won but also 
brings significant high value trips, predominantly at times of 
the year which complement other activity.  Conferences 
account for 154,000 trips4 to Brighton & Hove.  Because the 
city has limited non-discretionary business travel and a 
limited number of corporations, Brighton’s volume of 
business tourism trips appear lower than similar sized cities, 
e.g. Bristol 523,000 trips, Nottingham 291,000 trips5.   
 
The city’s hotels are busy at most times of the year, achieving 
an average 80% occupancy6, but there is some capacity and a 
recognised need to attract more weekday leisure short 
breaks, outside the conference season and peak summer 
months.  Brighton’s volume of overnight trips and international visitors has not grown significantly 
over the last five years.  Longer staying, higher spending visitors build a relationship with the place, 
and consequently are more likely to value and love Brighton & Hove in the way that local people do.   
 
Brighton & Hove attracts over 465,000 overnight international visitors7.  Proximity and easy access 
from Gatwick is a contributory factor to the city’s performance in international tourism.  5.5 million 
overseas visitors arrived via Gatwick in 2017.  These visitors were predominantly from Europe, 
travelling to the UK on holidays or to visit friends and relatives (VFR).  And over half of their 
bednights were spent in London with a further quarter in the South East.  Brighton & Hove receives 
1,820 international bednights from international visitors who arrived via Gatwick8. 
 
Because tourism is well-established and successful, 
the focus in Brighton & Hove in recent years has 
been primarily on day-to-day management and 
tactical activity, all essential for the smooth running 
of the sector and the city. But in a highly 
competitive marketplace no destination can stand 
still.  Also, when tourism is doing well, some of its 
wider benefits become forgotten and tourism 
becomes under-valued.    
 
Much of the wider success of the city relies on 
tourism activity to support it.  This is not only about 
visitor spend.  Tourism is a complex sector that 
touches many aspects of the day-to-day life of a 
place and supports the facilities that create a high 
quality of life that make Brighton & Hove a good  
 

                                                             
 
 
4 combined value from the IPS and Great Britain Tourism Survey 2016. 
5 Great Britain Tourism Survey 3 year moving average 14-16; and International Passenger Survey, 2016 
6 The Brighton & Hove Visitor Accommodation Study Update 2018 (awaiting adoption) 
7 Staying Visits by Inbound Visitors, International Passenger Survey (IPS), 2016 
8 Gatwick Airport’s Impact on the Visitor Economy, Oxford Economics, 2017  

SPEND PER TRIP FOR INTERNATIONAL 
VISITORS ARRIVING AT GATWICK 
 
All visitors -  £705 
Holiday visitors - £710 
Visiting Friends & relatives - £535 
Business trips - £750 
 

Gatwick Airport’s Impact on the Visitor 
Economy, Oxford Economics, 2017 

 

0
100000
200000
300000
400000
500000
600000
700000

1 2 3 4 5

Vi
sit

or
s

Year

Inbound Staying Visits

City Brighton Oxford

Cambridge Bath Winchester

Southend Bournemouth

59



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

5 
 

place to live, work and study.  Tourism in Brighton & Hove: 
 
• Creates a platform and a big audience for the arts and heritage in the city, helping to sustain a 

vibrant arts scene enjoyed by local people. 

• Delivers an extensive choice of independent shops and places to eat and drink that the resident 
population alone could not support.  

• Ensures a vibrant weekday city centre which becomes increasingly important as more of 
Brighton’s population commute to jobs outside of the city.  

• Creates job opportunities in the city that cannot be outsourced to another location or 
automated – tourism is based on personal service delivered in the destination. 

• Provides a platform to talk about the city at a national and international level that creates profile 
and positioning. 

Tourism jobs are important to the city, but tourism nationally is undervalued as a career option.  
Many of the jobs in hotels, cafés and bars are seasonal and low paid, taken up by people who come 
to Brighton to work temporarily, frequently from EU countries. Fluctuations in exchange rates and 
Brexit means the number of EU workers is already declining and the industry in Brighton is 
concerned about recruitment.  The scale of the challenge ahead is bigger in Brighton than for many 
other destinations because of the high volume of hotels, bars and restaurants.     
 
Brighton is a compact city, with little room for further physical development and, like most of 
Britain, with a need for more housing.  The city wants to attract more offices to create local 
employment, though high land values are a barrier.  Yet a competitive visitor destination needs to 
deliver what their target markets want, and some new tourism development will be needed to 
remain competitive and retain market share.  That requires a strong rationale for investment in the 
face of competing land uses, and creative thinking about how Brighton & Hove can fill any gaps in its 
offer.  
 
Destinations across England are increasingly working together to find creative and cost-effective 
ways to access new markets, in particular international leisure visitors and international conference 
trips.  By taking a big picture view of tourism they are sharing ideas, experience and tourism 
resources, working regionally to achieve more in individual destinations.  Brighton’s proximity to 
Gatwick Airport and to London present currently unchanneled potential.  VisitEngland as part of a 
potential sector deal with government are looking to create tourism zones as a way of focusing 
sustained investment.  It is imperative that Brighton & Hove ensures it is at the table in the 
discussions about collaborative working.            
 
This strategy is about new ways of thinking about tourism to channel these opportunities and 
potential, and how that will change the way stakeholders develop, market and manage tourism.       

60



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

6 
 

2 WHAT WE WANT TO ACHIEVE 
As a successful and thriving destination, the goal for tourism in Brighton & Hove is to safeguard the 
long-term sustainability of tourism.   
 
That does not mean standing still and maintaining the status quo. It means selective, clearly defined 
and carefully managed growth which will influence how Brighton talks about the place to the outside 
world -  to potential visitors, buyers and investors – and how city partners value tourism and 
integrate tourism into the wider planning of the city.  It means going about the day-to-day business 
of tourism in different ways.  It also means safeguarding jobs and nurturing the facilities that attract 
visitors and looking at creative ways to fill the gaps.   
 

 
 
 
Achieving the goal delivers four benefits for tourism in Brighton & Hove.  
 
• The value of tourism grows – delivered through higher-spend year-round overnight visitors, 

from markets that will visit on weekdays as well as at weekends.  The number of visitors and 
trips will not change significantly but the type of people, when they visit and how long they stay 
will.    

• There’s a deeper cultural fit between the city and local people – tourism is embedded more 
strongly in the city’s futures planning and the type of tourism developed chimes with local 
culture and lifestyles, which helps to increase the appeal of tourism as a career choice.    

• Brighton is the city in the region –  that strengthens the voice and role of tourism, and its 
benefits to the city.   

• Businesses become more resilient – because everyone shares the same focus, there is year-
round tourism, and focused investment in people and place.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

61



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

7 
 

HOW WE ARE GOING TO GET THERE 
 
• Be clear about the visitor markets that offer best prospects to deliver more leisure short breaks 

and added value conferences and what needs to be done to reach them.   

• Develop a place brand that builds on the values in the destination brand and sharing it across all 
sectors including the tourism industry and applying it consistently across the city. 

• Work more closely with regional partners where it helps to boost Brighton’s positioning as the 
city in the region and delivers new tourism activity that creates a sustainable tourism sector.  

• Raise the city’s profile with national decision-makers to realise tourism objectives and access 
support and funding. 

• Make tourism central to the emerging Economic Strategy for the city. 

• Make visitor needs integral to city planning and management to tackle visitor management 
effectively.  

• Develop a five-year Destination Management Plan (DMP) which creates the Action Plan for this 
strategy.  The plan will be worked up with input from the tourism industry and from different 
departments within the Council to ensure shared purpose and to align city services around the 
priorities set out here.    

 
TARGETS 
 
Growth targets are about value not volume.  This means a focus on growing higher spend overnight 
leisure and business trips and extending the length of stay.  
  
• 5% annual growth in value of conferences from a baseline of £53m. 
• 3% annual growth in bednights and overnight visitor spend per annum – achieved through 

attracting more higher spending visitors and extending the length of trip9. 

                                                             
 
 
9 Great Britain Tourism Survey 3 year moving average 14-16; and International Passenger Survey 2016. 

62



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

8 
 

3 MARKETS FOR THE FUTURE 
Brighton & Hove should focus on attracting higher-spend, year-round overnight visitors – both 
business and leisure – who will visit on weekdays as well as at weekends.  People who are attracted 
by the city’s assets, in tune with the city’s vibe and potentially good ambassadors for the city (i.e. 
trend setters and influencers who will help to reposition it).  They should be able to reach the city 
relatively easily using direct transport links, and they should be reachable via existing and cost-
effective marketing channels.  Prioritising these targets doesn’t mean that other people will stop 
coming but it does mean that product development and marketing spend will have a sharper 
focus, more impact, and better return on investment, and consequently deliver a sustainable 
future for tourism.   
 
TARGET LEISURE MARKETS – TYPE, GEOGRAPHY, LIFESTAGE 
 

TYPE GEOGRAPHY LIFESTAGE* 
Urban dwellers who are 
active and frequent break 
takers, with an optimistic and 
socially liberal outlook.  They 
are likely to be relatively 
time-poor, media-literate, 
brand-conscious, trend-
sensitive and culturally-
aware.  They will have above-
average disposable income. 
Urban dwellers are more 
likely to use public transport 
– an important consideration 
for the city both practically 
and ideologically.  They also 
have a higher tolerance for 
the more negative aspects of 
urban life – e.g. litter, graffiti, 
traffic, crowds, begging, 
drunkenness, noisy nights 
etc. 

• UK: Urban areas within 1 to 
4 hours’ travel time.  (This 
could include cities with 
domestic flights into 
Gatwick.)  NB People living 
within 60 minutes are much 
more likely to see Brighton 
as a day-trip destination.   

• International: Cities with 
direct routes into Gatwick 
and/or repeat visitors to GB 
wanting to travel beyond 
the honeypots. 

 

• 55+:  A clear off-peak 
growth opportunity given 
the ageing population 
trend (both UK and 
international) and the city’s 
current younger visitor 
profile.   

• Pre-family, childfree and 
empty nesters:  Targeting 
pre-family, childfree and 
empty nester urban 
dwellers makes sense, as 
they are they are more 
likely to travel outside 
school holidays.  Also, 
compared to other coastal 
destinations, the city’s 
offer is less competitive for 
staying families. 

 
* People are living longer more active lives and are less likely to transition through life stages at the 
same ages or in the order they once did.  But age and life stage do still have a part to play in 
targeting future visitors for the city. 

 
CONFERENCE MARKETS 
 
Here are the priority markets for conferences in Brighton. They are markets that reinforce the profile 
of current conference business to the city and the markets where the city has competitive 
advantage. They align with the priority sectors from the city’s emerging Economic and Inward 
Investment Strategy and reinforce the city’s international role and profile.  
 
Brighton & Hove will focus on attracting conferences from the identified priority sectors for the city. 
These sectors are Digital, Life Sciences, Advanced Engineering and Creative Sectors.  All competitive 

63



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

9 
 

sectors. The city will need to present a strong market and location case to grow market share.  It will 
set out the city’s intellectual capital by emphasising the international standing of the research, 
thinking and innovation in the city’s universities, hospitals and corporate research & development. 
 
The following markets are not mutually exclusive.  
 
• Association conferences – a clear strength for the city that brings staying visitors outside the 

summer months and during weekdays – the strategy will be retention and market penetration. 
• Academic, medical, scientific, public sector conferences – potential to grow conferences in 

these specialist fields identified by the city’s Ambassadors Programme which resonate with the 
city’s sector strengths – the focus is attracting more of existing types of events and encouraging 
Ambassadors to develop new events.  

• London-based corporates – a huge potential market on Brighton’s doorstep, positioning the city 
as a place for product launches, sales conferences and team-building. Brighton & Hove will need 
to strengthen its place brand to support direct sales activity. 

• International conferences – there is relatively low awareness of most UK cities among 
international buyers outside London.  Selectively using the city’s proximity to London creates a 
unique opportunity to win business in new international markets.  That means targeted activity 
with intermediaries, agents, professional conference organisers and buyers with direct routes 
into Gatwick.  

64



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

10 
 

4 INVESTING IN BRIGHTON’S BRAND  
A NEW PLACE BRAND 
 
The city needs a strong, shared place brand that captures its distinctive personality and tells a 
compelling, contemporary story to external audiences. 

This is not simply about communications.   A shared brand for the city should inform investment and 
place management, as well as marketing.    

The place brand should be integral to the Vision 2030 work and shared across sectors.  Ideally a 
strong place brand should be owned and used by everyone in the city – especially those who project 
the city’s values externally.  It should not be a straitjacket, but rather be flexible enough to “turn up 
the volume” on different aspects depending on the sector and the audience.    

Tourism provides the city with a unique opportunity to communicate its values to external audiences 
– both in the UK and internationally – in ways that other sectors cannot.  It makes sense that the 
place brand is developed by a cross-sector partnership, with tourism playing a key role.   

 
The current destination brand (see box) contains components that are applicable to place branding.  
The work done to date developing and building the Brighton Brand should not be lost.  They form a 
sound starting point from which to discuss and develop a place brand.   

The city’s brand must respond to market trends and be motivating to potential new growth markets 
across all sectors, and relevant whether Brighton & Hove is being talked about as a place to live, 
work, invest, study or visit. It is important to make sure that people see the city as more than just for 
day trips, more than just for seaside fun, more than just a summer or fine-weather destination, and 
more than just a party town.  Its history of alternative thinking is key – and that has already been 
recognised in the current brand’s “free-thinking city” and talk in the brand materials of “an 
independent spirit” and “the story of alternative thought”.  A refreshed positioning for tourism that 
responds to market trends and future markets could be:  

THE CURRENT DESTINATION BRAND 

In a sentence  
A creative city with a blend of modern culture and exotic architecture, sea and countryside, and a 
distinctive free-spirited atmosphere you won’t find anywhere else. 

In a couple of words  
‘Free-thinking city’  

Who we are  
• Creative - Brighton is an inspiring and forward-thinking city in which the arts, business, culture 

and opportunity for learning thrive.  

• European - Brighton is a cosmopolitan meeting place with international recognition and broad 
appeal.  

• Free - Brighton exudes a lively, free-spirited personality with an easy-going atmosphere. 

• Energy - Brighton is a compact, dynamic and young city with passionate, imaginative and 
welcoming people. 

Extract from “Our Brand – Official brand guidelines for Brighton” published by VisitBrighton 
 

65



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

11 
 

It’s a free-thinking, independent place:  a place that people with alternative ideas have been 
escaping to for more than 200 years.  

The reference to “more than 200 years” of free-thinking brings credibility and authenticity, and 
reinforces the city’s distinctive heritage – of people, architecture and social history.  It provides a 
hook to use the heritage of the city more creatively and extensively and to reach out beyond the city 
to extend the heritage offer. 

There are two aspects of the current Brighton Brand which are thematic strengths and should be a 
focus for tourism.  They will shape the priorities for leisure and business tourism – how it is 
developed and communicated.  They work more widely for the city as a place to live and study too, 
and therefore have potential value for place branding.    
 
• Culture – which includes heritage, the arts, architecture and events & festivals.  

• Wellness – this is defined in the broadest sense and for Brighton & Hove means escape, fresh air, 
nature and good food.     

The brand should be applied consistently, creatively and widely.  This means VisitBrighton always 
taking a brand-led approach to their marketing content, and everyone having a shared 
understanding about what it truly means to be a free-thinking city and the difference that makes to 
what they say, show and share … and how they say, show and share it.   

The current brand materials also talk about “an independent spirit “and the story of alternative 
thought” as an extension of these ideas which need to be reflected in the experiences visitors have 
in in the city and in how things are communicated using emphasis, language, tone and style in all 
media channels.   

Experiences 
The city needs to use its assets to create experiences that bring to life “free-thinking city” and make 
it mean something to visitors. The focus will be on experiences that are led by Culture and Wellness.  
For example, that could include developing experiences connected with Wellness in the National 
Park, on the seafront, connected with the Biosphere, about vegan and vegetarian places to eat.  
These experiences should immerse visitors in the “real” Brighton; help them build a relationship with 
the city and encourage them to stay longer.   
 
Brighton & Hove already has a rich choice of experiences, but they need to be much better 
packaged, presented and promoted to visitors.  There is also potential to develop more engaging 
experiences that help to roll out the brand values and provide reasons for visitors to stay longer.  
That requires getting small tourism and cultural businesses working together. VisitBrighton will 
facilitate and support new business activity and collaboration They will provide the business tools to 
help groups understand what they need to do to capitalise on tourism opportunities and how to take 
these experiences to market directly and via the travel trade. 
 
The cultural experience is largely about small specialist venues and events and is therefore 
fragmented.  Much of what makes Brighton & Hove a cultural city is its creative businesses which are 
not part of the visitor experience, though they create a colourful backdrop and a demand for 
creative, specialist and alternative shops, places to eat and entertainment that are part of the visitor 
experience.  That makes it essential to take an experience-led approach to opening up the cultural 
offer of the city.  

Brighton & Hove has a varied seafront. Much more could be made of drawing out the range of 
experiences through combining seafront and city centre experiences together, around Wellness and 
Culture, to integrate the seafront and city centre in the minds of the visitor and encourage visitors to 
explore more of the seafront.  

66



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

12 
 

Events & Festivals 
Events and festivals are a very important part of the visitor offer of any destination. They provide a 
reason to visit now rather than at some point in the future, they enhance the experience of a place 
for visitors by providing entertainment and offer an insight into a destination’s character and 
personality. They provide opportunities to promote the city’s brand values, raise the profile of the 
city among new markets and provide a reason for new visitors to choose Brighton. 
 
The city hosts many events and festivals throughout the year.  Some events are targeting a local 
audience (though visitors might go to them during a visit); some are more commercial touring events 
that attract a regional audience because Brighton is the most convenient location to experience the 
event; and a few are signature events that are unique to the city and high profile, with the ability to 
attract visitors to the city and shape the reputation of Brighton, e.g. the Brighton Festival.  Brighton 
& Hove also has some growth events (they maybe specialist or regional but have the potential to 
become a signature event).   
 
Many of Brighton’s events are well-established.  A root and branch review of all events is needed to 
identify those with growth potential, especially events which could deliver short breaks to the city 
but are not currently targeting their promotion or working with local tourism partners to achieve 
that.    
 
Wherever possible, existing events and festivals should be encouraged to evolve their programming 
and promotion to bring it closer to the brand. 
 
Brighton & Hove has excellent signature events but there is potential to create an additional high-
profile signature event with originality, preferably outside the summer months, designed to appeal 
to the city’s target market.  The festivals would be themed around either Wellness or Culture and 
reinforce the brand.  There may be opportunities that arise from the Cultural Framework that could 
be brought forward to create it.   
 
VisitBrighton will support and take to market signature events and growth events that reinforce the 
brand, appeal to target markets and have the capability of attracting visitors now, or the potential to 
do so in the future.  Decisions about bought-in events should prioritise those with a wider-than-
regional reach and which reinforce the brand.    
 

67



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

13 
 

5 PLANNING FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH 
Sustainable growth means embedding new ways of thinking about tourism in the city and working in 
new ways and with new partners.    
 
MAKING BRIGHTON THE CITY IN THE REGION 
 
Brighton & Hove has an important role to play in raising the profile and performance of tourism in 
the region, which in turn will support the sustainable growth of tourism in the city.  Brighton & Hove 
will take a proactive approach to establishing its role as city in the region by: 
 
• Initiating areas for joint working with regional partners on tourism bids and programmes to 

achieve more funding into market intelligence, research and product development. 

• Working with regional partners on cross-destination work including on growing international 
tourism, tourism packaging, market intelligence, e.g. big data, bespoke research on particular 
markets and visitor behaviour.  

• Representing the city and region on tourism and working with national partners on the big 
tourism issues that are relevant to Brighton & Hove including on Brexit, skills and training – to 
ensure the city has a strong voice among decisionmakers and that the specific needs and 
opportunities of tourism for Brighton & Hove and the region are represented on a national 
stage. 

Metropolitan cities such as Liverpool, Manchester and Birmingham have successfully used this 
approach to strengthen the role of tourism and help the sector become better understood and 
better integrated into the wider functions of the city.  In turn this has helped drive tourism forward, 
make the destination more appealing as a place to invest resulting in new products and experiences. 
 
Making Brighton & Hove the “city in the region” is also about making that mean something to 
visitors.  There is an opportunity to create a Brighton Plus experience that brings benefits to tourism 
in the city and to other destinations in the region.  It is about getting visitors to stay longer in the city 
– two or three nights rather than one – and spend some time exploring the wider region including 
The South Downs National Park, historic houses and gardens and vineyards, art galleries, cultural 
venues and festivals.  There are opportunities to create some very special experiences with high 
quality distinctive attractions, for example Glyndebourne or Charleston Farmhouse, and to develop a 
strong art gallery experience along the coast.  
 
This approach enables the city to deliver richer Culture and Wellness experiences and positions 
Brighton & Hove more strongly as a base to explore beyond the city.  Other destinations and 
attractions benefit from increased visits and the opportunity to become connected with the brand 
for the city and its values.  As national and regional organisations increasingly favour working across 
larger geographies, this approach will deliver stronger opportunities to attract funding for projects.   
 
CREATING MORE PLACES TO STAY  
 
Brighton & Hove has a large volume of hotels and a collection of Airbnb but the range and choice of 
hotels and apartments is limited.  The city lacks many of the new innovative hotel brands that the 
city’s target city dwelling visitors will want to stay in and some of the accommodation falls short of 
the brand values. The development of the city’s hotel offer requires upgrading lower quality hotels 
as boutique or themed hotels, most likely through new ownership.  But to grow leisure breaks and 
be a competitive conference destination requires investment in new hotels. Brighton & Hove should 

68



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

14 
 

also be front of mind for companies developing new brands and looking to expand out of London to 
reinforce its city region role.  The recent Visitor Accommodation Update	study for the city identified 
significant potential for hotel development but the lack of sites is going to continue to be a major 
constraint on hotel growth.   
	
The preparation of the emerging City Plan Part Two may offer the opportunity to look at how to 
deliver new hotels in the city.  Growth might be achieved through the Council supporting extensions 
and upgrades to existing hotels or through windfall hotel sites coming forward in the city centre or 
through identifying areas for new hotels. The Visitor Accommodation Update Study may recommend 
other mechanisms to support hotel development, for example producing a Hotel Investment 
Strategy that focuses on attracting new hotel brands to Brighton & Hove. 
 
MANAGING THE CITY 
 
Most visitors are concentrated in a very small footprint in the city centre. Many of the great places 
to eat are tucked away, it is hard to navigate the city and understand its different quarters, and 
visitors are often unaware of the different experience in other neighbourhoods such as Kemp Town 
or Hove, or the specialist trails that introduce visitors to new parts of the city and provide a reason 
to stay longer.  Developing new experiences should be designed to give visitors a reason to explore 
further and understand the city better.   
 
Signing and interpretation needs a refresh to help visitors navigate the city, designed to positively 
encourage visitors to explore different areas and take routes that encourage wider exploration.  
Much of signing and interpretation can be digital, enabling it to be customised and adapted overtime 
to work with the city and its businesses.    
 
First impressions and the visitor journey from arrival to departure are essential to get right for 
leisure and business visitors.  They can be hard to achieve in a city with as many visitors as Brighton 
& Hove.  Valuing tourism and understanding the importance of managing the destination well is 
integral to a sustainable destination.  Lower levels of visitor satisfaction in the city compared with 
other destinations10 and concerns of the industry and tourism stakeholders are largely about the 
day-to-day management of Brighton city centre: arrival points, traffic management and litter 
collection.   
 
There is a proven connection between public realm design, how people use and treat public spaces 
and their day-to-day management.  Gehl Architects and Landscape Projects produced ‘Public Space 
Public Life' study for Brighton & Hove City Council in 2014.  Some, though not all the 
recommendations in that study have been implemented.  The tourism, planning and economic 
development departments in the City Council should review that work in the context of any recent 
changes in the city and explore how more of its recommendations can be implemented that require 
a review.      
 
Brighton & Hove also needs to identify best practice on what works in similar destinations elsewhere 
in UK and set up discussions with the relevant local authorities to learn more about how changes in 
place management approaches are funded and delivered.     
 

                                                             
 
 
10 Brighton Destination Report, Kubi Kalloo and Quadrangle for VisitEngland. Undated.  Research carried out between April 
2015 and September 2016. 

69



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

15 
 

6 CONFERENCES 
Business tourism is high value.  Prestigious events give the city a positive profile in the marketplace 
nationally and in Brighton & Hove’s target industries. Conferences can showcase local talent and 
cutting-edge research, exposing local businesses to national and international business markets.  The 
economic vitality of Brighton’s tourism is dependent on maintaining and supporting conference 
tourism.    
 
Conferences are all about bringing together people to share knowledge, exchange ideas and develop 
new working collaborations.  There is a strong synergy between those objectives and the positioning 
of Brighton & Hove as “a free thinking city” and an opportunity to use conference tourism as a 
platform for the place brand.  Conferences are an important part of sustainable growth.    
 

  
 
Brighton has a wide range of conference and meeting facilities and a long history and reputation of 
holding business events.  The Brighton Centre is the showcase venue with a capacity of 4,400 in the 
main auditorium but the city hosts conferences and business events in a very wide range of venues 
from hotels and academic institutions to sports and cultural venues.  The commercial success of 
these venues relies to some degree on conference business.  Conferences support the volume and 
viability of the large number of hotels in the city because they deliver weekday business, frequently 
at times of year when fewer leisure visitors come.   Brighton has carved a successful niche within the 
high value association conference market.  
 
The importance of conference tourism is recognised through the way city partners work together to 
secure and deliver conference business in the city. Brighton has a reputation for delivering a 
professional, city-wide (Team-Brighton) experience for organisers and that reputation underpins and 
sustains repeat business and word of mouth recommendation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Looking to the future, the city has some competitive positioning opportunities: 

ASSOCIATION CONFERENCES  
Association event delegates spend more than other types of conference visitor and are more likely to 
extend their stay for a leisure break. 
 
International conference delegate spend per head per trip £1,021 
UK conference delegate spend per head per trip £448. 
 
Source: Business Events Research 2016. VisitBritain and Strategic Research International 

70



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

16 
 

 
• Easy access from London and from Gatwick. 

• Its seafront location that enables it to integrate health and wellbeing into event programmes to 
meet the needs of the Millennium conference goer looking to develop different and creative 
ways to engage with fellow delegates and exhibitors, e.g. morning yoga, event runs and local 
walks. 

• A loyal and supportive client base built up over the years with opportunities to further nurture 
these ambassadors and share their experiences.   

 But the city also faces some challenges:   
 
• Brighton & Hove has very few large corporate businesses with headquarters or regional offices 

in the city – that means limited homegrown demand for conferences and business events.   

• Despite punching above its weight in conference tourism, it is being outspent by many of its 
major UK rivals. With a similar population and similar sized venue, Visit Belfast for example has 
an operating budget of £3.6m.   

• Brighton’s awareness among international buyers could be stronger and current levels of 
awareness are not translated into bookings.11  

• There is a growing supply of conference venues that outstrips demand, e.g. a new conference 
centre in Aberdeen (due to open 2018), a major new venue agreed in Newcastle-Gateshead, 
major refurbishments to venues including Eastbourne (£50m) and at the Fairfield Halls, Croydon 
(£30m).   

• The average size of an ICCA registered event has declined from around 800 in the late 1970’s to 
around 400 in 2012. Nearly all events held in the ICCA database have fewer than 1000 delegates. 

 
GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES 
 
The growth opportunities are about deriving added value from existing market and sector strengths 
and using Brighton’s proximity to London creatively and productively.  They are also about ensuring 
conference activity reinforces Brighton & Hove’s sector strengths.  The target is to narrow the gap 
between the proportion of business visitors to Brighton & Hove (10%) and the all England average 
(14%)12. Achieving that will add an additional £8-10m into the local economy from domestic business 
visitors and a similar amount (circa £10m) from international visitors.   
 
 
 
 

                                                             
 
 
11 VisitBritain research shows London achieves 90% awareness of its conference offer, Brighton managed just 28% putting 
it in 7th place of destinations surveyed. 62% of all conference visits are to London and just 7% to the South East. The 
International Congress & Convention Association (ICCA) data places London 5th globally in the ICCA league table while 
Brighton manages 279th. 
 
12 Great Britain Tourism Survey. 2016. Kantor TNS. International Passenger Survey. 2016. Office for National Statistics 
 
 

71



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

17 
 

The main focus remains association conferences because Brighton has developed experience and 
competitive advantage.  In addition: 
 
• To develop London as a source market for corporate business – to attract some of this business 

to Brighton, taking advantage of good transport links and a seaside location. 

• To position Brighton alongside London for targeted international buyers who are currently only 
considering the capital – playing to Brighton’s location, access and sector strengths.  

• To exploit London Gatwick -  targeting international opportunities served by airlines operating 
out of Gatwick. 

• To exploit Brighton as a compact conference destination - the event can become embedded in 
the city and the conference ‘owns’ Brighton for a few days. That means working with businesses 
to deliver a bespoke welcome and dressing the city for specific conferences.  

• To work more closely with the universities and with key industries to nurture new events and 
bring them together to bid for international events to develop a proposition that takes 
advantage of the rich digital and creative clusters in Brighton and better engages with it.  

• To call out the international standing of the research, thinking and innovation in the city’s 
institutions and businesses.   

•  To develop a distinctive conference experience that encourages conference businesses to use 
the brand in its sales and marketing.  

 
However, to achieve that growth requires delivering contemporary venues that meet what 
conference buyers want in a highly competitive marketplace.  The main venue is the conference 
showcase and must be able to compete alongside other UK venues.  That means the main venue 
must deliver: 
 
• Flexible quality space - of sufficient scale and quality to meet or exceed organisers 

requirements, compete with other venues in major UK conference cities and be capable of 
managing large scale entertainment events as well as conferences. 

• Good connections – to all the city facilities – as a compact city, Brighton & Hove can deliver this 
through good transport and public realm design.  

• State-of-the-art technical infrastructure – that is regularly refreshed to ensure it continues to 
meet organiser and delegate expectations.  

• Creative workspaces and networking areas – that reflect the brand values and which foster 
inspiration and engagement between delegates.  

 

The Waterfront Project creates the opportunity to deliver a new state of the art conference venue 
with these facilities at Black Rock.  The location must also deliver the business buzz that 
communicates the city’s intellectual credentials and sector strengths. It must be a new quarter of 
the city, with a corridor of activity and easy transport that links it with the city centre and the 
seafront.   

72



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

18 
 

7 MARKETING FOCUS 
To achieve sustainable tourism growth in the longer term, the city’s tourism marketing 
communications will: 
 
• Target priority markets as tightly as possible – this should strongly influence the creative 

approach and ideas, the content and the channels.   

• Use the brand consistently and creatively – and encourage, support and enable others within 
the council and the city to use the brand and promote the brand values too.   

• Involve partners beyond tourism in marketing the city – to increase resources and channels and 
have greater impact.  

• Work with organisations and attractions beyond the city itself to reach target visitor markets – 
strengthening the product offer and increasing marketing resources and reach – developing new 
itineraries and experiences and benefiting from partners’ routes to market.  

• Develop and deliver creative campaigns – to position Brighton as a place for “culture” and 
“wellness”. 

These are the practical actions for the short to medium term: 

• Review current marketing content and channels in the light of priority markets. 

• Apply the destination brand values to current marketing content – prioritise and foreground 
content that highlights the brand values. 

• Set up a City Marketing Group that brings together the key organisations promoting Brighton & 
Hove as a place to invest, live and study as well as visit and meet – to review and develop a place 
brand and to identify areas to collaborate on marketing communications where it makes sense 
to do so. 

 

73



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

19 
 

8 DELIVERING THE PLAN 
RECRUITMENT, JOBS & SKILLS 
 
Brighton & Hove has around 21,000 tourism jobs13.  Like the rest of Britain, and London in particular, 
Brighton’s travel and tourism industry relies on employing a significant number of immigrants. Any 
changes limiting the sector’s ability to recruit or employ foreign nationals, including those from the 
EU, could challenge many travel and hospitality businesses in Brighton & Hove filling a number of 
roles.  This situation is likely to be made acute by the current high levels of UK employment, existing 
skills shortages and poor perception of tourism as a career choice.   
 

 
 
There are no quick fixes to these challenges but businesses in Brighton & Hove are already finding it 
hard to recruit as numbers of available EU workers begin to decline.   There is a need for short as 
well as long term action.  There are two areas to consider:  
 
• Sourcing skilled employees – which is a current and ongoing challenge. 

• Developing a skilled workforce – how the soft skills needed for tourism can be better 
appreciated and taught, what industry incentives will be needed to train and retain employees, 
the implications on business costs and subsequent competitiveness of the sector.  

 
Because the scale of the challenge is big in Brighton, the city needs to be in the vanguard of piloting 
new schemes and programmes to generate more employment now.  That means:   
 
• The different Council departments and the different training and skills providers in the LEP area 

becoming much better connected; sharing information and knowledge to draw up a more 
accurate picture of the immediate and medium-term challenge, identifying the pinch-points and 
agreeing action.  

• Setting up a tourism skills group – potentially as a working or sub-group of a city region wide 
skills group – with industry, skills organisations and local authority representatives.  The group 
will be charged with developing and overseeing the strategic implementation of a Tourism Skills 
Plan.  This needs to be undertaken as part of the new city delivery structure.  The Plan needs to 
work for Brighton & Hove and the region.  It should include the input of major players in the 
industry e.g. Gatwick Airport, major hotel chains with strong representation in the region.   

                                                             
 
 
13 The Economic Impact of Tourism Brighton & Hove 2016, Tourism South East 

EU nationals comprised 11% of the total workforce.  As unemployment fell from 8.1% to 5.4% 
between 2011 and 2015, the percentage of EU nationals being employed by the tourism 
industry increased to 46%.  
As fewer UK nationals become available with the skills required, the industry grew increasingly 
dependent on foreign labour. 
 

People 1st/Tourism Alliance 

74



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

20 
 

• Brighton & Hove City Council working with destinations where the challenge is of a similar scale 
including working with London to lobby government and to bring forward suggested 
programmes and projects for pilot funding.  

 
Potential solutions to the skills shortage that have been put forward for consideration by The 
Tourism Alliance and which might offer opportunities for Brighton, are: 
 
• To expand the TIER 5 Youth Mobility Scheme which allows young people from some 

Commonwealth countries to work in the UK. This could be enlarged to include EU countries so 
that EU nationals could apply for a visa to work in the UK for two years before they turned 27.  

• For funding to incentivise the delivery of tourism programmes and tourism apprenticeships 
rather than those schemes being directed to STEM sectors. 

• To relax the rules governing the ability of overseas students in the UK to work in the industry 
while they are studying.  

The third of these options could have immediate impact.  All these approaches require government 
intervention but there may be opportunities to pilot these and other ideas.    
 
The Tourism Industry Council14 are working with government to establish a Tourism Sector Deal 
which is looking at four areas: Connectivity, Productivity, Tourism Action Zones and Skills. If 
established the Deal will be instrumental in delivering a 10-year tourism hospitality and skills 
campaign.  The current discussions on Tourism Action Zones are to create large zones, for example 
aligning with LEP boundaries.  Brighton & Hove has the potential to be the city at the heart of a new 
Tourism Action Zone. The objective is for the zones to deliver ongoing tourism funding to support 
sustainability of the sector.  Given the significance of tourism employment in Brighton & Hove and 
more widely in the Gatwick Diamond area, Brighton & Hove will explore the opportunities for 
Brighton & Hove to deliver a tourism skills pilot for England, working closely with VisitBritain and 
leading industry partners.   
  

                                                             
 
 
14 The Tourism Industry Council is a collaboration between Government and the tourism industry focusing on improving 
the tourism sector including jobs, transport and de-regulation.  

75



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

21 
 

NEW WAYS OF WORKING 
 
This strategy is about a new refreshed focus for tourism that delivers a sustainable sector for the 
future.  For that to be successful requires a change in approach to the role and function of tourism. 
The sector must be strategically aligned with economic development and its role and contribution to 
the cultural life of the city better understood and supported. That means placing tourism centrally in 
the economic development of the city and positioning Brighton & Hove as the tourism city in a wider 
geography.  That has implications for the role and remit of the Council’s tourism team, its 
relationship with the tourism industry, with other departments in the Council and with other 
organisations in the city, regionally and nationally.  
 
Brighton & Hove is looking at a new model for the City Council functions. Tourism needs to be a key 
part of that.  This is not about carrying across current functions but about evolving the role of 
tourism from tourism marketing to place marketing and making tourism much more central to the 
city’s policy and decision making and integral to place management.  That means retaining current 
functions and introducing a new strategic tier that better enables the city to maximise the wider 
opportunities tourism brings to Brighton & Hove and to put the city in a much stronger position to 
access national and regional funds for tourism.  There are several models for how this might be 
delivered.  This approach is well established in larger cities and works well in Liverpool and in 
Manchester because there is clarity between roles and responsibilities.  The model supports industry 
membership for marketing and promotional activity.   Brighton & Hove is a smaller city; it needs a 
bespoke model.    
 
Currently, VisitBrighton is delivering a professional marketing and sales operation.  Its focus is 
market retention and market penetration.  This is a valid strategy given the scale and importance of 
tourism to the city.  It is also a successful model given the number and diversity of businesses using 
VisitBrighton’s marketing services (530+), the rate at which they rebook the partner programme 
each year (80%+) and the continuing success of the convention bureau’s sales in extremely 
competitive circumstances.  The management of events at the Brighton Centre also seeks to balance 
commercial activity for the Centre, with activity which is good for the profile of the city and to 
deliver a mix of events which variously benefit hotels and places to eat.  This is all achieved by a 
small team.  The approach ensures businesses are engaged and served by VisitBrighton and creates a 
funding stream for activity.    
 
VisitBrighton’s industry partners are mostly looking for reliable short to medium-term returns on 
their investment.   Significant departures from the current marketing programme could jeopardise 
support and income from partners, which would in turn reduce VisitBrighton’s resources. In 
Manchester for example, their tourism model retains this element of industry engagement through 
Visit Manchester, which sits within Marketing Manchester.  
 
In Brighton & Hove, the introduction of a strategic tier of tourism activity will mean an additional 
focus on product and market development – which is higher risk and slower yield.  Return on this 
investment will be in years, not months, and is unlikely to come from SMEs and micro businesses, or 
from the national chains of tourism, hospitality and retail businesses.  VisitBrighton will need to work 
with external stakeholders beyond tourism who have a vested interest in the city’s long-term 
sustainable growth. 
 
Looking ahead, tourism functions would sit in three tiers – strategic, transitional and tactical.  The 
transitional tier is the first incremental steps towards new ways of working.  This tier would 
disappear over time as roles and functions evolve.  Here are the types of function that might be 
covered by each tier.  This is illustrative and not fully comprehensive.  

76



BRIGHTON & HOVE VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY 2018 - 2023 BRIGHTON & HOVE VES                                  APRIL 2018 
 
 

22 
 

     
The new model for tourism needs to be designed to work with the new model for the city and 
implemented alongside it.     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•Promoting Brighton on national and international stage 
to visitors, inward investors, conference organisers and 
students. 

• Representing Brighton's interests on key regional and 
national tourism platforms

• Bidding and securing external tourism funds 
•Developing new strategic partnerships regionally and 
nationally 

Strategic 

•Moving towards more comprehensive use of the brand 
by VisitBrighton and partners   

•Broadening out to engage new city parners in tourism 
activity

•moving marketing focus towards their prioirty markets 

Transitional 

•Tourism marketing plan 
• Promotional campaigns
• Engagement with tourism businesses and membership
•Liasion on day-to-day place management e.g. litter 
collection, event management

Tactical

77



Follow us on online:

 @Love_Brighton 
 #LoveBrighton

Find out more at -  
www.visitbrighton.com

65
46

 B
ri

g
h

to
n

 &
 H

o
ve

 C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

s 
Te

am
   

  F
ro

n
t 

co
ve

r 
im

ag
e:

 V
is

it
B

ri
ta

in
/R

o
ya

l P
av

ili
o

n
/S

im
o

n
 A

n
d

er
so

n

Published December 2018

78



TOURISM, EQUALITIES 
COMMUNITIES & CULTURE 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 9 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 
 

Subject: Award of Ministry of Housing Communities and 
Local Government Funds for Domestic Abuse 
Services 

Date of Meeting:  17th June 2021 

Report of: Executive Director of Housing Neighbourhoods and 
Communities  

Contact Officer: Name: Jo Player Tel: 01273 292488 

 Email: jo.player@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 In 2020 Parliament started to debate the new Domestic Abuse bill. On the back 

of this, Brighton & Hove City Council (BHCC) were awarded just over £600,000 
from the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to 
start to deliver against the new duties placed by the bill on Local Authorities. The 
bill has now been enacted as the Domestic Abuse Act.  
 

1.2 The Act places certain new duties on the local authority to prepare a needs 
assessment and publish a local strategy on the support needs of all people 
experiencing domestic abuse in safe accommodation by Aug 21st 2021 based on 
that needs assessment. It also places a duty on local authorities in England to 
provide support to victims of domestic abuse and their children in refuges and 
other safe accommodation. On 18th March 2021 BHCC signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with MHCLG to undertake this work.  
 

1.3 This report updates the committee on the work of the Pan Sussex Framework 
and seeks authority to spend a small proportion of the funding on additional 
officer resources for BHCC in order to effectively spend the money allocated.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes that the Pan Sussex Partnership is undertaking a 
needs assessment, as required by the MHCLG funding, which will gather data 
and identify gaps in service provision. There will be a future report to this 
committee as to how the funding will be spent in Brighton & Hove.  

  
2.2 That the Committee agrees to spend a portion of the MHCLG funding to develop 

an extra resource in Brighton & Hove City Council to support the development of 

policy, and the commissioning and oversight of services in relation to domestic 

violence and domestic abuse. This resource would amount to approximately 

79

mailto:jo.player@brighton-hove.gov.uk


£25,000 until the end of March 22. 

 

2.3 That  the Committee  notes the carry forward of separate MHCLG funding from 
the 2020/21 financial year to Rise, to cover the continued MHCLG project funding 
for first two quarters of 2021/22 A further report  with options on continuation of 
this funding ,will come to committee, following the required MHCLG needs 
assessment exercise. 

 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
3.1  In 2020/21 £6 million Domestic Abuse Capacity Building Fund enabled 

preparation so that local authorities are ready for the introduction of the new 
duties outlined above.  Additional funding has been made available in 2021/22 
and has been allocated to local authorities on the basis that local authorities are 
able to continue funding support to victims/survivors and their children, The grant 
funding for 2021/22 was paid on 1 April based on the understanding that: 

a) The grant only covers revenue expenditure relating to the functions set out in 
the new statutory duty (within the Domestic Abuse Bill) on Tier 1 Local 
Authorities relating to the provision of support to victims/survivors of domestic 
abuse and their children residing within safe accommodation; 

 
b) The grant is distributed to Local Authorities for the period from 01 April 2021 

to 31 March 2022 for the purpose of and the expectation that they start to 
prepare and fulfil their relevant functions under the duty from that date as if 
the new duty were in force and continue to fulfil these functions in line with 
the duty once it is commenced.  

 
c) The Bill will put in place a statutory framework for the delivery of support to 

victims/survivors of domestic abuse and their children residing within safe 
accommodation.  Tier 1 Local Authorities will be required to appoint a multi-
agency Local Partnership Board (LPB) to support them in performing certain 
specified functions.  These will be: 

 Assess the need for accommodation-based support for all 
victims/survivors and their children, including those who require cross 
border support. 

 Prepare and publish strategies for the provision of support to cover the 
locality and diverse groups of victims. 

 Give effect to strategies by making commissioning/de-
commissioning decisions to meet the support needs of victims and 
their children. 

 Monitor and evaluate local delivery of the strategy. 

 Report back to Central Government; expected to include: 

o Reporting on local delivery – setting out how the functions have been 
executed under the new duty (including reporting on strategy, as well 
as how partnership working has been approached working across key 
agencies and across neighbouring areas; 

o Evidence that adequate needs assessments have been undertaken; 
o Evidence that local strategies are in place and working effectively; 
o Evidence that local commissioning decisions have been informed by 

needs assessments and that there is adequate suitable provision; 

80



o An evaluation of the impact of decisions locally including service 
delivery outcomes; 

o Evidence on spend and feedback on delivery, including challenges 
faced and best practice. 

 
(d) To ensure continuity in provision, where existing domestic abuse safe 

accommodation support services (which are meeting a need in that area) are 
already commissioned by Tier 2 Local Authorities, Tier 1 Local Authorities 
commit to either contract services directly or pass the appropriate funding to 
Tier 2 Local Authorities to maintain equivalent commissioned services until 
the needs assessments have been completed and the new strategies are in 
place on which future commissioning decisions can be based. 

 
(e) Subject to Royal Assent of the Domestic Abuse Bill, and consultation, MHCLG 

expects to set out in regulations that Tier 1 authorities should finalise and 
publish their first strategy, based on a robust needs assessment, by August 
21.  
 

Pan Sussex framework 
 

3.2 BHCC decided to some years ago commission domestic violence services as part 
of a larger partnership comprising other local authorities and partners in Sussex 
and the Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner. This process enables a wider 
geographical and partnership approach to be taken to commissioning and 
delivering services to ensure they are joined up. This approach reflects that 
people will often be based out of area and it is key that there is a consistent 
delivery of services.  This is supported by an officer team based at East Sussex 
CC including those working for BHCC.  

 
3.3  As previously reported to Committee, the partnership produced the Pan-Sussex 

Framework in early 2020 – the strategy for re-commissioning DV and DA services 
following the end of 5 year service contracts.  The Neighbourhoods, Inclusion 
Communities and Equalities Committee agreed to the Pan Sussex Framework in 
March 2019. 

 
Following a delay in the commissioning  process because of the pandemic,  new 
contracts were awarded  earlier this year.  

 
Capacity building funding (£50,000) 

 
3.4 £50,000 was allocated to BHCC by the MHCLG in November 2020 for capacity 

building to help the local authority get ready to implement the new Duties in the 
Domestic Abuse Act, such as the required needs assessment. The Pan Sussex 
Partnership agreed to allocate this resource to develop a project team sitting in 
the Office of the Sussex Police and Crime Commissioner (OSPCC) to lead on the 
needs assessment and development of a Strategy on the support needs of victim/ 
survivors experiencing domestic violence and abuse and in need of safe 
accommodation.  The PCC’s office covers the whole of Sussex.  The OSPCC 
also had capacity to undertake and manage this work.  

 
3.5  Whilst the project team will be working across Sussex and developing a Pan 

Sussex needs assessment and strategy, there will be specific localised sub 

81



sections that reflect the local needs and demographics of each local authority 
area as required by the MHCLG. The information required is set out in the 
guidance appended [in Appendix 1].  It includes wide-ranging demographic data 
on the local community and information from services such as police, health care,  
housing and social care as well as third sector organisations and providers about 
DA and DV prevalence including relevant equalities data as well as services in 
place, gaps in service and case studies. The officers have started in post to 
progress the needs assessment including compiling specific information for 
Brighton and Hove. 

 
3.6 The needs assessment will be undertaken by the project team to ensure that the 

views of all providers (including those in the third sector) in the City are sought 
and that relevant data that they hold will be included in the assessment. There is 
also an expectation in the guidance that views are also sought from those people 
with lived experience so this will be part of the local needs assessment. The 
project team consists of a project manager and two project officers.  
 

3.7  Officers are starting to collate certain data such as crime data already and have 
provided contact details of those services that we need to engage with, including 
third sector providers,  so that the work can be completed as quickly as possible. 
Officers plan to complete the needs assessment by the beginning of July 2021. 
There is an expectation that a full needs assessment is carried out every three 
years going forward and that there is an annual review.  
 
MHCLG Funding (£606,000) 

  
3.8 The MHCLG money for 2021/22 (approximately £606,000) for BHCC is to 

provide additional support to people experiencing domestic abuse in safe 
accommodation.   MHCLG have stated that commissioning should be down to 
local decision making and that they expect continuation of services previously 
funded where they have performed well. It was agreed at a previous TECC 
committee that any spend would be subject to agreement at a future committee.  

 
3.9 Once the needs assessment and the strategy have been completed by the Pan  

Sussex project team sitting in the OSPCC, there will be a further report to this 
Committee with recommendations as to how the funding is spent in the City. For 
example, BHCC may wish to undertake a joint procurement of services to be 
provided with the funding with other members of the Pan Sussex partnership, or 
act independently of the other members of the partnership and these options will 
be brought to committee for consideration in a future report.  

 
3.10 MHCLG had also grant funded £99,962 for the financial year 2020/21 to BHCC 

for RISE linked to a bid submitted by them but managed through the local 
authority. This is not part of the £6m capacity building fund. Due to the pandemic 
the service did not start on time and it has been agreed that funding for the 
project for the final quarter of 2020/21 would be carried forward to ensure 
continuation of this RISE service at least for the first two quarters of 2021/22  

 
Additional capacity for BHCC 
 

3.11 This report recommends that BHCC starts to allocate some of the funding prior to 
the completion of the needs assessment as there is a lack of resource in the 

82



Council currently to advise, commission and oversee the services. There may 
also be resource implications arising from the requirement to set up the local 
partnership board to oversee the implementation of the strategy as set out in 
Paragraph 3.1 above. Officers anticipate that recruitment would begin 
immediately and would cost approximately £25,000 until the end of March 2022 

 
4  ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
4.1 Pan Sussex arrangements are already in place to deliver the joint unit and a 

range of services that are accessed by Brighton and Hove residents, such as the 
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC). The project team who will 
undertake the needs assessment and start to develop the strategy has already 
been recruited to because of the need to start this work as quickly as possible 
and develop options for spend this year, rather than delay the award of funds. 

 
4.2  The funding allocated must be spent by the end of March 2022. A needs 

assessment is required by the MHCLG and follows the template provided by the 
MHCLG. As this is a requirement of the funding it is not recommended that a 
needs assessment is not pursued. 
 

4.3 In the longer term it may be possible to consider alternatives to the current Pan-
Sussex arrangements. This will require investigation of the implications for 
service users, staff, partners and budgets. This will be explored at a future 
committee and included in the options for decision. 
 

4.4 Members could decide not to allocate an additional resource to BHCC but this 
may limit the capacity of the council to both award the funding and to ensure that 
the new services are delivered well under the act, and linked appropriately to 
Brighton & Hove. It is considered important to have a specific resource based in 
Brighton & Hove. 
 

5 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 This report is to provide information regarding the new duties placed on the local 

authority as a result of the Domestic Abuse Act. There has been no community 
engagement at this stage in the process. 

 
5.2  The needs assessment will identify gaps in service provision and where the 

money should be spent to ensure that BHCC meets its duties under the new Act. 
As included in paragraph3.6 above, providers and service users will be engaged 
in the needs assessment exercise required by the DA Act and this information 
will be used to shape decisions on the future award of the MHCLG funding.  
 

6. CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 This report is to provide information regarding the new duties that will be placed 

on the local authority as a result of the new DA Bill, and to explain the process in 
place to carry out the required needs assessment.   

 
6.2 The use of some MHCLG funding to agree an extra resource for BHCC will also 

enable future development of local DA and DV policy, oversight of services and 
commissioning work, as this resource does not currently exist within the 

83



organisation 
 

6.3 The report also advises members of plans for a future options report on the 
award of the MHCLG funding.  
 

7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS:  
 

Financial Implications: 
 
7.1 The MHCLG grant funding of £606,288 was received by BHCC on 9th April 2021.  

In line with the government’s general position, MHCLG has not ringfenced this 
funding. However, local authorities will be under a legal obligation to provide vital 
support within safe accommodation to meet the needs in their areas, and report 
back to central government that they have met these obligations. 

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Michael Bentley Date: 18/5/21 
 

Legal Implications: 
  
 
7.2 The Council will need to comply with its Contract Standing Orders and the rules 

for social and health contracts contained in the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. More detailed legal implications will be provided in the future committee 
report when recommendations for the procurement(s) are made.   

 
 Lawyer Consulted:     Alice Rowland                                             Date: 09/6/21 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 Whilst it is recognised that Domestic Abuse disproportionately affects women and 

women with children, the needs assessment will also provide a fuller picture of 
equalities implications, taking on board input from partners. There is no 
requirement for an equalities impact assessment to be undertaken for the needs 
assessment, but officers would expect one to be completed for any future 
procurement. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
  
7.4 None. 
 
 

 
 

84



Authority Name: Date:

Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation - Needs Assessment Form & Guidance

1. Background

It is critical to provide life-saving safe accommodation and support for those victims and their children that need it 

following domestic abuse and as they rebuild their lives after the trauma of domestic abuse.  As set out in the 

Domestic Abuse Bill, local authorities are required to assess (or make arrangements for the assessment of) the need 

for support in their area for all victims of domestic abuse (including their children) [who need to reside] in relevant 

accommodation [also referred to as safe accommodation in this document and the Statutory Guidance].  This includes 

those that require highly specialist support as well as cross-border support.  

Not all domestic abuse victims will need support in safe accommodation, but this form will help to assess the needs of 

those who need to reside in such provision, such as refuge.  For further information on the duty please see the 

Statutory Guidance document - Delivery of Support to Victims of Domestic Abuse and their Children in Domestic 

Abuse Safe Accommodation Services.

Prev. Needs Assessment Full 

Assessment Date:

Next Needs Assessment Full 

Assessment Date:

Previous Refresh Date: Next Refresh Date:

2. This Form

This standardised form has been created alongside the statutory guidance to support local authorities in undertaking 

local needs assessments. This form is intended to be a helpful tool to help capture relevant data to inform evidence-

based strategies.  Conducting local needs assessments in line with the guidance, and following this form with an 

analyst, will help create consistency across the country and better ensure authorities are considering the needs of all 

domestic abuse victims from within the area and from outside the area.  

This form is not mandatory however, by collecting the data requested (as best you can), answering (or considering) 

the questions posed and exploring domestic abuse support within safe accommodation, you should be able to 

determine the met needs and unmet needs of your area, providing evidence for strategic planning.  Please feel free to 

explore further sections deeper if you think relevant and helpful.  

3. When

Needs assessments are an important precursor to developing local strategies. A full local needs assessments should be 

conducted at a minimum every 3 years, with a refresh being undertaken on an annual basis to ensure any change in 

demand or support requirements, following annual report figures and other data, are adequately captured.  

For further information on stratgies following the needs assessment, please refer to the Statutory Guidance 

document. 

4. Who

85



Contributed to 

this Assessment:

Contributed to 

this Assessment:

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Y / N Y / N

Source 1: Source 2:

Source Used: Source Used:

To complete this needs assessment local authorities will need to gather data from a range of sources to gain a greater 

understanding of the people and domestic abuse victims/survivors requiring support within safe accommodation in 

the local authority area.  

The sources listed here are sources that we would expect local authorities to have access to.  However, we know that 

local authorities will be in the best position to understand what other local data sets there may be and would expect 

local authorities to use their judgement to add other relevant sources.  We have made suggestions of data sources and 

made space for the exact source used to be added.  Please use the below fields to note all data sources used including 

relevant links - eg. data from local Children's Services, Healthcare, Housing, Safeguarding, H-Clic for Homelessness and 

Rough Sleeping.

Local Police and Crime Reports Local MARAC Reports via Local 

MARAC Office

Tier 2 Authority Name: Tier 2 Authority Name:

5. Data Sources

Tier One authorities, with support from their Local Partnership Boards, must conduct a local needs assessment to 

determine the level of need for domestic abuse support for victims/survivors in safe accommodation in their area.  

Tier two authorities must, so far as reasonably practicable, comply with a request to cooperate with Tier One 

authorities in exercising their functions. This may include, providing advice, guidance and knowledge on the local area 

to support in the completion of a local needs assessment and, contributing to the development of a local strategy 

based on the needs assessments.  

In this section please note the name of the lead Tier One authority and the Tier Two authorities that sit within it, 

please add/delete spaces as necessary.  

For further information on local authority responsibilities and the Local Partnership Board, please refer to the 

Statutory Guidance document.

Tier 1 Authority Name:

86



Source 3: Source 4:

Source Used: Source Used:

Source 5: Source 6:

Source Used: Source Used:

Source 7: Source 8:

Source Used: Source Used:

Source 9: Source 10:

Source Used: Source Used:

7. Age Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

0-5yrs:

6-11yrs:

12-15yrs

16-18yrs:

19-24yrs:

25-34yrs:

35-44yrs:

45-54yrs:

55-64yrs:

65-74yrs:

75yrs and Over:

8. Gender Identity Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

6. Demographic Composition/Population Features of Victim/Survivors 

What are the demographics or population features of victims/survivors identified in your local authority and accessing 

services the local authority? 

To complete this section, you will need to access a range of local data sets such as crime data from local police force 

area reports and housing data from homless reports such as H-Clic.  Please add further local data on demographics 

and socio-economics if helpful to you and further understanding DA in your area.

Please enter the number of victims/survivors for each category. Space has also been provided for the addition of key 

information for demographics and socio-economics for stand out information and any emergencing patterns 

identified in data collection.  

Local data sets should be available Local Authority level and Local Partnership Board representatives able to assist in 

accessing relevant data.  We understand that some of the below may not be available in exactly the same breakdown 

as listed below but these categories are important to explore in data gathering when looking at domestic abuse and 

the local response.  We suggest that authorities complete as much as possible with the support of members from 

Local Parntership Boards and where there are gaps, look to how this can be addressed for future years. 

Other Local Data Set Other Local Data Set

Social Care Data - Adult/Child

Local IDVA Data Statutory Homeless in England/H-CLIC 

Data 

Local Service Provider and User Data Local Helpline Data (if available)

Housing Data

87



Male:

Female:

Non-Binary:

Trans-

Gender/Trans-

Sexual:

Other/Unknown:

9. Marital Status Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

Married/Civil 

Partnered:

Cohabiting:

Single:

Separated: 

Divorced/Legally 

Dissolved 

Widowed:

10. Sexual Identity Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

Heterosexual/Straig

ht:

Gay/Lesbian:

Bisexual:

Other/Unknown:

11. Disability Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

Disabled:

Not Disabled:

Unknown:

12. National 

Identity/Ethnic 

Group

Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

White:

Asian or Asian 

British:

Black or Black 

British:

Mixed:

Gyspy/Roma/Travel

ler:

Other:

Key Info: Please note stand out data or points of interest/areas to explore after gathering the above data 

on demographics.

88



13. Household 

Structure

Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

Single Adult and 

Child(ren):

Adults and 

Child(ren):

Adult(s) and no 

Child(ren):

14. Occupation Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

Employed - Full 

Time/Part Time::

Unemployed: 

Student: 

Looking After 

Family/Home:

Retired: 

Economically 

Inactive/Long or 

Short Term 

15. Household 

Income

Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

Less than £10,400 

p/a:

£10,400 to less 

than £20,800 p/a:

£20,800 to less 

than £31,200 p/a:

£31,200 to less 

than £41,600 p/a:

£41,600 to less 

than £52,000 p/a:

£52,000 or more 

p/a:

No income stated 

or not enough 

information 

16. Education Police & Crime 

Data

MARAC/IDVA 

Data

Health Data Housing & 

Homeless Data

Social Care Data 

Degree/Diploma:

Socio-economic Characteristics

89



A/AS 

Levels/Apprentices

hip:

GCSEs/O Levels:

Other:

None:

Key Info:

Total England & 

Wales

Local Area Comparable Area 

1

Comparable Area 

2

Please use police and crime data to note the numbers for each of the categories below in the local area.  You may have 

your own local data on the below or you may wish to use the ONS tool online, the "Domestic abuse in England and 

Wales - Data Tool".  This is useful for data on incidents and areas comparable by size.   We understand that, in some 

cases, data may not be available by specific LA boundaries. In these incidences, MHCLG recommends detailling 

information for the region your area fits within. 

19. Domestic Abuse - Out of Area

18. Domestic Abuse Victims by Local Authority Area/Ward

Is there any data to suggest that domestic abuse is more or less prevalent in any particular parts/areas/wards of the 

local authority?

Please use the area below to note any point of interest e.g. is there more DA in an area of low employment, or an area 

of certain employment type?  Is there anything notable about DA in certain parts of the authority?  Are there hot 

spots/cold spots?  Is there domestic abuse that is being hidden or not captured?  Is there any local knowledge or 

intelligence of local areas where domestic abuse is happening?  

Does this data fit with existing knowledge?  How does the area compare to others?

DA Incidents Reported:

DA Incidents Homicides:

17. Domestic Abuse - Incidents & Homicides

Please note stand out data or points of interest/areas to explore after gathering the above data 

on socioeconomics.

90



Name: Estimated no. of 

Referrals:

Name: Estimated no. of 

Referrals:

Name: Estimated no. of 

Referrals:

Name: Estimated no. of 

Referrals:

Name: Estimated no. of 

Referrals:

Key Info: Please note stand out data, themes and patterns noticed from capturing the data above on DA 

victims in areas that victims are currently being referred from.  

Area 5

Notable demographics and socioecomics of victims coming from this area:

Area 4

Notable demographics and socioecomics of victims coming from this area:

Area 3

Notable demographics and socioecomics of victims coming from this area:

Area 2

Notable demographics and socioecomics of victims coming from this area:

Many domestic abuse victims/survivors will move across the country - and therefore LA boundaries - to escape abuse.  

It is therefore extremely important to capture data on where victims/survivors are likely to come from and create an 

understanding of need across areas/ boundaries/boroughs/districts/counties so that the local authority can ensure it 

is fully meeting the needs of victims/survivors who flee their home area. 

Please use referral data to complete this section, noting down at least the top 5 areas/boroughs/districts/counties 

where domestic abuse victims/survivors (including their children) are currently/likely to come in from outside the local 

authority area.  Local safe accommodation providers and local domestic abuse helplines should be able to support in 

gathering this information.

Area 1

Notable demographics and socioecomics of victims coming from this area:

91



Yes / No

Commissioned: Yes No

Name:

Yes / No Yes / No

Notes:

Commissioned: Yes No

Name:

Yes / No Yes / No

Notes:

Commissioned: Yes No

Name:

Yes No

Specialist Service Provided:

Type of Specialism:

Service 2

Type of Safe Acc Service (eg. refuge/dispersed accommodation etc):

By and For Service:

Name of Quality Standards Met:

Quality Standards Met Yes No

Specialist Service Provided:

Type of Specialism:

By and For Service:

Name of Quality Standards Met:

Service 3

Do you currently provide any domestic abuse safe accommodation services in your LA?

20. Service Mapping

In this section we will be looking at service mapping, noting the safe accommodation that currently exists in the local 

authority area.  Local authorities may wish to liaise with local safe accommodation services in obtaining this data and 

information on the services they provide.  

Exploring the services in the local authority area and understanding what they can provide is crucial to planning to 

meet unmet need.  5 boxes have been provided but we understand there may be many more than 5 services in the 

local authority area, please feel free to explore more and attach extra sheets or notes in your assessment.  Notes 

boxes have been included for any further information on the services including, commissioning dates/cycles, 

funders/funding sources or consortium partner information.

For further information on types of safe accommodation and quality standards, please see the Statutory Guidance

21. Who Provides Safe Accommodation Services in Your Area

Service 1

Quality Standards Met

Type of Safe Acc Service (eg. refuge/dispersed accommodation etc):

92



Yes / No Yes / No

Notes:

Commissioned: Yes No

Name:

Yes / No Yes / No

Notes:

Commissioned: Yes No

Name:

Yes / No Yes / No

Notes:

Key Info:

Name of Quality Standards Met:

Quality Standards Met Yes No

Please use this space to describe the current safe accommodation services the local authority 

area has commissioned and not commissioned and notes on the reasons why.  Also include any 

further information on funding and if services are solely reliant on any one type of funding.

By and For Service:

Name of Quality Standards Met:

Quality Standards Met Yes No

Specialist Service Provided:

Type of Specialism:

Service 5

Type of Safe Acc Service (eg. refuge/dispersed accommodation etc):

By and For Service:

Specialist Service Provided:

Type of Specialism:

Service 4

Type of Safe Acc Service (eg. refuge/dispersed accommodation etc):

By and For Service:

Name of Quality Standards Met:

Quality Standards Met Yes No

Specialist Service Provided:

Type of Specialism:

Type of Safe Acc Service (eg. refuge/dispersed accommodation etc):

22. Identification, Disclosures and Referrals

93



Yes / No Yes / No

Yes / No Yes / No

Yes / No Yes / No

Yes / No Yes / No

Yes / No Yes / No

High Medium Standard

Key Info:

Refuge/Safe 

Accommodation 

(shared house/self-

contained with 

shared elements 

etc.)

Specialist Safe 

Accommodation 

Dispersed, Self-

Contained 

Accommodation 

with Support

Sanctuary 

Schemes

Other (including 

temporary 

accommodation)

23. Referral Sources

Level of Risk (include avg. no. of victims of each option)

Self-Referral: Website:

Professional Referral - MARAC

Other (please state):

Do you know how domestic abuse victims/survivors are making contact with/requesting/accessing support within 

domestic abuse safe accommodation?  

Where are referrals coming from and what directs victims/survivors to the help they need, please select "Yes" or "No" 

against each type of referral below. (Please circle).

Please also indicate, what level of risk they present as when seeking / being referred to domestic abuse safe 

accommodation services.

National Domestic Abuse Helpline: Local Helpline:

Professional Referral - Police/Criminal 

Justice:

Please use this space to describe further the types of referrals made and how your domestic 

abuse victims/survivors (and their children) are contacting services.  

Consider if there is there any standout information in the data above. Where possible, please also 

include data on the number of referrals received for each of the routes identified.

24. Referral Numbers

Does the authority know how many referrals they are receiving, accepting and/or rejecting to different types of 

accommodation?  How many referrals are being to successfully met and how many need some work before being 

successfully met?  How many don't get met at all?  Are referrals coming in far outweighing supply for different types of 

supported accommodation?  Are you able to meet the demand of current referral levels?  By exploring referral 

numbers, further insight should be gained into the demands on services and how the authority is responding to 

demand.  

The aim of the next section is to explore the types of referrals the local authority gets (from inside and outside your 

area) as well as the reasons referrals aren't currently successful.  From this data you should be able to identify patterns 

or trends, and should be able to spot gaps in support and where more referrals could be successful if such support 

were in place.

It will require information from providers on the numbers of people referred to different types of safe accommodation 

and the numbers of people denied support at those types of accommodation.  

Professional Referral - Housing:

Professional Referral - 3rd Party:

Professional Referral - Medical

Professional Referral - Local Authority

94



Total Number of 

Referrals

Number of 

Referrals from 

Inside Area
Number of 

Referrals from Out 

of Area

Number of 

Successful First 

Time Referrals

Number of 

Successful Referrals 

Following Being 

Turned Away from 

Another Provision 

(referals that were 

at first unsuccesful, 

but after trying 

different avenues, 

were then 

successful)

Number of 

Unsuccessful 

Referrals/Access 

Denied. (Unable to 

be supported at all)

Most common 

reasons for Being 

Denied Access to 

Services 
Average Number of 

Referral Attempts 

Made for 

Victim/Survivor to 

Gain Access to 

Relevant / safe 

Accommodation 

Average length of 

stay in days

95



Key Info:

Number Accessed 

Safe 

Accommodation 

Services

Number 

Supported through 

Alternative 

Accommodation 

(e.g. in temporary 

accommodation 

under the 

Homelessness 

Duty)

Number 

Completely 

Denied Access to 

Accommodation 

Services 

12-15yrs:

6-11yrs:

This section will be focusing on domestic abuse victims/survivors, their characteristics and their needs, looking at the 

demands on your safe accommodation services (see description of safe accommodation in the statutory guidance for 

information on accommodation types included in DA safe accommodation).  

Please explore the numbers of people for each category that access your safe accommodation services and also the 

number of people that are turned away by your services and why they were unsuccessful in gaining the support they 

need.  

This section is the part that will help determine need.  Gathering the data on refused referrals and reasons why these 

referrals could not be met, will show you the current unmet demand.  It should demonstrate where levels of provision 

aren't adequate and support in ensuring future commissioning decisions put in place suitable support for the nedes of 

victims in your area. 

26. Age

25. Domestic Abuse - Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation Victims/Survivors Seeking Support within Safe 

Accommodation and Demand on Safe Accommodation Services

0-5yrs:

20-24yrs:

25-34yrs:

35-44yrs:

Please use this space to describe further the numbers of referrals made.  Is there any standout 

information in the data above?  Is the local authority able to meet the demand/needs currently?  

Are referrals coming in far outweighing supply for different tyoes of accommodation?  Is the local 

authority able to meet the demand of current referral levels?  Do these numbers show you areas 

of demand and need that could be better met?  Is there currently a large proportion of victims in 

your area being placed in temporary / accommodation not considered Relevant Accommodation 

under the duty? 

16-18yrs:

96



Is gender identity showing as a barrier 

to safe accommodation services in 

your area?  Do you have provisions 

suitable for different gender 

identities?

Other/Prefer Not to Say:

Is sexual identity showing as a barrier 

to safe accommodation services in 

your area?  Do you have provisions for 

different sexual identities, not just 

heterosexual/straight?

Notes

Private Renter:

Social Housing:

Other Supported Housing:

29. Housing

(victim/survivor 

previously resided 

in)

NotesIs the victim/survivor's housing 

showing as a barrier to safe 

accommodation services in your area? 

3+ Children Household:

Notes

30. Family

28. Sexual Identity Heterosexual/Straight:

Gay/Lesbian:

Bisexual:

Private/Owner Occupier:

0 Child Household:

Pregnant:

1 Child Household:

2 Children Household:

White:

26. Age

Is age showing as a barrier to safe 

accommodation services in your area?  

Do you have provisions for all ages, 

including young children and elderly?

Notes

27. Gender 

Identity

Notes

75yrs and Over:

Female:

Male:

Trans-Gender/Trans-Sexual:

Other/Unknown/Prefer Not to Say:

45-54yrs:

55-64yrs:

65-74yrs:

Temporary Accommodation: 

Non-Binary:

Is the number of children or 

pregnancy showing as a barrier to safe 

accommodation  services in your 

area?  Do you have provisions for 

people with babies, or multiple 

children?  Do you have provisions for 

those with large families, as well as 
31. National 

Identity/Ethnic 

Group

Asian or Asian British:

97



Refugee (public funds accessible)

Asylum Seeker (public funds not 

accessible but asylum support 

available)

Work/Student/Visit Visa 

No Immigration Leave or Expired 

Leave

34. Culture/Faith

33. Language

Other Isolated/Marginalised 

community/Prefer Not to Say:

Is language showing as a barrier to 

safe accommodation services in your 

area?  Do you have provisions for 

those who don't speak English as a 

first language?  Do you have 

provisions for those that may struggle 

to read and/or write?

Low Literacy:

Other religious reason
Is faith/religion/cultural difference 

showing as a barrier to services in 

your area?  Do you have provisions for 

those of different religions and 

beliefs?

Is national identity or ethnic group 

showing as a barrier to safe 

accommodation services in your area?  

Do you have provisions for people of 

different backgrounds and identities?

Notes

Notes

Notes

Honour Based Violence:

Forced Marriage:

Female Genital Mutilation:

Other VAWG:

Unable to stay with male children 

aged 13-18:

35. Violence 

Against Woment 

and Girls

Is VAWG such as HBV, FM or FMG 

showing as a barrier to services in 

your area?  Do you have provisions for 

those who have experienced VAWG?

Notes

Family Visa (eg. partner or parent 

visa):

Other/Unknown/Prefer Not to Say:

32. Immigration 

Status

Is immigration status showing as a 

barrier to safe accommodation 

services in your area?  Do you have 

provisions for people with insecure 

immigration status and/or those with 

NRPF?

Notes

31. National 

Identity/Ethnic 

Group Black or Black British:

Mixed:

Gyspy/Roma/Traveller:

Translator/Interpretor Needed:

98



38. 

Disability/Health

39. Additional 

Support Needs

Receiving Benefits:

Not Receiving Benefits:

Less than £10,400 p/a:

£10,400 to less than £20,800 p/a:

36. Employment

Notes

No income stated or not enough 

information provided:

Is income showing as a barrier to 

services in your area?  

Notes

Visual Impairment (including.Braille or 

Other Visual Support Required):

Learning Difficulty:

Mental Health Issues:

Austism, Asperger's or Other Neuro-Diverse Condition:

Personal Care Requirements:

Other Long-Term Health Condition:

Children with Health Condition/s:

Service Personnel/Armed Forces:

Employed (including self employed):

37. Income

Is employment showing as a barrier to 

services in your area?  Do you have 

provisions for those employed and 

unemployed?

£31,200 to less than £41,600 p/a:

£41,600 to less than £52,000 p/a:

£52,000 p/a or more:

Is disability/health showing as a 

barrier to services in your area?  Do 

you have provisions for a range of 

disabilities/healthcare needs for 

victims/survivors and their children?

Sex Work:

Speech Impairment or Communication 

Difficulties

Unemployed:

Rough Sleeper:

Legal Support:

Financial Support:

Alcohol Misuse:

Drug Misuse:

£20,800 to less than £31,200 p/a:

Physical Disability/Mobility 

Impairment (inc. Wheelchair Access 

Required):

Sensory Impairment:

Deaf/Hearing Impairment (including 

Sign Language User or Interpretation 

Required):

Notes

Care Leaver:

Offending History:

Homeless:

99



Key Info:

42. Pathway Mapping - End to End Support Journey

Please note here the housing options available in your area.  These could be found via your Housing Officers/Providers 

and/or Move On providers and should include all move on and secondary housing options for victims/survivors who 

no longer need support within emergency safe accommodation and are ready for the next stage of rebuilding their 

lives following domestic abuse and freeing up refuge space for those that require emergency support in safe 

accommodation.  This is important to help understand the barriers providers face when attempting to move 

victims/survivors on from safe accommodation.

40. Gaps in Safe Accommodation Provisions

Please use this space to note findings from referrals and barriers, alongside the demographic data under prevalence.  

From exploring the two sections, what gaps have you identified?  Do you have enough support to accommodate the 

numbers of referrals now and in the future?  Do you have the right types of services commissioned with the right 

types of support, to meet the types of referrals received?  What could be commissioned to make referrals more 

successful and overcome barriers that have existed previously?  What can you do to breakdown barriers so that more 

victims/survivors have access to the support they need?  See the Statutory Guidance document.

41. Housing Options

Please use this space to analyse the data above.  By recording the statistics for each category 

above, what have you noticed?  What barriers have DA victims faced in your area?  What has 

stopped them being able to access safe accommodation more easily?

39. Additional 

Support Needs

Are additional support needs showing 

as a barrier to services in your area?  

Do you have provisions for those with 

complex/extra needs and those with 

multiple additional needs?

Notes

Other:

100



Identification/Entry Point:

Victim/Survivor Needs within Safe Acc.:

Support Given:

Follow On Support:

Outcome:

Case Study/Scenario 5

Victim/Survivor Needs within Safe Acc.:

Support Given:

or Reason for Service Denial:

Follow On Support:

Outcome:

or Reason for Service Denial:

Outcome:

Case Study/Scenario 4

Identification/Entry Point:

Support Given:

or Reason for Service Denial:

Follow On Support:

Case Study/Scenario 3

Identification/Entry Point:

Victim/Survivor Needs within Safe Acc.:

or Reason for Service Denial:

Follow On Support:

Outcome:

Identification/Entry Point:

Victim/Survivor Needs within Safe Acc.:

Support Given:

Follow On Support:

Outcome:

Case Study/Scenario 2

or Reason for Service Denial:

Please carry out some pathway mapping, exploring the end to end journey taken by DA victims/survivors, and their 

children, in trying to access DA support within safe accommodation in the last 12 months.  Use the data that you have 

to provide details of what a current pathway of support looks like, from victims/survivors needing support to accessing 

and receiving support and then to moving on from support.

We recommend you look at at least 5 differing case studies (or simulated scenarios if case studies aren't at all 

available), walking through the process from seeking help to establishing safe independent living (crisis to recovery at 

various levels/entry points/needs). You should ensure a range of victim types are captured, including those from 

BAME backgrounds, male victims, those that identify as LGBTQ+, disabled [not limited to].  Please add extra case 

studies if useful.  Please take care to not include personal information that could breach GDPR rules.

Case Study/Scenario 1

Identification/Entry Point:

Victim/Survivor Needs within Safe Acc.:

Support Given:

101



Services:

Experience:

Services:

Experience:

Services:

43. Survivor Engagement - Personal Experiences of Support 

In this section please detail information gained from direct consultations with victims/survivors of domestic abuse, or 

with service providers that can represent victims/survivors, and what their experience was in accessing support within 

safe accommodation.  This is to understand what victims/survivors have been through during the process of gaining 

support.  

Please add the type of support they received and detail their experiences and thoughts on those experiences, the 

strengths and weaknesses they noticed in the services they received.  Please include experiences that haven't gone 

well as well as those that have and include information on lessons learned from those experiences.  What was done 

well and what could've gone better and met the needs of that individual more?  How accessible were the services?  

How culturally sensitive were they (eg. were they respectful of beliefs and cultural/religious practices)?  Were 

victims/survivors treated with respect and were they satisfied with their experience; were their needs met?  You may 

want to use this section to capture the experiences of those that were denied access to safe accommodation, by 

speaking to services that have refused safe accommodation and following the path back up from referral point to 

refusal and finding where they are now.  Please do not include specific names or personal details.

Safe Accommodation Victim/Survivor 1 

Safe Accommodation Victim/Survivor 3

Safe Accommodation Victim/Survivor 2

102



Experience:

Services:

Experience:

Services:

Experience:

What have you learned from the experiences of domestic abuse victims/survivors experiences with safe 

accommodation?

Safe Accommodation Victim/Survivor 4

Safe Accommodation Victim/Survivor 5

44. Summary

By folllowing the sections suggested in this needs assessment form, you should now have a set of data that shows you 

the types of people in your area, their background, their needs and their experiences.  You will also have learned 

about the services in your area and what has worked well in domestic abuse safe accommodation, and what hasn't 

worked so well.  You should be able to see the barriers that victims/survivors can face in accessing safe 

accommodation support and the gaps where services need to be added or imporved to meet needs better.

103



45. Next Steps & Strategy

By completing this form and exploring the data in each section, you should have a good understanding of the 

characteristics of domestic abuse victims/survivors and their needs, existing services available, housing options 

available and case studies, and should be ready to create a strong evidence-based strategy to provide 

victims/survivors with support tailored to their needs.  For further information on strategy and strategy publishing 

please see the Statutory Guidance.

104



TOURISM, EQUALITIES, 
COMMUNITIES & CULTURE 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 10 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: CIL Governance & S106 Member Protocol 

Date of Meeting: 17th June 2021 

Report of: Executive Director Economy, Environment & Culture 

Contact Officer: 
Name: 

Simon Barrett - Service 
Development Manager 

Tel: 07394 414 472  

 Email: Simon.Barrett@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE.    
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 The report seeks approval to the governance arrangements that will be put in 

place to decide and agree expenditure of Community Infrastructure Levy funds 
received by the council going forward. 

 
1.2 The report also seeks approval for a draft CIL Advisory Protocol which provides 

guidance on how members can be involved in the identification and planning of 
S106 expenditure. It also proposes a pilot scheme to ring fence some existing 
s106 funding to be prioritised for spending in wards on priorities identified by 
ward councillors with their communities. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That the Committee approves the governance arrangements for planning, 

administering and monitoring expenditure of CIL receipts collected for the 
Citywide and Neighbourhood portions outlined in appendices B & C of this report. 

 
2.2 That the committee approves the draft CIL Advisory Protocol in appendix C for 

use,  publication and future updating as necessary, subject to any minor 
alterations (grammatical, spelling or for clarity) to be agreed by the Head of 
Planning in consultation with the Chair of TECC Committee. 

 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 On 12 September 2019, this committee agreed that further work on the 

governance options for spending CIL receipts would be brought to a future 
meeting of this committee. This was to allow a suitable sum of CIL receipts to 
accumulate and to allow for consultation across the council on spending 
priorities.  
 

3.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) started on 5th October 2020. The 
liability to pay arises as planning permission is granted; at that stage the council 
issues a “liability notice”. Payment is due when development commences, at 
which point a “demand notice” is issued.  In the first 5 months, 20 liability notices 

105



for a total amount of £429,949.99 and 2 demand notices for a total amount of 
£2,962.50 have been issued. 
 

3.3 Projections suggest that CIL could raise an annual average of around £2 -£2.5 
million (how much is raised in a particular year depends on the level and type of 
development). As CIL is not paid until development starts it will take some time 
for significant resources to be accrued – particularly in light of the current 
economic uncertainty caused by Covid, Brexit, availability of materials; and 
potential recession affecting how quickly developments will be commencing after 
planning permission is granted. 
 

3.4 The proposed governance of CIL (its collection, spend, monitoring and reporting) 
has been of increasing interest to members, developers, neighbourhood forums, 
community groups and other stakeholders. As there will not be significant 
receipts in the first twelve months, it is proposed the governance arrangements 
are flexible to start with; to allow time for them to bed them in. Appendix A 
illustrates how receipts are allocated between the various portions. 
 

3.5 This report sets out the proposed initial governance arrangements for CIL and 
the involvement of local members in oversight of the remaining resources 
secured through existing section 106 agreements. In particular: 
 
- Proposed governance structures at Member and officer levels.  

- Governance of the Citywide CIL spend (Appendix B) 

- Governance of the Neighbourhood Portion of CIL (Appendix C).   

- Improvements to governance of resources secured through new and historic 

section 106 agreements (Appendix D) 

 

This report draws on experience of other CIL charging authorities and CIPFA 

guidance on the principles of CIL and financial governance. The governance 

proposals are intended to ensure transparency and effective identification and 

management of risk. 

 

3.6 The key aspects of the proposals include: 

 Decisions on Citywide CIL being taken by P&R Committee annually 

 Approval of annual ward councillor funding bids for Neighbourhood CIL by 
TECC Committee 

 A review mechanism for large (over £150,000) pending Neighbourhood 
CIL receipts by TECC committee to consider wider community impact of 
developments beyond the ward the development is based in 

 Greater clarity on how members can engage with the S106 process, 
especially prior to planning approval 

 Creation of an Officer group to support the bid, evaluation and approvals 
process 

 Exploring how some existing S106 funding can be targeted to local 
priorities in wards where development has been undertaken 
 

3.7 The draft government white paper on reform to the planning system includes 
initial proposals to replace the existing CIL & S106 regime with a new, tariff-
based system. The details of this new system and timescale for implementation 
are still unclear. The council will therefore continue to receive funds via both 

106



mechanisms and needs to make decisions on how to allocate CIL funding 
received in the interim. 
 

3.8 In order to make informed decisions on the priority and level of financial support 
provided to infrastructure projects, the council also needs to review and refresh 
its Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 2017. This sets out the levels of investment, 
funding sources and priorities of the council over several financial years. A report 
updating this document will also be brought to the September meeting of this 
committee. 
 

4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 Alternative options to allocate the Citywide CIL portion are considered in 

Appendix B and for Neighbourhood CIL in Appendix C of this report. 
 
4.2 The Council could delay deciding how to spend CIL receipts (apart from those 

that are passed directly to Rottingdean Parish Council.) However, there is 
growing interest in how monies will be allocated, especially from some 
community groups and elected members. This is likely to increase as the sums 
being received build up over the next year as liable developments commence 
construction. 
 

4.3 The Council could decide not to implement a CIL Advisory Protocol. However 
members and the 2016 PAS Planning Review have previously identified that 
more guidance and training on planning obligations and how they can support 
the delivery of the council’s objectives would be beneficial. 
 

5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 The proposals were presented to the TECC & Planning Committee Joint Member 

Working Group in early May. Their comments and a summary of how they have 
informed the final proposals is included as Appendix E. 
 

5.2 The draft proposals were also presented to the Strategic Delivery Board for 
comment in March 2021. 
 

5.3 Regular feedback will also be sought from neighbourhood groups on the 
processes for the Neighbourhood CIL portion and reported to future meetings of 
this committee.  
 

5.4 All of the implementation phase of CIL was undertaken in accordance with the 
adopted BHCC Statement of Community Involvement 2015. Consultation on the 
charging schedule and its main modifications was undertaken prior to adoption in 
accordance with the CIL regulations. 

 
6.  CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 This report sets out the initial arrangements that the Council will put in place to 

plan and administer the revenues collected through the CIL levy, following its 
introduction in the city in October 2020. 
 

107



6.2 It also introduces a clear protocol for members to be more closely engaged with 
S106 planning and implementation. 

 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 

Financial Implications:  
7.1 Once a scheme is approved and implemented there will be ongoing costs in 

terms of checking the amount of CIL payable on applications, advising 
developers of their liability, collecting, monitoring, reporting and enforcing the CIL 
scheme.  CIL regulations allow charging authorities to use up to 5% of CIL 
receipts to fund expenses in connection with the ongoing costs of operation of 
the CIL scheme.  It is anticipated that this income will be sufficient to fund these 
ongoing costs, estimated at approximately £0.100m per annum, after 3 years of 
operation.  This will be monitoring and reported as part of TBM (Targeting Budget 
Monitoring) process. 
 
As detailed in the report and appendices proposed allocations of the sums 
received will be presented to Committee for approval. 

 
 

 
 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Jeff Coates Date: 28/05/21 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 The relevant legislation, namely the Planning Act 2008 and the Community 

Infrastructure levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) provides that a charging 
authority must spend its CIL receipts on funding infrastructure to support the 
development of its area. A charging authority may also apply CIL to funding 
infrastructure outside its area where to do so would support the development of 
its area. “Infrastructure” includes roads and other transport facilities, schools, 
sporting and recreational facilities and open spaces, but does not include the 
funding of affordable housing. 

 
7.3 The legislation also provides that a proportion of the CIL receipts must be passed 

to a parish council where all or part of a chargeable development is within its 
area. The proportion will be 25% where there is a neighbourhood plan in place, 
or otherwise 15%. In areas where there is no parish council the charging 
authority retains the receipts but, as per the Planning Practice Guidance “ should 
engage with the communities where development has taken place and agree 
with them how best to spend the neighbourhood funding. Charging authorities 
should set out clearly and transparently their approach to engaging with 
neighbourhoods…” 

 
7.4 So far as the expenditure of s106 contributions is concerned, this will be 

governed by the terms of the s106 obligation through which the contribution was 
secured. 

   
 Lawyer Consulted: Hilary Woodward Date: 26/5/21 
 
 Equalities Implications: 

108



 
7.1 An Equalities Impact and Outcome Assessment (EIA) was prepared alongside 

the CIL Draft Charging Schedule and is available on the councils’ website. The 
EIA was updated at the submission stage of the process. Income raised from CIL 
will go towards funding infrastructure necessary to support new development and 
communities 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.2 CIL and S106 receipts will help to fund infrastructure necessary to support new 

development and sustainable communities and should therefore have a positive 
impact in terms of sustainability outcomes. A Strategic Environmental Impact 
(SEA) for CIL concluded that a SEA was not required. 
 

7.3 The bids that will be approved through this funding will need to have 
demonstrated their compliance with all relevant council policies relating to 
sustainability 

 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
7.8 The use of CIL and S106 receipts will be aligned to support additional 

infrastructure projects that are either in the refreshed Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
or meet the criteria agreed for small, local neighbourhood investment in wards 
where new developments have taken place. 

 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
 
1.  Appendix A – Portions of CIL Receipts 
 
2. Appendix B – Citywide CIL Governance Proposals 
 
3. Appendix C – Neighbourhood Portion CIL Governance Proposals 
 
4. Appendix D – CIL Advisory Protocol 
 
5. Appendix E – TECC & Planning Committee Member Working Group Consultation 

Feedback 
 
 
 
Background Documents 
 
1.  CIL Charging Schedule 
2.  Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 
3.  S106 Technical Guidance, 
 
 
 

109



 
 
 

110



Appendix A -  Portions of CIL Receipts 
 
For governance purposes, CIL receipts can be broken down into three 
distinctive portions: the ‘Citywide CIL’, the ‘Neighbourhood CIL’ and the ‘CIL 
Administration’, as shown in Table 1 below: 
 

 Table 1: ‘Portions’ of CIL Receipts   

  
Portion  Percentage of receipts  Process  

Citywide CIL  
(Strategic  
Portion)  

70 - 80% (subject to 

Neighbourhood % below) 

Spend decided by Council according to its 

strategic infrastructure priorities Spend can be 

anywhere within the city - or outside – providing 

the infrastructure funded is required to support 

development in Brighton & Hove.  

Neighbourhood  
CIL Portion   

  

  

Currently 15% of CIL 

collected in respect of 

development in each 

neighbourhood capped at 

£100 per council tax 

dwelling. This increases 

to 25% (uncapped) in 

places where a 

neighbourhood plan is in 

place.  

Rottingdean: neighbourhood portion passed 
directly to the Parish Council who will spend it 
on their infrastructure & associated priorities.   
  
Elsewhere: funding retained by the Council 

and spent by it in consultation with the 

neighbourhood communities in which 

development paying a CIL has taken place.  

 

BHCC doesn’t currently have any areas where 

a neighbourhood plan is in place.  

CIL  
Administrative  
Expenses  
Portion  

5% of CIL collected   

Spend applied to costs of administrative 

expenses for collection and enforcement in line 

with legal restrictions on the use of this 

funding. (This can also include recovery of 

costs incurred by the council in establishing the 

levy in the initial period.) 

 

111



112



Appendix E – Summary of Member Feedback on draft CIL Governance & S106 

Member Protocol from Joint TECC & Member Working Group  - 10th May 2021 

AREA/MEMBER MEMBER FEEDBACK RESPONSE 

City Wide CIL   
Councillor 
Theobald 

Recognised that the funds received 
for CIL would have a slow start & 

monies received are subject to size 
of schemes and when they are built. 

No action.  
 

NB: the majority of CIL liable 
schemes will be 
smaller/medium sized 
development and CIL is 
liable on one dwelling unit.  

Councillor Miller 
(supported by 

Councillor Childs & 
Littman) 

Concern that the initial decision 
making should be taken in public at 

P&R rather than in private session at 
Strategic Delivery Board Need for 
transparency. Suggested that the 
process to agree schemes to be 

funded should be decided by P&R 
and not go to SDB 

Recommendation that 
annual (or more frequent) 
report on schemes to be 
funded through City Wide 
CIL is considered direct by 
P&R committee. Further 
discussion to consider 

suggested recommendation 
being undertaken.  

Neighbourhood 
CIL 

  

Councillor Evans Concern that not all major 
developments would have a ripple 

effect into other wards (as suggested 
for Toads Hole Valley) & should not 

therefore be cash limited to a 
maximum ward receipt of £150k. 

Process to amend and 
require a report to TECC 
committee on a case by 

case basis where 
Neighbourhood CIL receipt 

would exceed £150k to 
agree split between ward 

and citywide neighbourhood 
pots. 

Councillor 
Osbourne 

Supported the ward based approach 
but wanted to examine how members 
could be involved in cross boundary 

bids/decisions. 

As neighbourhood CIL will 
be approved at TECC 

committee neighbouring 
ward councillors will have 

the opportunity to comment 
& identify any cross 

boundary needs as part of 
the annual engagement  
and reporting process. 

 How can we ensure that bid 
opportunities are widely publicised in 

wards? 

An annual communications 
plan will be published and 
promoted across the city 

using all established 
channels and local/social  

media. 

Councillor Littman Agreed with Councillor Evans that 
some city centre developments would 

not have a ripple effect into 
neighbouring wards so much. There 

might be the possibility to use 
averaging out of CIL receipts. 

Review this proposal if the  
report process  to TECC for 
large receipts does not work 

effectively.  

113



Councillor 
Theobald 

Recognised that there was a need to 
recognise that some adjoining wards 

with only small amounts of 
Neighbourhood CIL from in ward 

developments would not necessarily 
see any major benefit overall. 

Should be addressed in  
some instances with TECC 
considering use of CityWide 

Neighbourhood CIL for 
some of the funds 

generated through £1M plus 
CIL developments. Citywide 

CIL could also bring 
benefits.  

S106 Member 
Protocol 

  

Councillor 
Osbourne 

Welcomed clarity around CIL & S106, 
advice on how the transition will 
happen  and encouragement for 
members to be involved in the 

process earlier 

No action - comment 

Councillor Miller Welcomed the proposals & wanted to 
see more detail on how the ward 

process for annual spend could work 
and if it could harness the use of 

accrued interest in the S106 account. 

Feedback to be addressed 
in the final scheme 

proposals to be submitted 
for agreement by TECC 

Councillor 
Theobald 

Wanted to understand more clearly 
what S106 sums for artistic 

component had been spent on 

Summary report of historic 
installations funded to be 

circulated to Planning 
Committee members. Items 
funded since 2019/20 are 

identified in the Annual 
Infrastructure Funding 

Statement approved by 
TECC each Autumn. 

Councillor Littman Identified that the artistic component 
could be incorporated into a renewed 

series of completed schemes site 
visits by the Planning Committee 

(post lockdown.) 

Head of Planning to explore 
arrangements in conjunction 

with Design South East. 

 

114



 

Appendix B – Draft Citywide CIL Governance Proposals 
 
Proposed Governance  
 
1.1 In order to avoid the creation of a new governance structure and create an 

unnecessary burden on limited councillor time, the draft proposal (to be set 
out in the TECC report) recommends that a CIL Officer Working Group will 
initially  scrutinise and make recommendations to the Policy & Resources 
Committee on scheme bids that should / not receive funding support from 
Citywide CIL.    

 
1.2 It is proposed the split of responsibilities for the Citywide CIL fund would be as 

shown below: 
 

P&R Committee TECC Committee 

 Agree recommendation for 
Citywide CIL spend proposals 

 Receive monitoring reports on 
CIL collection 

 Review the biennial update of 
the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan to identify projects 
qualifying for CIL funding 

 Agree recommendation for 
Neighbourhood CIL spend 
proposals made by TECC 

 Provide member oversight of 
the engagement processes 
with neighbourhoods and 
others 

 Recommend the 
Neighbourhood CIL spend 
proposals to P&R Committee 

 Agree and steer the formal 
reviews of the CIL Charging 
Schedule (including any ad 
hoc mini reviews) 

 Approve the annual 
Infrastructure Funding 
Statement 

 
1.3 CIL Officer Working Group – The role and functions of the group are set out 

below:  
  

• Develop and refine the process for the bidding and allocation of CIL – 

both the City and Neighbourhood portions - including oversight of 

participation by ward members, neighbourhoods, local partnerships and 

other stakeholders;  

• Consider project recommendations from across all service areas (and, 

where appropriate, external infrastructure providers); ensure they are 

consistent with  the City Plan, the Corporate Plan, the Circular Economy, 

Climate Emergency etc.; and prioritise those which would be 

recommended for funding in line with the allocation policy. To ensure lead 

councillor oversight of internal bids, proposals will only be considered if 

they are accompanied by a record of the prior approval of the relevant 

Policy Committee Chair or Deputy Chair;  

• Oversee the engagement and allocation processes for the Neighbourhood 

CIL for recommendation by the TECC committee;  

 

115



 

• Make recommendations to the P&R committee about the allocation of 

Citywide CIL; and  

• Ensure CIL allocations and expenditure are implemented and reported in 

line with legislative requirements. 

1.4  The Officer Working Group will be administered by the council’s Planning and 

Building Control Service. It will comprise senior representatives from 

Corporate Finance, Legal Services and “spending directorates”. The working 

group will, as appropriate, call on external partners and partnerships as 

required.   

 

1.5 The Officer Working Group will work on an annual cycle for estimating likely 

City Wide CIL spend, overseeing the process of engagement with 

neighbourhoods, other stakeholders and organising the process for committee 

approval of CIL. It would report to P&R Committee on (at least) a six-monthly 

basis. These reports will:  

  

• Submit bids for the Citywide CIL fund to P&R Committee for approval.  

• Review the biennial update of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan to identify 
projects qualifying for CIL funding prior to submission to P&R Committee 
for approval; 
 

• Report on the engagement process; and  

• Provide information about the amounts of CIL collected and prospective 

future income.  

At the end of each financial year the Head of Planning will also prepare the 

statutory annual Infrastructure Funding Statement monitoring reports on 

liabilities entered into, amounts collected and what CIL & S106 has been 

spent on. This report will be submitted to the TECC committee for approval. 

1.6 Bidding for citywide CIL - It is not proposed initially to develop a detailed 

evaluation model for Citywide CIL bidding, but to establish a simple set of 

criteria to enable each bid to be compared against each other. The initial draft 

criteria being recommended are as follows:  

Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan 

(IDP) 

Confirmation the scheme is included in the current 

version of the IDP (Pass/Fail) 

IDP Deficit % funding deficit for all projects for service area 

identified in IDP 

Committee 

Support 

Confirmation of support from relevant Policy 

Committee Chair/Deputy (Pass/Fail) 

116



 

Historic 

S106 

Funding 

Value of S106 funds held for use within the service 

area still to be expended & confirmation that none can 

be used to support the project bid  

Level of CIL 

Commitment 

% of the total estimated CIL resources available the 

project would consume over its investment timescale 

Funding % of the total scheme costs that are being sought 

through CIL bid and details of other funding sources 

Additionality Statement setting out how the scheme provides more 

than is being provided in the current MTFP (either a 

new scheme or expanded programme of investment.) 

 

 These criteria will be further refined and developed as the initial CIL 

governance processes evolve over time. 

1.7 It is also important to bear in mind that the greater the disaggregation of CIL, 

the more difficult it becomes to deliver infrastructure– resources should not be 

sliced so many ways that meaningful infrastructure delivery is impossible and 

governance overly complicated. 

1.8 The other main options that could be considered in deciding how to spend the 

Citywide CIL are shown below: 

Apply to the (non-

Housing) Capital 

Programme 

Treat income as a 

capital receipt to use to 

support the general 

programme 

Potential issues re 

legislative compliance 

and does not meet the 

additionality criteria 

Ringfence for large 

statement project 

Accrue funding over a 

period of time to 

support a single, major 

project 

Levels of funding 

unlikely to be sufficient 

to provide major multi-

million pound 

infrastructure project 

Allocate into pots for 

service areas (eg 

schools, parks, 

transport etc) 

Develop formula 

allocation to services 

based on number/value 

of schemes in the IDP 

Could be too 

constrained and 

inflexible to changing 

demands 

Allocate to wards  Base either on number 

of electors  and/or 

origin of receipt 

Mirrors existing 

limitations of S106 

restrictions 

 

117



118



 

Appendix C – Draft Neighbourhood Portion CIL Governance Proposals 

1.1 It is proposed that the following principles should be applied to the 

neighbourhood portion:  

 The ward structure should be used as the spatial framework for decision 

making, due to the varied, patchwork mix of neighbourhood groups across 

different parts of the city 

 This basis will also be sustainable as neighbourhood forums crystalise in the 

short to medium term, as they do not necessarily follow established 

boundaries, which could leave some parts of the city without a voice 

 A comprehensive schedule of groups to be engaged with per ward will be 

developed and agreed with ward councillors, based on existing relationships 

and intelligence. Their role will be to feed their views on spending priorities 

that the neighbourhood CIL should be directed to in their ward to local 

councillors 

 Initially, an annual call for bids for neighbourhood CIL will be issued within 

each ward that has funding available to spend over a threshold (probably 

£10k.) This will help manage expectation in wards where little/no funding is 

available and will help keep administrative costs in proportion. 

 The frequency of bidding cycles can be increased, subject to the levels of 

CIL secured 

 The same approach will be applied uniformly across the city to ensure that a 

consistent approach to decision making and timescales is maintained 

1.2 Ward councillors will have a vital role to play given their democratic 

accountability and knowledge of local needs and circumstances. As the 

national guidance quoted earlier points out, they will also be able to help 

both the council and neighbourhoods ensure that the engagement process is 

comprehensive, effective and timely. Their role will be to: 

 Ensure that lists of groups being consulted with are comprehensive, include 

their informal networks and are maintained up to date 

 Promote the availability of neighbourhood CIL within their ward, the bidding 

cycle and advise on what types of bid can/cannot be supported 

 If necessary, submit bids for funding if they have identified a particular issue 

and no community group has submitted a bid. Support from two councillors 

in the relevant ward(s) would be required in these circumstances. 

 Review the long list of submitted bids for their ward and provide feedback on 

support for bids, priorities and any other useful background/information. It is 

recommended/encouraged that this would be on the basis that the support 

of at least two councillors from each ward affected would be required for a 

proposal to proceed, notwithstanding that the TECC Committee is the 

decision making body. This would help to ensure that the proposals coming 

forward have wide local support. 

1.3  It will be important to be clear to our neighbourhoods and local communities 
about how the process for allocation of neighbourhood funding will work - its 
timing and the process for engagement and agreement of projects. Further 

119



 

information will be developed to help with this, but the following information 
will need to be communicated:  
  

• As required by law, every CIL spending decision will be made by the 

council on its merits and in accordance with the legal requirements 

governing council decisions. There should not be an expectation that bids 

submitted by neighbourhoods will be automatically agreed;  

   

• In the short to medium term, the amounts of Neighbourhood CIL are 

likely to be small as it will take some time for receipts to accrue. Even 

then, individual neighbourhood portions may not be large. This may well 

mean adjacent wards working with each other and with the council to 

mobilise sufficient resources to fund projects, and;  

  

• In all cases the council will (in line with national guidance) expect there 

to be a link between its priorities and policies and those of the successful 

bids submitted through the neighbourhood bidding  process as this will 

enable a properly structured approach taking account of both City-wide 

and local objectives.  

  

1.4  The CIL Officer Working Group will prepare guidance setting these principles 

out and explaining the process that should be followed by neighbourhoods to 

make bids. Appropriate briefings, seminars and publicity will also be produced 

to explain the process to the neighbourhoods in advance of the first round of 

bids. 

  

1.5 The guidance will also set the criteria against which neighbourhood proposals 

for CIL spending will be assessed (so providing a ‘checklist’ that 

neighbourhoods and others can use to identify things that it would be sensible 

to propose). In addition to the statutory test it is envisaged that these would 

include:  

  

• Is the proposal supported by at least two of the councillors from each of 

the ward(s) concerned?  

• Does it support delivery of a specific Corporate Plan commitment or 

objective?  

• Is it identified in the City Plan or other strategic document or action 

plan?  

• Can it be shown to support the growth plans for the city as a whole and 

for the neighbourhood in particular? Has there been engagement with 

adjoining wards or neighbourhoods?  

• Can it be shown to have the support of local residents and businesses 

generally?  

• Are there sufficient CIL funds available for the project? Would it involve 

a continuing revenue cost to the City Council?  

• Is it shown to be value for money? Would CIL funding help lever in 

resources from other sources?  

120



 

• Has it been shown that there are no other sources of funding for the 

proposal?  

• Has a feasibility study been undertaken and is there evidence that the 

proposal could be started within twelve months of the decision to grant 

funding and be completed within a reasonable period?  

 
A minimum financial threshold for the value of a proposal may also be set 
subject to the volume of bids coming forward and the level of funding 
available. This would ensure that the Neighbourhood CIL is allocated to 
projects of a kind and scale that will have appreciable benefits in terms of 
supporting growth and meeting the demands of development. 

 
1.6 Where any single planning permission is likely to result in a Neighbourhood 

CIL receipt to the value of £150,000 or more, the Officer Working Group will 
provide a separate report to TECC committee recommending how the sum 
should be allocated. The report will reflect the views of the local and 
neighbouring ward councillors and consider the wider impact that the specific 
development is likely to have beyond the ward in which the development is 
based (e.g. more use of existing  green and play space, greater demand for 
allotments, the need to extend an existing Controlled Parking Zone, the 
provision of more youth workers etc.)  

 

121



122



 

Brighton & Hove City Council – CIL Member Protocol 
Page 1 of 8 

 

Appendix D – CIL & S106 Member Protocol 

Introduction 

Following the implementation of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in the city on 5th 

October 2020, the way in which the council seeks and receives contributions from applicants 

to fund the provision or improvements to infrastructure is fundamentally changing. 

This protocol has been produced to provide members with: 

 An overview of the legal frameworks within which the CIL Levy and S.106 operate 

 Information on how the approach to S.106 changes for all new major applications 

being approved 

 Advice on how and when members can get involved in the process 

 Guidance on how to work with officers on spending the accumulated S.106 funds 

(which stood at circa £19M at the end of 2019/20) 

The protocol will be revised in Summer 2021 to include the arrangements to allocate funding 

generated through CIL, once agreed by TECC committee after consultation. This will include 

how spending of the Neighbourhood Portion (15-25% of the total) in the ward which 

generated the levy will be agreed. 

During Autumn 2020, central government consulted on a white paper which may introduce 

significant changes to the national planning system, including replacing CIL and S.106 with a 

new national “infrastructure levy” which would be calculated using an entirely different set of 

criteria. It was announced in the Queen’s Speech that proposals for a Planning Bill would be 

taken forward.  

New S.106 Agreements - Overview 

All new agreements entered after 5th October 2020, will be negotiated in light of the 

development potentially being liable for the CIL Levy. This means that some areas of 

infrastructure provision (education, sustainable transport and parks and open spaces) will 

only feature in future S.106 agreements where they are either required on site (e.g. a new 

children’s playground) or in the immediate vicinity (e.g. new bus stop adjacent to the 

entrance of a development.) 

CIL does not necessarily replace the requirement to have a S106 agreement, should one be 

necessary. In some circumstances both can be requested for the same development site. A 

S106 obligation is for site specific mitigation, to make the proposed development acceptable 

and to provide for specific on-site policy requirements, whereas CIL provides funding for city 

wide infrastructure improvements required because of demand from all new developments. 

More detailed information on CIL and S.106 can be found within the revised Developer 

Contributions Technical Guidance, which was approved by TECC Committee in June 2020 – 

INSERT LINK TO DOCUMENT> 

The example below shows how an existing S.106 agreement for a medium sized new 

housing development in Saltdean will change if planning permission is now granted for a 

larger development on the same site. The planning obligations that will still apply in this 

example have been highlighted in green: 

123



 

Brighton & Hove City Council – CIL Member Protocol 
Page 2 of 8 

 

  

 

New S.106 Agreements (including Deeds of Variation) – Member Involvement 

Whilst the focus will switch to planning CIL expenditure over time, members are encouraged 

to get involved in ensuring the comprehensive identification of new infrastructure for draft 

Section 106 agreements relating to planning applications in their ward. They are a part of the 

proper planning process and are not confidential.  

However, it is essential that such arrangements are operated in a way that is seen to be fair, 

open, transparent and reasonable in order to retain public confidence in the fundamental 

principle that planning permission cannot be bought or sold. This has been widely 

acknowledged as a concern of the planning system nationally for some time with 

negotiations on S106 agreements being perceived as taking place “behind closed doors”.  

This protocol provides a firm commitment to address this issue in the city and, coupled with 

the annual publication of the new Infrastructure Funding Statement, the approval of a 

refreshed Infrastructure Delivery Plan in Summer 2021 and the launch of public access to 

Coombe Farm, Westfield Avenue, Saltdean - S106 Analysis

BH2016/01903 BH2020/00002 Comments

Agreed Estimated

Affordable Housing 24 units 29 units

Both developments will propose 40% affordable 

housing split 50/50 affordable rent/ownership

Outdoor play & amenity space Yes Yes

Non-financial obligation to provide a childrens 

playground and associted outdoor space within 

the development

Artistic Component 45,000£          53,400£            

The scope is agreed between the developer and 

BHCC, but implemented by the developer 

(therefore no funds are paid to the council.)

Education Contribution 335,291£        Nil

Education contributions were scaled back to 

only site specific under CIL

Local Employment Scheme 32,300£          32,000£            

Payment to support training provided to 

apprentices and trainees on the site only.

Recreation Contribution 223,186£        Nil

Recreation contributions were scaled back to 

only site specifc under CIL

Sustainable Transport Contribution to pay for :- 105,000£        Nil

Sustainable transport contributions were scaled 

back to only site specific under CIL

Coombe Vale Bus Stop - RTPI, kerb & shelter CIL eligible

Saltdean Vale Shops - RTPI & kerb CIL eligible

Saltedean Vale Westbound - RTPI, kerb & shelter CIL eligible

Dropped kerbs & tactile paving - Wesfield Ave North at site access Incude in seperate S278 works agreement

Drop kerbs & tactile paving - Jct Wesfield Ave Nth & Coombe Vale CIL eligible

Dropped kerbs & tactile paving - Wesfield Ave Nth & Westfield Rise CIL eligible

Dropped kerbs & tactile paving - Saltdean Vale/Coombe Vale CIL eligible

Bus stop improvements on Coombe Vale & Wesfield Ave North CIL eligible

Footway improvements beyond Westfield Ave North to bus stops CIL eligible

Local cycling infrastructure improvements CIL eligible

Travel Plan 81,600£          69,264£            

These are initiatives to encourge the new 

residents of the development to adopt 

sustainable travel behaviours

Community Infrastructure Levy (introduced w/e/f 5th October 2020) Nil 728,250£          

Approx £100k will be earmarked for investment 

in capital works to improve the local area as the 

neighbourhood portion of CIL. See also note 

below re CIL Form.

TOTAL CIL/S106 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 822,377£        882,914£          

NB:

The developer needs to submit a CIL Form for the project. This may identify buildings in use, which could reduce the CIL liability, and confirm the

gross floor area of the development.

There will also be a S278 requirement to provide a new pedestrian crossing and footway improvements to Westfield Avenue North.

124



 

Brighton & Hove City Council – CIL Member Protocol 
Page 3 of 8 

 

the new CIL & S.106 database, all provides the opportunity for elected members and local 

communities generally to better engage in the process. 

The opportunities and process for members to engage in the negotiation of a new S.106 

Agreement for a pending major planning application in their ward is outlined below: 

Scheme Phase Member Engagement 

Developer seeks 
Pre-Application 
advice  

The Pre-Application Service includes an option for applicants to select 
if they wish to have ward councillor input as part of the service. Where 
this service is requested, the Planning Service will notify ward 
members by email when a developer commissions the council to 
provide pre-application advice for a scheme in their ward and the 
contact details of the case officer. A ward member can contact the 
case officer within 7 days of being notified to discuss any potential 
S.106 that they feel should be considered if the application were to 
proceed further. The case officer will advise the councillor whether the 
item identified is likely to be eligible for inclusion within the S.106 
agreement or otherwise.  
 It is important for councillors to remember that this service is 
provided confidentially, members MUST NOT contact the 
applicant directly and the advice may result in a developer either 
not proceeding with a proposal or making significant changes to 
reflect the advice received. Pre-application advice is not 
published, although it may be referred to in subsequent officer 
reports to planning committee.   

Planning 
Application 
Submitted 

All members are notified of new planning applications received in their 
ward (either weekly or daily if registered with the Planning Register.) 
Not all planning applications will have sought pre-application advice 
and others may have changed significantly following advice given. 
If a ward member wants to discuss either the potential S.106 
obligations to be considered and/or identify additional obligations for 
consideration, they should notify the planning case officer within 21 
days of the planning application being published.  
Where notified, the case officer will ensure that they discuss the draft 
obligations with the ward councillor as they develop and keep them 
informed of any significant changes prior to the report on the planning 
application being finalised. 
It is important for councillors who are members (or substitutes) 
of Planning Committee take especial care to ensure that they do 
not compromise their impartiality in decision making and should 
note the further guidance below. 

Draft S.106 
Heads of Term 

The planning case officer can provide a copy of the current draft 
heads of term to a ward councillor upon request. 
Councillors should note that negotiation of a S.106 Agreement is 
a commercial contract, the details provided MUST be treated in 
confidence and they should do nothing which may compromise 
the council’s negotiating position with the developer. 
The officer report on the recommendation includes the detailed S.106 
Heads of Terms agreed with the developer prior to the application 
being submitted to the planning committee for determination. 
Members can view copies of the report on the council website from 7 
days before the date of the planning committee meeting. 

S.106 Finalisation Following a “Minded to Grant” decision by the Planning Committee, 
any amended terms (other than triggers for payments) would have to 
be submitted in a further report to a subsequent planning committee 

125



 

Brighton & Hove City Council – CIL Member Protocol 
Page 4 of 8 

 

meeting for agreement. The planning case officer will advise any ward 
member who has previously expressed an interest in the S.106 
negotiations above accordingly. 
Once signed, a copy of the agreed S.106 agreement is available to 
view on the Planning Register with the rest of the planning 
application. 

Deed of Variation To be inserted following legal advice on 5-year rule for developers to 
seek a variation.- Clarification to be inserted following confirmation 
with Legal. 

 

With the scaling back of S.106 obligations following the introduction of CIL, the table below 

suggests areas where local members may wish to focus their comments and capture items 

that reflect priorities within the local community: 

S.106 Category  Areas for Consideration 

Affordable 
Housing 

Proposals for payment of commuted sums in lieu of making provision 
within the development and the impact on local housing availability 

Recreation, 
Sport & Open 
Spaces 

Proposals which could be included within the proposed development 
site which may have a wider community use benefit (e.g. new play 
park, outdoor gym, skate park) not currently provided in the area. 

Transport Arrangements for pedestrian access, safety (e.g. provision of new 
zebra crossing), vehicular access to the new development from the 
existing highway and the provision of new bus stops or bike hubs 

Public Realm 
Provision 

Proposals for enhanced public realm within the proposed development 
site which may have a wider community benefit (e.g. art installation, 
lighting, public seating, waste bins) 

Nature 
Conservation 
and Ecology 

Opportunities to provide onsite facilities to support local wildlife and 
flora and fauna (e.g. hedgehogs, dormice, wildflower beds, community 
vegetable growing space) 

 

It is considered that draft obligations for the local employment training scheme, the travel 

plan for the development, school and healthcare facilities are unlikely to require comments 

by local members. This is due to the fact that these obligations are either assessed and 

organised on a city-wide basis, decided by partners (e.g. NHS) or are directly provided for 

the new residents of the development. 

New S.106 Agreements – Planning Committee Members  

Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 makes it clear that Councillors can both campaign and 

represent the views of their constituents without compromising their ability to take part in the 

actual decision-making process should they form part of a Planning Committee determining 

planning applications. As such there is an opportunity for Members to get involved in 

negotiations on Section 106 contributions both at the pre-application stage and through the 

formal planning process, as outlined above. 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Point: 

It is important to note however that the members role in pre-application and 

Section 106 discussions is to learn about emerging development proposals and 

help to shape schemes and any associated legal agreements to ensure the 

outcomes reflect the needs of their local community and ward.  

 

 

126



 

Brighton & Hove City Council – CIL Member Protocol 
Page 5 of 8 

 

Councillors are able to express preliminary views on emerging development schemes and 

associated Section 106 obligations at the pre- application stage but these must not be given 

in a way that could be perceived by others as having pre-determined their position in the 

event that they are, or become, a member of the Planning Committee that determines any 

subsequent application. 

If a Councillor decides to express anything other than a clear preliminary view at the pre-

application stage, or at this stage decides to represent a view on behalf of their local 

community or ward in support of their role as a community champion, their pre-determination 

of the scheme will require them to stand aside from the determination of any subsequent 

planning application. 

Existing S.106 Agreements – Rules governing expenditure 

The £19M of funds accrued for existing S.106 Agreements has been secured against 

existing planning permissions granted by the council. National policy and guidance make 

clear that planning obligations may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission 

if they meet the tests which are set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 

2010. These Regulations provide that, for a planning obligation to be used as a reason for 

granting planning permission, it must be:  

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

 directly related to the proposed development; and  

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development. 

Under the agreement, the council has undertaken to execute the infrastructure 

improvements identified in the S.106 to mitigate the impacts of the development granted 

permission, usually within a 5/7-year period from when we receive the money. There is 

therefore often little flexibility in where and what the monies can be spent on, as illustrated in 

the typical clause below: 

 

INSERT TYPICAL RESTRICTED S106 AGREEMENT CLAUSE 

 

The developer is entitled to have the monies paid refunded if the council is either unable to 

undertake the improvements within the time frame stipulated or if it decides the infrastructure 

is no longer required. They can also appeal to the Planning Inspectorate for them to instruct 

the council to refund the monies paid and formally discharge the obligation. 

It is therefore important that members do not make contact direct with developers 

regarding signed S.106 agreements as any discussions could result in the developer 

seeking a refund of some of the monies that have already been paid or release from a 

non-financial obligation (e.g. provision of an artistic component on site up to a 

specified value.)  

Existing S.106 Agreements – Member Involvement (Major Schemes/Programmes) 

The table below highlights the arrangements that exist for members to participate in the 

strategic decision-making process for projects that will be funded (in part or full) through 

S.106 obligations: 

127



 

Brighton & Hove City Council – CIL Member Protocol 
Page 6 of 8 

 

Category Funds (as 
at 1/4/20) 

Mechanisms for Member Involvement 

Affordable 
Housing 

£5.75M £3.5M was received from large developments commencing in 
2019/20, significantly increasing the sums available. Receipts 
from these “windfall” sums are difficult to predict but, when 
received, are used to extend the various BHCC Housing 
Programmes. This includes purchase of land and dwellings, 
addressing viability issues for hard to develop sites, investing 
in environmental technologies and funding additional homes 
within the approved programmes. 

Economic 
Development 
(Local 
Employment) 

£1.05M  A review of the scheme, construction-based restrictions, 
receipts and plans for future expenditure has been 
commenced and potential options and changes to the 
existing charges in the Technical Guidance will be the subject 
of a further report to TECC in Spring 2021. 

Education £2.7M P&R Committee agreed in October 2018 spending £1.3M as 
part of a £16M investment to create additional secondary 
places at 9 schools across the city. The remaining receipts 
will be utilised to support minor changes to pupil capacity 
across the estate due to fluctuations in demand and parent 
preference. Some of the funds will also be used to support 
major capital maintenance projects at existing schools (new 
boilers, re-fenestration, replacement roofs) to provide a better 
environment for pupils and staff. 
After the introduction of CIL, all off site projects will be the 
subject of future CIL funding bids rather than provided 
through S106 contributions. 

Open Space 
/ Leisure 

£5.6M Additional resources are being procured to support the 
delivery of the projects that form part of the wider strategy to 
invest in new facilities in the city parks, which represents over 
50% of the sums held. The £1.1M held for Indoor Sports is 
being used to secure matched grant funding and allocated 
through the draft Sports Facilities Investment Plan, the 
Playing Pitch Strategy and the Local Football Facility Plan 
(amongst others) and the spend is approved through P&R 
committee.  Some sums are held pending decisions on 
strategic infrastructure (e.g. swimming pools) and other 
investment programmes (e.g. Stanmer Park.) 
After the introduction of CIL, all off site projects will be the 
subject of future CIL funding bids rather than provided 
through S106 contributions. 

Sustainable 
Transport 

£3.9M The sums identified relate to specific transport and highway 
measures which are primarily focused on sustainable 
transport (walking, cycling and public transport).  They are 
often included in, or provide contributions to, wider local 
transport projects that are planned and delivered as part of 
the council’s Local Transport Plan [LTP] capital programme.   
This helps ensure that schemes are comprehensive and 
achieves value for money.  In order to assist in the 
investment of these S106 sums, the LTP capital programme 
also includes an additional sum to provide an adequate level 
of financial and staff resource to design and deliver some of 
these S106 measures.  

128



 

Brighton & Hove City Council – CIL Member Protocol 
Page 7 of 8 

 

After the introduction of CIL, all off site projects will be the 
subject of future CIL funding bids rather than provided 
through S106 contributions. 

 

Note – The Executive Director, Economy, Environment & Culture is preparing a strategy to 

spend the £115k contribution held across the community centre estate  

Existing S.106 Agreements – Member Involvement (Minor Projects) 

Although using the existing mechanisms above will enable members to continue to be 

involved in the promotion of schemes within their wards, it is recognised that there is some 

limited potential opportunity to progress small, local schemes (usually below £2,500 in value) 

from within existing S.106 obligations over the next 2/3 years, until the CIL Neighbourhood 

Portion has sufficiently accumulated through approved developments commencing.  

These schemes could: 

 Reflect changes in local priorities for minor improvements to existing infrastructure 

identified by ward councillors direct or through community groups 

 Be additional projects to utilise small pockets of funding remaining following the 

completion of major schemes that would otherwise be refunded 

 Provide an additional funding source to existing schemes being progressed locally 

using other funds 

By adopting the protocol below, members will be able to promote local schemes but enable 

the council to contain the administrative costs in assessing these opportunities to a 

minimum. 

Task Responsibility Notes 

Capacity   

Each councillor will be 
limited to submitting no 
more than 2 bids per bidding  
round (one annual round per 
year) and each ward will not 
submit more than 4 bids in 
total per annual bidding 
round (subject to funding 
being available in the ward 
concerned.) 

Ward Councillors (Bids 
supported by all ward 
councillors and then a 
majority will be considered 
before those supported by a 
single councillor.) 

This measure will ensure 
that the administrative time 
consumed in processing low 
value expenditure is kept 
proportionate and efficient. 

Feasibility   

Community Groups/Ward 
Councillors to discuss and 
identify potential projects 
using existing networks and 
ensure proposal sits within 
maximum funding threshold 
(£2,500) 

Ward Councillor to confirm if 
any S.106 funds have been 
received in the area for the 
type of scheme proposed. 
If no funds are available, 
local member will advise 
community groups and task 
will be complete. 

The Planning Service will 
initially provide all members 
with a list of unspent S.106 
funds for their ward pending 
the roll out of the online 
Exacom module for 
members to access 
information direct. 

Bid Submission   

Community Groups/Ward 
Councillors prepare bid 
submission 

Lead Ward Councillor 
agrees to support bid, works 
with community groups to 
complete bid form and 

The Planning Service will 
provide councillors with a 
link to the form to be used 
held in (members library?) It 

129



 

Brighton & Hove City Council – CIL Member Protocol 
Page 8 of 8 

 

liaises with fellow ward 
councillors to ascertain if 
support is agreed. 

will include section to 
identify which S106 & 
specific obligation the funds 
are being sought from.  

Bidding Deadlines   

Bid window open from  01 – 
31 October (deadline for 
submissions) 

Lead Ward Councillor 
submits bid form 
electronically to (bespoke 
email address) in the bid 
window identified 

Upon receipt, the CIL & 
S106 Manager will 
undertake a validation 
process and resolve any 
queries direct with the ward 
councillor submitting the bid 
(e.g. problems with fit with 
S.106 obligation.) 

Service, Finance & S106 
Review (Target 1 month) 

  

Service Officer will review bid in 
context of service plans for 
expenditure and other 
priorities & discuss with 
Ward Councillor (s) if there 
are any conflicts 

Service confirms agreement 
or not to the proposed bid. 
(Pass/Fail) 

Finance Check to ensure 
safeguarding & proper 
stewardship of proposed 
spend (including issues re 
proposed payments, VAT 
etc) 

Finance confirms agreement 
or not to the proposed bid 
(Pass/Fail) 

Bid Round Approval 
(Target 6 weeks) 

  

Authorisation Head of Planning reviews 
each bid and 
recommendation & 
confirms/amends decision 
accordingly 

CIL & S106 Manager 
submits report of analysis 
outcome for all submitted 
bids to TECC Committee 
with copies to ward 
councillors 

Outcome Councillors advised of 
outcome of process and 
letter confirming funding 
issued to organisation with 
details of how to receive 
funding 

All funding approved has to 
be spent within 12 months 
of date approved otherwise 
it is automatically withdrawn. 

 

 

 

 

 

130



TOURISM, EQUALITIES, 
COMMUNITIES & CULTURE 
COMMITTEE  

Agenda Item 11 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Beach Chalet Feasibility Study and Letting Policy 

Date of Meeting: 17th June 2021 

Report of: Executive Director, Economy, Environment & 
Culture 

Contact Officer: 
Name: 

Ian Shurrock 
Toni Manuel 
Jane Pinnock 

Tel: 
01273 292084 
01273 290394 
01273 290568 

 
Email: 

ian.shurrock@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
toni.manuel@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
jane.pinnock@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 At the meeting of the Tourism Equalities Communities and Culture (TECC) 

Committee held on 14th January 2021 a report was considered on the Beach 
Chalet Letting Policy. Several recommendations were agreed including that a 
further report on beach chalets would be considered by the Committee.  

 
1.2 The decisions made at the previous meeting in relation to beach chalets are 

listed in italics in the body of the report below.  This enables background 
information to be provided in relation to those decisions and also to inform the 
recommendations of this report. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That the Committee approves bringing indefinite agreements for beach chalets to 

an end in accordance with the terms of the agreements and replace with new 8 
year fixed term agreements.  
 

2.2 That the Committee agrees that the new 8 year fixed term agreements are on the 
same terms and conditions as the existing 5 year fixed term agreements, 
including the same lower annual licence fee. 

 
2.3 That the Committee notes the feasibility study in Appendix 2 on the provision of 

additional beach chalets or beach huts and approves the development of project 
plans for new beach chalets at the sites identified in 3.26 below.  
 

2.4 That a further report is brought to a future meeting of the Committee to consider 
the project plans prior to implementation. 

 
 
 

131

mailto:ian.shurrock@brighton-hove.gov.uk
mailto:toni.manuel@brighton-hove.gov.uk
mailto:jane.pinnock@brighton-hove.gov.uk


3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Enjoyment of the seaside is a key recreational resource for thousands of the 

city’s residents as well as the vast numbers of visitors. A beach chalet or hut 
gives a chance for users to enjoy their own unique space with fantastic views and 
amenities that enable their seaside trips to be more frequent and longer. A 
regular seaside experience is available to users, which is much desired. 
Consequently, there are long, currently closed waiting lists for the 105 chalets 
available and a strong demand for beach huts. The purchase price of the latter 
has risen significantly over the past 15 years. 
 

3.2 The beach chalets are brick-built structures which are council owned and located 
in Ovingdean, Rottingdean, Saltdean, Madeira Drive and Hove. They are 
different to beach huts which are wooden structures solely located on Hove 
Promenade and are privately owned (see Appendix 1). The current position in 
relation to beach chalets is shown in the table below. 
 
 

  Hove Madeira Drive Ovingdean Rottingdean Saltdean Total 

No. of chalets             22 23 10 30 20 105 

Indefinite agreement             12 13 5 15 15 60 

5 year fixed-term 
agreement 

            10 10 5 15 5 45 

On waiting list              8 24 22 33 38 125 

 

 
3.3 Residents are able to rent a beach chalet for an annual fee of between £887 inc. 

VAT to £1523 inc. VAT depending on where they are located and whether they 
have power and/or water. Chalets are considered a more affordable option to 
buying a beach hut which can cost over £25,000 on the open market (see table 
below in 3.11 for a full range of fees). 
 

3.4 At the meeting of the TECC Committee on the 14th January 2021 the following 
recommendations were agreed: 

 
Beach Chalet Letting Policy 

 
3.5 In January 2021 the Committee agreed “(subject to further consideration of the 

legal, financial and practical implications of the proposal in a future report) 
indefinite agreements for beach chalets should be phased out over a period of 8 
years starting from the lifting of lockdown restrictions and all future agreements 
will be as per the fixed term agreements.” 
 
Legal Implications 
 

3.6 The wording ‘phased out over a period of 8 years’ has been taken to mean that 
all the indefinite agreements should be ended over the next few months and 
replaced with 8 year agreements. The alternative interpretation would be to allow 

132



them to run for another 8 years and then terminate the agreements, but this is 
not preferred as it creates uncertainty for users.  
 

3.7 Some chalets let prior to 2011 (are for an indefinite term which means that users 
can hold on to their chalet for a long period. The fact that they are ‘indefinite’ 
does not mean they cannot be terminated by the council. It means that they do 
not have a fixed term: they will continue until one party terminates (or the 
agreement holder passes away).  
 

3.8 There are 60 of this type of agreement remaining which comprises more than 
half of the total number of chalets. These licences are personal to the named 
user and non-assignable. Non-assignable means a chalet user cannot transfer 
their chalet agreement to another person. Therefore, if the user passes away the 
chalet must be handed back to the council to be let to the next person on the 
waiting list. 
 

3.9 Under the terms of the beach chalet agreements there is the ability for the 
agreements to be terminated by giving notice to the user. Subject to the terms of 
the individual agreements (there is some variation in terms of notice period) the 
council can terminate the agreements. 
 

3.10 A beach chalet user has previously indicated that should the council seek to 
terminate their beach chalet agreement they would commence a legal challenge 
against the council.  The risk that a legal challenge, based on the arguments put 
forward in that letter, would be successful is very low but if the beach chalet 
owners or their association seek legal advice, their lawyers may find other 
arguments to put forward. These challenges are unlikely to be successful, but 
they do take significant resources to deal with in terms of officer time and legal 
fees. However, all costs should be recovered if the Council was successful. 
 
Financial Implications 
 

3.11 At present there are 60 chalet users with indefinite agreements who pay a higher 
annual rent than those on fixed term agreements. The recommendation to move 
these agreements to 8 year fixed term agreements is estimated to reduce 
licences by £50pa on average with an overall reduction of £3,000 per year for the 
council. 
 

 
Locations 

Licence fee for 
indefinite tenancies 

Licence fee for 5 
year fixed tenancy 

Licence fee 
drop 

No. of indefinite 
tenancies 

Licence fee drop 
by location 

            

Hove £1,523.22 £1,448.76 £74.46 12 £893.52 

Madeira Drive £1,045.51 £998.02 £47.49 13 £617.37 

Ovingdean £991.89 £946.75 £45.14 5 £225.70 

Rottingdean £887.59 £847.24 £40.35 15 £605.25 

Saltdean £887.59 £847.24 £40.35 15 £605.25 

        Loss of income £2,947.09 

 
 

3.12 The level of demand for beach chalets is so high with such long (and closed) 
waiting lists, that there is not expected to be a detrimental financial impact from a 
loss of full occupancy. It would be expected that full occupancy would be retained 

133



(even if additional chalets were built) and consequently there would not be a 
detrimental financial impact from this perspective. 

 
Practical Implications 

 
3.13 There are not considered to any practical implications to ending the indefinite 

agreements. 
 
Beach Chalet fixed-term agreements 
 

3.14 Following the consideration of the above legal, financial and practical 
implications, there is no reason why existing indefinite beach chalet agreements 
should not be moved to the fixed-term agreements. Since 2011 all new 
agreements for beach chalets have been let for a fixed term of 5 years to 
Brighton & Hove residents only. The chalet must be handed back to the council if 
the chalet user advises that they are moving out of Brighton and Hove, if the 
chalet user passes away, or at the end of the 5 year period. The chalet will then 
be let to the next person on the waiting list. This change to the policy was a 
decision made at the Culture, Recreation and Tourism Cabinet Member Meeting 
in December 2010. 

 
  Indefinite Agreements – non-Brighton and Hove Residents 
 
3.15 In January 2021 the Committee approved “bringing indefinite agreements to an 

end as soon as is practically possible for beach chalets for those that do not 
reside in Brighton & Hove in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
licence agreement”. 
 

3.16 Following this decision notice was served on all those with chalet agreements  
who do not live in Brighton and Hove. Representations have been made 
especially by those that live within close proximity of the Brighton and Hove 
boundary that they should still be able to use a beach chalet. However, this clear 
requirement has been enforced in accordance with the decision. 
 
Fixed-term agreements – Brighton and Hove Residents 
 

3.17 In January 2021 the Committee agreed “that annual checks are carried out to  
ensure that all existing and future fixed-term licence agreements remain with 
residents of Brighton & Hove”. 
 

3.18 These checks have been implemented with evidence of local residency e.g.  
 council tax invoice being required to demonstrate continued proof of eligibility. 

 
Potential Provision of Additional Beach Chalets and Beach Huts 
 
Beach Chalets and Beach Huts Feasibility Study 
 

3.19 A feasibility study to identify potential locations to provide more beach chalets  
 and beach huts was supported by Council at the meeting on 22nd October 2020. 

 
3.20 In January 2021 the Committee “agreed for a further report to identify locations  

134



for the provision of additional beach chalets and beach huts along the seafront 
including less well visited parts to help regenerate those areas, in particular the 
area east of the Palace Pier”. 

 
Beach Chalets 
 

3.21 Mott MacDonald were appointed to undertake a feasibility study to identify  
potential locations for both new beach chalets and the traditional wooden beach 
huts. A review was undertaken along the whole of the Brighton and Hove 
Seafront to consider locations. In addition, research was undertaken to 
understand the city, the emerging developments along the seafront and the 
historical architecture of the city, all to inform concept designs for new beach 
chalets. 

 
3.22 The feasibility study also took into account a range of key factors that impact  

 upon locating beach chalets in any particular location including: 
 

 Prime function of shelter and storage 

 Creating a sense of place 

 Type of construction 

 Scale of construction 

 Accessibility 

 Connectivity 
 
3.23 The feasibility study identified the following locations for new beach 

Chalets which after consideration of constraints and accessibility were not 
recommended to be considered further (see p22 Appendix 2): 

 
1  Maderia Drive Arches 
2  Madeira Drive Beach – Site 2 
3  Black Rock Car Park 
4  Undercliff - Marina 
 

3.24 The following sites were identified as possible locations (see p23 Appendix 2): 
 

    5   Madeira Drive Beach – Site 5 
    6   Undercliff – Rottingdean Chalet 
    7   Undercliff – Site 7 
    8   Undercliff – Site 8 
    9   Undercliff – Site 9 
  10   Undercliff – Site 10 
  11   Undercliff – Saltdean Beach 

 
3.25 The sites listed above as potential locations (Undercliff Sites 7,8,9 &10) were not  

 prioritised principally for the following reasons: 
 

 In danger of flooding or over-topping 

 Not close to existing amenities e.g. toilets 
 

3.26 It is proposed that project plans are developed for the remaining three sites  
 which are felt to be most suitable for new beach chalets which are: 

 

135



 Madeira Drive - (Site 5 p23 Appendix 2) – on the beach opposite Dukes 
Mound 

 Undercliff Rottingdean Chalet – (Site 6 p23 Appendix 2) adjacent to existing 
beach chalet (east) block 

 Undercliff - Saltdean Beach – (Site 11 p23 Appendix 2) either side of the 
subway 

 
3.27 The feasibility study has identified 3 different types of chalet design proposal (see  

p34-p39 of Appendix 2). These are intended to improve on the existing rather 
harsh design to create a greater sense of place. The three design proposals are: 

 

 Adapted Existing 

 Radical Adapted Existing 

 Re-imagined Design 
 
3.28 Project plans would need to include a business case with costs, designs and  

timescales which would be included in a further report to Committee. Approval 
would then be sought from the Committee prior to securing planning permission, 
entering into contracts, and undertaking procurements to provide new beach 
chalets. 
 
Beach Huts 
 

3.29 Mott MacDonald have reviewed the whole length of the seafront within the city  
and have concluded that there is not a suitable location for further traditional 
wooden beach huts. Consequently, their design proposals have focussed on new 
innovative designs for beach chalets. 
 
Financing the building of additional beach chalets or beach huts 
 

3.30 Approval was given at Budget Council in February for an allocation of £250,000 
towards seafront railings replacement & beach chalet/hut Infrastructure & 
replacement. When the expenditure for the seafront railings is known, the 
remaining available budget will be allocated to the project for new beach chalets. 
 
Regeneration of Madeira Terraces and wider area 
 

3.31 Furthermore, the Committee agreed that “the report also identifies how beach  
huts and chalet income east of the Palace Pier could support additional 
borrowing and regeneration of Madeira Terraces and contribute to the wider 
area’s regeneration and renewal”. 
 

3.32 There is a significant cost involved to build beach chalets. Therefore, the income  
generated would be required to support borrowing to build the chalets and also 
fund the on-going maintenance of the chalets which remains as the council’s 
responsibility. Consequently, the income generated would be unlikely to be 
sufficient to also contribute to the wider regeneration of the area, although this 
would be borne in mind within the development of individual project plans for 
specific blocks of chalets. 
 
 
 

136



 
 
Beach Chalet – Community Event Use 
 

3.33 Finally, in January 2021 the Committee agreed “the report considers retaining  
 one or more beach chalets in future, from either existing stock freed up by new  
 lease arrangements or new stock, as short term lets for community event use”. 

 
3.34 Consideration has been given to this proposal and due to the high demand on 

waiting lists it is not recommended that one of the existing limited stock is 
retained for community use. However, it is proposed that this is given further 
consideration if new chalets can be provided.   

 
4 ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1   The range of options for the location of new beach chalets are included within the  

 feasibility study attached in Appendix 2. In addition, attached in Appendix 3 are 
indicative cost estimates for the locations recommended for further detailed 
consideration. 

 
5 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1       Results of the public consultation on Beach Chalets which was previously  

undertaken was included in the report to Committee in January 2021. The results 
are attached again in Appendix 4 

 
6.  CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 The termination of existing indefinite agreements, with all agreements moving to 

a fixed term basis will in the medium term enable an increase in the movement of 
the waiting lists, and enable more people to have the opportunity, all be it for a 
limited time period, to enjoy the much sought after use of a beach chalet. 
 

6.2 The feasibility study has identified a number of potential locations for the 
provision of additional beach chalets. This would also enable more Brighton and 
Hove residents to have the opportunity to benefit from this seafront amenity. 

 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

  
7.1 The recommended changes from indefinite agreements to 8-year agreements is 

estimated to reduce income by £3,000pa. If approved this will be reflected in 
Targeted Budget Management (TBM) Reports to Policy & Resources Committee 
and the budget setting in future years. At Budget Council in February 2021, a 
capital allocation of £0.250m was approved for seafront railings replacement and 
beach chalet/hut Infrastructure and replacement. The business case for the new 
beach chalets/huts will take into account this funding, with any residual capital 
investment requirements being funded through borrowing assuming the 
additional rental income will cover the financing costs. 

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: James Hengeveld Date: 21/05/21 

137



Legal Implications:  
 
7.2 The legal implications of terminating the indefinite agreements are set out in the 

report. If the project to build new beach chalets progresses the Council will need 
to comply with its Contract Standing Orders and the procurement regulations.  

   
 Lawyer Consulted: Alice Rowland Date: 21/5/21  
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 The basis for the report is to give a greater opportunity for residents wishing to 

use a beach chalet. With the ending of indefinite agreements and if further beach 
chalets could be provided the movement of the waiting lists would increase, and 
a greater number of residents would be able to benefit year on year from these 
sought-after amenities. An Equalities Impact Assessment is attached to this 
report in Appendix 5. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.4 The materials for new beach chalets including environmental sustainability are 

considered in the feasibility study (see p32 and p33 Appendix 2). 
 
Brexit Implications: 
 

7.5 There are no implications identified. 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
7.6 Engaging with the outdoor environment can have a positive impact on both 

physical and mental health & well-being. 
 
 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. Overview of Beach Huts and Beach Chalets. 
 
2. Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets – feasibility study by Mott 

MacDonald. 
 
3. Beach Chalets – indicative cost estimates. 
 
4. Summary of Beach Chalet Consultation Responses. 

 
5. Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
Background Documents 
 
1. Report to Tourism, Equalities, Communities & Culture Committee dated 14th 

January 2021. 

138



 
 
 
 

139



140



Appendix 1 - Overview of Beach Huts and Beach Chalets 

There is often confusion in relation to the beach huts and chalets please see photos and explanations below 

to help clarify. 

Beach Huts 

 (Photo – Beach Huts in Hove) 

Beach huts are wooden structures and are privately owned by individuals.   

There are 459 beach huts along the promenade in Hove. They do not have running water or electricity 

provided.  You must be a resident of Brighton & Hove to own a beach hut and pay an annual ground 

rent/licence fee to keep the hut on council land. 

 

Beach Chalets 

 (Photo Beach Chalets in Saltdean) 

There are 105 Chalets on the seafront from Hove to Saltdean in 5 locations.   

These are brick built structures which are owned and maintained by the council.  Some have water and 

electricity while some have access to a communal tap.  The annual rent payable to the council varies 

depending on the location and the amenities provided.  

New tenancies are available for a maximum of 5 years only.  There is a waiting list for each block of chalets 

in Hove, Madeira Drive, Ovingdean, Rottingdean and Saltdean.  You must be a resident of Brighton & Hove 

to rent a chalet. 

141



142



BRIGHTON AND HOVE BEACH CHALETS AND HUTS

BRIGHTON AND HOVE CITY COUNCIL 

143



PORT OF BLYTH - FLYPRO-UK LTD

01 Introduction & Project Brief 
02 Site Analysis 
03 Typology Analysis       
04 Chalet Design Proposals     
05 Summary and Conclusions                 

Contents

144



Introduction

This study aims to evaluate a selection of different 
sites for the proposal of new locations for beach 
chalets along Brighton and Hove's seafront 
and cliff area. Additionally, there will be sketch 
design proposals for new beach chalets. This 
will recognise that these chalets do not solely 
function as beach side storage but are places 
themselves that the public have a real fondness 
for and often owners can be found spending their 
entire time by the beach sitting outside their hut 
or chalet.

The sketch design options explored in the 
following pages are the result of an initial 
contextual study carried out to evaluate the 
feasibility of a number of different sites and how 
best these sketch design options fit into the site 
and Brighton and Hove's seafront surroundings. 

Feasibility Studies

The design concept emerging from this document 
is the result of contextual research undertaken to 
understand Brighton and Hove, it’s past, present 
and future ambitions as a seaside town. The 
studies are informed by the existing context, the 
emerging seafront development, masterplans, the 
historic architecture of Brighton and Hove and the 
vernacular forms of the beach hut.

Project Team

Project Manager

Stuart Croucher 

Architects

Louise Urquhart 
Paul Mason 
Hattie Smith 
Colin Armstrong

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 3

01  Introduction & Project Brief

145



BRIGHTON AND H
O

V
E

1.1 Site Location 

The site relevant to this study is located 
on the south coast of England in the 
seaside town of Brighton and Hove.

Brighton and Hove is directly connected to 
London and Gatwick Airport by rail and is also 
easily accessible from the major ports of Dover, 
Portsmouth, Southampton and the industrial port 
of Shoreham, 5 miles from the centre of Brighton. 
The A259 main road connects Brighton and Hove 
to much of the south coast and neighbouring 
towns. Rail links to London allows visitors to 
easily travel to Brighton and Hove, with train 
journeys only being an hour long. The city offers 
sustainable transport links via its cycle network, 
buses and a bike sharing scheme.

The proposal for a collection of new beach 
chalets spread out across a number of potential 
site locations will provide Brighton and Hove 
a further opportunity to develop their Beach 
front, especially the location of Madeira Terrace 
and Black Rock which is in need of restoration. 
These proposals will bring much needed activity 
and support to these areas whilst aiming to 
accommodate the rise in demand for beach 
chalets.

 | Project Site Location 

LONDON

MANCHESTER

NEWCASTLE

EDINBURGH

ABERDEEN
AXO OF TOWN FROM 

GOOGLE MAPS

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study4

01  Introduction & Project Brief

146



01

1.2 Local Context

1. Hove Lawns - provides open green space 
in the city looking out directly towards the 
sea and is used for lawn bowls and tennis. 
In the summer these grassy areas become a 
hub of activity serving as a public gardens. 
During the pandemic they have provided 
public space for people to play sports in the 
winter.

2. Brighton Train Station - offers direct 
connections to London and Gatwick Airport. 

3. Cycle Lanes - connects to most of 
Brighton and Hove’s nearby coastal 
locations. It runs the entire length of the 
promenade and continues along the 
Undercliff. 

4. Madeira Terrace - is considered the 
longest cast-iron structure in Britain 
however, has suffered weathering from 
the marine environment for more than 100 
years, and needs restoration. It fronts onto 
the city's major event space, hosting 24 
major events every year. 

5. Brighton and Hove City Centre - has 
all the facilities of a large city and the city 
centre is only ¼ mile inland from the beach.

6. Existing Chalet Locations - beach chalets 
act as a more robust, permanent beach 
hut and are built of a brick construction 
with varying levels of access to water and 
electricity.

7. Potential redevelopment plans for Black 
Rock seafront and Brighton Marina.

8. Cliff and Undercliff edge - allows for 
pedestrian access to the more rural coastal 
locations such as Saltdean, Ovingdean and 
Rottingdean.  

02

04

03

05
06

 | Undercliff Walkway Edge

06

07

06
06

08

 | Rottingdean Chalets  | Hove Promenade and Lawns
 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 5

147



Brighton and Hove’s Origins

Brighton and Hove was originally an agricultural 
and fishing village surrounded by fields and 
coastline. The transformation from small fishing 
village to urban spa town saw Brighton’s 
population grow rapidly in the 1700’s due to 
doctor’s prescription of the cold sea bath as the 
latest ‘cure-all’ remedy. The sick flocked to the 
coast with their families, and this resulted in huge 
demands for accommodation and entertainment, 
where the modern concept of the seaside 
emerged. This newfound interest from the public 
in visiting the seaside led to the development and 
urbanisation of seaside towns and villages. 

Beginnings of The Beach Hut

The first type of beach hut was designed around 
this time and was referred to as a bathing 
machine. They were portable and horse drawn 
serving the purpose as a changing room to 
preserve a bather's modesty, while simultaneously 
taking one person at a time from the top of the 
beach down to the sea water. 

Victorian Era

By 1837, bathing machines and swimming in the 
sea were already all the rage. Men’s bathing 
machines had initially been kept separate 
from the women’s ones, but by the 1900's this 
separation disappeared due to Britain’s desire 
to be like the rest of Europe. As it became more 
acceptable for people to walk along the beach 
in their swimwear the bathing machines lost their 
function but remained on shore as the modern 
day beach hut.

Pre and Post War

Despite beaches being largely unusable during 

both world wars, the seaside remained popular 
in the inter-war period and the public’s love for 
swimming in the sea came back stronger once 
WW2 ended. In 1928, Rottingdean parish was 
absorbed by Brighton and Hove and in order to 
protect the coastline an impressive sea wall at 
the base of the cliffs was constructed, initially 
from Black Rock all the way to Rottingdean. This 
became known as the Undercliff Walk, which 
was designed by engineer David Edwards. This 
opened in July 1933. It was extended to Saltdean 
Gap in July 1935 when the Rottingdean swimming 
pool was built to replace bathing facilities lost 
to the wall. A final short addition to the wall 
extended it to the very end of the borough 
boundary making it a total of 3.35 miles long.

Future Plans Brighton and Hove

The demand for beach huts and chalets has 
recently grown. Brighton and Hove's seafront 
is set to be revitalised with an aim of returning 
Madeira Terrace and Drive to its former glory, 
where a vibrant hub of activity on the seafront 
will help boost Brighton’s economy and seaside 
appeal. Madeira Terrace is a unique structure 
originally built as a covered promenade to attract 
tourists from London when the new railway 
opened in the late 1800's. The first stage of 
restoration aims to restore and activate at least 30 
of the 151 arches that make up Madeira Terrace. 
Black Rock regeneration project will also seek 
to redevelop another important seafront site, 
creating transport links to the eastern seafront, 
and new infrastructure improving the experience 
for all who visit.

 | Bathing Machines 

2.1 Site History

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study6

02  Site Analysis

148



 | The Maderia lift and terrace 1900

 | Present day Maderia terrace in which some arches are set to be restored

 | Brunswick Terrace, Hove, part of the Brunswick estate development of 1820 
with Hove Lawns in front

 | Beach huts in Hove

 | Madeira Drive Beach with typical Regency architecture

 | Black Rock seafront which is set to be redeveloped 

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 7

149



2.2 Existing Context

Black Rock Seafront 

Plans for Black Rock Rejuvenation Project seeks 
to significantly improve the area's surrounding 
environment and infrastructure of the eastern 
seafront. It will also provide much needed 
upgrades that will promote greener, more 
sustainable travel and improve connectivity 
between the eastern seafront, Black Rock and 
Brighton Marina. 

Hove Cycle Lane & Lawns

Hove Cycle Lane has been vital to promoting 
a more sustainable approach to travel by 
encouraging people to drive less and use 
alternative greener transport methods. There 
are currently schemes which include a westward 
extension of the A259 seafront cycle lane and the 
temporary A270 Old Shoreham Road Cycle Lane 
in Hove along the Portslade Stretch. 

Hove Beach Chalets

Hove beach chalets are located at a few points 
along Hove's promenade in line with the beach 
huts. These beach chalets offer a more robust 
storage down on the waterfront, with access to 
water and electricity.

Madeira Terrace & Drive

Madeira Terrace and it's original cast-iron 
structure is set to be restored with the ambition 
of using the Terrace as an all year-round events 
space. The project looks to boost sustainable 
tourism and promote local culture. 

 | Black rock seafront view from Brighton Marina

 | Hove cycle lane looking out across the lawns

 | Hove beach chalets, some have suffered recent vandalism.  | Present day Maderia Terrace and drive

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study8

02  Site Analysis

150



Saltdean Undercliff Walkway

The three coastal beaches of Ovingdean, 
Rottingdean and Saltdean are accessible on foot 
via the Undercliff walkway. These locations offer 
more privacy and peace away from the busier 
seafront of Brighton and Hove, making it more 
attractive to locals to rent beach chalets here 
rather than in the town. The undercliff walkway 
stretches from the Brighton Marina all the way 
to Saltdean and is also popular with cyclists who 
can cycle along the coast segregated away from 
motor traffic.

Saltdean Lido and Library

Saltdean was widely undeveloped land in the 
1900's but by the 1930's became a desirable and 
attractive seaside suburb to Brighton and Hove. 
Once tourists began to visit Saltdean it became a 
fashionable beach resort town. The interwar years 
fuelled the nation's love for sport and leisure, 
lidos and outdoor leisure facilities became very 
popular. Plans for a luxury hotel, named 'The 
Ocean Hotel' and a lido swimming pool were to 
be designed and built in Saltdean, which was 
completed in May 1938.

 | Ovingdean Chalets

 | Saltdean Lido and Library

 | Rottingdean Chalets  | Saltdean Undercliff Walkway

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 9

151



 | Victorian Ironwork in Maderia Terrace  | Boats and Brighton's fishing village origins

 | Beach Huts  | Chalkcliffs

2.3 Materiality

Maderia Terrace Arches 

This Victorian arched promenade delinates the 
eastern portion of beach front before Brighton 
pier. The iconic victorian iron work and pastel 
colour scheme defines the character of this area. 

Boats and Beach Huts

The traditionally designed beach huts which line 
most of Brighton and Hove beach shore line are 
an iconic image of the city itself. Their simple 
modular shed like design is animated by the 
vibrant coloured paint used by owners to treat the 
doors and helps break the monotony. 

Chalk Cliffs

The chalk cliffs which begin in Brighton and 
continue on through to Saltdean and beyond are 
natural formations of rock which are formed by 
layers of chalk that have built up gradually over 
millions of years.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study10

02  Site Analysis

152



2.4 Project Aspirations

Shelter and Light
Beach chalets function as storage containers, but 
also allow owners to inhabit their own portion of 
the beach front. It is not uncommon for owners to 
spend their entire time at the beach outside their 
chalet. The chalets are used for shelter, definers 
of space and could be further utilised by making 
the interior more plesant. This could be achieved 
by introducing more natural light.  

A Sense of Place
In some beach and chalet locations, there is 
already a sense of place created by the presence 
of the beach. It will be required, to maximise the 
number of viable sites, for some of the chalets 
to create their own sense of place, where direct 
access to the beach is not possible.

Heavy and Light Construction
Heavy construction, such as concrete, is the 
obvious choice of material to resist the harsh 
marine environment and to be resilient to falling 
chalk, cliff debris and the risk of vandalism. 
However, with heavy construction there is an 
economic and environmental impact. A lighter, 
sustainable construction method could help 
address this, but requires considered design to 
mitigate the above outlined risks associated with 
a cliffside location. 

Monolith or Diminutive
The more resilient construction and the economy 
of building end on chalets, give these structures a 
more monolithic feel. The beach huts by contrast 
are more diminutive, resembling garden sheds 
with their double-pitch roofs and vibrant colour 
variance. The former tends to mean that many of 
the chalets have an imposing and industrial feel 
while the beach huts are more charming. 

 | Contemporary beach huts, Southend  | Coastal defence sea wall with an elevated promenade, Millford-on-sea

 | Hoenderloo lodge formed by site-specific conditions, MVRDV  | Recycled timber cabins connect to views of nature and water 

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 11

153



Brighton and Hove 
- Existing Chalet 
Locations

Currently Brighton and Hove's 
City Council rent out chalets 
at 5 different locations. These 
are issued for a fixed 5 year 
period with a yearly fee. 
There is currently a closed 
waiting list only open to 
Brighton & Hove residents.

1 of the 5 chalets is located 
on Hove beach front. Another 
is located on Brighton's beach 
front and the remaining 3 
are at different points on the 
Undercliff. 2 of these 3 are on 
the beach fronts of the towns 
of Rottingdean and Saltdean, 
and the final 1 of 3 is at the 
remote beach location of 
Ovingdean. 

Chalet Siting Feasibility Study

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 12

154



Beach & Cliff - Under 
Cliff Route Extent

The Undercliff, which was 
originally constructed to 
reinforce the chalk cliff face 
against sea erosion, functions 
as a pedestrian and cycle 
route that connects the 
Undercliff chalets to the city, 
and is completely segregated 
from motor traffic.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study13

02  Site Analysis

155



Beach & Cliff - 
Connectivity & Access

The Undercliff chalets can 
also be accessed via car and 
bus along the coastal road.

These bus routes run the 
length of the coast and into 
the city, with some directly 
linking to Brighton train 
station.

All current beach chalet 
locations on the Undercliff are 
placed within close proximity 
of access points. These 
access points provide a safe 
means down from the top of 
the cliff onto the Undercliff 
itself.

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 14

156



Madeira Drive Beach

Opportunities to site new 
beach chalets exist on 
Madeira Drive Beach.

The area is defined as the 
stretch of beach between 
Brighton Pier and the Marina. 
Madeira Drive will also 
be considered as another 
potential location in this 
study.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study15

02  Site Analysis

157



Madeira Drive Beach - 
Site Barriers

Madeira Drive Beach already 
has one of the current 
beach chalets on its beach 
front. In proposing any new 
locations for beach chalets, 
consideration of the site 
barriers to pedestrians is 
required.

The Madeira Terrace Arches 
separate Marine Parade from 
Madeira Drive, this is due to 
the dramatic change in level 
which continues along the 
extent of this portion of the 
beach.

The beach is cut off from 
consistent direct access 
to Madeira Drive, the 
beach's main pedestrian 
thoroughfare, by the Volk's 
Electric Railway. 

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 16

158



Madeira Drive Beach - 
Site Transit

Marine Parade is the primary 
vehicular route in this 
location. The change in level 
between Marine Parade 
and Madeira Drive creates 
a barrier to the busier car 
and bus traffic, and gives 
the secondary vehicular 
route, through Madeira Drive,  
congestion relief.

As a result of the lower 
volume of traffic and 
the proximity to the 
beach, Madeira Drive is a 
more pleasant place for 
pedestrians. This area also 
functions as a major event 
space for the city. 

This street also incorporates 
a dedicated cycling route 
which runs along the beach 
front. This cycling route 
connects Hove in the East of 
the city to the Undercliff via 
the length of Brighton Beach.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study17

02  Site Analysis

159



Madeira Drive Beach - 
Pedestrian Access

By identifying the pedestrian 
access through the site 
barriers, locations for 
development that are both 
accessible and do not create 
new barriers can be found. 

At present the Madeira 
Terrace Arches are closed 
for refurbishment, but the 
arrows indicate the normal 
points of access they provide 
down through the arches 
themselves from Marine 
Parade to Madeira Drive.

 Volk’s railway is another 
identified site barrier and 
cuts off the beach from 
Madeira Drive. The blue 
arrows indicated the crossing 
points which permit access. 
Additionally, the arrows not 
crossing the rail line indicate 
access onto the pier and 
down a change in level 
from Madeira Drive onto the 
beach.

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 18

160



Madeira Drive Beach - 
Black Rock Rejuvenation 
Project 

The Black Rock rejuvenation 
project has been mapped out 
to understand the potential 
future development of this 
area. This will also define the 
limitations new development 
places on the options to 
locate new beach chalets.

An obvious part of the 
development which will 
impact future access to any 
new beach chalets, sites 
on the beach nearby, is the 
proposed boulevard walkway.

Likewise, it will not be 
possible to propose sites 
closed to the new location of 
the natural shingle.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study19

02  Site Analysis

161



Madeira Drive Beach - Chalet 
Location Assessment

1. Brighton's Central Beach - 
Commercial activities at this location 
and the Ferris-wheel reduce the 
available area for future chalet and 
beach hut development. 

2. Volk's Electric Railway - There exists 
potential for new beach chalets here 
as there is an existing hard standing 
walkway that is currently underutilised. 
However, this is unlikely to be feasible 
due to the operational requirements of 
the station.

3. Existing Chalets - This area is 
defined by the presence of existing 
chalets. There is potential for more 
chalets. This is on the basis that there 
is already chalets in this location.

4. This location is subject to a new 
proposed open air pool and other 
leisure facilities that currently occupy 
the beach front. For these reasons this 
is not considered to be a potential area 
for this type of development.

5. This area is wedged between the 
beach groyne and area 4. It contains 
the halfway station, adventure golf 
and the Volks Workshop and will soon 
contain new vegetated shingle beds. 
This would make this area unsuitable 
for further development.

6. As part of the Black Rock 
Development, this corner section 
has already been designated for 
the provision of more Beach Huts. 
However, this area remains a potential 
site for new beach chalets if this could 
be integrated with the proposals for 
the new Black Rock board walk.

7. Due to the Black Rock development, 
this area has no potential for chalet 
development. The Black Rock projects 
proposes this area as a new location 
for natural beach shingle.

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 20

162



Identified Potential 
Beach Chalet Locations

Based upon the previous 
analysis, several sites with 
potential for development of 
new chalets were identified 
as shown in the adjacent 
image. 

These sites can be split into 
two groupings with the first 
group being those around 
Brighton beach and Marina.

The second set of sites 
are clustered between 
Rottingdean and Saltdean 
Beaches on the Undercliff. 
Selection of these Undercliff 
sites was made based 
on the limited number of 
places that could physically 
accommodate the footprint of 
a bank of chalets.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study21

02  Site Analysis

163



1

3

2

4

Madeira Drive Beach and Marina sites

The images below are of indicated sites for potential chalet or beach hut siting. Yellow - These sites have been identified as being able to accommodate beach chalets based upon the reports analysis, but have 
a number of issues outlined in the constraints and accessibility portion of the report on page 24 which leads to the conclusion that they are not to be recommended. 

Madeira Terrace Arches

Black Rock Rejuvanation Car Park

Madeira Drive Beach - Site 2

Undercliff - Marina

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 22

164



5

8

9

6 7

1110

Brighton - Proposed Chalet Sites 2 of 2 - Madeira Drive Beach & Undercliff Sites

The images below are of indicated sites for potential chalet or beach hut siting. Red - These sites have been identified as being able to accommodate beach chalets based upon the reports analysis and are 
preferred to the aforementioned sites on page 22. This conclusion is reached because significantly less constraints were identified that prevent development of new chalet or beach hut in these locations. 

Madeira Drive Beach - Site 5

Undercliff - Site 9

Undercliff - Site 8

Undercliff - Rottingdean Chalet Undercliff - Site 7

Undercliff - Site 10 Undercliff - Saltdean Beach

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study23

02  Site Analysis

165



Madeira Drive - Constraints & Accessibility 

The area which can be defined by Madeira Drive has many 
opportunities for new beach hut or chalet siting but also, many 
constraints. These sites have the advantage over the Undercliff 
sites of being easier to service as they are quite close to an 
urban centre without the geographical hurdle of the cliff. These 
sites would both be popular and could command higher rental 
values with greater opportunities to be serviced with water and 
electricity. 

1. This location looks to take advantage of the new proposals for 
the Madeira Terrace arches with a view to include chalets into 
the design. The advantages of this is that it would not restrict 
views out onto the beach and would integrate with the existing 
access and parking infrastructure. Additionally, at this location the 
chalets would not be as exposed to adverse weather as those 
on the beach front. However, this may not be a viable solution if 
it conflicts with the intentions for the Arches renovation. Beach 
chalets would look out onto a road and would not be child friendly 
either.

2. To incorporate new chalets alongside the existing chalets. 
This location appears feasible based on the precedent of the 
current chalets which sit on the beach and are accessed easily 
from Madeira Drive. However, the existing chalets form a barrier 
currently between the beach and Madeira Drive which has 
an overall negative impact and is evidenced by the measures 
required to be taken to mitigate vandalism. To incorporate more 
chalets here would potentially amplify this effect. Development in 
this location is restricted by some key events which are often held 
here.

3. This location would look to integrate with the new Black Rock 
development on the beach and occupy a portion of the existing 
car parking bays. It benefits from the new development providing 
pedestrian access in front and not behind any chalets. This 
would limit the impact of the chalets obscuring views and they 
would have direct access onto the beach. As with site 1, at the 
arches, there may not be scope within the new development to 
accommodate the beach chalets and in occupying existing park 
spaces this may come into conflict with the current proposals. 

4. Site 4 is situated on the Undercliff and faces onto the Marina 
retail park car park. This looks at the opportunity the Undercliff 
can offer for space to accommodate beach chalets within 
proximity of Brighton Beach. However, this is not considered an 
ideal or desirable option. This site offers few benefits over the 
other Brighton Beach locations and has the significant detracting 
factor of it facing onto a car park. This site is under consideration 
at the moment for a future transport hub.

5. Site 5 is situated in the prime location of Madeira Drive Beach 
where there are many easily accessible entry points to the beach 
which the potential chalets could take advantage of in terms of 
their location.

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 24

166



Saltdean & Rottingdean - 
Constraints & Opportunities

The Undercliff sites that were 
identified have the significant 
benefit of backing onto the cliff 
which eliminates the issue of 
obscuring views to the beach. 
Rents are likely to be lower due to 
the more remote location and the 
difficulties in providing services 
such as electricity and water. 
However, some sites may offer 
these opportunities by being close 
to either of the two nearby villages.

The identified Undercliff sites are 
highlighted in yellow and can be 
broken down into two types. The 
first type is the locations in close 
proximity to the existing beach 
front infrastructure associated 
with the towns of Rottingdean and 
Saltdean. These sites have the 
benefits of close proximity to both 
beaches and to local amenities. 
Additionally, the sites closer to the 
beaches will have better levels 
of surveillance and are therefore 
less susceptible to vandalism. 
The second type of sites are 
those which are between the two 
towns. These locations still benefit 
from their proximity to the towns 
and can be accessed by foot in 
approximately 10 minutes but are 
further to any amenities and are 
more vulnerable to unsupervised 
vandalism. 

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study25

02  Site Analysis

167



Saltdean & Rottingdean - 
Access

The chalets that are currently 
on-site are easily accessible from 
both the Rottingdean and Saltdean 
town centres. These chalets are 
located on the Undercliff near 
pedestrian access points from the 
towns, down the cliff and to the 
beach, with the Saltdean chalets 
being directly accessed from its 
main beach access route. 

Access points are indicated that 
show the main access onto the 
Undercliff. Rottingdean has one 
main access point as shown 
directly from the town centre.
There are two access points 
which connect Saltdean onto the 
Undercliff. The first is a tunnel 
which passes under the main 
coastal road and provides a 
connection from the Saltdean Lido. 
The second allows for access to 
the chalets on the Undercliff from 
Saltdean’s main commercial street. 

The identified sites closest to 
these access points benefit from 
this proximity, and to local bus 
stops and car parking. The other 
sites are still very accessible via 
the same means, and as shown 
when accessed by bike the issue 
of proximity is of lesser relevance. 

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 26

168



Introduction

In studying how occupants of the chalets use 
the space, how the chalets are traditionally 
constructed and their form a set of baseline 
criteria for their design can be established. The 
chalets are derivatives of the original beach hut 
and have a primary function as secure beach side 
storage for belongings associated with spending 
time at the seaside. However, as evidenced in the 
images they can become places in themselves to 
shelter from the wind, inhabit or just sit outside 
looking out to sea. 

Several issues with the existing chalets were 
identified. These include the; flat roofs, which 
make them ideal for local youths to climb on; in 
Hove there has been break ins and the Madeira 
Drive chalets where routinely vandalised, until the 
backs had been covered with promotional vinyl 
posters

Inside of a Rottingdean Chalet – Wall mounted pegs, shelving and desk with oils lamps & gas stove. Beach paraphernalia and seating come storage.

Rottingdean chalet situated on undercliff with occupants sitting outside.

Madeira Drive chalet (below) vinyl posters to deter graffiti.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study27

03  Typology Analysis

169



Analysis of Brighton and Hove Beach Chalet

Bitumen Roof

Structural 
Brick Walls 
with painted 
Cement 
Render

Pre-cast 
Concrete 
Beams

Painted Steel 
Columns

Painted Steel 
Doors

Concrete Slab

23 Chalets Units
0.9m Covered Porch Area
Approx. 2.1m Unit Depth
Approx. 1.6m Unit Width
Estimated GIFA - 3.3 SQM

The Chalet and columns help define a front porch area and 
provide some level of shading to allow for seating at the 
threshold in the shade. The main frontage faces onto the 
beach and projects itself onto the beach front.

Construction Diagram Overall Chalet Block Dimensions

This part of the study looks at an example of an existing 
beach chalet, in this instance the chalets on Brighton 
and Hove Beach, being the chalet for which the most 
detailed up to date information was provided. The analysis 
focuses on aspects that were considered important to the 
development of a revised chalet design. 

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 28

170



Interior Layout, General Dimensions & Spatial Quality

Plan Furniture Layout Plan Dimensioned Layout Plan Spatial/Functional Layout
Above is an envisaged typical plan inside a chalet based 
upon the images on the previous page which looked 
inside a currently occupied chalet.Typical elements 
include oil lamps, seating with storage underneath, hooks 
for hanging beach paraphernalia and shelving that was 
installed by the occupants.

Estimated dimensions based upon client information. 
Assumed 215mm deep walls of structural brick.

An analysis of how a chalet tends to be inhabited shows 
that the rear wall to have seating that faces outwards. 
Shelving and storage is aligned around perimeter to 
maximise space in the centre for manoeuvring and 
occupation. Doors open out full width of the frontage to 
provide views out to the sea.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study29

03  Typology Analysis

171



Area Assessment for Identified Sites

This assessment looks to analyse the identified sites by verifying how many chalets could be 
accommodated in these locations. Additionally, the individual site’s constraints and opportunities have 
been highlighted. 

Dimensions provided to us by the client for the existing chalets on Brighton and Hove beach was used 
as a template for a future chalet footprint which was then fitted into each of the locations. This value for 
an individual chalet unit will help provide the total number of chalets that could be allocated to a site. 
We can also calculate how many beach chalets could be allotted onto the sites by using the general 
dimensions provided by the client for their standard beach hut designs. Considerations of constraints 
such as maintaining pedestrian and cycle transit space of at least 5m, and preferably more; access 
space to the side of 2.5m and rear of the structures at 0.5m were taken into consideration. 

Undercliff - Rottingdean 
(Site 6)

Useable length – 57.9m 

Total No. Chalets -  19  
(Adapted/Radical)

Opportunities –  Significant 
amount of space.

Constraints –  Tight site in 
terms of unit depth leaving 
only 5m clearance at front. 
Lesser surveilled site. Can't 
accommodate Reimagined 
chalets due to chalk falls.

Unit Dimensions
(Adapted + Radical Designs)
Approx. 3m Unit Depth Incl. Porch
Approx. 3.1m Unit Width 
Estimated GIFA – 6.0 SQM

Unit Dimensions
(Reimagined Design)
Approx. 4.3m Unit Depth inc. ramp/porch
Approx. 2.25m Unit Width 
Estimated GIFA – 4.0 SQM

Undercliff                       
(Site 7) 

Useable length – 101.3m 

Total No. Chalets -  33 
(Adapted/Radical) 

Opportunities – Good 
frontal access clearance. 
Large amount of space

Constraints – Further 
from town centres. Lesser 
surveilled site. More 
difficult to service. Cannot 
accommodate Reimagined 
chalets due to chalk falls. 
At risk of over-topping 
which may make site 
unviable.

Madeira Drive Beach   
(Site 5) 

Useable length – 115.8m

Total No. Chalets -  36 
(Adapted/Radical)

Total No. Chalets – 30
(Reimagined)

Opportunities –  Prime 
location on Madeira Drive 
Beach. Easy to service and 
access. No risk from chalk 
cliff face. 

Constraints – Close 
proximity to existing Volks 
rail line could cause issues. 
Potential conflicts are 
possible with Black Rock 
Rejuvenation project which 
is also developing this site.

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 30

172



Undercliff    
(Site 10) 

Useable length – 105.5m   
Total No. Chalets -  33 
(Adapted/Radical) 

Opportunities – Good 
frontal access clearance. 
Large amount of space.

Constraints – Can't 
accommodate beach huts 
due to chalk falls. At risk 
of over-topping which may 
make site unviable.

Undercliff - Saltdean Beach 
(Site 11)

11.a
Useable length – 37.9m
Total No. Chalets -  12 (Adapted/Radical)
Total No. Chalets - 9 (Reimagined)

Opportunities – Proximity to village makes location easy to service, close to lighting, more surveilled 
than other sites. Can accommodate all types of chalets due to presence of retaining wall behind.

Constraints – Smaller than other locations. 

11.b
Useable length – 40.7m
Total No. Chalets -  13 (Adapted/Radical)
Total No. Chalets - 10 (Reimagined)

Opportunities – Proximity to village makes the location easy to service. Close to lighting. More 
surveilled than other sites. Can accommodate beach huts due to presence of retain wall behind.

Constraints – Smaller than other locations. 

Undercliff (Site 8)

Useable length – 55.5m  
Total No. Chalets -  18 
(Adapted/Radical) 
Opportunities – Good frontal 
access clearance. Large 
amount of space.

Constraints – Further from 
village centres. Lesser 
surveilled site. More 
difficult to service. Can't 
accommodate beach huts 
due to chalk falls. Risk of 
over-topping may make site 
unviable.

Undercliff (Site 9)

Useable length – 58.6m   
Total No. Chalets -  19

Opportunities – Good frontal 
access clearance. Large 
amount of space.

Constraints – Can't 
accommodate beach huts 
due to chalk falls. Risk of 
over-topping may make site 
unviable.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study31

03  Typology Analysis

173



Materials

Key Client Requirements – Resilience, Easy to Maintain, Environmentally Sustainable          

Key Performance Requirements – Resilient to the Impacts of the Marine Environment, Resilient Design and Construction to withstand Vandalism, Low Maintenance

Chalets can be broken down into a series of key elements which make up their construction. There is the Structure, Doors, Walls, Cladding, Roof. Additionally, one 
element that could be incorporated as a general design improvement is windows. While these have clear security implications in terms of vulnerability to break-ins ect. 
This can be mitigated and make the chalets more pleasant structures to actually inhabit with doors closed.

Material – Timber

Advantages – Lightweight for installation, 
affordable, sustainable.

Disadvantages – More vulnerable in marine 
environment compared to less sustainable 
alternatives, more vulnerable to damage and 
attack, needs special attention in detailing to 
protect from damp and fire.

Material – GRP (Glass Reinforced Plastic)

Advantages – lightweight for installation, 
affordable.

Disadvantages – Difficult to recycle and less 
sustainable than timber.

Material – GRP (Glass Reinforced Plastic)

Advantages – Lightweight for installation, 
affordable, can be fire-resistant.

Disadvantages – Difficult to recycle and less 
sustainable than timber. 

Material – High Pressure Laminate

Advantages – Lightweight for installation, 
recyclable, fire resistant, vandal resistant, resilient 
in marine environments.

Disadvantages – More expensive than than 
timber.

Roof Cladding

Material – Recycled Plastic Timber Composite

Advantages – Lightweight for installation, 
affordable, resilient in marine environments, 
sustainable.

Disadvantages – More vulnerable to vandalism, 
class B fire resistance.

Windows

Material – Polycarbonate

Advantages – Lightweight for installation, 
affordable, resilient in marine environments.

Disadvantages – Is a polymer and therefore not 
the most sustainable option.

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 32

174



Materials

Material – Re-cycled Plastic tile

Advantages – Lightweight for installation, 
affordable, sustainable, resilient in marine 
environments, class A fire-rating, tough, long life-
span.

Disadvantages – Does not have the same net 
gain bio-diversity effect of sedum.

Material – Sedum

Advantages – Sustainable, improves biodiversity, 
can be low maintenance, absorb water and 
moisture.

Disadvantages – More expensive than plastic tile.

Roof Cladding
Material – Timber

Advantages – Sustainable, easy to maintain, 
lightweight for installation, affordable. 

Disadvantages – More vulnerable in marine 
environments compared to less sustainable 
alternatives, more vulnerable to damage and 
attack.

Material – GRP (Glass Reinforced Plastic)

Advantages – Easy to maintain, lightweight for 
installation, affordable, marine resilient, long life-
span

Disadvantages – Difficult to recycle and less 
sustainable than timber.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study33

04  Chalet Design Proposals

175



Chalet Design Proposals

The following design proposals are three options for new beach chalets. The typology analysis provided a boiler plate for their design in terms of form, spatial qualities and use. Using this as a starting 
point each option progressively departs from this to explore additional opportunities and potential improvements. Each proposal pays careful consideration to the constraints and requirements regarding 
sustainability, resilience to vandalism and wear and resilience in a marine environment. Through the assessment of the identified sites it is assumed that the undercliff sites are the preferred ones and as such it 
is of benefit that the chalets themselves create a sense of place in what can be a fairly isolated linear space

Existing Typology

• Existing design based upon typology analysis 
within this document 

• This forms the basis for the design of the 
proposed options

Option 01 - Adapted Existing

•  An adaptation of the existing design.

• Aims to create a sense of place. 

• Introduces changes to the construction to 
improve resilience and sustainability

Option 02 - Radical Adapted Existing

• A more extensive re-working of the existing 
typology 

• Aims to evoke a more exciting sense of place 
than option 01

• Pushes the limits more regarding sustainability

Option 03 - Re-imagined Design

• A new approach to the typology. 

• Looks to explore the opportunities of a design 
option which adheres more exclusively to key 
characteristics of the existing beach chalets 
and less explicitly to the original form.

• Aims to create an even more sustainable 
option while still meeting resilience criteria.

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 34

176



Option 01 - Adapted Existing

This option takes the existing beach chalet design and enhances certain key features. The chalet retains the mono-pitched roof form and places each unit 
end on end, this works to deflect cliff debris back away from the Undercliff walk and make the chalets easy to construct. The entrances face out to the sea, 
this is the same as the existing chalets, however, to generate interest upon the approach from the side, the chalet fronts are kinked at an angle and their 
now bright coloured frontages read as an exciting band of multiple colours. 

Another feature retained from the existing chalets are the large double doors that open out the space to the sea. Allowing occupants to enjoy the view to 
the sea and the horizon while being sheltered by the chalet’s roof and walls is a key defining characteristic.

Plan

Section

Perspective Axonometric Diagram

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 35

177



Adapted Existing - Construction Approach
Prefabricated timber roof panel with recycled 
plastic tile

Prefabricated timber stud wall with High 
Pressure Laminate cladding

Prefabricated timber stud wall with magnesium 
oxide boarding to create fire seperating layer 
between units

Prefabricated timber stud wall with re-cycled 
plastic timber composite cladding

Prefabricated sections of GRP structure, lining 
and cladding.

Prefabricated wall section with High Pressure 
Laminate cladding and inset composite GRP 
double door

The construction strategy balances the requirements of sustainability and robustness in 
a marine environment.  The construction uses sustainable materials by integrating timber 
elements were possible and limiting more resilient but difficult to recycle materials such 
as GRP. Strategies to use reversible connections, to allow for disassembly, and use of 
standardised parts and assemblies can be employed to make it possible to recover the 
GRP and re-use it. A GRP base is formed to protect the timber structure above and allow 
this to drain and dry out after exposure to wet conditions. 

Most elements are prefabricated to ensure quality of construction, improve efficiency and 
cost and make construction easier in a location with limited access. Recycled plastic tiles 
are used as a sustainable alternative to the GRP in the roof. HPL is used to clad chalet block 
end panels and the coloured fronts. HPL is more sustainable than the GRP and is both fire 
and vandal resistant. To combat the risk of fire in the timber construction the chalet unit’s 
separating walls will have magnesium oxide layers between the timber studs which offer 
both protection to the spread of fire and are resistant to damage through moisture.

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study36

04  Chalet Design Proposals

178



Radical Adapted Existing

This option further develops the ideas in the previous option and pushes those design concepts further to achieve a more dramatic impact. In addition to 
the modifications to the frontage, there is a sense of movement created by the roof line. Sections of the sloped roof are pitched up at apexes to accentuate 
the kinking of the individual unit front panels. This takes the monolithic block of chalets and starts to break them down visually into individual units and 
alludes to the charm of the traditional beach huts.

This retains much of the same construction methods and technological approach of the previous iteration but also introduces a sedum roof and 
polycarbonate window sections. The sedum roof is an additional sustainability asset by improving biodiversity. The introduction of a window makes 
inhabiting the chalets more pleasant should occupiers be required to shelter from the elements temporally with the doors closed.

Plan

Section

Perspective Axonometric Diagram

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 37

179



Option 02 - Construction Approach

Timber prefabricated roof panel with sedum finish 
layer

Prefabricated timber stud wall with Class 
0 sheathing to create fire separating layer 
between units

Prefabricated timber stud wall with High Pressure 
Laminate cladding

This construction strategy is as in option 01 but with the introduction of the sedum roof and 
polycarbonate window sections. The sedum roof should be specified with vegetation which 
can survive in the harsh marine environment and that requires minimal maintenance. 

The polycarbonate sections are at a high level out of reach of the public. The timber 
stud support frame will allow no section large enough for someone to pass through. The 
stainless steel fasteners will be of the variety that makes them tamper proof and highly 
corrosion resistant.

Prefabricated timber stud wall with re-cycled 
plastic timber composite cladding

Prefabricated sections of GRP structure, lining 
and cladding

Prefabricated sections of timber with triple 
walled polycarbonate front and back attached 
with galvanised stainless steel fasteners

Prefabricated wall section with High Pressure 
Laminate cladding and inset composite GRP 
double door

Radical Adapted Existing - Construction Approach

Brighton Beach Huts  |  Feasibility Study  |  May 202138

04  Chalet Design Proposals

180



Re-Imagined Design

This option is a re-think of the beach chalet and imagines them as objects in the landscape taking inspiration from the beach huts diminutive shape. 
These chalets exploit the sustainability opportunities when the structure is raised on stilts above the level of any potential flooding. This allows for the 
incorporation of additional timber elements and a lesser dependency on materials with poorer environmental credentials such as the GRP. Each unit would 
be completely prefabricated off-site and then dropped onto stilts. 

The roof form mimics that of the modest beach hut but is sloped back to deflect any debris from the cliff to the back of the chalet unit. The chalets when 
not in use have a colourful bright door frontage which securely seals up the unit, but opens in the way when in use to provide a small sheltered terrace at 
the front. This design features means that clear polycarbonate faced doors can be installed behind so that on a wet and windy day the chalets can shelter 
people from the elements but still provide a view out to the sea. 

Plan

Section

Perspective Axonometric Diagram

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 39

181



Re-Imagined Design - Construction Approach

This construction strategy looks to balance the requirements of sustainability and robustness in a 
marine environment. To achieve this the construction uses mostly sustainable materials and integrates 
as much timber elements as possible. Difficult to recycle materials, such as GRP, are used sparingly. 
A GRP base is formed to protect the timber structure above and allow this to drain and dry out. All 
elements are prefabricated to ensure the quality of construction, improve efficiency, cost and make 
construction easier in a location with access issues.

Recycled plastics are used as a resilient and robust material in this environment but also offer a 
sustainable alternative to the GRP. To resist fire and vandalism external cladding is to be High Pressure 
Laminate and the recycled plastic roof tiles will achieve a class A fire rating. The timber doors should 
also provide a level of fire resistance as appropriate.

Timber Pre-fabricated roof 
panel with recycled plastic tile 

Timber framed inner door with 
clear polycarbonate lining front 

and back to open outwards

High Pressure Laminate cladding 

High Pressure Laminate grey 
cladding panels with vertical 

coloured sections

Timber stud wall construction 
line both sides with plywood with 

WBP marine ply on outer face

Timber stud wall construction 
line both sides with plywood with 

WBP marine ply on outer face

Treated timber door

High Pressure Laminate  
cladding 

Timber sections with triple walled 
polycarbonate front and back 

attached with galvanised stainless 
steel fasteners

GRP structural supporting stilt 
sections

Chalets will be accessed by 
ramp and walkway made of 

recycled plastic lumber 

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study40

04  Chalet Design Proposals

182



Chalet Design Options Pros & Cons Comparison Matrix

Adapted Existing

Pros

• Easiest to construct.    

• Closest in appearance to existing chalets.   

• Most resilient design to the elements and 
vandalism.

Cons

• The least visually impactful.

• No natural light when doors are closed.

• Highest use of plastic and GRP making it the 
least sustainable option. 

• Use of timber structure and end on end design 
requires fire seperation.

Radical Adapted Existing 

Pros

• Retains the economical design of the chalets 
but has some of the charm of the beach huts.  

• Windows allow natural light in when doors are 
closed.    

• Sedum roof improves biodiversity.

Cons

• Features such as the roof make it more costly 
than the Adapted Existing option. 

• Use of timber structure and end on end design 
requires fire seperation. 

Re-Imagined Design

Pros

• Mimics charm of the beach hut.    

• Protected private patio.   

• Admits most natural light inside. 

• Most fire resistant.

• Least vulnerable to flooding.

• Off site fabrication means least amount of on 
site labour. 

Cons

• Raised level makes it more challenging to 
provide wheelchair access.

• Occupies the largest footprint.

• Potential for cliff debris and litter to collect 
between units. 

 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 41

183



The options outlined within this report represent increasingly ambitious 
approaches to the design of beach chalets. While each design option 
meets the core requirements, they progressively expand the scope of 
what a beach chalet can be. As such, they each have increasing cost 
implications. This report is accompanied by a clear breakdown in the 
pricing of each option, to enable the form of implementation to be 
delivered depending upon available budgets or other constraints.

Regarding the identified sites, only those sites recommended should be 
considered for beach chalets. Of these sites, Madeira Drive, Rottingdean 
and Saltdean offer the best opportunities to develop beach chalets. 
Madeira Drive has the key advantage of its prime location but the 
obvious constraint of potential clash with the Black Rock Rejuvenation 
development. Rottingdean and Saltdean both have the advantage of 
having larger sites with more potential for development due to the 
significant amount of space in terms of volume however these locations 
are more remote. 

Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets  |  Feasibility Study42

05  Summary & Conclusions

184



 Feasibility Study  |  Brighton and Hove Beach Huts and Chalets 43

185



186



187



188



BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL

BRIGHTON & HOVE BEACH CHALETS

ORDER OF COST ESTIMATE

RIBA STAGE 2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Average of the 3 options (10 chalets ) Assumed 10 chalets

Total %

Adapted Chalets Total
Enabling Works N/A - Total Incl. M&E
Substructure £16,000 21.33% GIA (NIA: 60m2)

Superstructure £44,000 58.67% Total £/m2
Fit Out N/A - Total £/m2 Incl. M&E
M&E Services £15,000 20.00% Radical Chalets Total

Total Incl. M&E
Building Works Total £75,000 GIA (NIA: 60m2)

Total £/m2
Prelimniaries @ 15% £11,250 Total £/m2 Incl. M&E

OH&P @ 5% £4,313 Reimagined Chalets Total
Total Incl. M&E

Sub Total £90,563 GIA (NIA: 40m2)

Total £/m2
Contingency @ 10% £9,056 Total £/m2 Incl. M&E

Average Total (Rounded) £100,000

Total

1 Madeira Dr. - 18 x Adapted Chalets £322,000
2 Madeira Dr. - 18 x Radical Chalets £328,000 Site Chalet
3 Madeira Dr. - 15 x Reimagined Chalets £466,000 6 23 -
4 Rottingdean - 19 x Adapted Chalets £128,000 7 41 -
5 Rottingdean - 19 x Radical Chalets £134,000 8 22 -
7 Saltdean (a) - 12 x Adapted Chalets £81,000 10 40 -
8 Saltdean (a) - 12 x Radical Chalets £85,000 11a 15 20
9 Saltdean (a) - 9 x Reimagined Chalets £93,000 11b 16 22

10 Saltdean (b) - 13 x Adapted Chalets £88,000 Average 26 21
11 Saltdean (b) - 13 x Radical Chalets £92,000
12 Saltdean (b) - 10 x Reimagined Chalets £103,000 Useable Area (m2)

Site 10 304.4

Site 11a 113.8
Average 209.10

Totals rounded to nearest 100s

£105,000
£107,000
£109,000
£113,000
£119,000

BRIGHTON & HOVE BEACH CHALET COSTS KEY METRICS

BRIGHTON & HOVE BEACH CHALETS

60

£61,000.00

SCENARIO BREAKDOWN KEY METRICS

£79,000.00

£1,066.67

£108,000.00
60

£1,550.00
£1,800.00

£93,000.00

No. of Chalets per Site

£76,000.00

£1,016.67

£64,000.00

60

£1,316.67

£1,266.67

£351,000

Rottingdean site deemed not suitable for reimagined chalets

Scenarios Total Incl. M&E

£491,000
£357,000

£159,000
£166,000
£101,000

£322,000

£328,000

£466,000

£128,000

£134,000

£81,000

£85,000

£93,000

£88,000

£92,000

£103,000

£351,000

£357,000

£491,000

£159,000

£166,000

£101,000

£105,000

£107,000

£109,000

£113,000

£119,000

0 100,000 200,000 300,000 400,000 500,000 600,000

1

2

3

4

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

Total £

Sc
en

ar
io

s

Cost Comparison

Total Total Incl. M&E

1

189



BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL

BRIGHTON & HOVE BEACH CHALETS

ORDER OF COST ESTIMATE

RIBA STAGE 2

Quantity Unit Rate

£

Total

£

Notes

ADAPTED  CHALETS

10 Chalets

1 Substructure 21,000 Rounded total

1.1 Plinth (0.5m height) - Prefab sections of 

GRP structure, lining and cladding

87 m 80 6,937 Approx. 44m2 "wall area"

1.2 Concrete slab 88 m2 150 13,200 Assumed there will be slab

1.3 Piling, shuttering and pouring concrete due 

to shifting shingle 

101 m2 1,000 101,200 Applicable to Madeira Dr. site only

Not included in the total

2 Superstructure 29,000 Rounded total

2.1 External walls (sides) - Prefab timber stud 

wall with high pressure laminate cladding

10 m2 100 960 

2.2 External walls (back) - Prefab timber stud 

wall with recycled plastic timber composite 

cladding

55 m2 75 4,125 

2.3 Internal walls - Prefab timber stud wall with 

magnesium oxide boarding to create fire 

separating layer between units

38 m2 75 2,884 £30 allowance for magnesium oxide 

boarding

2.4 Floor - GRP 80 m2 70 5,600 

2.5 External walls (front) - Prefab wall section 

with High Pressure Laminate cladding

30 m2 100 2,950 

2.6 Inset composite GRP double door 10 nr 500 5,000 

Roof

2.7 Prefab timber roof panel with recycled 

plastic tile

88 m2 75 6,600 

BUILDING WORKS TOTAL 50,000.00 

Preliminaries @ 15% 7,500.00 

OH&P @ 5% 2,875.00 

ADAPTED  CHALETS TOTAL 61,000.00 

ADAPTED  CHALETS

2

190



BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL

BRIGHTON & HOVE BEACH CHALETS

ORDER OF COST ESTIMATE

RIBA STAGE 2

Quantity Unit Rate

£

Total

£

Notes

RADICAL CHALETS

10 Chalets

1 Substructure 21,000 Rounded total

1.1 Plinth (0.5m height) - Prefab sections of 

GRP structure, lining and cladding

87 m 80 6,937 Approx. 92m2

1.2 Concrete slab 88 m2 150 13,200 Assumed there will be slab

1.3 Piling, shuttering and pouring concrete due 

to shifting shingle 

101 m2 1,000 101,200 Applicable to Madeira Dr. site only

Not included in the total

2 Superstructure 32,000 Rounded total

2.1 External walls (sides) - Prefab timber stud 

wall with high pressure laminate cladding

10 m2 100 960 

2.2 External walls (back) - Prefab timber stud 

wall with recycled plastic timber composite 

cladding

57 m2 75 4,238 

2.3 Internal walls - Prefab timber stud wall with 

Class 0 sheathing to create fire separating 

layer between units

38 m2 30 1,154 

2.4 Floor 80 m2 50 4,000 Assumed timber

2.5 External walls (front) - Prefab wall section 

with High Pressure Laminate cladding

25 m2 100 2,450 

2.6 Inset composite GRP double door 10 nr 500 5,000 

2.7 Roof eaves - Prefab sections of timber with 

triple walled polycarbonate front and back 

attached with galvanised stainless steel 

fasteners

9 m2 50 430 10 nr

Roof

2.8 Prefab timber roof panel with sedum finish 

layer

88 m2 150 13,200 

BUILDING WORKS TOTAL 53,000.00 

Preliminaries @ 15% 7,950.00 

OH&P @ 5% 3,047.50 

RADICAL CHALETS TOTAL 64,000.00 

RADICAL CHALETS

3

191



BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL

BRIGHTON & HOVE BEACH CHALETS

ORDER OF COST ESTIMATE

RIBA STAGE 2

Quantity Unit Rate

£

Total

£

Notes

REIMAGINED CHALETS

10 Chalets

1 Substructure 6,000 Rounded total

1.1 Support stilts - GRP structural supporting 

stilt sections

107 nr 50 5,350 8 per chalet, 350mm tall

27 under the walkway

1.2 Piling, shuttering and pouring concrete due 

to shifting shingle 

189 m2 1,000 189,200 Applicable to Madeira Dr. site only

Not included in the total

2 Superstructure 71,000 Rounded total

2.1 Ramp & walkway (recycled plastic lumber) 40 m2 80 3,200 Approx. 350mm rise

Approx. 40 m long

2.2 Cladding (front) - High Pressure Laminate 

cladding

30 m2 70 2,100 Assumed 1.5m2 per chalet

2.3 External wall (sides) - Timber stud wall (line 

both sides with plywood with WBP marine 

ply on outer face) with High Pressure 

Laminate grey cladding panels with vertical 

coloured sections

192 m2 150 28,800 

2.4 External wall (back) - Timber stud wall (line 

both sides with plywood with WBP marine 

ply on outer face) with High Pressure 

Laminate cladding

62 m2 140 8,680 

2.5 Floor - Assumed same material as wall excl. 

cladding

80 m2 70 5,600 

2.6 Door - Treated timber door 10 nr 750 7,500 

2.7 Timber sections with triple walled 

polycarbonate front and back attached with 

galvanised stainless steel fasteners 

(above the doors)

10 m2 100 1,000 

2.8 Inner door - Clear polycarbonate lining front 

and back to open outwards with timber 

frame

10 nr 600 6,000 

Roof

2.9 Prefab timber roof panel with recycled 

plastic tile

104 m2 75 7,800 

BUILDING WORKS TOTAL 77,000.00 

Preliminaries @ 15% 11,550.00 

OH&P @ 5% 4,427.50 

REIMAGINED CHALETS TOTAL 93,000.00 

REIMAGINED CHALETS

4

192



BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL

BRIGHTON & HOVE BEACH CHALETS

ORDER OF COST ESTIMATE

RIBA STAGE 2

Quantity Unit Rate

£

Total

£

Notes

SERVICES

Add-on, based on 10 chalets

Connections only - excludes any fit-out items and required surveys

1 Electricity & water connections 11,000.00 

1.1 Electricity connection 10 unit 500.00 5,000.00 

1.2 Water connection 10 point 300.00 3,000.00 Allowance

1.3 Drainage connection 10 unit 300.00 3,000.00 Allowance

TOTAL 11,000.00 

Preliminaries @ 15% 1,650.00 

OH&P @ 5% 632.50 

Contingency @ 10% 1,328.25 

SERVICES TOTAL 15,000.00 

SERVICES

Allowance

5

193



194



Beach Chalet Letting Policy Survey Results Sep-20

Frequency Percent Valid Percent

Strongly agree 379 48.0 48.2
Tend to agree 134 17.0 17.0
Neither agree nor disagree 26 3.3 3.3
Tend to disagree 44 5.6 5.6
Strongly disagree 197 24.9 25.0
Don't know / not sure 7 .9 .9
Total 787 99.6 100.0

Missing No response 3 .4
790 100.0

Frequency Percent Valid Percent

One year 180 22.8 22.9
Two years 108 13.7 13.7
Three years 70 8.9 8.9
Five years 196 24.8 24.9
Five or more years 204 25.8 25.9
Don't know / not sure 29 3.7 3.7
Total 787 99.6 100.0

Missing No response 3 .4
790 100.0

Frequency Percent Valid Percent

Strongly agree 634 80.3 80.4
Tend to agree 96 12.2 12.2
Neither agree nor disagree 17 2.2 2.2
Tend to disagree 16 2.0 2.0
Strongly disagree 21 2.7 2.7
Don't know / not sure 5 .6 .6
Total 789 99.9 100.0

Missing No response 1 .1
790 100.0

Frequency Percent Valid Percent
Yes 769 97.3 97.3
No 21 2.7 2.7
Total 790 100.0 100.0

Frequency Percent Valid Percent
Currently a chalet tenant – with 
an indefinite term

69 8.7 8.9

Currently a chalet tenant – with 
a 5 year fixed term

29 3.7 3.8

On the waiting list to rent a 
chalet

78 9.9 10.1

Interested in renting a chalet, 
but not on waiting list 450 57.0 58.4

Other, please give details below 145 18.4 18.8

Total 771 97.6 100.0
Missing No response 19 2.4

790 100.0

Frequency Percent Valid Percent
No Response 4 .5 5.8
10-19 years 33 4.2 47.8
20 years or more 32 4.1 46.4
Total 69 8.7 100.0

Missing Not a chalet tenant 721 91.3
790 100.0

Frequency Percent Valid Percent
No response 1 .1 1.3
Unsure 9 1.1 11.8
0 to 6 years 58 7.3 76.3
10 or more years 8 1.0 10.5
Total 76 9.6 100.0

Missing Not on the waiting list 714 90.4
790 100.0

Valid

Total

Total

Q7. (Grouped) How many years have you been a chalet tenant?

Valid

Total

Q8. (Grouped) How long have you been on the waiting list for a beach chalet?

Valid

Valid

Total

Q3. How much do you agree or disagree, if a chalet tenant moves away from Brighton & Hove they 
should hand back the chalet?

Valid

Total

Q5. Are you a resident of Brighton & Hove?

Valid

Q6. Which of these best describes you?

Q1. At present some tenancies continue indefinitely, how much do you agree or disagree this 
should be changed so that all tenancies are for a fixed term?

Valid

Total

Q2. If indefinite tenancies were phased out, how long do you think current holders of indefinite 
tenancies should be allowed to continue before they hand back their chalets?

195



196



 

Equalities Impact Assessment – Beach Chalet Letting Policy 
 

Aim of Policy / Scope of Service:  
 
This impact assessment is in relation to the beach chalet letting policy and the proposal to bring indefinite tenancies to an 
end.  
 
Beach chalets are situated in various locations along the seafront – Hove, Madeira Drive, Ovingdean, Rottingdean and 
Saltdean.  The chalets are all council owned and any resident of the city is eligible to rent one. In 2011 the beach chalet 
letting policy changed to a 2-tier system whereby new tenancies were granted for a fixed term of 5 years and existing 
tenants remained on a tenancy with no fixed end date. A further change was introduced that new chalet tenants should be 
residents of the city. 
 
This is the first EIA undertaken on the council’s beach chalet letting policy and follows a recent in principle decision at the 
Tourism, Equalities, Communities & Culture Committee to bring all indefinite tenancies to an end over an eight year period.  
It will be reviewed whenever there are any proposed changes to the policy. 
 
This EIA is intended to cover existing tenants, those on the waiting list and any potential new tenants. 
 
We recognise that we have a duty to ensure that our policies prevent discrimination and promote positive community 
relations and equality. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

197



 

Different 
Groups 
included in 
scope 

Potential 
Impact on this 
group 

Existing 
data/information 
inc. relevant 
legislation 
 

Data/Information 
required 
 

Potential actions to minimise 
negative 
impact and maximise positive 
impacts 

 
Existing 
chalet 
tenants on 
indefinite 
tenancies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The policy change means 
that indefinite tenancies are 
being bought to an end and 
tenants will be required to 
enter into a new 8 year 
fixed-term agreement after 
which they will be required 
to leave. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Annual proof of 
residency/address 

 Email and contact 
details 

 Bank details for 
direct debit 

 Equality data from 
recent survey 

 No other data is 
requested 
 

 
 

 
No further data 
required 

 
Whilst it is noted that the 
existing tenancy agreements 
allow the council to terminate 
the tenancy subject to a notice 
period, there is likely to have 
been an expectation among 
tenants that they would be able 
to keep their chalets for the rest 
of their lives.  
 
The Seafront Team directly 
engage with all tenants and 
therefore have a degree of 
awareness of whether tenants 
have protected characteristics 
(whilst noting that some 
protected characteristics may 
not be obvious or visual). 
However, the Council has 
limited monitoring data in 
relation to the tenants. All 
indefinite tenancies have been 
in place for at least 10 years 
and it is therefore reasonable to 
assume that tenants on 
indefinite tenancies may be 
older residents and that 
therefore this policy change will 
negatively impact on this group. 
This older group may also be 
more likely to be disabled.  

198



 

 
The Council will mitigate the 
negative impact on these 
residents by reducing the 
licence fee and by offering 8-
year tenancies to replace the 
indefinite tenancies to allow 
tenants plenty of time to prepare 
and adjust to the change.  
 
Whilst there is a potential 
negative impact on older and 
disabled residents, this impact is 
being mitigated as much as 
possible and the positive policy 
objectives from a fairness and 
equalities objective outweigh the 
negative aspects of this policy 
change. 
 
From an equalities perspective, 
being able to reopen the waiting 
list as more chalets become 
available, is likely to result in a 
more diverse range of people 
being able to secure a tenancy.  
 
The Council will promote this 
positive outcome by working 
with communities once there are 
places available on the waiting 
list to consider how to make all 
communities aware of the 
opportunity. For example the 
current vast majority of beach 
chalet users are White and 
therefore this would give an 

199



 

opportunity to start to address 
this imbalance. 
 
 
The change will make the beach 
chalets accessible to more 
residents. 
 
The Council will also take steps 
in the future to collect equalities 
data from tenants so that it can 
monitor the impact of its 
policies.  

200



 

Residents on 
the waiting 
lists and 
those who 
would like to 
be on a 
waiting list 
 
 

The change in policy will 
mean that in the short and 
medium term, the current 
waiting lists will reduce, the 
waiting lists are re-opened 
and more residents can 
have the opportunity of a 5 
year chalet tenancy. 
 
Due to high demand for 
chalets there are waiting 
lists. The waiting lists are 
currently closed. 
 
When a chalet becomes 
available it is let to the 
resident at the top of the 
waiting list for each chalet 
location. 
 

 Email and 
contact details 

 

 Proof of 
residency, bank 
details and 
photo ID is 
required when a 
tenancy 
agreement is 
signed. 
 

 Equality data 
from recent 
survey 

 

 The policy is changing to make 
the beach chalets accessible to 
more residents. 
 
 
The proposal also removes the 
2-tier system by bringing every 
chalet tenant onto a fixed-term 
tenancy which is fairer than the 
existing policy although there 
will still be disparity with some 
tenants on an 8 year and some 
on a 5 year fixed tenancy. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

201



 

What consultation has been used 
or undertaken? 

Date Methods Used Findings 

Beach Chalet Letting Policy 
review  

September 
2020 

Survey on the online consultation 
portal 
 
Equality data to better understand 
the demographic profile of the 
community was included in the 
survey. 

There were 790 responses 
to the survey. 
 
 
65% of those who 
responded to the 
consultation were in favour 
of changes being made to 
phase out indefinite 
agreements and make all 
agreements fixed-term. 
 
30% of those who 
responded disagreed with 
making changes to indefinite 
agreements. 
 
  
The consultation reiterated 
what is known from the long 
waiting lists, that beach 
chalets are a very popular 
much sought-after amenity.   

 
  

202



 

Agreed Actions Timescale Lead Officer Review date 

 

 To bring to an end indefinite tenancies 
where the tenant is a resident of the 
city and grant new 8 year fixed term 
tenancies to this group 

 
 

 
Recommendations 
to TECC 
Committee June 
2021 
 

 
 
Seafront Estates Surveyor 

 
Whenever there is a 
change to the beach chalet 
letting policy. 

 
 
 
Departmental Management Team: Toni Manuel – Seafront Development Manager     Date:  03/06/21 
 
 
Assistant Director:    Donna Chisholm                       Date: 07/06/21 
 
 
Corporate Equalities and Inclusion Team  Krishna Kaur          Date: 08/06/21 
 
 

 

203



204



TOURISM, EQUALITY, 
COMMUNITIES AND CULTURE 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 12 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Adoption of Urban Design Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document  

Date of Meeting: 17 June 2021 

Report of: Executive Director Economy, Environment, & 
Culture. 

Contact Officer: Name: Paula Goncalves Tel: 01273 292352 

 Email: paula.goncalves@brighton-hove.gov.uk  

Ward(s) affected: All Wards  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE    
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on the preparation of the Urban Design 

Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) and seeks adoption 
of the final version of the Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
That the Tourism, Equality, Communities and Culture Committee: 
 
2.1 Notes the consultation on the Draft Urban Design Framework Supplementary 

Planning Document (Appendices 2 and 3) and the changes made to the Draft 
UDF SPD as a result of consultation responses (Appendix 4); and  
 

2.2 Agrees to adopt the Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning 
Document (Appendix 1) as part of the city’s suite of planning documents subject 
to any minor grammatical and non-material text and illustrative alterations agreed 
by the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair of the Committee prior to 
publication. 

 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 The Urban Design Framework (UDF) is specifically referred to in Policy CP12 

Urban Design in the adopted City Plan Part One and is signposted in the Spatial 
Strategy and other city-wide and Development Area policies of this Plan. It is also 
referred to in the submission City Plan Part Two policies (approved by Council 
April 2020) that set out criteria for assessing the design quality of places and 
buildings. 
 

3.2 The aim of the UDF SPD is to illustrate how good urban design can be achieved 
and why it is vital to the delivery of inclusive, accessible, sustainable and climate 
resilient development. New development that will help to deliver better buildings, 
spaces and places for the city, its residents and visitors. As such, it will also help 
to achieve many of the objectives set out in the Council Plan 2020-23 – A Fairer 
City with a Sustainable Future. 

205

mailto:paula.goncalves@brighton-hove.gov.uk


 
3.3 The UDF has been prepared in the form of a Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD). If adopted, the UDF SPD will be a material consideration to guide 
decision making on planning applications. It will assist the council in delivering 
the amounts and types of development proposed in City Plan Part One and Two 
in more innovative ways and through better quality design (but does not make 
new or change existing policies).  
 

3.4 The UDF SPD identifies opportunities to support constructive design discussions 
between applicants, designers, planning officers, councillors and communities by 
outlining potentially appropriate solutions and illustrating best practice in the city 
and from elsewhere. The document is structured in three main sections that build 
on national and local design policy and guidance:  

A. Local priorities  
This section focuses on design issues that are particularly important and relevant 
to Brighton & Hove and sets out design recommendations and principles to 
illustrate how the council would like to see local policy interpreted. It shows how 
well-designed new development can help the city to mitigate against and adapt 
to climate change.  The advice in this section is applicable to all types of 
development across the city. Local priorities are developed under three key 
design priorities: context, spaces between buildings and buildings themselves. 

B. Tall buildings  
This section sets out additional design considerations that are particularly 
relevant to development that is 18 metres or more in height and/or significantly 
taller than its surroundings. It also provides design advice for each of the 
identified tall building areas in the city as set out in policy CP12 Urban Design in 
City Plan Part One. If the SPD is adopted, this section will replace guidance 
currently set out in Supplementary Planning Guidance SPGBH 15 Tall Buildings.  

C. Planning Process  
This section describes the council’s preferred approach for engaging with 
applicants to resolve design issues both prior to the submission of a planning 
application and during the application process.  

D. Appendices  
These provide additional information about some of the issues discussed in the 
guidance and also provides an extended list of policies and documents that 
should be read in conjunction with the SPD. 
 

3.5 Each section of the guidance identifies the relevant City Plan policies, sets out 
key design principles and recommendations to help achieve better planning 
outcomes. It signposts a range of good practice examples to illustrate how 
multiple policy objectives can be achieved through high quality and holistic urban 
design including improving biodiversity and sustainability outcomes.  
 

3.6 The UDF SPD builds upon and responds to the outcomes of earlier stakeholder 
consultation (undertaken in 2018 as ‘Issues and Options’) and comments 
received as part of the city-wide consultation on a draft version of the guidance 
undertaken in Autumn 2020.  
 

3.7 A summary of the 2020 consultation including feedback received and how this 
feedback has informed changes to the final version of the UDF SPD is given in 
section 4 with details in the appendices.  

206



 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 

 

4.1 A city-wide public consultation to get feedback on the draft version of the UDF 
SPD was carried out for over six weeks from 23/10/2020 to 11/12/2020. The 
public in general and stakeholder organisations and individuals, including 
residents, developers, landowners, local ward councillors, planning agents and 
amenity groups registered in the Planning Policy database were invited to 
comment. The consultation included: 

 5 dedicated online events for stakeholders;  

 12 online briefings for local city partnerships; 

 a survey posted on the council’s online Consultation Portal;  

 opportunities for people without internet access to view consultation 
documents using computers in council libraries given that the council was 
unable to make paper copies available due to Covid-19 restrictions; and 

 communication of consultation details via 2 press releases posted on the 
council’s website and alerts posted in the council’s social media outlets. 

 
4.2 The council received 77 responses in total. The detailed findings and transcript of 

all responses received as part of this consultation are set out in Appendices 2 
and 3 respectively. A table demonstrating how comments informed the changes 
made to the final version of the UDF SPD is provided in Appendix 4.  
 

4.3 Overall, there was broad support for most aspects of the guidance. Some minor 
changes made to the wording, graphics and good practice examples have been 
made in response to comments/suggestions put forward by respondents. The 
issues that resulted in more significant changes to the final version of the UDF 
SPD included: 

 

You said We responded 

Section A Local priorities 

Recommendations set out in the 
green boxes are at times overly 
prescriptive and/or read as policy.  

Wording has been revised to clarify 
that recommendations and principles 
are advisory and do not constitute 
new policy.  

Request to add new strategic views 
and landmarks set out in sub-section 
1.4 Views and landmarks. 

Bevendean Down and Surrenden 
Road met criteria for strategic views 
and the Peace Statue for landmarks 
and have been added to respective 
lists. 

Section B Tall buildings  

This section attracted the largest 
number of responses, including 
requests to align the guidance for Tall 
Building Area 9 Shoreham Harbour 
with the adopted Shoreham Harbour 
Joint Action Plan (JAAP) and to 
clarify the boundary for Area 1 

Advice on indicative boundary, height 
ranges and design considerations for 
Tall Building Area 9 Shoreham 
Harbour now reference guidance set 
out in the JAAP.  

The indicative boundary for Tall 
Building Area 1 Brighton Marina has 

207



Brighton Marina with that set out in 
City Plan Policy CP12 Urban Design. 

been revised to exclude areas 
outside the Marina itself.  

Section C Planning process  

Need to reflect the requirements of 
different types of application and 
account for the role of planning 
conditions in enabling details to be 
sorted at the later stages of the 
design process 

Wording in sub-sections 7.1 – 7.4 and 
process diagram indicate how 
different scales of development and 
application types can align with the 
four indicative stages and 
checkpoints and how these can be 
agreed in consultation with the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Ensure comprehensive early 
consultation is carried out and 
feedback is sought from the local 
community prior to a planning 
application being submitted 

Sub-section 8.1 has been introduced 
to provide guidance on community 
and stakeholder engagement 
including links to several specialist 
organisations. Wording updated in 
sub-sections 7.2 – 7.4 to recommend 
applicants submit community and 
stakeholder engagement information. 

Cross-reference design stages 
diagram with RIBA Plan of Work 2020 

Diagram amended to cross-reference 
RIBA Plan of Work 2020. 

 
4.4 This consultation complied with the council’s Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI) which sets out policy and standards for engagement in the 
preparation of planning documents, including supplementary planning 
documents. 
 

4.5 The UDF SPD was subject to a screening exercise at an early stage of 
preparation to assess the need for a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 
The screening was subject to consultation with statutory environmental; bodies 
who agreed with the conclusion that the SPD did not require a SEA. 
 

 
5. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
5.1 As part as the Issues & Options consultation, options were put forward ranging 

from a ‘business as usual’ City Plan policies only approach; a broad brush SPD 
to identify and summarise existing information available; or a more detailed SPD 
that provided as much detail as possible were all tested. 

 
5.2 Permission to consult on the Issues & Options was granted by the Tourism, 

Development and Culture Committee on 21 June 2018. As the early stakeholder 
consultation report shows, overall, consultation respondents favoured a detailed 
SPD approach. 
 

 
6.  CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 The UDF SPD will help to deliver a higher standard of sustainable development 

and place-making through new development. It will help to contribute to 

208

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/planning-and-building-regulations/draft-urban-design-framework-supplementary-planning-document-0
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/planning-and-building-regulations/draft-urban-design-framework-supplementary-planning-document-0


achieving a number of city council priorities and provide clarity for officers, 
developers, residents and stakeholders.  

 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

 
7.1 The cost of officer time, document production and consultation associated with 

the recommendations in this report will be funded from existing revenue budget 
within the Planning service. Any significant financial implications arising from the 
outcome of the consultation and production of the Supplementary Planning 
Document will be reported in future committee reports.  

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Name Jeff Coates Date: 18.05.2020 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 The contents of a SPD are governed by The Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. To be lawful, a SPD must be limited to 
statements regarding “any environmental, social, design and economic 
objectives which are relevant to the attainment of development and use of land” 
which “the local planning authority wish to encourage during any specified 
period” [Regulation 5. (1) (a)]. 

 
7.3 Consultation on the draft UDF SPD has been carried out in accordance with the 

relevant statutory provisions. 
 
Lawyer Consulted: Name Hilary Woodward Date: 25.05.21 

 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.4 Equalities issues relevant to this SPD have been considered during the Health & 

Equalities Impact Assessment (HEQIA) undertaken on City Plan Part 1, 
particularly those identified for policies CP12 Urban Design and CP13 Public 
Streets and Spaces. The assessment did not find any particular sensitive groups 
that were affected by these policies. The Planning and Communities 
Engagement Teams undertook early engagement with some equality groups and 
other equality groups were included within the wider public consultation.  

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.5 Sustainable development is given a very high priority in the SPD. The guidance 

aims to help planning applicants to meet, and if possible exceed, City Plan 
sustainable development targets, foster high-density, mixed use development 
and deliver acceptable development in a way that positively responds to the city’s 
sensitive landscape, historic built environment and local priorities. 
 
Any Other Significant Implications: 

 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 

209



7.6 The preparation of the guidance set out in the SPD will allow for more detailed 
consideration regarding layout and design features which could help deter crime 
or disorder and the fear of crime. SPD will consider issues of Secured by Design. 

 
 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
7.7 The UDF SPD will provide guidance on implementing City Plan Part One Policy 

CP12 Urban Design and other relevant policies in the Plan and the emerging City 
Plan Part Two Policies. Responses received as part of the consultation at the 
Draft SPD stage will help inform the final version of the SPD. The SPD is 
intended to improve the quality of design in new development and facilitate the 
successful delivery of higher density and sustainable development.   

  
Public Health Implications: 

 
7.8 Development across the city is expected to support sustainable and healthy 

lifestyles. The production of the SPD can help support the timely provision of 
necessary infrastructure to support sustainable and mixed-use communities 
across the city. The ways in which good design can facilitate active lifestyles and 
help minimise noise and other traffic impacts have been considered in the UDF 
SPD. 

 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
7.9 The council is committed to promoting high quality, higher density, mixed-use 

development. High quality design is the key to achieving acceptable development 
in a way that respond successfully to the city’s high housing demands, significant 
spatial constraints and sensitive landscapes. As such, the Draft UDF SPD 
presents a major opportunity to:  
 Establish constructive dialogue with local communities and those with a stake 

in the planning system on the key design principles to help deliver 
development in the city and particularly in more sensitive locations; and 

 Provide greater clarity and confidence for elected members, the council’s 
Development Management team and the development sector to help unlock 
investment in and speed up the delivery of housing and other much needed 
development in the city. 

 
Any Other Significant Implications: 

 
7.10 None identified. 
 
 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
1. Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 
2. Draft UDF SPD consultation report 
3. Draft UDF SPD consultation report – Appendices 
4. You said – We responded table 
 
Documents in Members’ Rooms 
None 

210



 
Background Documents 
City Plan Part One 
Submission City Plan Part Two 
 

211

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/city-plan-part-one
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/city-plan-part-two-proposed-submission-stage-2020


212



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              0 

 

 

 Urban Design  
Framework 

17 

213



1                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

Contents 

About this SPD 3 

Structure of this SPD  3 

National Planning Policy  4 

Local Planning Policy  5 

SECTION A: Local priorities 6 

1. Context 7 

1.1. Environmental conditions  8 

1.2. Neighbourhood character  9 

1.3. Composition of street scene  11 

1.4. Views and landmarks  13 

1.5. Opportunities for masterplanning  15 

2. Spaces between buildings 16 

2.1. Active and inclusive travel  17 

2.2. Outdoor amenity  19 

2.3. Landscaping, biodiversity and water  21 

2.4. Mix of uses and active frontages  23 

2.5. Artistic element  25 

2.6. Materials and management  27 

2.7. Phasing development  29 

3. Buildings 30 

3.1. Resource performance and use  31 

3.2. Designing at density  33 

3.3. Housing types and mix of uses  35 

3.4. Greening  36 

3.5. Materials and maintenance  37 

3.6. Waste storage and collection  38 

3.7. Deliveries and servicing facilities  39 

SECTION B: Tall buildings 40 

4. Definition 41 

5. Tall Building areas 42 

5.1. Area 1: Brighton Marina  43 

214



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              2 

5.2. Area 2: Brighton Station / New England  45 

5.3. Area 3: Central Seafront  47 

5.4. Area 4: Eastern Road / Edward Street  49 

5.5. Area 5: Hove Station  51 

5.6. Area 6: Lewes Road corridor  53 

5.7. Area 7: London Road / Preston Road  55 

5.8. Area 8: Western Seafront/Kingsway  57 

5.9. Area 9: Shoreham Harbour  58 

6. Tall Building Statements 59 

SECTION C: Planning process 60 

7. Pre-application process 61 

7.1. Vision and site strategy  63 

7.2. Conceptual design options  65 

7.3. Preferred design concept  67 

7.4. Developed design  69 

8. Design advice services 71 

8.1. Community and stakeholder engagement  71 

9. Communicating design ideas well 72 

9.1. A day in the life  75 

SECTION D: Appendices 76 

10. Extended list of policies and documents 77 

11. Neighbourhood sensitivity to change and priorities for 
enhancement 79 

12. Strategic viewpoints and landmarks 85 

12.1. Viewpoints  85 

12.2. Strategic approach points  92 

12.3. Landmarks  92 

13. Tall Building Statement guidelines 93 

13.1. Context  93 

13.2. Spaces between buildings  96 

13.3. Buildings  97 

  

215



3                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

About this SPD 
This Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) has been 
prepared to help support the city councils’ corporate objectives as set out in the Council 
Plan 2020 – 2023 – A Fairer City with a Sustainable future and the vision, objectives and 
planning policies set out in the Brighton & Hove City Plan (Parts One and Two), in 
particular City Plan Part One Policy CP12 Urban Design. 
It signposts priorities the council would like applicants to consider when preparing design 
proposals. The level of consideration will depend on the scale and type of the 
development. 
The SPD illustrates how good design is vital to the delivery of inclusive, sustainable and 
climate-resilient development that: 
 helps the city to achieve its ambition of becoming carbon neutral by 2030; 
 responds to the city’s limited spatial opportunities and challenging physical and 

environmental constraints;  
 helps to meet the city’s significant housing needs through high quality higher density 

development together with development for other land use needs; 
 secures improvements to the city’s physical, social and environmental infrastructure;  
 uses innovative, contemporary architecture to enhance the reputation of the city and 

creates places that improve health and well-being; and  
 reflects positive engagement with all involved in the planning process. 
It provides guidance on good design that can be used by:  
 planning applicants and their design team when preparing planning applications; 
 planning officers when assessing applications; 
 councillors when making planning decisions; and 
 residents, amenity groups and other organisations when commenting on planning 

applications. 

Structure of this SPD  
This document is structured in three main sections that build on national and local design 
policy and guidance:  

A.  Local priorities  
This section focuses on design issues that are particularly important and relevant to 
Brighton & Hove and sets out design recommendations and principles to illustrate how 
the council would like to see local policy interpreted. The advice in this section is 
applicable to all types of development across the city. 
B.  Tall buildings  
This section provides guidance on those additional design considerations that are 
particularly relevant to development that is 18 metres or more in height and/or 
significantly taller than its surroundings. 
C.  Planning Process  
This section describes the council’s preferred approach for engaging with applicants to 
resolve design issues prior to the submission of a planning application and during the 
application process.  
D.  Appendices  
These provide additional information about some of the issues discussed in this 
guidance and also provide an extended list of policies and documents that should be 
read in conjunction with the SPD. 

216



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              4 

Each section of the guidance identifies the key City Plan policies, sets out key design 
principles and recommendations to help applicants achieve better planning outcomes 
and signposts good practice examples from the UK and beyond to illustrate how multiple 
design priorities can be achieved by good design.  

National Planning Policy 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019) and its Practice Guidance 
recognises the importance and value of good design as an essential component of 
sustainable development. Chapter 12 ‘Achieving well-designed places’, promotes a 
proactive, contextual approach to the creation of high-quality buildings and places that 
respond to the aspirations of local communities. Supplementary planning documents are 
expected to provide clarity about design expectations at an early stage and a framework 
for creating distinctive places with a consistent and high-quality standard of design. The 
level of detail and degree of prescription is tailored to local circumstances. 
The National Design Guide - Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and 
successful places (NDG 2019) provides a high level framework of design guidance that 
establishes expectations on place making and design quality to guide individual 
development proposals. It expects local authorities to build on this framework by setting 
‘specific, detailed and measurable criteria for good design’ at the local level. It sets out 
what constitutes good design based on ten characteristics for well-designed places 
summarised on the right. It provides details regarding how that can be incorporated into 
proposals as well as a useful glossary. This guidance builds on the principles of good 
design set out in NDG, focusing on what makes Brighton & Hove distinctive and the 
priorities and cross-cutting policy ‘wins’ that are of particular relevance to its context. 

 
Ten characteristics of well-design places. 

217

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide


5                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

The Living with Beauty: promoting health, well-being and sustainable growth (2020) 
report recommends developing a planning framework that asks for beauty; refuses 
unadaptable, unhealthy and unsightly development and promotes stewardship of the built 
and natural environment. It advocates that these aims should be embedded in the 
planning system to support a more integrated approach to design, in which all matters 
relevant to placemaking are considered from the outset and subjected to a democratic or 
co-design process. 

Local Planning Policy 
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted in 2016) Policy CP12 Urban Design is the 
key and overarching policy regarding development design along with CP13 Streets and 
Open Spaces that focuses on the design of spaces between buildings. These policies 
seek to raise the standard of and achieve excellence in sustainable design and 
construction of buildings and external spaces in the city.  
There are also a number of retained policies in Chapter 3 of the 2005 Brighton & Hove 
Local Plan  that deal with design issues. These policies set out how good design in new 
development can help to create interest, diversity and a more pleasant environment. 
The retained 2005 Local Plan policies will be superseded by Brighton & Hove City Plan 
Part Two (CPP2) which is at a late stage in its preparation. The UDF provides 
supplementary guidance relevant to some of these policies, in particular DM18 High 
quality design and places. This policy requires an integrated, design-led approach to 
proposals where place making and sustainable development are considered as one.  
East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Plan (2013) 
Policies WMP3a-e set out the strategy for managing waste in new development. Policy 
WMP3d Minimising and Managing Waste During Construction, Demolition and 
Excavation looks at design measures to minimise or prevent waste from occurring and 
Policy WMP3e Waste Management to incorporate recycling infrastructure into new 
development. 
Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (2019) relates solely to the Shoreham Harbour 
and South Portslade area of the city and includes Policy SH9 Place making and design 
quality that seeks to promote high design quality that maximise the waterfront setting, 
respect local character and form/enhance public spaces.  
The South Downs Local Plan (2019) relates to proposals located inside the South Downs 
National Park boundary and includes design policies that aim to conserve and enhance 
the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area and  promote opportunities 
for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the national park by the 
public. 
The council has adopted a series of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and 
Guidance (SPG), Planning Advice Notes (PAN) and the Developer Contributions 
Technical Guidance to aid the implementation of design policies set in the City Plan and 
other Development Plan documents. 
 
 
  

218

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/living-with-beauty-report-of-the-building-better-building-beautiful-commission
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/FINAL%20version%20cityplan%20March%202016compreswith%20forward_0.pdf
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Saved%20Adopted%20Local%20Plan%20as%20at%20March%202016%20compressed.pdf
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Saved%20Adopted%20Local%20Plan%20as%20at%20March%202016%20compressed.pdf
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/city-plan-part-two
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/city-plan-part-two
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/downloads/waste/waste_strategy/Waste_and_Minerals_Plan_February_2013.pdf
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Shoreham%20Harbour%20Joint%20Area%20Action%20Plan%20%28JAAP%29.pdf
https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/planning-policy/south-downs-local-plan/local-plan/
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spd
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-guidance-notes-spgs
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/planning-advice-notes-pans-other-special-guidance
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/developer-contributions
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/developer-contributions


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              6 

SECTION A: Local priorities 
Brighton & Hove has long been recognised as one of the UK’s most distinctive cities. 
Situated between the South Downs and the sea, the city has an undulating landscape of 
valleys and slopes. It is known for the spirit and diversity of its people, for its unique retail, 
leisure and cultural offer and for its world-famous seafront, natural and heritage assets. 
More recently it has become recognised for the strength of its small business economy 
and as a genuine hub of creativity, innovation and enterprise. 
Brighton and Hove is an area with a high demand for development but a very constrained 
land supply. Competition for land for housing and other uses is intense and affordability 
issues are acute. The City Plan sets challenging housing and other land use targets and 
the council has set an ambition to become carbon neutral by 2030.  
In order to meet, and if possible exceed, these targets, the council is committed to 
promote and foster high-density, mixed use development. High quality design is 
fundamental to delivering development that positively responds to the city’s sensitive 
landscape, historic built environment and local priorities. 

In Brighton & Hove, the quality of new development is determined by how well 
the design:  
 Makes the most of site conditions and existing buildings to support the 

city’s aims to become zero carbon and reduce resource use and waste. 
 Uses the identified character of the city’s neighbourhoods as a starting 

point to inform design development. 
 Delivers the type and amount of development required and contributes to 

delivering infrastructure needs. 
 Supports accessibility and the ease of daily activities aiding connectivity 

and active travel for all users.  
 Enhances nature and helps to make the city more climate resilient. 
 Positively promotes health and well-being, providing appropriate level of 

public and private amenity for all users. 
 Accommodates higher density to make the best use of limited 

opportunities. 
 Preserves or enhances key views and the settings of landmarks. 
 Enables appropriate and adaptable buildings and open space typologies 

that respond to the changing needs of users. 

Local priorities are developed further under the following three key design priorities:  
1. Context; 
2. Spaces between buildings; and  
3. Buildings.  

For each priority, the council has set out a set of design principles for applicants to 
prioritise when preparing proposals. Supporting information is also provided which 
applicants are encouraged to take into consideration when applying the design principles.   
Good design decisions can address multiple policy objectives. Links to policies where 
good design decisions can lead to addressing other policies are provided along with 
considerations that may be relevant to all high-density development in the city.  

219



7                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

1. Context 
Applicants are expected to look beyond the site boundary and consider how the design of 
a development will respond to its location and surroundings.  
Contextual attributes and considerations that are particularly relevant to Brighton & Hove 
include: 

1.1.  Environmental conditions; 
1.2.  Neighbourhood character;  
1.3.  Composition of street scene; 
1.4.  Views and landmarks; and 
1.5.  Opportunities for masterplanning. 

These are explained in more detail in the sub-sections below.  
 
 
 

 
Extract from Brighton & Hove Urban Characterisation Study highlighitng relationship between the city’s undulating 
topography and landscape character. 

  

220



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              8 

1.1. Environmental conditions 
The key to designing low carbon, resource-efficient buildings and spaces is to take best 
advantage of the environmental conditions of a site, in particular local climate. In a city of 
undulating valleys and slopes, it is important to assess how environmental conditions (i.e. 
prevailing wind and sun path), landscape (i.e. access, outlook and hydrology) and 
existing features (i.e. buildings, trees and vegetation) within a site can contribute towards 
reducing emissions, resource use and heat island effect. 
In a dense city it is also important for early context appraisal to fully scope and identify 
particular site features so that siting options avoid unacceptable impact upon the amenity 
of neighbours. The Design Guide for Extensions and Alterations Supplementary Planning 
Document 12 signposts amenity issues that are relevant to the local context, in particular 
for small sites and householder development. 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Consider orientation, layout and massing of existing and proposed development 

to ensure internal and external spaces receive appropriate levels of sunlight, 
outlook and protection from harsh weather conditions to maximise user comfort 
and reduce use of resources, particularly energy. 

 Use landform to reduce the volume and rate of surface water run-off going into 
the city’s drainage system and/or aquifer.  

 Retain existing protected and other mature trees and seek to add more. 
 Improve biodiversity and deliver Biodiversity Net Gains. 

    

  

 
Western Harbour development in Malmo, Sweden. More exposed coastal 
public spaces with sea views and a mix of uses contrast with sheltered 
residential spaces. Narrow openings are used to create shelter from the 
elements and a development that functions throughout the year. 

Policy links  

CPP1: CP8, CP10, CP12, 
CP13, CP16.  
Saved Local Plan: QD15, 
QD27  
CPP2: DM18, DM20, DM22 

 

  

221

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/spd12
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/spd12


9                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

1.2. Neighbourhood character 
An analysis of the character and identity of Brighton & Hove and its neighbourhoods is 
set out in baseline studies such as the Urban Characterisation Study (UCS) and also 
within Conservation Area Character Statements (CACS). 
Building on the UCS, the council has considered each neighbourhood in terms of 
sensitivity to change and likelihood to largely be conserved; be suitable for localised, 
incremental development and enhancement; and those which require major 
enhancement. Conservation areas in the central area of the city have not been included 
as these must be preserved or enhanced according to their identified character and 
appearance. This assessment is explained in more detail in Section D, sub-section 11. 
The map below illustrates which neighbourhood falls into each grouping. In those parts of 
the city that are not covered by character analysis, applicants will need to identify the key 
neighbourhood characteristics and priorities for improvement. A more detailed version of 
this map is available to be viewed online. 
Where a proposal is promoting a clear departure from the established neighbourhood 
character, the council will expect this to be justified through a design and, where 
appropriate, heritage statement (see Section C Planning process for further information). 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Consider how to respond to neighbourhood characteristics identified in the UCS 

and CACS at the start of the design process. 
 Wherever possible, retain and re-use buildings. 
 Consolidate and improve established pedestrian and cycling routes and 

formalise informal ones. 
 Allow existing levels to guide layout options and optimise effective pedestrian 

and vehicle access. 
 Where possible, align external routes and spaces along utility easements for 

ease of access and consider re-routing services which preclude efficient layout 
options.  

 Favour innovation and contemporary design while avoiding or mitigating conflict 
with surrounding built form. 

Extract from Urban 
Characterisation Study 
illustrating character areas 
identified for the Sackville 
neighbourhood in Hove. More 
background information and 
descriptions of the four areas 
are provided in the Study. 

 

Policy links  

CPP1: CP8, CP10, 
CP12, CP13, CP14, 
CP15, CP16.  
Saved Local Plan: 
QD15. 
CPP2: DM18, DM26. 

 

 

222

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/heritage/urban-characterisation-study
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/heritage/conservation-areas
https://bhcc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=3939bfafb4fb416498c7db4088d42bdd


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              10 

 U
rb

an
 C

ha
ra

ct
er

is
at

io
n 

S
tu

dy
 n

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

s 
ac

co
rd

in
g 

to
 s

en
si

st
iv

ity
 to

 c
ha

ng
e.

 A
 m

or
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

ve
rs

io
n 

of
 th

is
 m

ap
 is

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 b
e 

vi
ew

ed
 o

nl
in

e.
   

Fo
r m

or
e 

de
ta

ils
 p

le
as

e 
se

e 
Se

ct
io

n 
D

, s
ub

-s
ec

tio
n 

11
. 

 

223

https://bhcc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=3939bfafb4fb416498c7db4088d42bdd


11                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

1.3. Composition of street scene 
Streets are an invaluable asset to life in the city and constitute the majority of our public 
spaces. The way they look and feel is critical to the character of an area. Design features 
that are visible from the street or highway will be particularly important in the assessment 
of development proposals. Transport for London’s Heathy Streets guidance provides 
useful design advice on street design. 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Reference existing building lines, height, rhythm and proportions of frontages, 

windows and doors. 
 Create opportunities for those inside buildings to see out on to the street/public 

space. 
 Ensure buildings front on to streets and other public spaces, creating perimeter 

blocks. 
 Frame streets and spaces and consider how facades turn around corners and 

are presented to street elevations. 
 Avoid blank facades facing streets and other public areas to improve passive 

surveillance. 
 Optimise provision of cycle parking/storage, electric charging points, pop-up 

green spaces (e.g. parklets) and avoid letting parking dominate the street scene. 
 Maintain or extend tree cover and incorporate soft landscaping to improve 

comfort, enhance biodiversity, provide opportunities for food growing and 
reduce heat island effect. 

 Create obstacle-free and sight impaired-friendly routes, level access bus stops 
with well-designed waiting/seating areas and shared spaces for pedestrians and 
cyclists. 

 Incorporate features to help reduce water run-off and manage water quality.  
 Reduce visual clutter and provide good levels of lighting while avoiding 

unnecessary pollution. 
 Provide ease of access for deliveries, removals, and refuse collection. 
 Screen refuse storage facilities that are visible from the street. 

 
 

 

 
Corner House, 14 Talfourd Place, Southwark, 
London. Contemporary interpretation of a 
Victorian suburban townhouse that draws on 
established rhythms and decorative motifs of 
the surrounding area. Southwark Council 
application 17/AP/3083. 

224

http://content.tfl.gov.uk/healthy-streets-for-london.pdf
https://planning.southwark.gov.uk/online-applications/


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              12 

 

 

 

 

 

    
 

Policy links  

Marmelade Lane, Orchard Park. Flexibly designed street 
and car parking area, shared open space with area for 
food growing and car parking court with electric charging 
points. South Cambridgeshire Council application 
S/3223/15/FL. 

CPP1: CP8, CP10, CP12, CP16. 
Saved Local Plan: QD15 
CPP2: DM18, DM22, DM33, DM36, DM43. 

 

 
 

225

https://applications.greatercambridgeplanning.org/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


13                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

1.4. Views and landmarks 
In a city with an undulating landscape of valleys and slopes, it is important to consider the 
relationship between topography, views and landmarks. The council has identified key 
strategic and local views and landmarks to aid the assessment of design proposals.  
Strategic views are generally distant views from elevated locations, mostly on the periphery of 
the built-up area, and include some panoramic views. They also include both distant and 
intermediate views from and along the seafront. In determining the strategic views the key 
factors are:  
 the degree to which the view illustrates the relationship between the built-up city and the 

Downs, the National Park and/or the sea;  
 the prominence of key ridge lines;  
 the extent to which the view reveals the typical pattern of past development; and  
 the presence of any notable landmarks.  
A series of ‘unfolding views’ has also been identified, on key approaches to, and from arrival 
points in, the city. The viewpoints are all from public land within the city boundary and relate to 
an identifiable feature or road junction. Approximate location of strategic viewpoints and 
landmarks are signposted on the map below and illustrated in more detail at Section D, sub-
section 12. Applicants will need to agree fixed points for verified views with the council. 
Local views and landmarks that may be used for wayfinding and as route markers are 
identified in the Urban Characterisation Study (UCS) and Conservation Area Character 
Statements (CACS). Vistas towards the sea from the main east-west routes are also important 
across the city. There are likely to be other views that may be important to local communities. 
Applicants may want to identify these in consultation with the council and local communities, as 
well as with the South Downs National Park Authority where appropriate. It is important to 
ensure that newly identified viewpoints are available from accessible public land or rights of 
way that are well used.  
Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Consider the implications of identified views and landmarks for the design and 

demonstrate how they would be protected or enhanced by the proposals. 
 When engaging with neighbours, local communities and the council, take 

opportunities to identify any additional views, including locally cherished views, to 
inform the development of proposals.  

 Assess visual impacts that are more evident during winter when trees are bare and 
take into account the cumulative impact of different schemes including proposed 
developments in the submitted verified view images (rendered, wireline and/or 3D 
modelling). 

Extract from Urban 
Characterisation Study illustrating 
identified local views (left) and 
landmarks (right) for the Round 
Hill neighbourhood. More 
background information and 
detail are provided in the Study.  

 

Map key  

 
Landmarks  

 Views and vistas  

Policy links  
CPP1: CP12   

226

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/heritage/urban-characterisation-study
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/heritage/conservation-areas
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/heritage/conservation-areas


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              14 

 

 S
tra

te
gi

c 
vi

ew
po

in
ts

 a
nd

 la
nd

m
ar

ks
. A

 m
or

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
ve

rs
io

n 
of

 th
is

 m
ap

 is
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 b

e 
vi

ew
ed

 o
nl

in
e.

Fo
r m

or
e 

de
ta

ils
 p

le
as

e 
se

e 
S

ec
tio

n 
12

. 

 

227

https://bhcc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=3939bfafb4fb416498c7db4088d42bdd


15                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

1.5. Opportunities for masterplanning 
A masterplan-led approach can assist the preparation of proposals for many developments 
and there are certain circumstances where the council will consider the submission of one as 
being more appropriate. 

The council would recommend proposals are supported by a masterplan-led 
approach where, for example: 
 The impact of a major high density and/or mixed-use development and/or the 

cumulative effect of a series of small developments is likely to be significant. 
 Development is likely to be delivered by multiple developers or landowners. 
 It can inform the phasing of the development, including the release of a range of 

uses alongside residential development. 
 A structured, integrated spatial framework is needed to drive regeneration 

particularly for complex projects. 
 Significant historic and/or environmental assets need to be protected. 

 
Above: QuarterMile development in Edinburgh. A masterplan was developed to drive the regeneration of the Edinburgh 
Royal Infarmary site. The scheme involves the refurbishment of existing and introduction of new buildings that are 
contemporary in appearance but sit well alongside listed heritage assets and elevating the character of the surrounding 
area. Edinburgh Council application 02/01662.  
Below: A masterplan for City Plan Part One’s Strategic Allocation 125-163 Preston Road within the New England 
Quarter and London Road Development Area 4 was commissioned by an applicant for the Anston House site. The 
masterplan identified opportunities for introducing a landscaped zone along Preston Road to make the road look like an 
extension of Preston Park. Brighton & Hove Council application BH2016/02499. See 5.7 Tall Buildings Area 7: London 
Road / Preston Road for further details. 

 

 

 

Policy links  

CPP1: CP12, CP13.  
  

228

https://citydev-portal.edinburgh.gov.uk/idoxpa-web/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              16 

2. Spaces between buildings 
Spaces between buildings include streets, open spaces and uses that are accessible to 
people living, working and visiting buildings. 
Well-designed outside spaces sit well within the landscape and are created for people 
rather than buildings. They take on different characteristics as a result of the different 
groups of people who use them and the activities they accommodate. Some are vibrant 
and commercial, some are focussed around play while others are civic, peaceful and/or 
relaxing.  
Defining how the spaces between buildings will function early in the design process can 
help inform the siting and design of buildings, hard and soft landscaping, the distribution of 
uses and infrastructure services that will frame the network of spaces within a 
development. In Brighton & Hove accessible open space is limited. The city is tightly 
constrained between the sea and the Downs and is already densely developed in more 
central areas. 
The council supports landscape-led proposals where design makes the best use of the 
spaces between buildings having regard to combining and integrating the following 
priorities:  

2.1.  Active and inclusive travel; 
2.2.  Outdoor amenity; 
2.3.  Landscaping, biodiversity and water;  
2.4.  Mix of uses and active frontages;  
2.5.  Artistic element; 
2.6.  Materials and management; and 
2.7.  Phasing development. 

These are explained in more detail below. The level of consideration will depend on the 
scale and type of the development. 

 

 

 

229



17                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

2.1. Active and inclusive travel 
Active travel refers to journeys made by physically active means, for example, walking, cycling 
and scooting. Inclusive travel needs to be addressed by taking account of the different needs 
of whole community, including children, older people and people with disabilities to provide 
access for all. Creating safe and enjoyable spaces as part of new development, that 
successfully integrate into the city’s network of linked, publicly accessible routes and 
connections is key to improving health, lowering carbon emissions and improving air quality, 
reducing congestion and noise and promoting social interaction.  
The Public Life, Public Space Study (PLPS), Local Transport Plan (LTP) and the emerging 
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) set priorities for improving the legibility 
and quality of the public realm and the liveability of different types of public realm and links 
across the city. These range from improving legibility in and between the city’s neighbourhoods 
to make movement easier for pedestrians and cyclists to supporting new development that 
overlooks and animates public spaces. General design concepts that can be applied to various 
types of routes within the city’s hierarchy are provided. Guidance on principles for street design 
is provided in the Manual for Streets 1 and 2 and Cycle Infrastructure Design (LTN 1/20). 
There is a wealth of information about the layout and hierarchy of the city’s network of roads, 
highways, footpaths and cycle routes adopted by the council and Highways England. 
Information about existing patterns of movement for all modes of transport, in particular 
pedestrian and cyclists is available in free online sources like DataShine Commute. Guidance 
on how to implement an active, inclusive environment is available from Sport England, 
Public Health England and Department for Transport. Guidance is also available on how to 
carry out Health Impact Assessments. The Parking Standards SPD and Streetscape Design 
Guidelines set out minimum standards and recommendations regarding standards and 
materials. Where development is likely to affect the strategic road network early engagement 
with Highways England is encouraged.  
Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Improve and/or create publicly-accessible routes through neighbourhoods, 

particularly where partial routes exist, pedestrian/cycle desire lines are available 
and/or to allow for future permeability between adjacent development sites. 

 Provide cycle parking facilities that are easily accessible from the street, close to the 
building entrance, well-lit, secure and can be used by users of all ages. 

 Car free and low car parking ratios with adequate, easily accessed disabled car 
parking facilities. 

 Provide continuous, step- and obstacle-free access links to and across the public 
transport, pedestrian and cycling networks.  

 Where possible, provide separate, marked facilities for pedestrians and cyclists. 
 Avoid cul-de-sac layouts, dead ends and backs of properties facing the public 

highway. 
 Provide legible, level-access entrances to buildings that are aligned with peoples’ 

movement patterns and desire and sight lines within a site/area. 
 Specify materials that can be re-used and recycled whilst harmonising with 

adjoining public realm materials. 
 Incorporate wildlife-friendly planting and sustainable drainage to make routes more 

climate-resilient, attractive and comfortable for users and ensure quality of the 
aquifer is not compromised. 

 Provide workplace showers, lockers and changing facilities. 
 Make movement through and around the development intuitive and legible to reduce 

need for signage. 

230

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/parking-and-travel/travel-transport-and-road-safety/public-life-public-space
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/341513/pdfmanforstreets.pdf
https://tsrgd.co.uk/pdf/mfs/mfs2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/parking-and-travel/parking/highway-search
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/parking-and-travel/parking/highway-search
http://www.brightonandhovecyclemap.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/roads-managed-by-highways-england
https://commute.datashine.org.uk/#mode=allflows&direction=both&msoa=undefined&zoom=12&lon=-0.1500&lat=51.5200
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/active-design
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-high-streets-good-place-making-in-an-urban-setting
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-plan-for-england
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/health-impact-assessment-guidance
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spd
https://new.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/default/files/migrated/article/inline/downloads/transport/Streetscape_Design_Guidelines.pdf
https://new.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/default/files/migrated/article/inline/downloads/transport/Streetscape_Design_Guidelines.pdf


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              18 

 

     

 

Above top: PLPS-compliant improvements to Little East Street in 
central Brighton  

Above: Use of ramps and handrails can help to make routes more 
accessible (left). Cycle store located in area convenient and 
prominenty located that support different types of cycling (right). 

Left: New link created to increase permeability and create access to 
Hannington Lane and the Lanes area of Brighton. Unfortunately it is 
not step-free. Brighton & Hove Council application BH2015/00575. 

   

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP8, CP9, CP11, 
CP12, CP13, CP16. 
CPP2 DM33, DM36, 
DM37, DM44, DM46.  

 Consider low car and car-free development options while 
avoiding putting pressure on on-street parking in the 
surrounding area. Shared facilities should provide sufficient, 
safe, secure and easily accessible cycle, parking and storage 
by all users, including e-scooters, electric, cargo and other non-
standard cycles used by people with mobility impairments. 
Contribute to and/or create neighbourhood mobility hubs where 
bus stops, e-bikes, car club vehicles and electric charging and 
collection points are provided. 

 

231



19                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

2.2. Outdoor amenity 
Outdoor amenity spaces take on different roles as a result of the different groups of people 
who use them and the activities they accommodate. From private amenity space like 
courtyards and gardens to communal facilities public squares and parks, it is important to 
define the location, nature and use of these spaces and, if possible, consult users early on in 
the design process to inform the siting and design of buildings, hard and soft landscaping 
proposals and the distribution of uses across the development.  
The Updated Food Growing and Development Planning Advisory Note 6 (PAN 06) provides 
guidance on how food growing can be successfully incorporated into new development to help 
achieve multiple policy benefits (i.e. space for growing healthy food, outdoor activity and 
encouraging biodiversity). 
Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Locate outdoor amenity spaces to maximise sunlight and daylight and provide shade 

during the summer and provide appropriate lighting of spaces and building 
thresholds. 

 Accommodate the differing needs of people that are expected to use the space 
including areas with greater levels of activity for sports, play and/or temporary events 
and cultural activities and quieter ones for rest and relaxation. 

 Introduce defensible spaces that create a sense of privacy and retreat within the 
home and other indoor private spaces. 

 Clearly delineate areas that are accessible to the public, shared by or for exclusive 
use of occupants with well-defined boundaries and no leftover areas.  

 Maintain good levels of natural surveillance while avoiding unreasonable 
overlooking. 

 Provide inclusive seating and other amenities that can be easily used by older people 
and people with different needs, including the deaf and visually impaired. 

 Optimise planting and food growth for well-being/comfort of users and biodiversity 
and incorporate formal and informal play space that facilitates interaction with 
nature. 

 Describe long-term landscape maintenance arrangements. 
 Optimise opportunities to link outdoor amenity space into the wider network of the 

city’s green network. 

 

  

Above: Brook Mead Extra Care communal garden 
with facilities for food growing. 

Left: Example of shared/communal facilities with quiet 
seating area, water features, and biodiversity-friendly 
soft landscaping.  

232



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              20 

     

Above: Jubilee Square, Brighton example 
of publically accessed flexible, multi-
functional square that enables a range of 
activities to take place at different times of 
the day and throughout the year.  
Above right: Basketball and skateboarding 
facilities incorporated into public realm that 
feature seating while functioning as flood 
water collection pools in rainstorm conditions. 
Right: Central courtyard that provides good 
levels of natural light, overlooking and 
defensible space at ground level for units 
around the perimeter.  
Below: Urban furniture that encourages 
social interaction.  

   

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP5, CP12, 
CP13, CP16  
CPP2: DM22, DM37, 
DM43, DM44. 

 Design communal amenity spaces to be used flexibly to 
maximise use throughout the day (e.g. children play during 
daytime and social activities during the evening). Incorporate 
communal and private garden areas that provide scope for 
privacy for residents as well as social interaction. Management is 
essential for the good use of communal spaces/facilities. 
Consider incorporating concierge/onsite management facilities 
that have good visibility from the main entrance lobby or key 
routes around the building. 

 

233



21                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

2.3. Landscaping, biodiversity and water 
The design of spaces between buildings should incorporate soft and hard landscaping that can 
contribute to reducing emissions, deliver biodiversity net gains, manage rainfall and flooding 
and counter heat island effects. 
A green network formed of the city’s public open spaces, routes and protected landscapes that 
connect wildlife habitats across the city has been identified. The Interactive City Plan Map layer 
for Nature Improvement Areas identifies opportunities for new development to contribute 
towards connecting up and improving links across this network. This map also provides 
information about the areas of the city most at risk from flooding from the sea (see National 
Flood Zones 2 and 3). Information about areas at risk from surface water flooding is also 
available. Supplementary Planning Document 16 Sustainable Drainage (SPD16) identifies 
opportunities for new development to use landscape-led sustainable drainage techniques to 
manage flood risk, reduce pollution and maintain the quality of the groundwater aquifer that 
provides drinking water for the city and provide opportunities for enhancing biodiversity. 
The Local Biodiversity Action Plan for Brighton & Hove provides, among other things, a list of 
suitable plant species that can be used. Supplementary Planning Document Nature 
Conservation and Development (SPD11) shows the advantages of taking account of nature 
conservation features as part of initial scheme design. Special Guidance A: Swift Boxes and 
Bricks for New Developments addresses the provision of suitable habitats for migrating swifts.  
The council is also preparing a Tree Strategy that promotes greater diversity of species and 
provides a plant list of species that are appropriate to the city’s environment. 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Create landscapes that make a positive contribution to the city’s green and blue 

infrastructure network and introduce street trees where possible, improving 
environmental comfort. 

 Use locally suitable and climate resilient plant and tree species to help deliver 
multiple policy gains (e.g. biodiversity and edible landscaping) and ensure 
capacity for their growth to full maturity. 

 Incorporate continuous soil volumes and capacity to ensure the health of newly 
planted wooded areas. 

 Incorporate nature conservation features to ensure a net gain in biodiversity (e.g. 
bird/bat boxes and bee bricks). 

 Use native planting that includes interesting texture, colour and scent and /or 
also explores the use of plants for food growing (edible landscaping). 

 Adopt nature-based/sustainable drainage solutions to reduce surface water run-
off and risk of contamination of the city’s aquifer and flooding from the sea. 

 Ensure good levels of sunlight and daylight to optimise planting opportunities. 
 Incorporate composting facilities to reduce waste sent to landfill and reducing 

the need to use fertiliser. 

      
Above: before (left) and after (right): Grey to Green public infrastructure improvements on Bridge Street, Sheffield City Council.  

234

https://bhcc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=758e0c726a194c16b0b5b1e07adc0c1e
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-flood-risk/map
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/spd16-sustainable-drainage
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/leisure-and-libraries/parks-and-green-spaces/a-local-biodiversity-action-plan-brighton-hove
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/spd-11
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/spd-11
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications/guidance-note-provision-swift-boxes-including-swift-bricks-new
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications/guidance-note-provision-swift-boxes-including-swift-bricks-new
https://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/documents/s145330/BHCC%20Tree%20Strategy%20working%20draft%209%20small.pdf


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              22 

      

      

Above: Tasinge Plads, Copenhagen, Demark. Before and after 
climate proofing initiative. Underused road space was transformed 
into a vibrant, green square for resident use, spill out space for 
shops, sprung floor that generates energy to pump water away 
and children play space.  
Right: One Brighton, a high-density residential development 
incorporates rooftop allotments that require continued and robust 
management scheme. 

Below: Front garden in Hove that uses planting native to the 
seafront environment. Wooded slats used as windbreakers that 
provide shelter slowing down wind speed (left).  

  
   

Policy links  High density considerations 

CPP1: CP8, CP10, CP11, 
CP12, CP13, CP16.  
Saved Local Plan: QD15  
CPP2: DM22, DM37, DM43. 

 Providing food growing space in balconies, small 
gardens or areas in communal outdoor spaces 
provides opportunities for improving physical and 
mental health, fostering socialisation and learning 
about food and diet. Consider the use of green roofs 
and walls to improve sustainable drainage and urban 
cooling. 

235



23                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 
 

2.4. Mix of uses and active frontages 
The mix of uses integrated at the edges of spaces between buildings can help to provide 
a sense of enclosure, define inside and outside spaces and activate frontages along the 
perimeter edge. 
A building provides active frontage if the ground floor includes windows and openings and 
provides a variety of uses which contribute to the visual and physical relationship 
between the building and the spaces at ground level. 
Empty shops and blank facades lack vitality which can seem a negative feature, 
particularly where fronting the street and/or public spaces. In addition, areas that do not 
benefit from adequate levels of overlooking can be perceived as unsafe. Guidance is 
available on how to design safer spaces using Secured by Design and Crowded Places 
principles.  

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Present a human scale of development at street level comprising an attractive 

and legible streetscape that takes into account the use of the public realm for a 
variety of users and includes active uses at ground floor level. 

 Enhance and enliven public spaces with a mix of uses to support meeting 
residents’ basic, day-to-day needs locally. 

 Locate public uses at the street level including shops, childcare, cafes, sports 
facilities and community rooms maximising use of windows and entrances to 
increase visual and physical connections between the interiors of buildings and 
adjacent open space. 

 Design streets and open spaces flexibly to accommodate a range of formal and 
informal activities (e.g. parking and vehicle movement, informal play, temporary 
markets, meanwhile uses, sports and community events) which help to animate 
and activate these spaces at ground level throughout the day and evening. 

 Avoid creating blank walls, continuous garage doors, dense planting and 
recesses to ground level frontages that could allow concealment around the 
perimeter of the open space. 

 Wherever possible, provide public,  accessible, gender neutral toilets in shops 
and restaurants near the entrance to the building from the open space. 

 
Jubilee Street, Brighton. Active ground floor uses overlooking the street help to increase safety, interest and activity. 

 

236

https://www.securedbydesign.com/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/crowded-places-guidance


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              24 

 
Above: Active uses at 
street level that contribute 
to public life at a local and 
city level. 

Below: Jubilee Street 
development in Brighton. 
Mix of uses with active 
frontages at street level. 
 

 
   

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP8, CP10, CP11, 
CP12, CP13, CP16. 
Saved Local Plan: QD5, QD15. 
CPP2: DM12, DM14, DM16, 
DM18. 

 Where delivering a large scheme with multiple 
buildings, a masterplan led approach should be used 
to create a more comprehensive arrangement of uses 
in streets and spaces. 

 
  

237



25                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

2.5. Artistic element 
The artistic tradition of Brighton & Hove is an important part of its identity. The provision 
of public art can create and enhance local distinctiveness in the public realm and help 
develop a sense of place and improve access and legibility.  
Incorporating artistic elements that members of the public can access and appreciate is 
one way in which new development can contribute towards an engaging and distinctive 
public realm. It also provides opportunities to involve the local community and local artists 
and makers. 
Artistic elements can form part of the structure or finish of buildings, landscapes and 
streetscapes and take the form of fixed artworks that are sited in areas accessible to the 
public, whether outside or within buildings.  
Temporary artworks can be used to engage local communities and/or identify aspects of 
the development site and its history that can inform the design proposals. 
The city’s Public Art Strategy and Developer Contributions Technical Guidance provide 
further guidance on the commissioning of artistic elements. 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Allow for the potential to incorporate artistic element at an early stage of the 

design process. 
 Provide a co-ordinated approach to the design of artistic elements relating to the 

local context and identity of an area. 
 Incorporate artistic elements into the design of buildings and public spaces that 

are not just functional, but create places that reflect the life, identity and 
aspirations of a particular community or place. 

 Involve local communities in the development of the artistic element and  
 Consider how the artistic elements might change over time due to light, 

positioning and material choices to ensure ongoing interest for viewers.  

 

 
Artistic elements that take the form of fixed 
artworks.  

Left: Happenstance Archway, The Level, Brighton. 

Above: The World Turned Upside Down, London 
School of Economics, London. 

238

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/leisure-and-libraries/arts-and-culture/public-art
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/developer-contributions


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              26 

        

Artistic elements that form part of the structure 
or finish of buildings.  

Above left: An Age An Instant, pedestrian 
passage and gate, Regent Street, London. 
Westminster Council application 10/00362 

Above right: Infinite Geometry, pedestrian 
passage and gates, Rathbone Place. 
Westminster Council application 14/05706 

Right: Stone Drawing, façade and internal walls, 
St John’s College, Oxford. Oxford Council 
application 14/02399.  

Below: Platanus, façade, part of site-wide public 
art strategy, Nine Elms development, Battersea, 
London. Wandsworth Council application 
2015/6813  

          

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP5, CP8, CP9, CP10, 
CP12, CP13, CP15. 
Saved Local Plan: QD15 
CPP2: DM18, DM37. 

 Developing a strategy to identify opportunities for 
incorporating artistic elements throughout the scheme 
can be a good way of creating a distintictive place 
and engaging the local community.  

 
 

239

https://idoxpa.westminster.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://idoxpa.westminster.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://public.oxford.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://planning1.wandsworth.gov.uk/Northgate/PlanningExplorer/generalsearch.aspx


27                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

2.6. Materials and management 
The spaces between buildings should be designed, constructed and maintained in a way 
that enables them to maximise their value to users while minimising maintenance costs. 
From inception, design should incorporate appropriate measures for the efficient and low 
carbon management of water, waste and energy resources, integrating these into the initial 
design to increase effectiveness and reduce conflict. Embedding circular economy 
principles of reducing waste through salvage, use of recycled materials, modularity, ease 
of repair and re-use can also contribute towards reducing emissions. 
Brighton & Hove’s Streetscape Design Guidelines is a useful source of information for 
designers given that it benefits from consultation with a wide range of local stakeholders 
including disability organisations.  
The Open Spaces Strategy identifies preferred surface materials to be used in parks and 
streetscapes.  These are generic in nature and subject to exemptions for conservation 
areas, high profile projects and where frequent reinstatement of underground services is 
not anticipated. Applicants are encouraged to consult the council’s Sustainable Transport 
team to seek advice on streetscape surface materials suitable for different road types in 
the city. Proposals which include streets and open spaces that are likely to be managed by 
the council in future are strongly encouraged to engage as early as possible with the 
council’s Sustainable Transport and City Parks teams. 
To support the council’s smart city aspirations, applicants should consider how proposals 
may contribute to and integrate with active digital hubs within the city.  

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Achieve good design, workmanship and consistency of standards that can be 

sustained in the long-term. 
 Use a simple, contained palette of hard wearing, durable, recycled and recyclable 

materials that are easy to clean and repair, in particular in road and communal 
areas of the development. 

 Consider opportunities for modular and/or off-site construction to reduce costs 
and complexity of construction and waste and disturbance to existing residents. 

 Describe how communal indoor and outdoor spaces including, for example, 
cycle storage, rainwater collection systems and long-term maintenance of 
materials will be managed.  

 Major developments, street works and improvements to the public realm should 
consider wired and wireless connectivity, open access communication networks 
and smart technology.  

 Use water porous rigid and unbound aggregate surfaces around existing and 
proposed street trees. 

   

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP8   Phasing. 

 
 
 
 
 

240

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/downloads/transport/Streetscape_Design_Guidelines.pdf
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/leisure-and-libraries/parks-and-green-spaces/future-our-parks-and-open-spaces


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              28 

 

 

Above: Wide granite kerbs used to define 
edges of pedestrian realm and the carriageway 
and withstand level of intensity of pedestrian or 
heavy vehicle movements and resist damage 
and misuse. Brighton Station bus interchange, 
Brighton. 

Left: Lewes Road. Asphalt footway surfacing 
can be a good option if well implemented and 
framed by high-quality kerbstones. These can 
help to minimise the risk of trip hazards and 
reduce maintenance costs (and disturbance 
during construction). 

Below: Hard wearing, contrasting surface 
materials for space designed to accommodate 
a range of uses and functions. Valley Gardens 
project, Brighton. 

 
 
 
 
 

241



29                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

2.7. Phasing development 
The phasing of development is often needed to be able to bring forward larger and more 
complex development sites and may also be required to facilitate financial viability for 
these types of development. For example, a first phase may need to generate funding for 
a subsequent phase. 
Proposals that involve delivery as part of a phased approach will be expected to ensure 
appropriate levels of infrastructure and social amenities are provided at each phase so that 
new and existing residents can benefit from the changes to the site and its surroundings 
incrementally. 

The council expects proposals to indicate how within the phasing: 
 Appropriate levels of affordable and private housing, open space and amenity is 

provided for each phase throughout the process.  
 Which parcels of land will be brought forward within the development. 
 Existing and proposed access/egress routes into the site, internal circulation 

routes and links with the existing neighbourhoods and street networks will be 
delivered. 

 

Phasing strategy to inform the masterplan for the New Museums Site in the University of Cambridge. This approach  
aims to help coordinate work with the local council and Historic England and minimise planning and delivery risk. 

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP8, CP12, CP13, 
CP16  

 Sufficient new infrastructure will need to be in place 
before density is significantly raised in order to protect the 
well-being of existing and future residents/occupants. 

  

242



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              30 

3. Buildings 
Designing, constructing, refurbishing and maintaining buildings with improved 
environmental performance is an essential part of the city’s ambition to become carbon 
neutral by 2030 and more resilient to the impacts of climate change. 
The need to meet the city’s challenging housing targets also means that development 
should make the best use of opportunities provided by a site. 
This is not just about the number of units but also about the quality of life for future 
users/occupiers of buildings. It is about well-designed buildings that can positively 
support community cohesion, physical and mental health and well-being, biodiversity and 
environmental enhancements. 
Residential development, in particular, should consider how it can support the changing 
needs of individuals and families at different stages of life including when households 
spend greater periods of time in the home. 
The council will support proposals where design makes the best use of the site by 
combining and integrating the following priorities:  

3.1. Resource performance and use; 
3.2. Designing at density; 
3.3. Housing types and mix of uses;  
3.4. Greening; 
3.5. Materials and maintenance;  
3.6. Waste storage and collection; and 
3.7. Deliveries and servicing facilities. 

These are explained in more detail below.  

 
  

 

 

243



31                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

3.1. Resource performance and use 
Facilitating the transition to a zero carbon and more climate-resilient city will require new 
development to at least meet and wherever possible exceed minimum standards set out 
in Part L of the Building Regulations and other resource efficiency targets set out in 
national and local policy or legislation. Opportunities for low and zero carbon energy 
generation, including district heating, have been identified and are set out in the city’s 
Renewable and Sustainable Energy Study. 
In assessing the achievement of standards in developments in the city, the council will 
consider technical feasibility and financial viability. 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Seek to avoid demolition of existing buildings and consider re-use and retrofit. 
 Avoid deep and/or single aspect north facing units, in particular in residential 

development. 
 Optimise provision of dual aspect units to achieve natural cross ventilation and 

good daylight/sunlight and natural ventilation whilst minimising the risk of 
overheating. 

 Adopt a fabric-first approach and integrate onsite renewable energy production, 
storage and use into building design. 

 Reduce construction waste through salvage and off-site modular construction 
systems. 

 Consider resource use through the life cycle of a building by using durable 
materials and ensuring ease of disassembly and component reuse at the end of 
its life. 

 Incorporate electricity and renewable heat generation and energy saving 
measures taking account of space requirements needed to support delivery. 

 Incorporate rainwater harvesting to help maintain soft landscaping and/or for 
non-potable water uses (e.g. window washing or toilet flushing). 

 Specify re-used and recycled materials. 
 Support a sharing economy of goods and services to help reduce costs, 

consumption and facilitate social interaction. 
 Consider exceeding minimum standards for insulation, in particular in residential 

development from noise from corridors, communal amenity spaces and other 
uses. 

 Incorporate discreet waste storage to reduce clutter. 
 Provide space and facilities for composting to reduce food waste. 

 

 

Non-certified PassivHaus residential development  
in Hove. Brighton & Hove application 
BH2013/00588.  

244

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/downloads/ldf/BrightonandHove_Energy_Study_Jan2013.pdf
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              32 

 

      

 

Above: Zero carbon homes. Detached 3-bedroom house in 
Lloyd Close in Hove ( left - winner of the RIBA Downland 
Prize 2011 and Green Apple Award  (right) for Architecture 
2016) and Grantham Road  in Brighton. Brighton & Hove 
applications BH2006/00453 and BH2010/02162 respectively.  
Left: Royal Alexandra Quarter in Brighton. Part conversion of 
former Victorian children’s hospital into flats, part construction 
of new flats. Brighton & Hove application BH2010/03379. 
Below left: Exiting building and trees used to drive design 
approach. Angel building in London where concrete frame of 
existing building was re-used, extended and wrapped with 
energy-efficient glazed skin. Newly landscaped public realm 
set around existing mature trees and new shops and 
restaurants to bring activity to main street frontage. Islington 
Council, application number P072615. 
Below right: Paxton House in London. Former offices 
converted into flats. External circulation added to outside of 
building allows for greater number of apartments to be 
accommodated, each with a south or south west facing living 
space and balcony. Angled balustrade ensures privacy and 
maximises views from the interior. Walkways with chipped 
rubber ensures total acoustic dampening and acetylated 
timber longevity of building cladding. Croydon Council 
application 14/03324/P. 

   

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP8. 
CPP2: DM37, 
DM44, DM45, 
DM46. 

 Take advantage of the volume of construction and number of 
users to consider circular economy principles of re-use of 
materials to reduce costs over the lifespan of the development. 
Explore opportunities to reduce neighbouring units carbon 
emissions by providing electricity and/or heat 
generation/distribution facilities beyond the perimeter of the 
development. 

245

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://www.islington.gov.uk/planning/applications/comment
https://www.islington.gov.uk/planning/applications/comment
https://publicaccess3.croydon.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


33                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

3.2. Designing at density 
This section focuses on density issues in schemes that are less than 18 meters in height 
(approximately 6 storeys). Additional guidance on taller development is set out in Part C 
Tall Buildings. 
In the context of the Brighton & Hove City Plan, density is generally measured by the 
number of dwellings per hectare (dph) for residential development. This reflects the 
numbers of people living within a given area. The City Plan identifies locations that are 
suitable for higher density and mixed-use development in its Development Area policies 
and Strategic Allocations. Policy CP14 Housing density sets an expectation that new 
residential development should achieve a minimum density of 100 dph within the 
identified Development Areas and 50 dph in other parts of the city. Development below 
50 dph may be considered acceptable in some circumstances but all proposals should 
aim to avoid under-development.  
Designing high-quality, high-density development well is less about the number of units 
and/or higher-rise formats of development and more about creating attractive buildings 
and places which can offer users/occupants significant benefits from this type of living. It 
is about providing an attractive choice which offers, for example, shorter journeys to work 
and school, easy access to community services and creates homes that can evolve as 
needs change.  
However, the greater the density and/or height of a development, the greater the 
expectation for the benefits that can compensate for any perceived inconveniences of 
living in smaller spaces, in particular when it comes to residential development.  
Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Take advantage of the volume of construction to embed low carbon energy 

consumption and circular economy opportunities and principles (e.g. re-use of 
materials) to reduce costs over the lifespan of the development. 

 Consider delivering district heating projects at a neighbourhood level or 
futureproof to connect or act as anchor loads to enable network development. 

 Provide dedicated, shared internal and external facilities to encourage social 
interaction with neighbours (e.g. spaces for events, office/workspace) in 
particular in residential and student accommodation. 

 Provide private and communal external amenity to homes which ensures 
sufficient scope for privacy, sociability, storage and space for drying clothes for 
all residents. 

 Avoid internal layouts with long double-banked corridors and single aspect 
residential units and minimise the number of units per stair core. 

 Provide useable private amenity space and adequate storage facilities within 
residential units including additional storage for larger items within the 
development. 

 Provide adequate accommodation/facilities for staff who will be responsible for 
the regular upkeep of internal and external spaces. 

 Ensure community facilities are well integrated and accessible to those that will 
use them. 

 Where there is a need for new onsite childcare facilities, consider co-locating 
these with other communal uses or homes for the elderly to help foster 
intergenerational interaction and improve mental and physical wellbeing without 
compromising the operation of existing community facilities. 

246



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              34 

 

  
Above: Chester Balmore affordable, low energy in situ residential scheme, Camden, London. Mixed tenure development providing 53 
residential units, 500m2 of commercial space and public circulation routes. Fully compliant with Lifetime Homes, Housing Quality 
Indicators and Code for Sustainable Homes standards. 

Below: Agar Grove, Camden. Balconies assist in the composition of building elevation, enliven its frontage and provide private amenity 
space. Double height communal entrances offer direct views out and through the building. Stairwells and corridors are naturally 
ventilated. 

   

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP1, CP8, CP12, CP14. 
CPP2: DM1, DM8, DM18, 
DM19. 
Waste & Minerals Plan: MP23a. 

 Ensure good levels of privacy and avoid 
unreasonable overlooking onto neighbouring 
properties and between windows of the same building 
by, for example, staggering windows. Design built-to-
rent accommodation to meet the standard of other 
types of residential development. 

 

247



35                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

3.3. Housing types and mix of uses 
The design of residential development should provide flexible and adaptable homes to meet 
the city’s identified needs regarding mix of sizes, types and tenures. The provision of 
affordable housing to meet local needs is a key priority for the council. Co-locating housing 
and other uses is one way in which to deliver compact forms of development that help reduce 
the need to commute and/or use cars, promote a critical mass of activation, increase and 
enhance the sense of place. 
Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Incorporate, and where possible aim to exceed, the government’s nationally 

described minimum space standards for residential development.  
 Where possible, include a mix of housing typologies (i.e. flatted, townhouses, 

maisonettes). 
 Ensure that all residential development meets minimum accessibility/adaptability 

standards (currently set out in Building Regulation M4 (2)). 
 Establish a clear distinction between the front and back of properties according to 

the functions they perform (i.e. residential, shopping and/or light industrial) and 
orientate active uses (i.e. entrances, reception areas, offices) toward the street 
frontage. 

 Provide adequate private amenity space in the form of gardens and/or inset 
balconies that face away from areas of poor air quality and unacceptable noise 
levels. 

 Locate family homes ideally on the lower floors with private amenity space in the 
form of a terrace or garden.  

 Avoid placing habitable spaces and amenity areas where air quality may be poor. 
 Internal layouts should be designed to accommodate change over time such as 

from ageing, illness and impairment. 
 Provide sufficient internal storage space to enable waste separation, in particular 

in residential units.  
 In the case of mixed use development, combine functions within a cohesive 

building form and ensure the layout of adjacent uses seek to limit the transmission 
of noise, in particular to sound sensitive rooms within dwellings. 

 Consider flexible design features for commercial floorspace to allow for 
reconfiguration of internal space to suit a range of occupiers including ground 
floor access systems. 

 

Example of how 
interlocked mixed-uses 
can respod to varied 
site edge conditions 
with clear distinction of 
the functions each edge 
performs in relation to 
the public realm  
London Legacy 
Development 
Corporation application 
16/00685/FUL. 

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: SA4, CP19, CP20 
CPP2: DM11. 

 Consider access requirements and vehicle types. 
Allow for legibility of functions and entrances.  

 

RESIDENTIAL 

INDUSTRIAL 

248

http://planningregister.londonlegacy.co.uk/swift/apas/run/wphappcriteria.display
http://planningregister.londonlegacy.co.uk/swift/apas/run/wphappcriteria.display
http://planningregister.londonlegacy.co.uk/swift/apas/run/wphappcriteria.display


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              36 

3.4. Greening 
Buildings can be designed to incorporate green roofs and walls, courtyards and gardens to 
help increase food provision, improve the health and wellbeing of residents, support 
biodiversity and pollinators, increase water absorption to minimise flood risk and reduce the 
need to cool and heat buildings mechanically. 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Consider scope for incorporating well-sized green/brown roofs and green walls 

that create habitats for wildlife and food growth and benefit from a good 
management/maintenance regime. 

 Consider green walls in appropriately lit and maintainable locations where there is 
a need, for example, to elevate the appearance of an otherwise blank façade. 

 Favour plant species appropriate to the city’s coastal and downland environment, 
in particular in exposed positions such as roofs. 

 Provide adequate access to sunlight and sufficient irrigation, for example, through 
rainwater harvesting. 

 Ensure that growing substrates contain sufficient nutrients and water run-off is not 
polluted.  

 Incorporate composting facilities. 
 When using the roof for amenity purposes ensure provision of improved safety and 

security measures such as, for instance, higher balustrades. 
 Ensure sufficient soil volumes for the health of planted areas. 
 Consider ways that renewable energy and water management systems can 

integrate with planted surfaces (e.g. blue and/or biosolar roofs). 
 Avoid monoculture planting which limits biodiversity. 
 Ensure tree planting pits have suitable root space so trees selected can grow to 

their full size without creating trip hazards that can adversely impact upon equal 
access. 

    

Above: Biosolar roof at The Ark, Noah's Ark Children's Hospice in London (left). London Borough of Barnet 
application 16/5151. Green roof over bike shed in Hove provides habitat for wildlife, helps to insulate and make 
buildings more aesthetically attractive.  

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP10, CP18 

CPP2: DM22, DM37. 

 Where there is limited availability of outdoor space, 
external surfaces and roofs provide good opportunities for 
greening, like rooftop allotments. It is also important to 
provide sources of healthy, local and affordable food by 
protecting and maintaining allotments, garden plots, small-
scale agriculture and market stalls.  

 
 

249

https://publicaccess.barnet.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


37                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

3.5. Materials and maintenance 
The city’s coastal environment means that robust building materials need to be used and 
more care taken when designing and detailing their use of these in order to ensure 
durability, flood and wind hazard resistance and to reduce maintenance costs for users 
and owners. In the long-term, corrosion and decay resistance will also need to be 
considered. In the case of major development the council will require that a maintenance 
plan and indicative construction details are provided. The specification of materials and 
detailing is also a critical factor in embedding low carbon and circular economy principles 
into a design. 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Select materials, detailing and finishes that are easy to install, maintain and 

repair. 
 Use a contained palette of materials to ensure a clear logic for choice and 

reduce maintenance costs. 
 Re-use and/or recycle materials, including those arising from onsite 

construction, demolition and remediation works (e.g. with a pre-demolition audit 
of reclaimable materials). 

 Consider how much waste the proposal is expected to generate, and how and 
where the waste will be handled. 

 Enable building materials, components and products to be disassembled and re-
used at the end of their useful life (e.g. with materials passports). 

 Take opportunities for managing as much waste as possible on site. 
 Provide adequate and easily accessible storage space to support recycling and 

re-use. 

       

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP8, CP12. 
CPP2: DM18. 

 Standardisation makes for easier maintenance by reducing the 
range of parts required and replicating repair processes. Modern 
Methods of Construction (MMC) can reduce construction 
programmes and disturbance to existing residents. 

 

250



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              38 

3.6. Waste storage and collection  
New development should provide sufficient space to separate waste and recyclables 
and allow for the easy manoeuvring of waste collection vehicles. 
Applicants should have regard to the detailed guidance provided in Supplementary 
Planning Document 03 Construction and Demolition Waste and Planning Advice Note 5 
– Design Guidance for the Storage and Collection of Recyclable Materials and any 
subsequent revisions. 
Where waste and recycling is collected through whellie bins, consideration should be 
given to where those bins can be stored within the property’s footprint. Where waste and 
recycling is collected through on-street communal bins, via bin stores in blocks of flats 
and/or other wastes systems, applicants are advised to contact the Cityclean Team as 
early as possible in the design process.  

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Appropriately integrated recycling and waste disposal, storage that works 

effectively for residents and meets the city’s requirements for waste 
management and collection services. 

 Storage designs should be attractive but discreet and robust to cope with the 
domestic or commercial bin activity around them. 

 Provide sufficient waste storage capacity from the outset to avoid capacity 
shortfalls or inadequate services and help improve recycling and reduce 
residual waste. 

 Space should be incorporated at street level within the property boundary and, 
where possible, located within the building envelope for storage of bins for 
collection. 

 Communal container enclosures and refuse and recycling stores should be 
easily accessible to all residents including children and wheelchair users, and 
located on a hard, level surface. 

    
Screened bin storage facility close to collection point (left). Waste store has room for bulky waste and specialised items 
including lightbulbs and batteries in high density development (right). 
   

Policy links  High density considerations 
Waste & Minerals 
Plan: WMP3e. 

 Provide easily accessible, well-ventilated specialised facilities 
for various types of waste to avoid overflowing bins and 
disruption to standard waste collection. 

 

251

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/spd03
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/spd03
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/downloads/local_plan_2005/PAN05_Design_Guidance_for_the_Storage_and_Collection_of_Recyclable_Materials_and_Waste_Sept_07.pdf
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/downloads/local_plan_2005/PAN05_Design_Guidance_for_the_Storage_and_Collection_of_Recyclable_Materials_and_Waste_Sept_07.pdf


39                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

3.7. Deliveries and servicing facilities 
Delivery of goods and servicing needs to be carefully considered and, wherever possible, 
shared facilities, arrangements and timing of deliveries should be designed to avoid 
disrupting highway safety or traffic flow. 
This involves considering the needs of last mile freight to help support the shift from 
combustion engines/HGVs to electric vehicle like, for example cargo bike delivery and 
freight logistics/hub facilities while safeguarding emergency vehicle access. 

Design priorities to be considered when preparing proposals include: 
 Locate servicing facilities, in particular in residential uses, within the building 

envelope to avoid obstruction of the public highway and excessive nuisance. 
 Base the design of service areas on the maximum number of vehicles likely to 

use the area at any one time. 
 Provide adequate storage facilities for permanent service staff, including 

cleaning, maintenance and places to rest. 
 Consider drop-off and pick up provision including deliveries depending on 

development type. 

   
Concierge facilities (left) and secure basement storage lockers for residents (right). 
   

Policy links  High density considerations 
CPP1: CP8. 
CPP2: DM36. 

 Regular upkeep of a high density building requires full time staff 
and contractors who have special requirements. Consider 
providing staff facilities and/or access to water at key points, 
places to store equipment and to rest. Provide extra storage and 
dedicated room for collecting, storing and returning deliveries 
near the main entrance and consider providing facilities for 
concierge services. 

252



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              40 

 
SECTION B: Tall buildings   
 
This section provides additional guidance on issues that are particularly relevant to the 
assessment of any building of 18 metres or more in height and that is significantly taller 
than the prevailing height of surrounding buildings (whichever is less).  
Taller developments tend to be more visible, put further pressure on infrastructure, 
require more extensive management and are harder to maintain than low-rise 
development. 
The council will expect tall buildings to integrate well with the surrounding context, 
embrace principles of sustainability and deliver public and social benefits.  
The council will require applicants to provide a coherent explanation of any tall building 
proposal as part of a comprehensive design-led Tall Building Statement (see Section D, 
sub-section 13 for more detailed guidelines). 
 

In Brighton & Hove, in addition to the general considerations set out in 
Section A Local Priorities, the quality of tall building development is 
determined by how well the design:  
 Provides tangible public and social benefits proportionate with the visual, 

cumulative, functional, or environmental impact caused.  
 Makes a positive contribution to the city’s urban form and skyline, its 

continued regeneration and the health and well-being of its residents. 
 Achieves excellence in sustainable design and construction. 
 Delivers improvements to connectivity and public realm and functions 

well at ground floor level. 
 Minimises impact upon the microclimate and amenity of the application 

site and the surrounding area. 

 
Additional considerations that are relevant to the assessment of tall buildings include:  

 Definition; 
 Tall building areas; and  
 Tall Building Statements.  

Supporting information that the council would like applicants to prioritise when preparing 
proposals for tall buildings is also set out in this section. 
 

  

253



41                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

4. Definition 
 
In Brighton & Hove, a tall building is defined as any building of 18 metres or more in height 
and/or that is significantly taller than the prevailing height of surrounding buildings 
(whichever is less).  
Significantly taller buildings are those in excess of 15% taller than mean height of 
surrounding development within a radius of 100 metres in all directions from the proposed 
footprint. 
As a rule of thumb, an assessment of the mean height of surrounding existing development 
extending to 100 metres in all directions from the proposed footprint would be needed to 
establish whether a building is significantly taller.  
For avoidance of doubt it is the height of the building in the context of building heights 
throughout the 100 m zone that will determine whether a building is significantly taller and 
not its relationship to buildings that immediately adjoin the proposed development.  
This means that a proposed development may be ‘significantly taller’ and yet not the tallest 
building within the zone. 
The city council will look at the evidence provided by applicants on this issue to 
determine whether a building is ‘significantly taller’. The diagram below illustrates the 
three height ranges for tall buildings identified. 
 
 

 
  
  

254



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              42 

5. Tall Building areas 
The areas considered suitable for taller development are identified in City Plan Part One 
Policy CP12. Many of these fall within the Development Areas identified in the City Plan.  
Sites within these areas have varying degrees of suitability for taller development and not 
all sites within these areas will necessarily be suited to a tall building.  
Sites outside these areas may also potentially be suited for tall buildings. However the 
threshold to prove the positive contribution of a tall building to the local townscape and 
community outside these areas is higher. In general conservation areas, elevated areas 
and urban fringe/low rise suburban areas are unlikely to be suitable to accommodate tall 
buildings. 
Areas with potential to accommodate tall buildings are identified on the map below.  A 
more detailed version of this map is available to be viewed online. 
More details about each area including indicative boundaries, height ranges, design 
principles and priority for improvements for each area are set out in the sub-sections 
below. 
Guidance on boundary and height is an indicator of appropriateness. However, this is 
dependent on the individual site’s compliance with policy and a visual impact assessment 
that should be conducted as part of the planning application process. 

 
Indicative tall building areas . A more detailed version of this map is available to be viewed online. 
   
Map key 

 CPP1 Development Areas 
(DA)  CPP1 Special Area (SA)  Indicative area with 

potential for tall buildings 

Indicative areas with potential for tall buildings 
1  Brighton Marina 4  Eastern Road/ Edward Street  7  London Road / Preston Road 
2  Brighton Station/  New England Quarter 5  Hove Station 8  Western Seafront/  Kingsway 
3  Central Seafront 6  Lewes Road 9  Shoreham Harbour 

 

255

https://bhcc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=3939bfafb4fb416498c7db4088d42bdd
https://bhcc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=3939bfafb4fb416498c7db4088d42bdd


43                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

5.1. Area 1: Brighton Marina 
The Marina, mainly because of the topography and the existence of shopping facilities in 
the complex, has potential for tall buildings.  
The cliffs to the north of the area are able to mitigate, up to a certain height, the visual 
impact of tall development on surrounding areas. Its seafront location would readily offer 
amenity for residents and occupiers of any tall building by providing links to extensive 
open spaces. Its role as a commercial and leisure destination and the opportunity to 
‘bookend’ the urban edge of the city contribute to the tall building opportunity within this 
area. 
There are particular sensitivities for development due to the relative proximity to Kemp 
Town conservation area and housing on the adjacent hillside, which provide challenges 
for designers. Brighton Marina masterplan Planning Advise Note 04 signposts visual 
impact considerations and sets out priorities for improving the public realm, active travel 
and emergency service connections and provision of affordable housing. 

 

Map key 

 CPP1 Development Area 2 
Brighton Marina 

 Strategic Allocations 

 Indicative area with potential for 
tall buildings 

 

Indicative height range 

Building heights will be largely 
determined by visual impact 
on views from hillsides to the 
north and from historic Kemp 
Town Enclosures. 

   

The following design priorities should be considered in proposals: 
 Have regard to visual impact on heritage assets and the residential areas to the 

north of the cliffs and overall composition when viewed along the coast. 
 Seek to resolve poor connections to Madeira Drive, Marine Parade, areas north 

of A259 and the city centre as this area has the least developed transport 
services and infrastructure of all the tall building areas. 

 Contribute towards a continued, generous, fully public boardwalk along the 
water’s edge and seawall with appropriate landscape treatment for a highly 
exposed environment. 

 Create routes across the site that help to draw people towards the 
boardwalk/water’s edge.  

 Incorporate design features that help to reduce the risk of flooding from the sea 
and surface water. 

 

256

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/downloads/ldf/PAN04_Brighton_Marina_masterplan.pdf


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              44 

 

 

  

Above: Examples of continued, generous, fully public boardwalk and routes leading up to it where a range of actitivities 
for residents and visitors can take place. 
Below: New York’s Big U project. Coastline open spaces designed to accommodate floodwater during storms and/or 
as a result of sea level rise. 

   

 
 

257



45                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

5.2. Area 2: Brighton Station / New England 
This area includes the New England Quarter and provides an opportunity for tall buildings 
in proximity to the retail and commercial core of the city. It has the potential to invigorate 
this part of the city with a high-quality public realm and to support the development 
approved and in part already constructed on former station land. 
The area is well placed to capitalise on the excellent transportation links provided by 
Brighton Station. However, it raises a number of sensitivities, which require detailed 
analysis in order to fully appreciate the potential impact and acceptability of tall buildings 
in the area. The interface with the North Laine conservation area requires particular 
attention when considering tall buildings in this area. Similarly, visual impacts on heritage 
assets such as St. Bartholomew’s Church, St Peter’s Church, the viaduct, railway station 
and on views from the Valley Gardens Conservation area and from across the valley will 
need to be considered in detail. The housing tower block, Theobald House, north of 
Trafalgar Street, and the buildings that form part of the New England Quarter should not 
be used as a guide to height or building typology appropriate to future developments in 
this area.  
London Road Central Masterplan SPD 10 sets out how new development can contribute 
towards infrastructure improvements, the establishment of a secondary circuit of activities 
and attractions, improvements to London Road bus interchange and provision of east-
west pedestrian/cyclist priority links across the area. 

 

Map key 

 CPP1 Development Area 4 
New England Quarter and 
London Road 

 Strategic Allocations 

 Indicative area with potential 
for tall buildings 

 

Indicative height range 

Potential to accommodate 
mid-rise (up to 8 storeys) 
with some tall (9-15) 
buildings at the northern 
end where it meets Elder 
Place and New England 
Road. 

   

258

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/spd10-london-road-central-masterplan


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              46 

The following design priorities should be considered in proposals: 
 Deliver public realm improvements to service yard areas such as Elder Place to 

reduce volume of traffic, discourage rat running, encourage social interaction 
and improve pedestrian and cycling connectivity from Brighton Station to 
London Road and from New England Road to  the North Laine area. 

 Strengthen the role of the Greenway as a north-south link to Brighton Station by 
bringing activities to eastern edges and increasing access to it.  

 Take advantage of the level difference to activate frontages and provide separate 
entrances to different uses  (i.e. residential, commercial) and service access. 

 Introduce landscaping, calming measures and street trees to provide improved 
pedestrian and cycling links, improved air quality and provide inter-connected 
green infrastructure/biodiversity across the area. 

 Ensure individual schemes contribute to a coordinated public realm strategy. 

 

 
Above: Indicative masterplan and 
examples/options explored for public realm 
improvements to Elder Place and new links 
from New England Road to the Greenway and 
Brighton Station. Brighton & Hove Council 
application BH2018/02598.  

 
  

259

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


47                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

5.3. Area 3: Central Seafront 
Located in the cultural, retail and commercial core of the city this is a potential location for 
additional high-quality tall buildings. This area is made up of a large area of built up land 
east of Sussex Heights, and includes Churchill Square, the Brighton Centre and the 
Odeon Cinema. It is characterised by a variety of building types and styles including tall 
development, the most notable of which is Sussex Heights. A number of sites in the area, 
such as the Brighton Centre and Odeon Cinema, are underutilised and/or are of poor 
architectural quality. 
A new vision statement and/or masterplan should be developed in collaboration with the 
council, main landowner, developer, operators and stakeholders that takes into 
consideration a views’ analysis of the site and its surroundings to set out agreed 
massing, routes and open spaces . This should take account of the opportunities for 
phasing as well as constraints including heritage settings and rights of light. 

 

Map key 

 
CPP1 Development Area 1 Brighton 
Centre and Churchill Square Area 

 CPP1 Strategic Allocations 

 
Indicative area with potential for tall 
buildings 

 

Indicative height range 
Height could be best positioned 
centrally, behind established 
frontages  and in slender forms with 
a north-south orientation. A very tall 
building (over 15 storeys) in the 
northern part of the existing 
Brighton Centre land parcel, 
immediately south of Russell Road 
and taller development (8-10 
storeys) in the north-east. 
Established heights along the 
Seafront should be respected and 
any variance to this would need 
justification. 

  

The following design priorities should be considered in proposals: 
 ‘All round’ visual impact assessment of middle and long distance views along 

the seafront, on the visual prospect on arrival from Brighton Station and on 
adjacent Old Town and Regency Square conservation areas, which include 
many listed buildings, and other adjacent heritage assets.  

 Improvements to the seafront that better accommodate north-south pedestrian 
movement, slower traffic and complement the character of the beach, promoting 
this stretch of King’s Road as an exemplar for the benefit of the wider city. 

 Assess ‘last mile’ movements associated with retail and leisure developments in 
order to consider opportunities for rationalisation of multi-modal movements 
that can significantly reduce onsite car parking provision, re-route some bus 
services along the seafront and reduce the impact on Churchill Square. 

260



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              48 

 Improve pedestrian and cycle north-south connectivity particularly from the station 
and Churchill Square to the seafront with different approaches taken to West Street, 
Cannon Place and one new, central, open-air friendly route. 

 Provide public and social benefits, such as a new public open space and active 
frontages in key locations for footfall generation such as cultural and arts venues. 

 Provide mixed-use and flexible conference centre venue capable of co-locating wide 
ranging uses and explore options for a highly functional venue that helps to unlock 
important space for public realm. 

King’s Road and seafront 
 Active frontage with uses for the public and local residents, such as services, 

restaurants or leisure on ground, first and roof level as a minimum.  
 Building alignment with the existing line of the Kingswest building to continue 

the balance on the seafront and provide sufficient public realm.  
Northern boundary 
 Reduce volume of public transport, enhance public realm and open up to sea views.  
 Consider establishing entrance into the shopping centre via a new central street to 

define the character of this frontage.  
 Provide a greater sense of enclosure to Churchill Square alongside a better defined 

and flexible space which functions for the benefit of the public and improves the 
continuity of levels. 

  
Diagram illustrating indicative design principles and priorities for improvement. The 
shape, delineation and position of routes and tall buildings are indicative and will be 
guided by views, townscape studies, practical considerations of aspect, amenity 
and ground conditions among other considerations. 

Diagram key 

 CPP1 DA 1 boundary 

 Active frontages 

 Primary pedestrian/ cycle 
routes 

 Secondary pedestrian/ cycle 
routes 

 Vehicular routes with 
improved pedestrian/ cycle 
facilities 

 Calmed traffic 

 
Pedestrian- and cycle- 
priority public area/crossing 

 Existing very tall buildings 

 
Areas with potential for very 
tall buildings 

 
Area with potential for taller 
buildings / residential above 
ground 

 Enhanced and extended 
square 

 
Potential location for 
conference centre that 
enjoys a good connection 
with pedestrian routes 
to/from Brighton Station 

 
Beach/seafront with 
enhanced public realm 

  

261



49                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

5.4. Area 4: Eastern Road / Edward Street 
This corridor provides an opportunity for new tall development and the refurbishment of 
existing tall development. It is linear in form and it can be broadly defined as the corridor 
between William Street in the west and Bristol Gate in the east. The area incorporates 
several existing tall buildings and is in close proximity to the existing St. James’ Street 
district shopping centre.  
Existing tall buildings particularly those at the Sussex County Hospital, provide unique 
opportunities to develop small clusters of tall buildings along the corridor, albeit of 
significantly lesser height than those existing residential tower blocks in this area.  

 

Indicative height ranges  Map key 

Mid-rise (up to 8 storeys) with limited tall  
(9-15 storeys) buildings in areas that do not 
harmfully impact on designated heritage 
asset settings. 

 
 

CPP1 Development Area 5  Eastern Road 
and Edward Street 

  CPP1 Strategic Allocations 

 
 Indicative area with potential for tall buildings 

 

 

Above: Opportunities 
to repair urban edge 
along Edward Street. 
Brighton & Hove 
Council application 
BH2011/02886. 

 

262

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              50 

The following design priorities should be considered in proposals: 
 Assess impact of tall development on the East Cliff, College and Queens Park 

conservation areas and the settings of listed buildings in the vicinity.  
 Consider reducing the negative impact of intrusive existing tall buildings by 

contributing to development of small clusters of more attractive tall buildings. 
 Public realm, pedestrian and cycling infrastructure improvements to Eastern Road 

and Edward Street sustainable transport corridor, in particular road crossings. 
 Provision of community facilities.   
 Work with the topography and orientation to provide exceptional outward sea views. 
 Repair the urban edge of the Eastern Road/Edward Street corridor, introducing 

frontages to streetscape.  
 Improve pedestrian and cycling links between existing and additional open space 

provided in new development, Queen’s Park, Dorset Gardens and the beach.  
 Introduce soft landscaping and tree planting to improve the environment of Eastern 

Road/Edward Street and highlight key pedestrian routes. 

 

Above: Landscape strategy indicating how soft landscaping and planting will help define different functions for outdoor 
spaces at ground and roof levels. Brighton & Hove Council application BH2018/00340. 

 
  

263

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


51                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 
 

5.5. Area 5: Hove Station 
Existing tall buildings, strong linear linkages to the seafront, proximity to the city’s second 
largest rail station, good bus and rail services, proximity to Hove Park and a number of under-
utilised sites provide opportunities for redevelopment and provide the area with opportunities 
for tall building development. Hove Station itself is a listed building and other designated 
heritage assets adjacent to the area require that key views be carefully considered in order to 
preserve or enhance their settings. Substantial parts of the area are allocated as employment 
sites and tall buildings may represent an opportunity to contribute to the delivery of the 
council’s employment policies. 
A development framework for new tall buildings for the area south of the railway is set out in 
the Conway Street Industrial Area Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document. It identifies 
buildings heights and key views, land use requirements, infrastructure and public realm 
improvements, and how new development can support local communities and businesses.  
The Draft Hove Station Neighbourhood Plan supports, in principle, tall development (8-15 
storeys) in this area.  

 

Map key 

 CPP1 Development Area 6 
Hove Station 

 CPP1 Conway Street 
Strategic Allocation 

 Indicative area with potential 
for tall buildings 

 

Indicative height range 

Mid-rise (up to 8 storeys) to 
very tall (15 storeys or 
more) in a way that avoids 
or minimises potential 
negative impacts on Hove 
Station and other 
surrounding heritage assets 
and residential areas. 

  

The following design priorities should be considered in proposals: 
 Reduce volume and speed of vehicular traffic through the area and provide 

greater space for pedestrians and cyclists. 
 Improve existing pedestrian footbridge over railway by introducing lifts. 
 Improve pedestrian and cycling routes from Old Shoreham Road/Hove Park 

through Fonthill Road tunnel to Clarendon Road and east-west links to Hove 
Station. 

 Improve public realm, introducing greening and open spaces for communal 
activities. 

264

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spd
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/neighbourhood-planning/hove-station-neighbourhood-plan


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              52 

 

Map key 

 Vehicular route  Improved pedestrian links   Regional cycle route 

 Priority flow vehicular route  Key pedestrian/cycle priority route  Focal green space 

 Access only vehicular route  Indicative pedestrian/cycle links   Key area of public realm 

 Potential pedestrian/cycle bridge over railway line (illustrative alignment) 

Above: Extract of Draft Hove Station Masterplan SPD signposting indicative public realm improvements to support 
active travel across the area. 

Below: Public realm improvements to cycle lane and introduction of greening and sustainable surface water drainage 
features. Aldgate Square, London. 

 
  

265



53                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

5.6. Area 6: Lewes Road corridor 
Centred on the Preston Barracks & Brighton University Strategic Allocation this is an 
academic corridor and major route into the city. It has the ability to build on excellent bus 
and rail services, university facilities, existing tall buildings along the valley bottom and 
limited heritage constraints to become a focus for tall building investment. 
The Cockcroft building and grade II listed Moulsecoomb Place function as the transition 
point from a dense urban grain bounding central Lewes Road to a more landscape-led 
and green character in the northern suburban area. This transition point is a key public 
realm node that provides east-west connectivity across the valley. 

 

Map key 

 CPP1 Development Area 
3 Lewes Road Area 

 CPP1 Preston Barracks 
& Brighton University             
Strategic Allocation 

 Indicative area with 
potential for tall buildings 

 

Indicative height range 

Some very tall buildings 
in key locations within 
Strategic Allocation. 
Some discreet and 
localised mid-rise 
buildings (up to 8 
storeys) in the area north 
of Allocation. Mid-rise to 
tall buildings to the south 
of the Allocation in areas 
that do not visually 
impact on heritage asset 
settings. 

 

The following design priorities should be considered in proposals: 
 Enhance the look and feel of the Lewes Road approach into the city from the 

northeast and re-inforce its character as a continuous street with a strong green 
and active travel character (e.g. slow vehicles, multimodal movement, inter-
connected green infrastructure).  

 Recognise and relate to the valley topography and presence of the South Downs 
in approach to form, density and massing.  

 Safeguard downland views and the setting of the South Downs National Park 
and take care not to impact the horizon line. 

266



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              54 

Area north of Cockcroft building/Moulsecoomb Place transition node 
 Increase density in areas closer to transport links creating a tighter urban grain 

and maximising the use of open spaces (i.e. for play, food growing, community 
activities, biodiversity).  

 Replace road environment with one more fitting to a gateway location. 
 Improve and/or create safer and more legible road environment and east-west 

strong green pedestrian and cycle connectivity with safe road crossings and 
connections to existing green spaces and  

 Optimise the use of community facilities in the Hodshrove Lane area. 

 

Diagram key 

 CPP1 DA3 boundary 

 Primary pedestrian/ 
cycle routes 

 Secondary pedestrian/ 
cycle routes 

 Vehicular routes with 
improved pedestrian/ 
clycle facilities 

 
New/improved pedestrial/ 
cycle crossings  

 Existing very tall building 

 
Area with potential for 
taller buildings  

 Enhanced and extended 
greening/tree planting 

 Wildlife corridor 

Above: Diagram summarising indicative 
placemaking opportunities identfied for the 
area north of the Cockcroft/Moulsecoomb 
Place node. 
Right: Road improvements that contribute to 
enhancing green character and providing 
generous, safer and more attractive 
pedestrian crossings Illustration from Better 
Greenway Project, Southend-on-sea. 
Below: Before (left) and after (right) example 
of low-rise intensification of occupied valley 
rise areas. Croydon Council Draft Suburban 
Design Guide.   

  
  

267

https://www.betterqueensway.co.uk/
https://www.betterqueensway.co.uk/
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/articles/downloads/SPD2_Chapter%201_Introduction.pdf
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/articles/downloads/SPD2_Chapter%201_Introduction.pdf


55                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

5.7. Area 7: London Road / Preston Road 
Situated along the A23/London Road corridor this area incorporates two separately 
defined stretches of existing ‘mid-rise’ tall buildings that front respectively the western 
edge of Preston Park; and Surrenden Field and Withdean Park. Unique aspects include 
typologies that range from blocks of tall residential and office development through to 
high quality low-rise residential settings within Preston Village and Preston Park 
conservation areas.  

 

Map key 

 
CPP1 Development Area 4  
New England Quarter and 
London Road 

 
CPP1 Strategic Allocation    
125-163 Preston Road 

 
Indicative area with potential for 
tall buildings 

 

Indicative height range 

Mid-rise (up to 8 storeys) with 
tall (9-15 storeys) in key 
landmark or gateway 
locations. 

  

The following design priorities should be considered in proposals: 
 Enhance and mend the green character of the A23 to create a boulevard and 

establish better connectivity across it to parks and open spaces  
 Improve facilities for pedestrians, cyclists and bus users (e.g. crossings, cycle 

lanes and parking). 
 Respect the green residential character of the area, through a pattern of tall 

buildings and open spaces that emphasise the linear form of the corridor and 
provide a more unified approach to built form.  

 Reinforce the existing tall buildings and utilise the significant level change to the 
west to better integrate tall buildings within the townscape. 

268



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              56 

Strategic Allocation 125-163 Preston Road  
 Enhance the appearance of the existing tall building frontage to the west of 

Preston Park, whilst respecting the Park’s setting as a heritage asset.  
 Introduce a landscaped zone with continuous building set-back from Preston 

Road that enhances promenade of trees, provides generous pedestrian areas 
with raised planting and seating and improved cycling facilities.  

 Leave gaps between built elements to maintain visual permeability between 
townscape and Preston Park valley bottom. 

 Introduce courtyards and open spaces to create opportunities for amenity and 
animate ground floor and street edge. 

   
Above: Introduction of 
landscaped zone with 
enhanced planting, seating, 
cycling and public transport 
facilities along Preston Road. 
 
Right: Gaps between buildings 
to safeguard views down to 
Preston Park and across the 
valley. 
 
Below: Courtyard and open 
spaces used to animate 
ground floor and street edge. 
 
Brighton & Hove Council 
application BH2016/02499.   

 
 

  

269

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


57                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

5.8. Area 8: Western Seafront/Kingsway 
Kingsway is designated as a sustainable transport corridor and has scope for public 
transport improvements. The stretch overlooking the Western Lawns is characterised in 
the main by residential buildings of varying heights and styles that range in quality from 
exceptional to poor. Opportunities exist here to replace poor building stock with taller 
‘mid-rise’ buildings, following an existing changing pattern of growth.  
The King Alfred Strategic Allocation is unique in that it is the only part of the seafront to 
have some development right up to the seafront’s edge. This affords opportunities for 
different taller ‘landmark’ development form, potentially creating a prominent and 
distinctive ‘endstop’ to Hove’s Western Lawns.  

 

Indicative height ranges  Map key 

Mid-rise (up to 8 storeys) along Kingsway 
and tall (9-15 storeys) to very tall (over 15 
storeys) in key locations within King Alfred 
Strategic Allocation. 

  CPP1 Special Area 1 The Seafront 

  CPP1 King Alfred Strategic Allocation  

 
 Indicative area with potential for tall buildings 

 

The following design priorities should be considered in proposals: 
 Contribute to creation of a more consistent height, form and scale on the north 

side of Kingsway to ensure a coherent streetscape that is neighbourly and 
maintains public access and local views to the seafront. 

 Respond to the distinct characters of the Kingsway, with its taller buildings and 
lower-scaled conservation and/or residential areas with mainly two-storey 
houses to the north. 

 Capitalise on the views to the sea and the open space in the Western Lawns. 
 Improve pedestrian and cycling connectivity along and across the A259. 
 Improve leisure facilities in the Western Lawns (e.g. landscaping, seating and 

maintenance). 
 Use landscape solutions to ensure privacy at ground level for residential uses. 

 

270



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              58 

5.9. Area 9: Shoreham Harbour 
Shoreham Harbour is a working harbour that straddles the local authority boundary 
between Adur district (within West Sussex) and Brighton & Hove. Opportunities exist to 
bring back into use vacant and underused sites as well as raising the quality of the local 
environment and increasing recreational opportunities and waterfront access. The area 
currently has a utilitarian character that offers opportunities for development to realise the 
potential of this brownfield asset whilst recognising the ongoing importance of the port-
related activities.  
A Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP) adopted in 2019 forms part of the development plan for 
the city and sets out a strategy for the regeneration of the whole Harbour area. It includes 
site allocations for new housing and employment development as well as policies relating 
to flood defence, travel, the environment and other issues. The site allocation policies 
include appropriate building heights which could include tall buildings. 
The JAAP area within Brighton & Hove includes both the docksides and the commercial 
area north of Wellington Road. 

 

Indicative height ranges  Map key 

Appropriate heights for the 
development sites are set out in 
Policies CA2 and CA3 of the 
Shoreham Harbour Joint Area 
Action Plan. 

  CPP1 Special Area 1 The Seafront 

 
 

Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP) 
boundary 

 
 

JAAP Site Allocations Aldrington Basin CA2 AB 1-4 and 
North Quayside and South Portslade SP1-7. 

  Brighton & Hove boundary 
 

For design priorities that should be considered in proposals please refer to 
Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP). 

 

  

271

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,156282,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,156282,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,156282,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,156282,smxx.pdf


59                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

6. Tall Building Statements 
Proposals that trigger the tall buildings design guidance will be required to include as part 
of their planning submission a thorough and detailed Tall Buildings Statement (TBS).  
This submission must include written and illustrative supporting information and 
justification for the chosen uses and proposed built form, which includes the following: 
 a survey plan and calculations illustrating the proposal’s relationship to the mean 

height of all surrounding development for a distance of 100m;  
 a plan illustrating the relationship of the proposed site to one of the tall building areas; 
 a statement describing how the proposal addresses the guidelines in Section D, sub-

section 13 and would provide a safe, positive and attractive addition to the city; 
 evidence of exploration of the viability and appropriateness of other forms of high 

density development; and 
 an urban design assessment, including a 3D modelling and analysis, within the 

proposal’s area of visual impact to support the appropriateness of the site for taller 
development. 

An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) may be required. Where one is required, it 
will be acceptable for applicants to undertake a townscape and visual impact assessment 
as part of the EIA provided that all the information required to be included in the TBS can 
be adequately addressed in the EIA. This will depend on the amount of development 
proposed, the site location, and the sensitivity of environmental receptors, such as 
landscape, ecology, heritage assets and people.  
The national EIA guidance explains the way in which the EIA process operates.  
Applicants may be required to submit a screening report as to the necessity for an EIA. 
Major tall building developments are also likely to require a separate transport 
assessment (or an appropriate transport chapter in an EIA, to be agreed at the scoping 
stage) as referred to in City Plan Part One Policy CP9 Sustainable Transport.  
Applicants may also be required to carry out a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA). 
Where an EIA or HRA is required, applicants should engage as early as possible with 
Natural England. 
  

272

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/habitats-regulations-assessments-protecting-a-european-site


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              60 

SECTION C: Planning process  
This section of the guidance describes the council’s preferred approach to applicant 
engagement with the local planning authority and other stakeholders prior to the 
submission of a planning application. 

Design is a collaborative process involving a range of people from different disciplines 
and with varying levels of design skill at all stages.  
From the beginning, a design project of any scale can present complex challenges which 
could benefit from constructive conversation with council officers and other key 
stakeholders including design professionals, advisory bodies, the local community and 
neighbours. 
The council as a Local Planning Authority (LPA) holds a responsibility to ensure that 
design proposals are of high quality and align with policy objectives.  
The council takes a stance in favour of sustainable development and wants high quality 
design proposals to succeed.  
 

 
Advice on how applicants can positively engage with the council and make the best of its 
services to resolve design issues is further detailed under three broad themes:  

1. Pre-application process; 
2. Design advice services; and 
3. Communicating design ideas well.  

  

To ensure that your design is of high quality and aligns with our policy 
objectives, the council recommends: 
 Identifying key local stakeholders, including neighbours, and allocating 

resources and time to consult and respond to their feedback prior to 
submitting a planning application.  

 Identifying relevant policies, site allocations and guidance and showing 
how these have informed the scheme. 

 Engaging its design advice services as early as possible prior to 
submitting a planning application and before a preferred design option is 
chosen. 

 Building the time and costs of engaging with the council’s design advice 
services into the project programme.  

 Presenting a concise, clear design statement illustrating the parameters 
that informed the design options using drawings and illustrations that can 
be easily understood by people with basic or no design skills.  

 Using ‘a day in the life’ scenarios to test and illustrate how the 
development will be used. 

273



61                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

4.  

7. Pre-application process 
It can be difficult to know how early to start the design conversation with the local 
planning authority.  
Early engagement is important. Problems can often arise when applicants progress their 
design proposals in detail to establish floor plans or prepare expensive architectural 
and/or engineering drawings prior to engaging with the council and other stakeholders 
like neighbours. 
In line with NPPF paragraphs 39-46, our advice is that you involve us as early as 
possible prior to the submission of a planning application.  
Preferably, your proposals should be at an advanced enough stage in the design process 
to allow constructive feedback, but not so advanced as to risk reductive work.  
For the purpose of this guide, the diagram below identifies indicative stages in the design 
development process and signposts instances when applicants are encouraged to seek 
design feedback from the LPA prior to submitting a planning application.  
The diagram also indicates approximately how different planning routes, scales of 
development, the RIBA Plan of Work 2020, and consideration of local design priorities 
may align with this process. The most appropriate pre-application advice services will 
depend on the scale and complexity of development proposals. Applicants are 
encouraged to engage with the LPA to identify the most suitable option. 
More detailed information on the indicative stages can be found in the chapters following 
the diagram. 
More detailed information about the council’s design advice services and how to access 
these is provided in sub-section 8 below. 
 
  

274



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              62 

 
 

 
 

275



63                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

7.1. Vision and site strategy 
This is the stage when contextual analysis of the development site and its surroundings is 
carried out and positive ambitions and parameters are established in the form of a vision and 
site strategy to inform design proposals. 
The vision describes key ambitions and design principles derived from contextual analysis 
addressing local priorities set out in Section A, community engagement, the client’s 
development brief and the designer’s own creative response to site. It should address 
quantitative and qualitative design attributes and should be used as a point of reference 
throughout the design process. 
The site strategy is derived from site constraints and opportunities in response to contextual 
analysis, policy objectives and local priorities set out in Section A. It sets out key physical 
parameters including points of access; primary routes, nodes and destinations; location of 
buildings and spaces between them; zones where height may be concentrated; indicative 
uses; and building fronts and backs. 

At this stage, the council expects would-be applicants to submit design information 
including: 
 Clear and concise contextual analysis communicated using satellite imagery, 

photography, diagrams and text (see sub-section 9 below). 
 A vision statement to guide design development, addressing sustainability and 

including the approach to community and stakeholder engagement and key 
outcomes which have informed the vision. 

 Site constraints and opportunities diagrams which round up contextual analysis 
into diagramatic site plans and inform a clear site strategy incorporating physical 
parameters. 

 If a masterplan is appropriate, a diagrammatic plan indicating areas outside of the 
development red line that are fundamental to the masterplan and why. 

At this stage, the council would look to assess with regard to local design priorities: 

Context 
 Does contextual analysis meaningfully inform the development vision? 
 Has meaningful community and stakeholder engagement been undertaken or planned, in 

particular with neighbours, and how have/will outcomes inform the vision? 
 In instances such as those set out in Section A, sub-section 1.5, is a masterplan being 

developed to ensure a holistic design approach?  
 Is there any information available regarding ecological conditions within the site? 
 

Spaces between buildings 
 Do site constraints and opportunities meaningfully inform the site strategy? 
 Is the site strategy the foundation of a landscape-led design approach providing base 

parameters with regard to site layout and land use that are appropriate to context? 
 Does the site strategy enable a climate resilient development with regard to environmental 

comfort? 
 How do considerations of green infrastructure inform the site strategy?  
 

Buildings 
 Are identified building zones and/or areas where height may be concentrated appropriate 

to wider context? 
 Are buildings oriented appropriately to optimise passive design solutions, outlook, and 

neighbourliness? 
 Are building locations, uses, fronts/backs, access and servicing facilities appropriate in 

relation to adjacent land and building uses? 

276



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              64 

Good practice  

  

 

Above: Site constraints and 
opportunities diagram which can inform 
the site strategy and design 
development. Brighton & Hove Council 
application BH2019/02578.  

Left and below: Combination of site 
plans illustrating the Site Strategy for 
the Circus Street development in 
Brighton. The Site Strategy addresses 
primary routes, focal buildings, points 
of access, built form, uses and fronts 
and backs. Brighton & Hove Council 
application BH2013/03461. 

 

 

277

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


65                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

7.2. Conceptual design options 
This stage involves the development of creative solutions which build on the vision and 
site strategy to generate a design concept that will influence the layout, form, appearance 
and details of a proposed development.   
Conceptual design options should demonstrate an understanding of competing 
contextual influences, should seek to realise the development vision, and should present 
a creative response to the site strategy, achieving innovation in design. 
Along with the vision, conceptual design options should be loose enough to allow the 
design to develop organically, and should remain a constant point of reference 
throughout the design process.  

At this stage, the council expects would-be applicants to submit design 
information including: 
 A storyboard of stages in design development leading to a number of 

conceptual design options. 
 Sketch drawings and images which may include figure ground studies, plans, 

sections, elevations, 3D visualisation and/or physical models to clearly indicate 
site layout, scale and massing, contextual streetscape, ground plane 
functionality, spatial adjacencies and indicative movement strategies. 

 Relevant identified strategic and local views and views from within the 
development, all using 3D visualisation. 

 Analysis of ‘a day in the life’ of future occupants. See sub-section 9.1. 
 An updated community and stakeholder engagement report to show how design 

proposals have/will develop in response to feedback. 

At this stage, the council would look to assess with regard to local design priorities: 

Context  
 Do conceptual design options holistically address contextual influences and are they 

successfully developed from the vision and site strategy? 
 Do they positively contribute to the streetscape and how? 
 Do they sensitively address strategic and local views and local heritage assets? 
 

Spaces between buildings 
 Do conceptual design options focus primarily on the spaces between buildings, the 

hierarchy and functionality of routes and spaces and their character? 
 Do they successfully define between public and residential areas? 
 Do they integrate green infrastructure and active transport networks? 
 Has a public realm strategy been developed to support proposed functionality of 

spaces? 
 

Buildings 
 Do conceptual design options ensure proper functionality and appropriate adjacencies 

to public and private landscape areas? 
 Do they consider building performance? 
 Do they consider uses, focal or landmark buildings, servicing, fronts and backs, 

primary entrances and/or gathering points? 

278



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              66 

Good practice  

 
Above: 3D storeyboarded stages in design development leading to a conceptual design option.  
Below: Conceptual design options exploring site plan in relation to context. Brighton & Hove Council application 
BH2019/02578. 

        
  

279

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


67                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

7.3. Preferred design concept 
This stage sees the selection of one or a combination of several conceptual design 
options that represents the most holistic creative response to overall ambitions and 
design principles and which best responds to context. 
Design information may be in sketch form but should be as informative as possible to 
provide further detail regarding landscape and building layouts, sustainability, form, 
appearance and materiality. The site layout should be formalised and set as the design 
concept solidifies and becomes less flexible leading to developed design. 

At this stage, the council expects would-be applicants to submit design 
information including: 
 Preferred design concept presented in a similar format to the conceptual design 

options and supplemented by a written design development statement. 
 Drawings presented in greater detail at a larger scale including a ground floor 

site plan, parking plans, typical floor plans, sections, sectional perspectives and 
elevations at a variety of scales. 

 More detailed 3D visualisation and/or models. 
 Landscape proposals presented as part of the site plan or separately. 
 An emerging sustainability strategy developed for landscape and buildings 

which addresses whole life carbon, circular economy principles, water 
management and biodiversity gains. 

 A placemaking and public realm strategy describing the functionality and social 
benefit of proposals. 

 More detailed analysis of ‘a day in the life’ of future occupants. See sub-section 
9.1 

 An updated community and stakeholder engagement report to show how design 
proposals have/will develop in response to feedback. 

 

At this stage, the council would look to assess with regard to local design priorities: 

Context 

 Is the preferred design concept the most appropriate response to contextual attributes 
and components of the built environment, particularly in instances where it may not be 
appropriate to reflect existing character, form and scale? 

 In selecting or developing a preferred design concept, have opportunities been taken 
to refine proposals relative to context? 

 How has the community engagement process progressed and how has it informed the 
development of a preferred design concept? 

 

Spaces between buildings 

 Is site layout and landscape design the most holistic, creative and successful response 
to combined local priorities? 

 Are routes and spaces defined and developed in line with a public realm strategy to a 
level of detail concurrent with developing building design? 

 Is the landscape design developed to a level of detail which is indicative of layout, 
surface treatments, drainage strategies and planting typologies and does it achieve 
nature enhancement and biodiversity gains? 

280



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              68 

 

Buildings 

 Are building layouts developed to indicate mixed use adjacencies, housing type and 
mix, orientation, aspect and provision of private and communal amenity? 

 Is the servicing of buildings developed and functioning well? 
 Is appearance and materiality developed to a level of detail which is indicative of 

architectural form and roof scape, elevational composition and fenestration design, 
balcony typologies and materiality? 

 Has a sustainable buildings strategy been developed? Has it addressed whole life 
carbon, including circular economy principles?  

 

Good practice  

 

 

Above: A rendered elevation illustrating fenestration 
composition, materiality, form, scale, depth and planting 
more clearly than a simple line drawing. Brighton & Hove 
Council application BH2013/03461. 

Left:  A preferred design concept presented in a similar 
manner to conceptual design options, illustrating that the 
design solution is the most holistic response to contextual 
influences. Brighton & Hove Council application 
BH2019/02578. 

Below: A physical model illustrating the true scale, form, 
materiality, internal layout and interaction with public 
spaces. . Brighton & Hove Council application 
BH2015/01649. 

 

 

281

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


69                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

7.4. Developed design 
This phase sees the preferred design concept progress to a level of detail sufficient to submit 
a planning application. The final stage of pre-application advice can serve as a ‘dummy run’ for 
the review of a planning application and can seek to minimise any further development leading 
to the submission of a planning application. 
Details of landscape design should include outline specification of planting, SUDS, hard 
surfaces and street furniture. Details of building design should include fully realised internal 
layouts, elevational compositions, fenestration design and outline material specification. 
Special areas such as primary public squares or residential entrances, as well as typical 
cladding systems, boundary treatments and balcony typologies should be identified and 
developed further to show a level of detail which would be visible in reality. 
Sustainability strategies should be as near to completed as possible. 

At this stage, the council expects would-be applicants to submit design 
information including: 
 Plans, sections and elevations at a range of scales to show proposals within 

context and at a level of material detail which will be visible in reality. 
 3D visualisations and/or models to convey the atmospheric and visual qualities 

of proposals and show a level of material detail which will be visible in reality. 
 Details and 3D bay studies of special and typical components of the landscape 

and building design, presented at a scale of between 1:20 and 1:5. 
 Highly developed sustainability strategies which address whole life carbon, 

circular economy, water management and biodiversity gains. 
 A Design Statement or Design & Access Statement which collates previous 

design stages to tell the story of design development leading to final detailed 
proposals. 

 An updated community and stakeholder engagement report to show how design 
proposals have/will develop in response to feedback. 

 

The council would look to assess with regard to local design priorities: 

Context 
 How have architectural and landscape character been further refined to positively respond 

to or enhance local context? 
 For example, are brick patterns, native tree species or special details clearly identified? 
 

Spaces between buildings 
 Do landscape proposals identify planting typologies, materials and street furniture with 

regard to functionality, climate resilience, inclusivity and longevity in accordance with local 
priorities? 

 

Buildings 
 Do internal layouts ensure user comfort and proper functionality? 
 Is appearance and materiality fully realised, especially for any feature or landmark 

buildings? 
 Are proposed structural materials indicated (e.g. cross-laminated timber or low-emission 

concrete frame)? 
 How will the sustainable buildings strategy be implemented? Will accreditation from a well-

known sustainable building design assessment method be sought?  

282



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              70 

 

Above: A collection of 
3D visualisations 
illustrating materiality 
at a level of detail 
which would be visible 
in reality, as well as 
the atmospheric 
qualities of key 
external spaces. 
Brighton & Hove 
Council application 
BH2013/03461. 
Left: Rendered bay 
studies at a large 
scale illustrating 
material detail and 
specification such as 
brick patterns, 
ballustrades and 
windows. Brighton & 
Hove Council 
application 
BH2017/00492. 
Below: A rendered 
elevation showing 
specified materailty 
and streetscene 
context. Brighton & 
Hove Council 
application 
BH2018/03651. 

 

 

283

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


71                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

8. Design advice services 
Design review is supported by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as a 
useful means of ensuring high standards of design in new development. 
Applicants for major schemes1 are encouraged to use the council’s DesignPLACE panel 
review service as well as to seek advice from the council’s Urban Design Officer, while 
those for non-major schemes are encouraged to pursue the latter only.  
These are chargeable services paid for by applicants as outlined in the council’s 
DesignPLACE and Pre-application webpages respectively.  
To make the most of the council’s review services it is important to keep in mind that 
conversations around design tend to produce better results when: 
 undertaken as early as possible prior to the submission of a planning application;  
 applicants are open to reviewing what they are doing and making changes; and  
 reviewers benefit from an understanding of local context and take a constructive 

approach to the review process. 
This can be a good means to incrementally improve the scheme and resolve issues early 
on which can help to speed up the overall application assessment process. 
 

8.1. Community and stakeholder engagement 
Effective community engagement is fundamental to achieving contextually appropriate 
designs. This can help to highlight issues and concerns that applicants may be unaware 
of and enable for these to be addressed early in the design process, potentially 
minimising objections at planning application stage. 
In the case of non-major development, the council would expect applicants to have 
discussed proposals with neighbours. Organising an event or informal meeting to present 
proposals at an early stage in the design process can be beneficial.  
In the case of major development, the process can be more complex depending on the 
range of people and stakeholders that are likely to be affected by design proposals. In 
such cases, community engagement can be broken down into stages to align with those 
identified in the planning/design process set out in sub-section 7 above.  
The council encourages applicants to submit a report describing the outcomes of 
consultation sessions/events and how these can/have been positively addressed as early 
as possible, as part of the design information for review. 
As well as neighbouring properties and residents, other consultees applicants can reach 
out to could include local residents, local amenity societies, environmental and transport 
charities and equality/minority groups (e.g. BME communities, disabled people and 
LGBTQ). 

 
 
 
1 Major schemes are, as defined in article 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure (England) Order 2015, those that involve 10+ dwellings / over half a hectare / building(s) 
exceeds 1000m²; office / light industrial - 1000+ m² / 1+ hectare; general industrial - 1000+ m² / 1+ hectare; 
retail - 1000+ m²/ 1+ hectare; Gypsy/Traveller site - 10+ pitches; and/or site area exceeds 1 hectare. 

284

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-applications/designplace-review
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-applications/pre-application-planning-advice-service


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              72 

  
Above: Infill of site located in a residential area predominantly formed of Victorian terraces. Favouring a 
contemporary design approach to the development, the applicant consulted neighbours and the local residents’ 
association and sought design advice from the council’s planning team over a period of two years prior to 
submitting an application. When the planning application was submitted, of the 75 neighbours invited to comment, 
only one letter of objection was received by the council. London Borough of Hackney application 2013/0755. 

 
 
 

9. Communicating design ideas well  
For schemes of all sizes, graphical communication and description of key design 
principles will be essential in conveying your design for assessment by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
To communicate design ideas well, applicants should produce informative and 
expressive text and graphics which represent the design concept and are a legible 
conclusion to the design development process. The submitted design information should 
provide clarity, legibility, variety and artistic expression. Graphical information may 
include diagrams, collages, 2D drawings and 3D visualisations, and may be 
supplemented by physical 3D models which often convey design information more easily 
than drawings do. 
This information should be communicated as part of a design statement or, where 
applicable, Design & Access Statement. This is a written and graphical report setting 
out how the design is rooted in the site and wider context and how it addresses 
experiential and atmospheric qualities. It sets out the physical attributes that influence 
the layout, form, appearance and details of a proposed development. The Design 
Council offer online guidance on how to right, read and use design and access 
statements, which can be found here. 
Design information and supporting documents should be as short and concise, whilst 
conveying as much detail of the proposals, as possible. Clarity is key. This can help to 
aid pre-application discussions, speed up the assessment of a planning application 
and/or provide the basis for an appeal statement. 
When preparing design information, planning applicants may want to consider the good 
practice examples identified below by officers assessing applications as well as those 
identified in previous chapters. 

285

https://hackney.gov.uk/planning-searches
https://www.designcouncil.org.uk/resources/guide/design-and-access-statements-how-write-read-and-use-them


73                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

  

Above top: Rendered, layered visualisations can offer the opportunity to show realistic streetscape elements and 
materiality and how the development site sits in relation to the wider street profile. Above left: Indicative densities of 
development site and surrounding sites prior to site redevelopment. Above right: Three-dimensional images can 
convey information more acutely than two-dimensional line drawings. Brighton & Hove Council applications 
BH2015/04575 and BH2015/04577.   

Below: Detailed line drawings, whilst not illustrative of materiality, accurately convey scale, elevational composition, 
and functionality. Brighton & Hove Council application BH2013/03461. 

 
 

286

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              74 

 

Above: a rendered 3D visualisation can successfully illustrate material and atmospheric qualities of proposed 
spaces, as well as social activities, and can demonstrate how the proposals would appear at different times of the 
year. Brighton & Hove Council application BH2017/00492. 

Below: A physical contextual model very clealry illustrates scale, form and density against existing urban grain, and 
can illustrate materiality as well as indicate focal buildings and functionality. Brighton & Hove Council application 
BH2013/03461. 

 

 

287

https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planningapps.brighton-hove.gov.uk/online-applications/


75                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

9.1. A day in the life 
The sequential unfolding of spaces that make up a new development and links to its 
surroundings will determine the quality of the daily life of residents and users within and 
around the development.  
It is important that applicants describe and illustrate how different residents/users will live 
in the new development and how their experience has informed design ideas.  
A helpful technique for reviewing how well a design concept or detailed design will work 
and bring to life design discussions with stakeholders is to consider ‘day in the life’ 
scenarios of users. 
This involves thinking through the spaces in and between buildings and the sequence of 
activities that future occupiers (i.e. a resident, wheelchair user, office worker, cleaner 
and/or visitor) will go through from first approaching these spaces to carrying out their 
designated role and leaving afterwards.  
It entails asking questions to test how it would feel to be a user such as, for example, 
how easy it would be for a wheelchair user to move in, around and out of the 
development site and access surrounding facilities? 
This assessment is an opportunity to ensure that building and landscape functionality is 
not only efficient and enjoyable but is also as fair and inclusive as possible by 
considering the daily experiences of a number of minority groups such as a single 
mother, a disabled cyclist, a transgender person and/or a resident living in affordable 
housing accommodation. 

 

 

Extract of Restoring the 
Heart of Hammersmith - 
Delivering a Fly-Under 
setting out key routes users 
can use to travel through the 
development and access 
nearby services and 
facilities during weekends. 

288

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/vision_summary.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/vision_summary.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/vision_summary.pdf


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              76 

SECTION D: Appendices 
  

289



77                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

10. Extended list of policies and 
documents 

New development is expected to demonstrate how the requirements of national and 
local planning policy can be met with the aim of producing consistently high quality 
design outcomes. The following provides an overview of the key policies as they relate 
to design. 
 
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted in 2016)  
CP12 Urban Design is the key and overarching policy regarding development design 
along with CP13 Streets and Open Spaces that focuses on the spaces between 
buildings.  
The UDF is also referenced in a number of policies across the Plan including: 
 SS1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; 
 SA6 Sustainable Neighbourhoods 
 DA2 Development Areas Brighton Marina, Gas Works and Black Rock Area;  
 DA3 Lewes Road;  
 DA5 Eastern Road and Edward Street; 
 DA6 Hove Station Area;  
 CP1 Housing Delivery;  
 CP5 Culture and Tourism,  
 CP8 Sustainable Buildings;   
 CP14 Housing Density; and  
 CP15 Heritage. 
 
Design however is a cross cutting issue and guidance provided in the UDF can be 
relevant to most, if not all policies in this Plan. 
 
Brighton & Hove Local Plan (adopted in 2005)  
There are a number of retained Local Plan policies that deal with design issues.  
Most form part of Chapter 3 and cover a range of issues including, for example, QD27 
Protection of Amenity, QD14 Extensions and alterations and QD14 Landscape design.  
These policies will be replaced through Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two which the 
council expects to adopt in 2021.  
Given that design is a cross cutting issue, the UDF guidance can be relevant to most 
policies in this Plan, including: 
 DM16 Markets;  
 DM18 High quality design and places  
 DM19 Maximising Development Potential  
 DM20 Protection of Amenity;  
 DM22 Landscape Design and Trees; 
 DM33 Safe, Sustainable and Active Travel; 
 DM35 Travel Plans and Transport Assessments; 
 DM36 Parking and Servicing; 

290

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/FINAL%20version%20cityplan%20March%202016compreswith%20forward_0.pdf
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Saved%20Adopted%20Local%20Plan%20as%20at%20March%202016%20compressed.pdf
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/city-plan-part-two


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              78 

 DM37 Green Infrastructure and Nature Conservation; 
 DM38 Local Green Spaces;  
 DM40 Protection of the Environment and Health – Pollution and Nuisance; 
 DM42 Protecting the Water Environment; 
 DM43 Sustainable Urban Drainage; 
 DM44 Energy Efficiency and Renewables; 
 DM45 Community Energy; and  
 DM46 Heating and cooling network infrastructure. 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and Guidance (SPG) 
The Adopted City Plan and retained Local Plan Policies are supported by a range of 
detailed guidance on how these will be implemented. If adopted, the UDF SPD will form 
part of this set of planning documents.  
Some of the relevant guidance already provided by the council on design include: 
 SPD01 - Brighton Centre: Area Planning and Urban Design Framework; 
 SPD02 - Shop Front Design; 
 SPD03 - Construction and Demolition Waste; 
 SPD06 - Trees and Development Sites; 
 SPD07 – Advertisements; 
 SPD09 - Architectural Features; 
 SPD10 - London Road Central Masterplan; 
 SPD11 - Nature Conservation and Development; 
 SPD12 - Design Guide for Extensions and Alterations; 
 SPD13 - Shoreham Harbour Flood Risk Management Guide; 
 SPD14 - Parking Standards; 
 SPD15 - Toad's Hole Valley; and 
 SPD16 - Sustainable Drainage Systems. 

 
 SPGBH 2 External paint finishes & colours; 
 SPGBH 9 A guide for Residential Developers on the provision of recreational space 

and Ancillary Update Document – Updated Open Space Contributions Calculator ; 
 SPGBH 10 King Alfred/RNR Site: Planning brief; 
 SPGBH 11 Listed Building interiors; 
 SPGBH 19 Fire Precaution Works to Historic Buildings; and 
 SPGBH 20 Brighton Marina "An Urban Design Analysis" and Brighton Marina 

"Development Brief". 

Planning Advice Notes and site briefs  
Design advice is also available in the form of advice notes and development sites. More 
information on strategic council projects is available on the council’s Major Developments 
webpage. 
Some of the relevant advice notes include: 
 PAN 03: Lifetime homes revisions 
 PAN 05: Design Guidance for the Storage and Collection of Recyclable Materials and 

Waste 
 PAN 06: Food Growing and Development 
 PAN 09: Householder guidance on energy efficiency for historic houses in 

Conservation Areas 
 Special Guidance A: Swift Boxes and Bricks for New Developments  

291

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spd
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-guidance-notes-spgs
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/major-projects-planning
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/major-projects-planning
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/major-developments
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/major-developments


79                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

11. Neighbourhood sensitivity to 
change and priorities for 
enhancement 

The council’s Urban Characterisation Study (UCS) of 2009 provides a comprehensive 
understanding of the diversity and quality of the city’s urban character and the pressures 
affecting it.  
That study identified 32 distinct neighbourhoods within Brighton & Hove, in addition to the 
central conservation areas. These are shown on the map at Section A, sub-section1.2. A 
more detailed version of this map is available to be viewed online. 
Each of these neighbourhood has now been considered in terms of their sensitivity to 
change and the need for any positive intervention, having regard to the following matters: 
 Topography; 
 Landscape character (as defined in the UCS); 
 Townscape type (as defined in the UCS); 
 How many separate character areas each neighbourhood contains; 
 Broad existing density; 
 Townscape and public realm quality assessment (as described in the UCS); 
 Inclusion of or proximity to designated constraints (e.g. National Park, Conservation 

Area, Listed Buildings, Historic Park or Garden, Scheduled Monument, Site of Special 
Scientific Interest); 

 Whether the neighbourhood includes a tall building area; 
 Whether the neighbourhood includes one of the Development Areas set out in the City 

Plan Part One; 
 Number of potential residential sites and potential residential units identified in the 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment; 
 The presence within a neighbourhood of any employment sites suitable for mixed use 

development (as identified in the City Plan Part One). 
Based on these factors each of the city’s neighbourhoods has been assessed on a scale 
of 1 to 3 for sensitivity to change (where 1 is the most sensitive) and split into those that 
are predominantly urban or predominantly suburban in character (suffix A or B).  
Four neighbourhoods have been categorised as very mixed areas which do not fall into 
the above assessment and which require a more specific policy approach.  
The central conservation areas have not been included, as each of these conservation 
areas must be preserved or enhanced according to its identified special character and 
appearance. Conservation area character statements for each area should guide future 
change. 
The following table sets out which neighbourhood falls into each sensitivity grouping and 
what each typology broadly means with regard to the potential for future development 
and enhancement. 
 
 
 
 

292

https://bhcc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=3939bfafb4fb416498c7db4088d42bdd


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              80 

Ref. Typology 
Urban Characterisation Study 
Neighbourhoods  

1A Urban areas to be conserved largely 
as existing. 

Preston 
Round Hill 
Tivoli & Prestonville 

1B Suburban areas to be conserved 
largely as existing. 

Ovingdean 
Rottingdean 
Surrenden 
Westdene & Withdean 

2A Urban areas suitable for localised, 
incremental development and 
enhancement. 

Bear Road 
West Hove 
Wilbury 

2B Suburban areas suitable for 
localised, incremental development 
and enhancement. 

Bevendean 
Coldean 
Hangleton 
Hollingbury 
Mile Oak & Portslade Village 
Patcham 
Saltdean 
Tongdean 
Woodingdean 

3A Urban areas where positive and pro-
active measures are required to 
secure major enhancement. 

East Brighton 
Hanover & Elm Grove 
Pankhurst & Craven Vale 
Portslade-by-Sea 
Sackville 

3B Suburban areas where positive and 
pro-active measures are required to 
secure major enhancement. 

Hollingdean 
Knoll 
Moulsecoomb 
West Blatchington 

4 Mixed approach areas. Black Rock 
Lewes Road 
London Road 
University 

The character of each neighbourhood typology is briefly summarised below. For each of 
the neighbourhood typologies there are a number of common or shared urban design 
issues that warrant the provision of a consistent approach to development proposals. In 
this way such proposals, where appropriate, will make a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness or help to maintain or establish a strong sense of place in 
neighbourhoods. 
In assessing appropriate density of residential development, consideration must be given 
to the prevailing density of the neighbourhood and the specific characteristics of the site. 
The following general ranges will apply (as net density): 

Range Net dwellings per hectare (dph) 
Very Low Up to 30dph 

Low 30 – 50 dph 
Medium 50 – 100dph 

High Over 100 dph 
Very High Over 200 dph 

293



81                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

Design issues that are relevant for each neighbourhood type are set out in more detail 
below. 
 
1A - Urban areas to be conserved largely as existing 
These are predominantly residential neighbourhoods, mainly low rise but of medium to 
high density, with a tight-knit urban grain and historic and fairly rigid street patterns but 
clear local landmarks. Townscape is cohesive and attractive and has a planned 
appearance, with mature street and garden trees often a notable feature. Housing is 
varied but building lines are consistent and terraced forms are most typical. The 
topography often affords attractive views. Significant areas of public open space are 
readily accessible. These neighbourhoods are very legible. 
Future development will be modest in scale and will be expected to maintain or reinforce 
these positive qualities and to be of similar density. This may include infilling unsightly 
gaps in street frontages or replacing poor quality buildings. Opportunities for higher 
density development may exist where site-specific conditions and amenity issues allow.  
 
1B - Suburban areas to be conserved largely as existing 
These are low density outlying neighbourhoods whose suburban form relates strongly to 
the topography and landscape, being generally developed from the base of a valley or 
valleys up the sloping sides and responding positively to the contours. They developed 
around historic rural cores and some have heritage sensitivities. Unfolding views are 
common. Development is spacious and low rise on mostly generous plot widths, with a 
preponderance of detached and semi-detached forms. Townscape has pleasing variety 
and contrasts, arising from development that has evolved over time, unified by scale and 
materials. Commercial or civic/community clusters are notable and give the 
neighbourhoods a focus. Local landmarks aid navigability. 
There are few identified opportunities for future development on any significant scale and 
little scope for increased density without harming the positive characteristics of the 
neighbourhoods. However there may be scope for medium density development around 
cores of commercial or community uses. Development should respond positively to the 
contours of the site, respect the adjacent Downland/National Park and reflect the 
prevailing stepping of rooflines on the valley sides. The spacious layout of streets should 
be maintained and particular emphasis given to spacing between buildings and visual 
permeability.  
 
2A - Urban areas suitable for localised, incremental development and 
enhancement 
These neighbourhoods generally have a tight-knit urban grain and medium to high range 
density in mixed residential form, with a fairly cohesive townscape and mature street 
trees. Building lines are consistent and terraced forms are most typical. There are 
pockets of larger scale commercial and civic/community uses on primary routes, as well 
as some taller apartment or institutional blocks, which depart from the prevailing urban 
form without adversely affecting the overall coherence of the areas. These 
neighbourhoods have significant public open space and good accessibility to services 
and are largely legible. 
The street pattern and tight knit urban grain of the residential streets should be 
maintained and continuity of building line and rhythm of facades respected. Opportunities 

294



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              82 

to increase density should be taken for redevelopment in mixed use parts of the 
neighbourhood, on or adjoining main transport corridors or fronting public open space, 
where this would enhance the coherence of townscape. Such locations may be 
appropriate for contemporary, innovative designs. However, landmark developments are 
not necessary to aid legibility or enhance townscape. Development of up to 6 storeys in 
height may be appropriate where clusters of taller buildings already exist and where the 
width of the road and original plot size enable the height and massing to be in proportion 
to the street scene.  
 
2B - Suburban areas suitable for localised, incremental development and 
enhancement 
These are residential neighbourhoods on the periphery of the built-up area and the edge 
of the National Park, which consequently have strong physical and visual links with the 
Downs. They are low to medium density and predominantly low rise on the valley slopes 
and sometimes along the ridges. Development is often spacious with generous plot width 
and demonstrates deliberate planning in form and layout. Grass verges are common. 
Detached and semi-detached housing dominates. Townscape is fairly consistent but can 
lack local landmarks or navigable features. Pockets of commercial development vary 
considerably in scale and quality and are not always well integrated into the typical 
suburban grain. 
Particular emphasis should be given to spacing between buildings and visual 
permeability and development should respond positively to the contours of the site, 
respect the adjacent Downland/National Park and reflect the prevailing stepping of 
rooflines on the valley sides.  
Residential density should be medium density wherever compatible with the site context, 
and particularly where this would strengthen the townscape around local shopping 
centres/community centres or local parades, provide a legible local landmark (where this 
is currently lacking) and help to support local services. Buildings over 3 storeys in height 
should in other cases be confined to the lower valley slopes or where there are any 
existing clusters of such building heights.  
Development should pay particular attention to the potential to introduce new, or enhance 
existing, pedestrian and cycle links to local services, public open space and transport 
facilities. The scope for some small scale backland or back garden development could be 
explored where such land or gardens are especially large and are not being used 
effectively.  
 
3A - Urban areas where positive and pro-active measures are required to secure 
major enhancement 
These are, to varying degrees, mixed and fragmented neighbourhoods where 
development in parts shows clear planning and in other parts has evolved in a piecemeal 
manner and often isolated manner, usually as a result of later 20th century development 
and redevelopment.  
Overall street pattern and urban form are consequently fractured. Height and scale of 
buildings are variable, residential form is mixed and the neighbourhoods include some 
notably taller buildings in the form of apartment blocks, civic or commercial buildings. 
Residential density is medium to very high and access to good quality and usable public 
open space is variable but generally deficient. The public realm lacks coherence and is 
often poorly maintained. 

295



83                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

New development should actively seek to reinstate the historic street pattern and urban 
grain of the area or, where no such precedent existed, to create a clearly defined street 
pattern that forms legible links to surrounding streets and services.  
Residential density should he high unless this would cause visual harm to a street of 
coherent townscape. In particular, opportunities to increase density should be taken for 
redevelopment in mixed use parts of the neighbourhood, on or adjoining main transport 
corridors or nodes, around local community facilities or fronting public open space. 
Opportunities for clusters of taller buildings exist in most of these neighbourhoods. Major 
development should seek to enhance the quality and functionality of existing open space 
so that it better meets the needs of the local communities in conjunction with a more 
efficient use of available land.  
 
3B - Suburban areas where positive and pro-active measures are required to 
secure major enhancement 
These are, to varying degrees, mixed and fragmented neighbourhoods (part urban and 
part suburban) that are predominantly on lower valley slopes. They include areas of 
clearly planned, and often cohesive and attractive, residential development that is mainly 
medium density. But there also significant areas of commercial or civic/community uses 
and sometimes also higher density residential blocks, which generally relate poorly to the 
prevailing urban form and which have an often piecemeal character. Access to local open 
space, particularly of a functional or recreational value, is variable and physical 
permeability or visual legibility within neighbourhoods can be poor. 
New development should seek to help stitch the fragmented areas of the neighbourhood 
together through street pattern, urban grain and building line.  
Density should be generally medium but opportunities for high density development exist 
on the lower level land around existing commercial or community uses. Buildings in these 
areas can be medium rise and there are opportunities to create local landmarks as part 
of a wider approach to enhancing the legibility of the neighbourhoods.  
Major development should seek to enhance the quality and functionality of existing open 
space so that it better meets the needs of the local communities in conjunction with a 
more efficient use of available land.  
 
4 - Mixed approach neighbourhoods 
 
4a - Black Rock 
This neighbourhood is split, in character terms, between the Roedean area and the 
Marina. Roedean is a low density and low-rise residential area set on the cliff top and 
with setting of open downland. It falls into typology 2B as a suburban area suitable for 
localised, incremental development and enhancement. However, the vacant Gas Works 
site is an exception to this and requires positive and pro-active measures to secure major 
enhancement akin to the category 3B areas. 
The Marina is a mixed use, mixed scale and mixed form area of 20th century 
development on reclaimed land. The public realm is very much car dominated. It falls into 
typology 3A as an urban area where positive and pro-active measures are required to 
secure major enhancement. 
 

296



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              84 

4b - Lewes Road and 4c - London Road 
These share the characteristic of being linear corridors rather than true neighbourhoods 
and they form two major routes into the city along the main valley floors. Each is marked 
by a transition in character from outer suburban through inner suburban to urban form 
and act as gateways into the city as they move from inner suburban to urban. Density, 
building line and scale of buildings reflect this transition.  
Future development has particular opportunity to enhance the inner suburban segments 
of each corridor, where the built form is mixed and lacks a clear relationship to the road 
and where land is not always used efficiently or effectively. High density development, 
with taller buildings and a mix of uses, would enable these segments to fulfil their 
potential and create more attractive routes and more legible gateways into the city. 
 
4d - University 
This is a unique neighbourhood on the fringe of the city mainly comprising the two 
university campuses either side of the A27 but with a small ‘island’ of civic and 
commercial buildings between the A27 and the railway line.  
The original University of Sussex campus is unified 1960s composition, containing eight 
listed buildings, with a close relationship to the downland and utilising a limited palette of 
materials. As development on the campus has moved northwards in later years that 
coherence has gradually been eroded. The buildings of the University of Brighton are 
architecturally mixed; they follow the contours but with a much less coherent layout and 
in a less generous landscape setting. 
Both campuses are expected to significantly expand to cater for greater student 
numbers, for both teaching and residential buildings, and in each case development 
should be at a higher density than existing in order to use the campuses efficiently, whilst 
avoiding an urbanisation of the neighbourhood and respecting the Downland and 
National Park setting.  
  

297



85                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

12. Strategic viewpoints and landmarks 
 

12.1. Viewpoints  

 

  

1. Foredown Tower 
Above: Foredown Road (north of tower) 90 
degree panoramic view south and south 
east. 

2. Toads Hole Valley  
Below: From north end of King George VI 
Avenue – looking south west. 

 
 

298



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              86 

 

 

 

3. Hollingbury Hill Fort 
Above: From track to south – a wide arc 
view south to south west. This view is from 
within the South Downs National Park.  
4. Race Hill 
Below: From Warren Road – a wide arc 
view south and west. 
5. Woodingdean 
Bottom of the page: from Warren Road / 
Downland Road – a wide arc view south 
and south west. 

 

 

 

299



87                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

 

6. Whitehawk Camp 
Below: Whitehawk Hill Road – a wide arc 
view south to south west. 

 

 

7. Rottingdean East 
Above: Coastal path 
(near Chailey Avenue) - 
looking west.  
 
 
8. Rottingdean 
Windmill 
Below: 180 degree 
panoramic view south. 

 

 

300



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              88 

 

  

9. Marina 
Above: Western breakwater– looking north 
west. 

10. Brighton Pier 
Below: 180 degree panoramic view north.  

 

 

301



89                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

  
11. Kings Esplanade 
Above: East of Courtney Gate – a seafront 
view eastwards. 

12. Basin Road South 
Below: At Brighton & Hove boundary – a 
coastal view eastwards.  

 

 

13. Highcroft Villas 
Below: At point where road straightens – a 
wide arc view south east to north east. 

 

302



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              90 

 

 

14. Ditchling Road 
Above: Junction with Bromley Road - 
a narrow view southwards towards St 
Peter’s Church.  
 
15. Southover Street 
Below: junction with Ewart Street - a 
narrow view north-westwards towards 
the Viaduct. 
 
16. Ashton Rise 
Bottom of the page: Junction with 
John Street – looking north-west 
towards St Peter’s Church 

 

 

303



91                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

 

 

 
  

17. Surrenden Road  
Above: View to the sea.  
18. Bevendean Down 
Below: View to the sea. 
 

 

304



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              92 

12.2. Strategic approach points 
The following strategic approach points have been identified where there will be a series 
of unfolding views: 
A. Dyke Road approach; 
B. London Road approach; 
C. Lewes Road approach; 
D. Approach to sea from Brighton Station; and 
E. Approach to sea from Hove Station. 
In the case of the vehicular approaches (a, (b and (c, the nature of this visual experience 
usually involves a broad shifting view along a major route, part suburban and part urban, 
likely with numerous focal points and a variable edge condition along the way. 
In the case of rail route approaches d) and e), the view is typically of a contained urban 
view type which involves the viewer with a round view of cohesive urban experience. 
Focal points serve to strengthen the overall visual experience. Views towards the sea as 
these emerge should be protected or enhanced. Station sites also offer the opportunity to 
improve first impressions of space upon arrival. 
 

12.3. Landmarks 
Identified strategic landmarks are: 
1. Brighton Royal Pavilion; 
2. St Peter’s Church, York Place, Brighton; 
3. St Bartholomew’s Church, Ann Street, Brighton; 
4. Brighton Station;  
5. The Clock Tower, Queens Road, Brighton; 
6. Brighton / Palace Pier; 
7. London Road Railway Viaduct, Preston Road/Beaconsfield Road, Brighton; 
8. Roedean School, Marine Drive, Brighton; 
9. St Joseph’s Church, Elm Grove, Brighton; 
10. Brighton General Hospital, Elm Grove; 
11. Sussex Heights, St Margaret’s Place, Brighton; 
12. Embassy Court, Kings Road, Brighton; 
13. St John the Baptist Church, Church Road, Hove; 
14. St Peter’s Roman Catholic Church, Tamworth Road, Hove; 
15. The Engineerium, Woodland Drive, Hove; 
16. West Blatchington Windmill, Holmes Avenue, Hove; 
17. Patcham Windmill, Mill Road, Brighton; 
18. Rottingdean Windmill, Nevill Road, Rottingdean; 
19. Lewes Crescent/Sussex Square, Brighton; 
20. Adelaide Crescent / Palmeira Square, Hove; and 
21. Brunswick Square, Hove. 
22.  i360, Kings Road, Brighton; and 
23. Peace Statue, Kings Road, Brighton/Kingsway, Hove 
  

305



93                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

13. Tall Building Statement guidelines 
The council will require applicants to provide the following information as part of a Tall 
Buildings Statement 
The Tall Building Study provides supporting information that applicants may also find 
helpful about the guidelines below. 
 

13.1. Context 

Visual impact 
Tall buildings should be sited in areas of the city that have minimal visual impact on 
sensitive historic environments. Retaining and enhancing key strategic views through the 
careful siting of tall buildings is a key objective. They should protect and complement, not 
compromise, strategic views and important vistas in the city.  

Applicants will need to provide: 
360 degree evaluations of the potential visual impact of the proposal on the city’s 
urban, marine and downland context must be provided. These may be illustrated 
through computer visualisations and photomontage techniques that consider, but are 
not limited to, the following:  
 The built and natural environment;  
 Key strategic views and approaches; and  
 Heritage assets and settings.  
A detailed urban design analysis of surrounding areas that details the positive and 
negative contributions that the proposed tall building makes to the visual quality of the 
area must be provided; the taller the building the more extensive the area of analysis. 

Illustrations must be of a high quality, and capable of being easily understood and 
suitable for public consultation; they should illustrate any perceived negative as well as 
positive visual impact.  
Key strategic views and approaches are set out in more detail in sub-section 12 above. 
 
Siting of buildings  
Groups of tall buildings are often best staggered or stepped to respond to natural slope 
contours and to avoid masking natural valley formations or blocking strategic or important 
local views within and across the city.  

Applicants will need to: 
Demonstrate, by means of a townscape/landscape impact assessment, how the 
proposal sits within the existing townscape and landform. 
Describe the extent to which the proposal contributes to the creation of an attractive 
cluster of tall buildings or creates an individual landmark.  

306

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/downloads/ldf/Tall_Buildings_Study_Final.pdf


SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              94 

The construction of a scale model will often be helpful in assessing this impact. The 
proposal should also have regard to its likely impact on the future of adjoining buildings 
and possible future new developments in the near vicinity, and on local topography. 
 
Climatic impact  
Tall buildings over a certain height can adversely affect the environmental quality of 
surrounding areas through the diversion of high-speed winds to ground level and through 
the overshadowing of adjacent residential buildings including public/private garden 
spaces. The impact of both of these elements can be mitigated through good design and 
sensitive siting. The impact of sunlight and shadows at different times of the day and 
throughout the year will need to be assessed.  

Applicants will need to: 
Describe how the design has considered the local climate.  
Explain how the proposals address the climatic effects of the proposal on its 
surroundings. Issues to be considered will include:  
 Extended overshadowing;  
 The diversion of high-speed winds to ground level; and 
 Glare reduction. 

The use of architectural devices such as screens, terraces and awnings and also facade 
setbacks can be adopted to minimise the effects of high-speed wind at the bases of tall 
buildings. Individual proposals should seek to create well orientated and lively spaces 
that contribute positively to the wider public realm. 
 
Infrastructure 
Development proposals must contribute to the provision of new facilities where there is a 
proven deficiency. The sequence/time scale of delivery of infrastructure in relation to new 
higher density developments must be made clear. 

Applicants will need to: 
Assess the current capacity of local public infrastructure and facilities to support the 
increase in local population that the development will bring to the city (i.e. streets, 
footways, cycle routes, waste water/sewage disposal systems, public transport 
services, access for emergency services, open spaces, playgrounds, schools, and 
child and health care facilities).  
Identify additional infrastructure and facilities required as a result of the proposed 
development, and how these will be achieved and delivered.  

 
Streetscape  
Tall buildings increase pressure on ground floors with more plant equipment, servicing 
and parking. Hence, there is a need to create meaningful spaces at ground level. 

Applicants will need to: 
Describe how the proposal contributes to the streetscape in particular in relation to:  
 Active frontages and natural surveillance; 

307



95                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 Legible entrances;  
 An understanding of the relationship of the proposal to the existing streetscape; and  
 A definition of the public realm.  
Describe how the proposal responds positively to any characteristic alignment and 
setbacks of surrounding buildings.  
Describe its effect on surrounding context and local views, in particular at podium level. 

New tall buildings should make reference to their surroundings though footprint, setback 
and street and building alignment. Aligning tall buildings to terminate visual axis or frame 
scenes can create a strong reference point, which enriches urban legibility and aids 
navigation.  
They should reflect their surroundings through the definition of their upper storey setback 
and by reinforcing the articulation of the streetscape. Any car parking should not be 
located in front of buildings, but contained within the development or located behind 
buildings. 
 
Conservation  
In general new tall buildings in Brighton and Hove should not be within conservation 
areas, nor should they visually impinge on the setting of/or important views of listed 
buildings or conservation areas. This particularly applies to the backdrops of groups of 
historic buildings or the visual envelope surrounding single buildings such as churches 

Applicants will need to: 
Demonstrate, through a heritage impact assessment, that the surrounding area’s 
character or appearance or the setting of any listed building or historic park or garden 
will be preserved or enhanced. 

In areas adjoining conservation areas where new tall buildings may be appropriate, tall 
buildings should, in general, relate well to the unique urban grain, visual axes, general 
context, sense of place, and topography of surrounding conservation areas, and this 
should be tested through detailed character and impact assessment. Conservation Area 
Character Statements should be referenced. 
 
Mix of uses 

Applicants will need to: 
Describe the land use mix. 
Describe how the proposed mix of land uses supports and complements the 
surrounding land use pattern and local community needs, and assists in delivering 
relevant housing and/or employment opportunities.  

 
Amenity of neighbours  

Applicants will need to: 
Describe and analyse the impact of the proposals on neighbouring properties in 
particular aspect/outlook, privacy, daylight, sunlight, noise and light glare. 

308



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              96 

 

13.2. Spaces between buildings 

Active travel  
In the interests of achieving an efficient urban form, intensification of development should 
occur in areas that are within walking distance of either rail stations or major bus routes.  

Applicants will need to: 
Describe existing transport services such as rail stations, bus routes, car club, cycle 
hire provision or sustainable transport corridors within walking distance.  
Assess the suitability of local transport infrastructure and services to accommodate the 
needs derived from new developments and identify means by which transport 
deficiencies will be overcome.  
Provide a transport assessment/statement and travel plan (for non-residential 
development) demonstrating how the development will contribute to improvements to 
surrounding streets or the travel network within 500m.   
Describe the measures incorporated in the proposal which will help to reduce private 
vehicle use, improve permeability and access to public transport. 

The council has identified a number of sustainable transport corridors. These corridors 
are main routes into the city that will be altered to increase access for public transport 
users and by cyclists and pedestrians.  
The aim is to reduce reliance on the car in the city by reducing the required levels of 
parking associated with new development in central areas, encouraging shared use of 
vehicles (e.g. through car clubs) public transport use and greater trips on foot or by cycle.  

Public realm and open space  
The City Plan outlines requirements for the provision of open space within new 
developments. 

Applicants will need to: 
Describe how the proposal has been designed to create high quality public spaces 
within the site and nearby, in particular with regard to:  
 High design quality;  
 Climatic comfort and water management; 
 Need for light, sun and shade; 
 Landscaping, biodiversity and ecology; 
 Adjacent uses;  
 Crime prevention and protection of crowded spaces; 
 Quality and durability of materials; and  
 Arrangements for long term maintenance and management. 
Explain how the proposal meets or exceeds the City Plan requirement for the provision 
of public and private open space.  
Demonstrate how the proposal delivers biodiversity gains and Nature Improvement 
Areas. 

309



97                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

Describe how the proposed development maximises provision of outdoor and indoor 
communal and private amenity space.  
Demonstrate that their proposal will provide equal access for all. 

To a certain extent these might be accommodated through roof terraces, balconies and 
internal courtyards, providing occupants with high quality green space. Some of the open 
space requirements could be accommodated through the development of private external 
spaces. However these elements may not be sufficient to ensure that all residents and 
other users have access to adequate open space.  
As a result, tall building developments may be required to contribute a proportionate 
financial sum to the enhancement of the existing public realm and parks in the vicinity. 
Location of tall buildings near open parkland must nevertheless not harm the peaceful 
enjoyment of the park/public open space by others, or reduce its sense of space. 
 

13.3. Buildings 
Sustainability 

Applicants will need to: 
Describe how the proposal contributes to social inclusion, environmental health and to 
the economic vitality of Brighton and Hove.  
Provide a sustainability statement outlining how the proposal will apply best sustainable 
practices. Particular consideration should be given to:  
 Maximising the efficient use of brownfield land (including an explanation of the 

density of dwellings that is to be achieved for residential development)  
 resource management;  
 energy and thermal performance;  
 water efficiency performance; 
 green infrastructure and biodiversity gains; 
 materials specification;  
 waste management; and  
 a recognised method must be used to assess a proposal’s sustainability (e.g. 

BREEAM, Passivhaus).  

Scale and massing  
The perception of the scale of new tall buildings is an important key in integrating the new 
development into an established urban pattern and grain. New tall buildings should 
respond positively to surrounding building heights and depths and street frontages and 
provide an appropriate scale compatible with their surroundings.  

Applicants will need to: 
Describe the strategy employed to integrate the building with the scale of its context.  
Indicate how the proposed design ensures a feeling of human scale at street level.  
Describe the massing strategy of the proposal.  
Describe how the massing of the proposal is integrated into surrounding development.  
Illustrate how the massing of the proposal creates an appropriate overall form.  

310



SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)                              98 

New tall buildings should have regard to the existing built form massing and maintain the 
area’s sense of place. In general, bulky, dominant massing of new tall buildings should 
be avoided. 

Form  

Applicants will need to: 
Provide a statement that describes in detail the rationale for the form of the proposal.  
In the case of ‘landmark’ buildings the statement should take into account the following 
key points:  
 Inspiration  
 Silhouette  
 Articulation  
 Cultural and climatic reference  
 Describe and illustrate how the form of the roof top enhances the skyline of the city. 

Accessibility and public access 
Tall buildings must be fully compliant with all aspects of disability discrimination 
legislation. 

Applicants will need to: 
Describe how their proposal will provide equal access for all.  
Explain how proposed tall buildings which comprise mixed or commercial uses will 
encourage public access to foster a more positive perception of the building and 
contribute to a stronger sense of community. 

Attention should be paid to means of providing continuous, even access to disabled units 
and facilities and evacuating disabled people from the building in emergencies and 
providing alternative means of access if a lift fails. 
New tall buildings should strive to be as accessible as possible to all people through the 
provision of ramps, lifts, gentle rising steps with landings, clear signage and branding, 
sensitive and appropriate lighting schemes, non-slip surfaces, contrasting colour and 
texture schemes, automatic opening doors, appropriately placed seating, and clear and 
legible internal layouts.  

Materials and maintenance 
Building and maintaining a tall building is expensive.  

Applicants will need to: 
Describe how enough investment has been factored into early feasibility studies and 
viability appraisals that will support ongoing maintenance of the building  
Describe high specification of materials and details for tall buildings. 

The Council will seek to ensure that enough investment has been factored into early 
feasibility studies and viability appraisals that will support ongoing maintenance of the 
building.   

311



99                            SPD17 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD) 

 

 

312



  

Urban Design Framework 

Supplementary Planning Document 

Draft UDF SPD consultation report 

 

 

 

April 2021 

313



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             1 

Contents 

1. About this report .................................................................... 3 

2. Summary of findings .............................................................. 3 

3. Responses received ................................................................ 6 

4. Consultation findings .............................................................. 7 
Q3      In responding to this survey, are you: ........................................................................ 7 

Q4      What is your Postcode? ............................................................................................. 8 

Contents and About this SPD ................................................................................. 8 

Q5     Do you have any comments on the table of CONTENTS and/or ABOUT THIS SPD 
sections of the Draft SPD (pages 1-5)? Please reference page number if possible. ............. 9 

SECTION A: Local priorities ................................................................................. 10 

Q6     To what extent do you support or object and/or have comments regarding the 
OVERARCHING CRITERIA identified for determining the quality of new developmenty? .. 10 

Q7      Do you have any comments regarding these criteria? ............................................. 11 

1. Context ................................................................................................................ 11 

Q8     To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES set out in the 
Context sub-sections of the Draft SPD (pages 7-16)? ........................................................ 11 

Q9     To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES provided for each of 
the Context sub-sections helpful or unhelpful? ................................................................... 12 

Q10   Do you want to suggest GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES that better illustrate your 
comments and/or the design priorities identified in the Context section? ............................ 12 

Q11   To what extent do you support or object to the NEIGHBOURHOOD 
CATEGORISATION set out in sub-section 1.2. Neighbourhood character of the Draft SPD 
(pages 9-10)? ..................................................................................................................... 13 

Q12   To what extent do you support or object to the STRATEGIC VIEWS LANDMARKS 
AND APPROACHES identified in sub-section 1.4. Views and landmarks (pages 13-14)? .. 13 

Q13   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Context section of the Draft SPD? 
Please reference the sub-section and page number........................................................... 16 

2. Spaces between buildings ................................................................................... 18 

Q14   To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES set out in the 
Spaces between buildings sub-sections of the Draft SPD (pages 17-29)? ......................... 18 

Q15   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Spaces between buildings section of 
the Draft SPD? Please reference the sub-section and page number. ................................. 18 

Q16   To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES provided for each of 
the Spaces between buildings sub-sections helpful or unhelpful? ...................................... 20 

314



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             2 

Q17   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate your comments 
and/or the design priorities identified in the SPACES BETWEEN BUILDINGS section? If 
yes, please provide details ................................................................................................. 20 

3. Buildings .............................................................................................................. 21 

Q18   To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES set out in the 
Buildings sub-sections of the Draft SPD (pages 30-39)? .................................................... 21 

Q19   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Buildings section of the Draft SPD? 
Please reference the sub-section and page number........................................................... 21 

Q20  To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES provided for each of 
the Buildings sub-sections helpful or unhelpful? ................................................................. 22 

Q21   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate your comments 
and/or design priorities identified in the BUILDINGS section? If yes, please provide details.
 ........................................................................................................................................... 22 

SECTION B: Tall buildings .................................................................................... 23 

Q22  To what extent do you support and/or object to the aspects of the current framework 
as set out in SPGBH15 Tall buildings that have been progressed into the Draft SPD? ....... 23 

Q23   To what extent to you support or object to the additional information provided for each 
of the tall building areas set out in City Plan Part One Policy CP12 Urban Design? ........... 24 

Q24   Do you have any additional comments on SECTION B TALL BUILDINGS of the Draft 
SPD? ................................................................................................................................. 27 

SECTION C: Planning process ............................................................................. 28 

Q25  To what extent do you agree and/or disagree with the STAGES IN THE DESIGN 
PROCESS set out in Pre-application process sub-section of the Draft SPD? ..................... 28 

Q26   Do you have any comments regarding the PRE-APPLICATION PROCESS section?
 ........................................................................................................................................... 29 

Q27   Do you have any comments regarding the DESIGN ADVICE SERVICES section? .. 30 

Q28   Do you have any comments regarding the COMMUNICATING DESIGN IDEAS WELL 
section? .............................................................................................................................. 30 

Q29   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate your comments 
and/or the examples provided in the PLANNING PROCESS section? If yes, please provide 
details................................................................................................................................. 30 

SECTION D: Appendices ....................................................................................... 31 

Q30   Do you have any comments regarding the Appendices section of the Draft SPD? ... 31 

 

Appendices to this consultation report  
Summary of online events  
Transcripts of Consultation Portal responses   
Transcripts of email responses  

315



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             3 

1. About this report 

1.1. This report summarises the findings of the city-wide public consultation on the 
draft version of the Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(UDF SPD) conducted by Brighton & Hove City Council’s Planning team.  

1.2. The guidance looks at opportunities to support design discussions between 
applicants, designers, planning officers, councillors and communities and deliver 
better design outcomes from new development in the city. This includes showing 
how good urban design can help to improve existing areas, shape new places 
and deliver more inclusive, accessible, sustainable and climate resilient buildings, 
spaces and places for the city; its residents and visitors. Once adopted, the UDF 
SPD will guide decisions on planning applications.   

1.3. The purpose of the consultation was to get feedback on the draft version of the 
supplementary guidance that is required to support the city councils’ corporate 
objectives as set out in the Council Plan 2020-2023 – A Fairer City with a 
Sustainable future and the vision, objectives and planning policies set out in the 
Brighton & Hove City Plan (Parts One and Two), in particular City Plan Part One 
Policy CP12 Urban Design.  

1.4. The findings of this consultation will feed into the final version of the UDF SPD 
that will be submitted to the council’s Tourism, Equalities, Communities & Culture 
Committee for adoption in early Summer 2021. 

2. Summary of findings 

2.1. The consultation on the Draft Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning 
Document (UDF SPD) ran from 23/10/2020 to 11/12/2020. 

2.2. It was undertaken, so far as reasonably practicable in light of the Covid-19 
pandemic, in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 and the guidance set 
out in the council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement for 
supplementary planning documents. 

2.3. The consultation included: 
 5 dedicated online events for those stakeholders that had formally requested to 

be kept informed about planning consultations;  
 12 online briefings for local city partnerships that registered an interest in 

helping to promote the consultation among their members; 
 a survey posted on the council’s online Consultation Portal made available to 

all those stakeholders / individuals who have registered an interest to be kept 
informed of planning consultations and anyone else who wanted to comment 
on the document; and 

 opportunities for people without internet access to view consultation documents 
using computers available in council libraries, given that libraries were running 
a restricted service and were not able place paper copies of the document at 
the libraries. 

2.4. Overall, the council received 77 responses in total.  

316



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             4 

2.5. Most respondents live, work and/or run a business in Brighton & Hove (72%) and 
nearly half (44%) submitted responses on behalf of an organisation (see 3.3 
below). 

2.6. Below is a summary of responses and issues that attracted the greatest number 
of comments per section and sub-section of the Draft UDF SPD. The summary is 
set out in order of the document structure. 

2.7. A more detailed breakdown of responses is provided in section 4 of this report: 
Consultation Findings. 
 
Overall 
 There is broad support for most 

aspects of the guidance. 
 The graph on the right indicates the 

maximum number of responses 
received for each section. Section B 
Tall buildings is shown as attracting 
the most interest. It is important to 
note that most of theses focused 
specifically on guidance provided 
for Tall Building Area 9 Shoreham 
Harbour. 

 
 
Contents and About this SPD 
 There were 15 responses were received regarding this section of the guidance. 
 Respondents put forward ideas for making structure clearer, improving 

illustrations/diagrams and/or using more local good practice examples. 
 Some suggested that the guidance is made mandatory and/or strengthened 

while others requested a clearer steer that considerations set out in the 
guidance are not mandatory and/or should be treated flexibly. 

 
SECTION A Local priorities 
 A maximum of 22 responses were received regarding this section of the 

guidance. 
 On average two out of three respondents strongly support or tend to support 

the overarching criteria for determining the quality of new development, 
priorities and good practice examples provided in the Context, Spaces between 
buildings and Buildings sections of the guidance. 

 More than half of respondents strongly support or tend to support all but 
category 3A (urban areas where positive and pro-active measures required to 
secure major enhancement) of the neighbourhood categorisation set out in 
heading 1.2: Neighbourhood Character,  

 Detailed comments received ranged from:  

317



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             5 

− ensuring new development is in keeping with the surrounding area; 
− suggestions for new strategic views and landmarks;  
− strengthening guidance on active travel (including cycling and walking 

standards and 15/20-minute neighbourhood principles); to  
− equal access and securing biodiversity net gains. 

 
SECTION B Tall buildings 
 A maximum of 37 responses were received regarding this section of the 

guidance  
 On average half or just over half of respondents strongly supported or tended 

to support the identified indicative boundaries and the proposed design 
considerations for tall building areas except for Area 9 Shoreham Harbour.  

 In regard to height ranges, there was roughly a three-way split as per table 
below: 

Tall Building Area Level of support and/or objection  

1 Brighton Marina Just over a third of respondents strongly support or tend to 
support to height ranges set out for this area 

2 Brighton Station / 
New England 

Just over a third of respondents strongly support or tend to 
support to height ranges set out for this area 

3 Central Seafront Just over a third of respondents strongly support or tend to 
support to height ranges set out for this area 

4 Eastern Road / 
Edward Street 

Just over a third of respondents strongly object or tend to 
object to height ranges set out for this area 

5 Hove Station Just over a third of respondents strongly support or tend to 
support to height ranges set out for this area 

6 Lewes Road Just over a third of respondents strongly object or tend to 
object to height ranges set out for this area 

7 London Road / 
Preston Road 

Just over a third of respondents neither support nor object to 
or don’t know/not sure about height ranges set out for this area 

8 Western 
Seafront/Kingsway 

Just over a third of respondents strongly support or tend to 
support to height ranges set out for this area 

 

 Two out of three respondents strongly objected to the indicative boundaries, 
height ranges and design considerations set out for Tall Building Area 9 
Shoreham Harbour. Respondents made comments/suggestions to address 
issues raised including:  
− ensuring greater consideration of the impact of wind and overshadowing 

upon open spaces for people and nature; to 
− encouraging ‘tall’ and ‘very tall’ development only in exceptional 

circumstances and/or when these provide greater benefits like, for example, 
more affordable housing. 

 

318



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             6 

SECTION C Planning process 
 A maximum of 15 responses were received regarding this section of the 

guidance. 
 Three out of four respondents strongly agreed or tended to agree with the 

stages in the design process. 
 Detailed comments received included: 
 the need to encourage applicants to factor in design priorities at the earliest 

stages of the design process; and 
 for the Local Authority and applicants to raise the standards and consistency in 

public consultations by positively engaging with local communities at the 
various stages of the design process. 

 
SECTION D Appendices 
 There were 14 responses were received regarding this section of the guidance. 
 Comments involved requests for the detailed list of documents to be improved 

and extended to include all relevant Planning Advisory Notes (PAN) and/or 
available external guidance to setting maximum densities, explaining what 
constitutes 'enhancement' of an area from a community’s perspective, and/or 
referring to Listed Buildings and the need to review older Character Area 
Statements. 

3. Responses received  

3.1. The council received a total of 77 responses of which:  
 24 were received via Consultation Portal (2 of these via response forms); and 
 53 were received via email. 

3.2. Of all responses received 25 were submitted on behalf and/or in support of the 
Kingsway and West Hove Residents Association regarding section 5.9 of the 
Draft UDF SPD: Tall buildings Area 9: Shoreham Harbour.  

3.3. The following organisations submitted responses to this consultation: 
 Brighton Active Travel; 
 Brighton & Hove Community Land Trust; 
 Brighton & Hove Food Partnership;  
 Brighton & Hove Local Access Forum;  
 Brighton & Hove Planning Agents Forum (PAF); 
 Brunswick Town Association; 
 Citydesigner on behalf of advisors to Brighton Central-Churchill Square 

masterplan;  
 Cycling UK, Brighton and Hove; 
 Environment Agency; 
 Friends of the South Downs / South Downs Society; 
 Green Varndean Action Group; 

319



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             7 

 Highways England; 
 Historic England;  
 Hove Civic Society;  
 Kingsway and West Hove Residents Association;  
 Lichfields on behalf of Landsec;  
 Montpelier and Clifton Hill Association; 
 Natural England; 
 Network Rail;  
 North Laine Community Association; 
 Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex;  
 Quad on behalf of St William Homes;  
 Rottingdean Parish;  
 RSPB England - Brighton Office;  
 Savills on behalf of Legal & General Investment Management;  
 Shoreham Port Authority;  
 South Downs National Park Authority;  
 Southern Water;  
 Sport England;  
 Sussex & Surrey Police;  
 Sussex Wildlife Trusts;  
 Sustrans; and 
 The Brighton Society. 

 

4. Consultation findings 

4.1. The consultation findings across all responses received are set out in more detail 
below. The findings are ordered according to questions in the online survey 
posted on the council’s Consultation Portal. The corresponding sections and sub-
sections of the Draft UDF are as follows:  
 Respondent details: Q1-Q4. 
 Contents and About this SPD: Q5. 
 Local priorities: Q6-Q21. 
 Tall buildings: Q22-Q24. 
 Planning Process: Q25-Q29 
 Appendices: Q30 

4.2. Questions 1 and 2 of the survey asked respondents for information; some of 
which is not included in this report as this would be against GDPR requirements.  

 

Q3      In responding to this survey, are you: 

320



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             8 

Someone who lives in Brighton & Hove 

 

Someone who works in Brighton & Hove 

Someone who has/runs a business in Brighton & Hove 

A landowner 

A developer 

An urban design professional 

Someone responding on behalf of an organisation 

Other 

 
4.3. There were 77 responses received for this question and, as the graph above 

indicates, most respondents live and/or work in Brighton & Hove and/or 
responded on behalf of an organisation. 
 

Q4      What is your Postcode? 

4.4. There were 75 responses received 
for this question and, as the graph 
below indicates, almost half of 
respondents are from Hove (BN3).  

4.5. The high percentage of responses 
received from Hove (BN3) is a result 
of a high number of responses 
received from supporters of the 
Kingsway and West Hove Residents 
Association regarding Tall Building 
Area 9: Shoreham Harbour (set out 
page 57 of the Draft UDF SPD). 

 
 

Contents and About this SPD 

‘Should there be a section on climate emergency?’  

‘Where for the most part the new draft does read very well, its structure might be 
clearer were this made more emphatic in the two introductory pages.’ 

321



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             9 

 

Q5     Do you have any comments on the table of CONTENTS and/or 
ABOUT THIS SPD sections of the Draft SPD (pages 1-5)? Please 
reference page number if possible. 

4.6. There were 15 responses received to this question. Suggestions/Comments 
made are summarised below. 

 

Comments/Suggestions   Number of responses 

Suggestions to make structure clearer, improve illustrations/diagrams 
and/or provide local good practice examples 

 

Guidance welcomed 

Introduce section on climate emergency and/or set out clearer targets 
to address climate challenge 

Re-word aspects of guidance that are too prescriptive placing additional 
financial burden and threating viability 

Make guidance mandatory 

 
  

322



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             10 

SECTION A: Local priorities 

‘…[A]ny development should be [in] keeping with the local built area.’ 

‘For Historic England, a primary issue is … to ensure the existing distinctive 
historic environments are maintained and provide a context for high quality, 
contemporary design in new developments. We are pleased that the SPD 
successfully achieves this.’ 

‘There could be reference to 15-minute neighbourhoods …’ 

‘Introduce cap on high-density development.’ 

 

Q6     To what extent do you support or object and/or have comments 
regarding the OVERARCHING CRITERIA identified for determining 
the quality of new development in the city? 

 

4.7. These criteria were set out in 
bold text on page 6 of the Draft 
SPD. 

4.8. There were 22 responses to this 
question.  

4.9. As the graph on the right 
indicates a significant majority of 
respondents strongly supported 
or tended to support the 
overarching criteria identified in 
the Draft SPD. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

323



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             11 

Q7      Do you have any comments regarding these criteria? 
4.10. There were 16 responses to this question. Suggestions/Comments made are 

summarised in the graph below. 
 

Comments 
 Number of 
responses 

Ensure new housing looks similar to existing buildings, in particular in 
Conservation Areas and/or Urban Fringe sites 

 

Guidance strikes a good balance across priorities, including Heritage 

Introduce cap on and/or do not promote high-density development given 
impact upon traffic congestion and ability to meet biodiversity targets 

Strengthen need for access to local services within 15-minute walking 
distance and/or cycling 

Emphasise the need for carbon neutrality and to consider air quality and its 
impact of local pollution upon health 

Add reference to need to consider crime prevention, access for emergency 
services and protection of crowded places 

Not enough reference made to importance of the city's heritage 

Not enough reference in this section to the importance of community 
involvement at the early stages of the design process 

Strengthen need to consider equal/disabled access journeys into and through 
spaces and buildings 

 

1. Context 

Q8     To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES 
set out in the Context sub-sections of the Draft SPD (pages 7-16)? 

4.11. There were 18 responses to this question. As the graph below indicates, of those 
who answered this question, a significant majority supported or tended to support 
the priorities identified in this section of the Draft SPD. 

 

324



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             12 

 
 
 

Q9     To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES 
provided for each of the Context sub-sections helpful or unhelpful? 

4.12. There were 15 responses to this question. As the graph below indicates, of those 
who answered this question, a majority found good practice examples provided in 
this section of the Draft SPD helpful or extremely helpful. 

 

 
 

Q10   Do you want to suggest GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES that better 
illustrate your comments and/or the design priorities identified in the 
Context section? 

4.13. There were 3 responses to this question. Suggestions made included:  
 Providing examples for 1.2 Neighbourhood character and 1.4 Views and 

landmarks; and 
 Using examples of creative/innovative incorporation of non-petrol-fuelled 

vehicles and community consultation. 
 

325



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             13 

Q11   To what extent do you support or object to the NEIGHBOURHOOD 
CATEGORISATION set out in sub-section 1.2. Neighbourhood 
character of the Draft SPD (pages 9-10)?  

4.14. There were 15 responses to this part of the question. As the graph below 
indicates a majority of those who answered this question supported the 
categories identified as areas to be conserved and those suitable for localised, 
incremental development and improvement. A smaller majority supported the 
categorisation of areas where measures are required to secure major 
enhancement and mixed approach areas. 

 

 
 

4.15. Of the 15 respondents, 6 provided more detailed comments on the categorisation 
including: 
 Requests for review 'urban' and 'suburban' classification of particular areas; 
 Concerns that emphasis on preserving and piecemeal enhancement for most 

areas limits scope for high-density, high-quality, contemporary design; 
 Making Categorisation map clearer by using greater contrast to differentiate 

colours and adding SDNP boundary; and 
 Concerns about the impact neighbourhood gentrification could have upon 

affordability (i.e. housing tenure and rent levels) in poorer neighbourhoods 
which tend to be classed as being ‘less sensitive to change’. 

 

Q12   To what extent do you support or object to the STRATEGIC VIEWS 
LANDMARKS AND APPROACHES identified in sub-section 1.4. 
Views and landmarks of the Draft SPD (pages 13-14)? 

4.16. There was an average of 15 responses to the STRATEGIC VIEWS part of the 
question. As the graph below indicates a considerable majority supported the 16 
views identified. 

326



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             14 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

4.17. Of those who responded, 7 provided more detailed comments on STRATEGIC 
VIEWS including: 
 Requests for additional views to be included from Clifton Hill, Peace Statue, 

Bevendean Down and Surrenden Road; 
 Acknowledge importance of the setting and views to and from the SDNP and 

for applicants to get input from SDNPA prior to submitting an application to 
Brighton & Hove City Council; 

 Ensuring views do not hold back new development and/or that new 
development enhances views; and 

 Ensure foreground features do not hide features in the background. 
 
4.18. There was an average of 15 responses to LANDSMARKS part of the question. As 

the graph below indicates a substantial majority of those who answered this 
question supported the 21 landmarks identified in the Draft UDF SPD. 

327



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             15 

 

 

 

 

 

 
4.19. Of those who responded, 4 provided more detailed comments on LANDMARKS 

including: 
 Requests for Royal Crescent and other elements of Kemp Town, i360, 

Rampion Wind Farm and Peace Statue to be added to list of identified 
landmarks; and 

 Consider view corridors to landmarks. 
 

328



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             16 

4.20. There was an average of 15 responses to the APPROACHES part of the 
question. As the graph below there was significant support for all 5 approaches 
identified in the Draft UDF SPD. 

 

 
 

4.21. Of those who responded, 3 provided more detailed comments on APPROACHES 
including: 
 Requests for coastal approaches by sea of East-West along the NCN and the 

England Coast Path and A259 to be added to list of identified approaches; and 
 Consider improving main routes into the city for cyclists, buses and 

pedestrians. 
 
 
 

Q13   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Context section of the 
Draft SPD? Please reference the sub-section and page number. 

4.22. Detailed comments and/or suggestions were put forward by 14 respondents. 
These included requests to: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

329



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             17 

Comments/Suggestions 
Number of 
responses 

Ensure compliance with the standards for cycling and walking infrastructure, 
particularly space and facilities provided for each mode of transport 

  

Use other/additional case studies, in particular local examples 

Strengthen measures to deliver biodiversity net gains, particularly tree planting 

Promote low-speed, low traffic streets that maximise active travel, equal access 
and children play and minimise rat runs and car parking 

Reduce dominance of cars and hardstanding surfaces and maximise 
infrastructure provision for electric vehicles 

Considerations are not mandatory and should be treated flexibly  

Use of shared space should be exception and carefully considered as it can result 
in a threatening environment for less agile users. 

Refer to need to conserve and enhance key views and views of key landmarks 
within the SDNP 

Avoid placing habitable spaces where traffic may be congested and launch (i.e. 
hill climb or start). 

Assess impact of wind conditions in all uses of public routes 

Consider adopting a tree levy on all new developments  

Introduce new trees in carriageway space rather than pavements to ensure roots 
do not adversely impact upon equal access. 

Set criteria to assess departures from established neighbourhood character  

Welcomed measures to protect the Brighton Chalk Block Aquifer 

Refer to importance of parameter plan summarising townscape and landscape 
considerations, proposals and guiding principles for future development 

Consider ecological information from the onset and use it to inform the 
masterplanning process and strategic green network biodiversity net gains. 

 
 
 

330



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             18 

2. Spaces between buildings 

Q14   To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES 
set out in the Spaces between buildings sub-sections of the Draft SPD 
(pages 17-29)? 

4.23. There was an average of 16 responses across the 7 priorities identified in this 
question. As the graph below indicates a considerable majority of those who 
answered this question supported the priorities identified this section of the Draft 
UDF SPD. 

 
 

Q15   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Spaces between 
buildings section of the Draft SPD? Please reference the sub-section 
and page number. 

4.24. Detailed comments and/or suggestions were put forward by 25 respondents. 
These included requests to: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

331



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             19 

Comments/Suggestions 
Number of 
responses 

Encourage use of street design and/or walking and cycling infrastructure 
standards and the use of sustainable materials, segregated lanes and/or 

15-minute neighbourhood principles 

 

Strengthen reference to health benefits associated with active travel 
principles and lower car use, in particular improved air quality 

Set out evidence base needed to support assessment of outdoor amenity 
priorities/sports provision, biodiversity enhancement, impact of wind and/or 

levels of sunlight/daylight 

Ensure developments are fully accessible with wide, continuous, safe and 
even routes, including connections to the SDNP/countryside 

Show how safe, multi-function local streets and open spaces can provide 
opportunities for children play, communal gardening and places to rest 

Emphasise how green infrastructure can help to optimise blue infrastructure 
and biodiversity net gains and minimise impact of lighting on landscape 

In low- and/or car-free development optimise parking provision for Blue 
Badge holders 

Explain how densities need to be sufficiently high for local amenities to 
deliver 15/20-minute neighbourhoods and how this approach may not be 

achievable in lower-density, suburban areas of the city 

Identify opportunities for pooling resources to deliver large scale artistic 
element that can create a collective legacy for the city 

Avoid placing active ground floor uses, outdoor seating, amenity and 
balconies in locations where harmful emissions are high 

Highlight potential for sporting activities to attract multiple users and 
spectators and contribute to the vitality and viability of town centre areas 

Encourage engagement with local communities when commissioning 
artistic element within schemes 

Prevent risk to public health of contaminated land 

 

 
 
 
 

332



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             20 

Q16   To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES 
provided for each of the Spaces between buildings sub-sections 
helpful or unhelpful? 

4.25. There was an average of 15 responses received to this question. A significant 
majority of respondents considered the examples provided helpful or extremely 
helpful.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

Q17   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate 
your comments and/or the design priorities identified in the SPACES 
BETWEEN BUILDINGS section? If yes, please provide details below. 

4.26. Detail comments and suggestions were put forward by 8 respondents to this 
question. Of these, 7 suggested additional and/or replacement good practice 
examples including: 
 Diagram illustrating relationship between built form and public accessible 

space; 
 Inclusive and commercial cycling; 
 Multi-function streets and facilities designed for electric and/or autonomous 

vehicles; and 
 Food growing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

333



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             21 

3. Buildings 

Q18   To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES 
set out in the Buildings sub-sections of the Draft SPD (pages 30-39)? 

4.27. There was an average of 14 responses to priorities set out in this question. As the 
graph shows, there was significant support among respondents for the priorities 
identified. 

 

 
Above: Responses to design priorities identified in section 3 Buildings of the Draft UDF SPD. 

 
 

Q19   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Buildings section of 
the Draft SPD? Please reference the sub-section and page number. 

4.28. Detailed comments and/or suggestions were put forward by 20 respondents. 
These included requests to: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

334



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             22 

Comments/Suggestions 
Number of 
responses 

Set out methods/assessment tools to calculate carbon emission reduction, carbon 
capture, embodied carbon and/or reduction in car use 

 

Refer to the need to provide convenient, dry, secure indoor and outdoor cycle 
storage and parking facilities including non-standard cycles 

Highlight additional benefits of greening including carbon neutrality, water 
management and wildlife including measures to retrofit green infrastructure 

Strengthen need to tackle housing inequality/affordability for local people 

Request highest/zero carbon standards of design and construction, in particular for 
affordable housing 

Ensure transport corridors with road traffic emissions are not fully enclosed forming 
street canyons that result in poor air quality 

Refer to space requirements needed to deliver renewable heat generation and 
other energy saving measures 

Request statement setting out how the design and layout of the development 
meets the principles of active design 

Consider post-Covid space demand for home working 

Consider use of underground waste storage and collection in 
large new build development. 

Emphasise importance of delivery and servicing facilities where there is higher 
dependence on home deliveries (i.e. car-free development) 

Consider the need to provide gender neutral toilet and changing room facilities 

 
 

Q20  To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES 
provided for each of the Buildings sub-sections helpful or unhelpful? 

4.29. There was a technical problem with the question posted on the Consultation 
Portal that meant that some response options were not available. As a result, 
responses were not accurately recorded and are not included in this report. 
Respondent comments/suggestions regarding good practice examples were 
captured as part of Q21 below. 

 
 

Q21   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate 
your comments and/or the design priorities identified in the 
BUILDINGS section? If yes, please provide details below. 

4.30. Detailed comments and/or suggestions were put forward by 6 respondents. 
These included: 

335



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             23 

 Three respondents asking that good practice examples of passive, active 
surveillance and accessible parking, dropped kerbs and covered, easy to 
access indoor and outdoor cycle storage, in particular in flatted development 
be provided;  

 Two respondents suggested using local examples to illustrate application of 
circular economy principles; 

 One respondent suggested using less onerous, easier to achieve examples of 
green walls than that of the All England Club; and 

 Another using more examples of Passivhaus development. 
 
 

SECTION B: Tall buildings 

‘Tall buildings with flats for the elderly and disabled with only dropped kerbs are not 
good as wheelchair users living in these flats can only go around the outside path.’ 

‘Tall buildings combined with narrow roads ... reduce our ability to see the sky …, get 
a lot of sunshine, see the green hills … connection with nature has been severed.’ 

‘… [WE] acknowledge the attempts of this draft UDF to mitigate the harmful impact of 
tall buildings in our city.’ 
 

Q22  To what extent do you support and/or object to the aspects of the 
current framework as set out in SPGBH15 Tall buildings that have 
been progressed into the Draft SPD? 

 

4.31. There were 15 
responses to this 
question.  

4.32. As the graph on the 
right indicates, there 
was broad support for 
the elements of the 
existing framework 
being progressed into 
the UDF SPD. Greater 
support was registered 
for the Definition and 
Tall Building Statement 
guidelines than for the 
Tall Building 
Statements element of 
the framework. 

 
Above: Responses to SPGBH15 Tall buildings framework progressed 
into Draft UDF SPD. 

 

336



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             24 

Q23   To what extent to you support or object to the additional information 
provided for each of the tall building areas set out in City Plan Part 
One Policy CP12 Urban Design? 

4.33. Regarding INDICATIVE BOUNDARIES, there were 33 responses received 
regarding Area 9 Shoreham Harbour; 15 regarding Areas 1 Brighton Marina and 8 
Western Seafront/Kingsway; and 14 regarding the remaining tall building areas. 

4.34. As the graph below suggests, there was broad support for indicative boundaries 
identified for most tall building areas identified in this section of the Draft UDF 
SPD apart from Area 9 Shoreham Harbour. In this case, most respondents 
objected or tended to object to indicative boundaries. 

 
Above: Responses to indicative boundaries set out in sub-section 5 Tall Building areas of the Draft UDF SPD.  
 
4.35. Thirty-two respondents provided more detailed comments on indicative 

boundaries for two of the Tall Building Areas set out in this part of the question. 
The table below summarises comments/suggestions provided for each area. 

Tall Building 
Area Comments regarding indicative boundaries 

1 Brighton 
Marina 

Two respondents pointed out that the inclusion of the Gasworks site and the 
area to the east extends the boundary beyond that set out in City Plan Part 
One Policy CP12 Urban Design and requested that this be revised 
accordingly. 

9 Shoreham 
Harbour 

Shoreham Harbour requested that clarification be provided regarding 
character areas boundaries to align this tall building area with this and other 
policies set out in the Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP). 
This request was further supported by 29 responses received from and/or in 
support of the by the Kingsway and West Hove Residents Association 
Committee (KAWHRA) to incorporate JAAP boundaries to this area’s map.  

4.36. Regarding HEIGHT RANGES, there were 15 responses to 5.1. Area 1: Brighton 
Marina and 14 responses to all other areas identified in this part of the question. 

4.37. A technical problem meant that an option for respondents to ‘support’ or ‘object’ to 
height ranges identified for Area 9 Shoreham Harbour was not available. 
However, detailed comments captured as part of the ‘comments’ section of this 

337



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             25 

question indicate that most respondents ‘strongly object’ or ‘tend to object’ to 
height ranges proposed for this tall building area (see 5.42 below). 

4.38. As the graph below indicates, there was roughly a three-way split whereby just 
over a third of respondents:  
 ‘strongly objected’ or ‘tended to object’ to height ranges set out for Areas 4 

Eastern Road / Edward Street and 6 Lewes Road corridor;  
 ‘strongly supported’ or ‘tended to support’ the height ranges set out for Areas 1 

Brighton Marina, 2 Brighton Station / New England, 3 Central Seafront, 5 Hove 
Station and 8 Western Seafront/Kingsway; and   

 ‘neither supported nor objected’ to height ranges set out for Area 7 London 
Road / Preston Road. 

 
Above: Responses to height ranges set out in sub-section 5 Tall Building areas of the Draft UDF SPD.  
 
4.39. In addition to the responses identified in the graph above, a further 37 responses 

were received regarding indicative height ranges for eight of the Tall Building 
Areas set out in this part of the question. The table below summarises 
comments/suggestions provided for each area. 

Tall Building Area Comments regarding height ranges 

1 Brighton Marina One respondent thought height ranges were about right. 
2 Brighton Station / 
New England 

Two respondents indicated that recently granted consent for tall building 
is too high. 
One other suggested maximum height should not exceed the 6 to 8 
storey range. 
One respondent suggested that recently granted consents for tall 
buildings should be considered when setting height range. 

3 Central Seafront 

One respondent thought maximum height should be 6 to 8 storeys. 

4 Eastern Road / 
Edward Street 
5 Hove Station 
6 Lewes Road 
7 London Road / 
Preston Road 

338



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             26 

Tall Building Area Comments regarding height ranges 

9 Shoreham 
Harbour 

Twenty nine respondents asked that heights be described in metres as 
well as in storeys and that a maximum height range of 8 storeys (24 
metres) be set for sites located above the level of Basin Road North 
and/or to 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. 

4.40. Regarding DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS, there were 32 responses received 
regarding Area 9 Shoreham Harbour; 15 regarding Areas 1 Brighton Marina and 8 
Western Seafront/Kingsway; and 14 regarding the remaining tall building areas. 

4.41. As the graph below suggests, more respondents ‘strongly supported’ or ‘tended to 
support’ design considerations identified for tall building areas apart from Area 9 
Shoreham Harbour. For this area, most respondents ‘strongly objected’ or ‘tended 
to object’ to design considerations. 

 
Above: Responses to design considerations set out in sub-section 5 Tall Building areas of the Draft UDF SPD .  
 
4.42. Of those who responded, 36 provided more detailed comments on design 

considerations for each of the Tall Building Areas set out in this part of the 
question. The table below summarises comments/suggestions provided for each 
area. 

Tall Building 
Area Comments regarding design considerations 

1 Brighton 
Marina 

The Environment Agency suggested strengthening reference to reducing the 
risk of flooding from the sea and surface water where possible. 
One respondent thought design considerations were about right. 
Another that overdevelopment should be avoided. 

2 Brighton 
Station / New 
England 

One respondent thought there is a need to improve connections to facilitate 
walking and cycling and signpost funding opportunities.  
One other suggested extension of the Greenway concept and improved 
wayfinding could help to create a better sense of place. 

3 Central 
Seafront 

One respondent thought that considerations are not flexible enough to 
enable for tall buildings to be located on the periphery of the Brighton 
Centre/Churchill Square site and/or to unlock the potential of view corridors, 
use mix and public realm network across this site. 

339



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             27 

Tall Building 
Area Comments regarding design considerations 

9 Shoreham 
Harbour 

The Environment Agency requested reference be made to the need to 
minimise flood risk and reduce the impact of noise and air pollution. 
Twenty-nine respondents asked for considerations identified in the Draft UDF 
SPD to be combined and aligned with the relevant character areas and 
design policies in the Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP).  
One respondent suggested referring to the need to support and develop the 
use of Shoreham Harbour as a port. 

 
Q24   Do you have any additional comments on SECTION B TALL 

BUILDINGS of the Draft SPD? 
4.43. Detailed comments and/or suggestions were put forward by 15 respondents. 

These varied from views to potential trade-offs and issues that need to be 
prioritised when assessing proposals. 
 Four respondents considered that given the adverse impact of wind and 

overshadowing from tall buildings it is important, when assessing proposals, to 
ensure these do not create inhospitable open spaces for people and plant 
growing; 

 Three respondents who pointed out that limited availability of space for new 
development in the city will mean that proposals for taller buildings need to be 
considered as an option; 

 Three respondents who stressed that ‘tall’ and ‘very tall’ development is harmful 
and/or unacceptable and should only be considered in exceptional 
circumstances and/or when providing greater benefits like, for example, more 
affordable housing; 

 Two respondents considered given the impact of air pollution upon tall building 
users, there is a need to ensure, when assessing proposals, continuous long-
term user exposure, in growth and/or congested areas of the city is avoided; and 

 Two respondents requested that the need for tall buildings to provide safe, 
secure, accessible cycle parking and storage with e-bike charging points in fire 
safe lockers and non-standard cycle facilities be emphasised;  

 One respondent requested that the tall buildings definition be simplified and/or 
made clearer and that the Tall Buildings Statement guidelines set out in Section 
D be condensed and incorporated into the Tall Building Statement section. They 
also asked for the recommendation that all buildings should not mask natural 
valley formations to be removed given it unduly restricts compositional approach 
and would be better assessed on a case by case basis; 

 One respondent requested that the need to facilitate walking and cycling and 
identify cycling routes be strengthen and for funding opportunities available to 
deliver improvements to be added; and 

 Another that a request for applicants to undertake a townscape and visual 
impact assessment and to agree inclusion of transport chapter as part of an 
EIA be included in the guidance. 

  

340



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             28 

SECTION C: Planning process 

Q25  To what extent do you agree and/or disagree with the STAGES IN THE 
DESIGN PROCESS set out in Pre-application process sub-section of 
the Draft SPD? 

4.44. There were 12 responses to this part of the question. As the graph below 
indicates there was strong agreement with the stages identified in this part of the 
Draft UDF SPD. 

 

 
Above: Responses to stages of design process set out in Section C Planning process of the Draft UDF SPD .  

 

4.45. Of those who responded, 2 provided more detailed comments/suggestions. The 
table below summarises these by stage. 

 
Stage in the 
design 
process Comments/suggestions 

Vision and site 
strategy 

One respondent thinks it is important to ensure comprehensive early 
consultation is carried out and feedback is sought from the local community 
prior to a planning application being submitted. 

Conceptual 
design options 

One respondent feels requests for figure ground studies, plans, sections, 
elevations, 3D images and/or models is too excessive, onerous and items 
such as sections and elevations should not be expected.  
One respondent suggests asking applicants about impact upon local 
heritage assets. 

Preferred 
design concept 

One respondent suggests requesting drawings in greater detail and a 
sustainability strategy is overly prescriptive for the pre-application stage. 
Instead, a more targeted approach to drawings and engagement with 
sustainability officers at an early stage to ensure policy requirements are 
considered as part of the emerging design proposals is needed. 

341



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             29 

Stage in the 
design 
process Comments/suggestions 

One respondent suggests requesting a design statement from applicants 
setting out minimum design information given that many applications, 
particularly the smaller ones, fail to explain how proposals relate to the 
surrounding urban context. 

Detailed design One respondent finds the request for applicants to submit a Design and 
Access Statement (DAS) or fully-realised and calculated sustainability 
strategies prior to submission of an application too onerous and should be 
made optional or replaced by information that can be shared iteratively 
during the pre-application stage.  
One respondent suggested making the distinction between ‘detailed design’ 
and that which refers to that produced after planning approval has been 
granted. 

 
 

Q26   Do you have any comments regarding the PRE-APPLICATION 
PROCESS section of the Draft SPD? 

4.46. There were 15 responses received which included comments/suggestions 
received regarding the pre-application process.  
 Five respondents highlight the importance of factoring in design priorities at the 

earliest stages of the design process (i.e. active design, ecological 
assessments, gender neutral facilities, food growing, daylight/sunlight); 

 Four respondents feel the standards and consistency in public consultations by 
the Local Authority and applicants could be raised by, for example, adding 
guidance on community consultation and/or promoting the use of consultation 
rooms where design proposals could be displayed and discussed with local 
communities; 

 Four respondents want to ensure poor design is refused and/or suggest 
upgrading wording from ‘council recommends’ to ‘require'; 

 Three respondents stress the need for applicants to positively engage with 
local communities at the various stages of the design process (i.e. more often 
and meaningfully rather than as part of a tick-box exercise); 

 Two respondents ask for greater clarity on the required number, type and 
arrangements of design consultations given that expectation of all applicants 
entering into 3 pre-app consultations and the ability of the LPA to cope with 
increased demand is unrealistic; 

 One respondent finds information about the nature and amount of information 
required at pre-application stage too prescriptive, failing to recognise the 
demand of different types of application (i.e. detailed, outline or hybrid) and the 
role of planning conditions in enabling details to be agreed at the later stages 
of the design process; and  

 One respondent suggested cross referencing the design stages with the RIBA 
Plan of Work 2020; and  

342



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             30 

 One respondent stressed the need for applicant and design team expectations 
to be matched by reciprocal expectations of BHCC departments in facilitating a 
smooth, linear assessment process. 

 
 

Q27   Do you have any comments regarding the DESIGN ADVICE 
SERVICES section of the Draft SPD? 

4.47. There were 6 responses to this question. These included requests from: 
 Three respondents to signpost free design advice/review delivered by non-

governmental organisations that are not part of council services (i.e. 
Conservation Advisory Group, Brighton & Hove amenity societies and 
Sustrans);  

 Two respondents to ensure design advice benefits from local knowledge; 
 The Environment Agency to signpost their charged for service to provide 

detailed and bespoke pre-application advice; and 
 One respondent to encourage applicants to collaborate with the council’s 

Equalities co-ordinators, local trans groups and University of Brighton to create 
leading best practice in trans-inclusive design. 

 
 

Q28   Do you have any comments regarding the COMMUNICATING 
DESIGN IDEAS WELL section of the Draft SPD? 

4.48. There were 4 responses to this question. These included requests from: 
 One respondent to provide guidance on the quality and size of supporting 

documents; 
 One respondent to simplify the content and reduce the length of documents 

given that this can be a barrier to engaging local communities and non-experts;  
 One respondent to refer to Design Council online guidance on how to write, 

read and use Design Statements; and 
 One respondent to promote use of 3D modelling as consultation tool. 

 

4.49. Of those who responded, 6 provided comments on sub-section 9.1. A day in the 
life. This included suggestions from: 
 Two respondents to identify some assigned personas to guide assessment 

such as, for example, a disabled cyclist, a transgender and/or resident living in 
affordable housing accommodation; and 

 One resident to include assessment of performance over the lifetime of the 
development in regard to, for example, maintenance, responses to climate 
change, changes in use, adaption and/or re-assembly. 

 
 

Q29   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate 
your comments and/or the examples provided in the PLANNING 
PROCESS section? If yes, please provide details below. 

343



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             31 

4.50. There was 1 response to this question. The respondent asked whether the 
approach set out in this section of the guidance is a preferred approach that can 
be applied flexibly according to the type of application and proportionately when it 
comes to the level of information to be provided as part of the Design & Access 
Statement. 

 
SECTION D: Appendices 

Q30   Do you have any comments regarding the Appendices section of the 
Draft SPD? 

4.51. There were 14 responses to this question. Two respondents thought this part of 
the document is comprehensive. The table below summarises other 
comments/suggestions received by section. 

 
Appendices 
section Comments/suggestions 

10 Extended list of 
policies and  
documents 

Four respondents suggested providing a detailed list of relevant 
Planning Advisory Notes (PAN) and/or available external guidance on 
active travel. 

11 Neighbourhood 
sensitivity to change  
and priorities for 
enhancement 

Three respondents suggested setting maximum densities, explaining 
what constitutes 'enhancement' of an area from a community’s 
perspective, and/or referring to Listed Buildings and the need to review 
older Character Area Statements. 
One respondents asked that the Gas Works site in the Blackrock Area 
description is recognised as distinct from the wider Roedean area 
likened to group 3A rather than 2A (i.e. as ‘urban areas where positive 
and pro-active measures are required to secure major enhancement’). 

12 Strategic 
viewpoints and 
landmarks 

Two respondents suggested removing reference to groups of buildings 
being staggered or stepped to respond to natural slope contours to 
allow for scale and massing to be determined through site-specific 
consideration. 
The South Downs National Park asked that all viewpoints within or are 
on the edge of the SDNP are clearly identified. 

13 Tall Building 
Statement 
guidelines 

Regarding infrastructure, one respondent highlighted the need to 
ensure utility companies assess capacity of water/sewage systems 
before planning approval has been granted. 
Regarding public realm and open spaces, Natural England suggested 
flagging up the need to consult the organisation if an Environmental 
Assessment or Habitats Regulation Assessment is required.   
Regarding sustainability, the Environment Agency suggested including 
water efficiency targets in the Sustainability Statement guidelines. 

 

344



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report                                                                             32 

 

345



346



  

Urban Design Framework 

Supplementary Planning Document 

Draft UDF SPD consultation report 

 

APPENDICES 

 

April 2021 

347



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 1 

Contents 

Transcripts of Consultation Portal responses .............................................................................. 1 

Transcripts of email responses ................................................................................................. 25 

 

 

Transcripts of Consultation Portal responses  

The important step to avoid ruining the city is that all housing must look the same as 
existing buildings. So that new or replacement buildings in areas with brick construction 
& slate roofs must also have brick construction & slate roofs. Painted rendered buildings 
should only be permitted next to similar ones & if they are art deco then new buildings 
should also be art deco etc. Clearly the buildings may have to be larger, but in the same 
style. 
 
Spaces between buildings are prone to be draughty and this is exacerbated by tall 
buildings. No solution has ever been found to tall buildings causing bleak windy soulless 
spaces. No development above the existing roofline in the only way to reduce the 
problem. 
 
Tall buildings, combined with narrow roads (the majority type of road in Brighton), 
reduces our ability to see the sky. This, in a city with little greenery, reduces our 
connection to nature which is more important than ever. For example, the new england 
quarter and flats near the station, Boots on London Road, the old Ransom's building. 
This area it was possible to see a lot of sky, get a lot of sunshine, see the green hills in 
the distance; none of this is possible now and our connection with nature has been 
severed. 
 
I was disappointed that disabled access and best practise wasn’t mentioned much in this 
document. Unless I missed it. In which case I apologise. But the built environment and 
the development of it, has the most effect on disabled people. Too often I have see large 
tall buildings with lots of flats for the elderly and disabled. But no one thought to build 
dropped kerbs, so any wheelchair users living in these flats can only go around the 
outside path. I’ve seen this in Hastings 
 
You seem very interested in whether we like the way you have designed your SPD. I 
hope you are as interested in the contents of the document as you are in the design of 
the document 
 
I agree that any development should be within keeping with the local built area. We see 
to often, that towns have lovey pre 1940s building then some shocking newer buildings 
that are not withing keeping 
 
Views are great, but no one owns a view. If that view is holding back progress then you 
need to rethink. The pier views proves my last point about a mishmash of buildings with 
no plan. It looks great in places but overall poor on the eye. 

348



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 2 

 
Landmarks need to be viewed, but need to stand out. Think off views looking in their 
direction. But also allowing them to be viewable from a range or directions if possible 
 
Improvement to the main routes is most important, increasing cycling, buses, and 
pedestrian route down these roads. Any increased housing may put extra pressure on 
these roads. Maybe a new park and ride is needed. 
 
Make sure that any development is fully accessible, I see to many open spaces within 
developments that are sort of accessible. But then need redeveloping after being built 
because the access is crap. Also where you talk about using trees on paving. As long as 
they don’t narrow the pathway. And make sure they are planted in pots, so you limit their 
size. We see in Hove that a full-size tree costs a lot of management. The roots destroy 
pathing. Uneven pathing is a trip hazard to the elderly and disabled. It’s hard for 
wheelchair users to travel along these paths. It’s impossible for visually impaired people. 
Also leaf will need to be collected, regularly, adding to cost. 
 
Your plans seem to suggest lots of great buildings, being built to the highest standard. 
This suggest expensive built to buy accommodation. Affordable accommodation is a load 
of bull. 80% of the price in Brighton is not affordable. I wonder how much of your plans 
include developments for social housing. These figures should be included in the plans. 
Also how many fully wheelchair accessible properties will be included. There is a 
massive shortage of fully accessible accommodation in Brighton. This needs to be 
addressed. Also where social housing is being developed it should be within keeping off 
the rest of the development. Not just hidden in the corner on the cheap. 
 
Your tick box above isn’t working. It wants a graded answer 
 
Tall building by definition increase the population where ever they are built. This 
increases pressure on the local transport system. And local amenities. This means 
increased funding for local services. While trying to avoid to many extra cars on the road. 
Communal spaces in tall building are souls, there needs to be more live and energy in 
communal spaces. Possible a communal lounge, giving people with a shared experience 
somewhere to meet up. Tall buildings need to be accessible, with working lift that is 
quickly fixed when broken. This is normally not the case. It would be nice if there was 
limit to how tall a building is before a lift is needed. Where new developments are built 
can the route to the local amenities and bus stop be fully accessible as a planning 
condition? 
 
The council is under to increase housing, Brighton has limited space for new 
developments so taller building is going to be a fact off life. There massive potential 
moving along from hove to Shoreham, up Lewes Road, and on brown sites for 
redevelopment. I feel that moving away from the seafront there should be less tall 
buildings that while I didn’t agree with area 7. 
 
As someone who looks at lots of planning application, maybe developers could do far 
more pre application consultation. Asking what local people or key stakeholders would 
like to see, rather than this is our plan, what to you think. Also maybe were possible 
several designs, that way we have options. Once applicants have applied communication 
from the planning department of the council is poor. I appreciate that the staff are 

349



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 3 

overworked underfunded. Maybe the council could look at its own consultation. Maybe a 
planning application room where people could come to look at plans and maybe talk to 
staff about their issues. This may lower the amount of objections. On larger 
developments as with current consultation a traveling roadshow, in local community halls 
and libraries. But also a consultation room where people can come independent of group 
presentations. Allowing for people who may not have the confidence in a group to speak 
but whose view is still important. I find that some council staff, developers, or consultants 
don’t look like they are enjoying consulting the public. Which comes across as they do 
not want to hear your views. This may not be the case, but managers need to make sure 
that staff are trained to consult. 
 
I object to the section of the draft UDF on page 58 which says that development of up to 
8 storeys on the south side of Kingsway (alongside Shoreham Harbour) would be 
acceptable. A BRE study has shown that buildings of this height would not meet their 
guidelines for overshadowing. 
The Shoreham Harbour section should be amended to indicate that buildings should not 
be higher than 8 storeys / 24 metres above the level of Basin Road North, ie 5 to 6 
storeys (15-18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then accord with the 
guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013. 
 
As stated in the document, conservation areas must be preserved or enhanced 
according to its identified special character and appearance. Conservation area 
character statements for each area should guide future change. 
 
Unfortunately, we can't. This is why the Urban Design Framework needs to improve. Bad 
examples include Anston House, Preston Barracks and Circus Street, along with the 
proposal at the Marina. 
 
You state: "In general new tall buildings in Brighton and Hove should not be within 
conservation areas, nor should they visually impinge on the setting of/or important views 
of listed buildings or conservation areas. This particularly applies to the backdrops of 
groups of historic buildings or the visual envelope surrounding single buildings such as 
churches" PLEASE REMOVE 'In general' . In general is ambiguous and suggests 
(particularly to developers) that negotiation would be allowed. Tall buildings in 
conservation areas should NOT be allowed. An example in North Laine is that the area is 
overshadowed and overlooked by the ugly 19 storey Theobold House and the slightly 
lower Pelham Tower. 
 
It is a pity that 18 storey developments have been approved along New England Street. 
Extremely detrimental to the surrounding area. 
 
Many developments in the city suffer from generic, often poor-quality urban design. This 
view is supported by the National Housing Audit that found that 54% of recent large-
scale developer led schemes were mediocre, 19% poor, 1% very poor, and 1 in 5 should 
have been refused planning consent. 
 
It is critical that local communities can positively engage in the pre-application process to 
make sure developments truly reflect local character and environmental sensitivities. 

350



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 4 

We need to raise and oversee the standards and consistency in public consultations by 
the Local Authority and developers. 
 
The planning team do not always have the necessary local knowledge about an area and 
that is why it is critical that local communities are engaged in the process. 
Planning should not be accepting applications with poor drawings, often as a sketch for 
exampe as has happened, and still happens, and without the necessary supporting 
documents. 
The design sector has become a profession, with a myriad of consultantsand we know 
that many communities are put-off by‘outside experts’. 
 
We must ensure that our local authority has the appropriate inhouse built environment 
professional expertise, as determined by local circumstances, to ensure good quality 
decision making. 
 
It would appear that the rigorous conservation principle adopted in the past by Brighton 
and Hove has been degraded over time. It is important for the conservation areas to be 
protected and its special character and appearance to be identified and preserved. This 
includes issues such as uses which in the case of North Laine hasn't been considered 
due to Government Policy which is damaging the nature of the area. 
 
There seems to be a trend to build tall some of which is close and affects conservation 
areas. Tall buildings in Conservation areas should not be allowed. This return to 1960's 
style planning is worrying and makes a major change to Brighton and Hove. In the North 
Laine we have Theobold House and Pelham Tower which affect the whole area. 
Concerned regarding the potential Conway Street and also the redevelopment opposite 
Preston Park. 
 
Too many tall buildings. If they were to provide needed accommodation but this is not the 
case as inadequate levels of so called 'affordable'. It would be interesting to see the life 
of the current tall monstrosities or will they suffer like the one's from the 1960's - 
demolished or needing so. 
 
The development along New England Road at eighteen stories is far too high and will 
damage the surrounding area. This should not have been allowed and I can see other 
examples of inappropriate siting of tall buildings. 
 
The level of poor design is endemic and many planning applications are accepted 
without regard to the standard of the plans submitted. It seems as if the emphasis on 
community involvement has deteriated to the minimum. 
 
There was a time when local community involvement was considered essential. Local 
people have a knowledge of the local character and sensitivities. This seems to have in 
many cases sub-contracted to consultants who have no knowledge of Brighton and Hove 
and do not have to live with the result. 
 
As above. Local communities should have the level of involvement they had in the later 
part of last century when it was regarded and considered. Often the plans are inadequate 
and reviewed by a planning team that do not live in Brighton and Hove. 
 

351



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 5 

As above the local authority should ensure that the officers have a better knowledge of 
the area and be professionally qualified and experienced. 
 
About This SPD - please adhere to Plain English guidelines, particularly in sentence 
length. It is best to aim for average sentence length of 20 words. You have sentences 
here of 46 words (D. Appendices) and over 60 words (About This SPD). It's really difficult 
to absorb the info in very long sentences. You don't need to use so many words. Phrases 
such as 'seeks to promote' means the same as 'promote', and is not only clearer but 
more confident and forceful. 
 
There aren't any examples of good practice in the sections on Neighbourhood Character 
and Views and Landmarks. 
 
The classification of neighbourhoods seems inconsistent and incomplete. Hanover and 
Craven Vale are both classed as 'urban', but Craven Vale is a 20th century estate near 
the top of the Downs (and a bus ride away from teh town centre) while Hanover is a 
densely populated Victorian development within walking distance of the town centre. 
East Brighton (Whitehawk? Roedean?) and Tivoli/Prestonville are surely suburban? The 
Central Conservation Area also include many distinct urban and suburban 
neighbourhoods (Clifton, Montpelier, Kemp Town, Brunswick) and some urban areas 
(Regency, St James's Street) which are highly sensitive to change because they border 
or include areas designated as'tall building areas'. But they are missing from the 
categorisation. 
 
There are other sections of Kemp Town seafront which should be considered as 
landmarks, eg Royal Crescent. 
 
A masterplan approach is really important and will make a huge improvement to 
development. 
 
There is a fault in question 20 - some of the response options are not available 
 
The definition of a tall building relies on the mean height of existing buildings within a 
100m area. Some of the areas designated as suitable for tall buildings are bounded by 
residential streets in conservation areas. This means that existing residential buildings, 
including listed buildings, could be dwarfed and permanently over-shadowed by new 
taller buildings erected on their boundaries, permitted because the new buildings are 
shorter than other tall buildings that may be up to a 100m distant. The definition of 'tall' 
needs to take account of the immediately neighbouring properties. Account also needs to 
be taken of the relative position of the proposed and existing buildings. A tall building 
100m south, east or west of existing properties has a more detrimental overshadowing 
affect than a tall building erected 50m north of the same properties. 
 
Some of these areas share boundaries with residential areas whose characters will be 
affected by tall buildings on their perimeter. Much depends on the design of such tall 
buildings and their relationship with the existing properties. The new student 
accommodation being built along Lewes Road is oppressive and fortress-like. Such tall 
buildings extending further inland along the Lewes Road will have the effect of making 
parts of Moulsecoomb feel cut off, like a walled ghetto. Some of the boundaries of the 
'central seafront' area are the garden walls of residential properties. 

352



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 6 

 
A brilliant approach. It forces the developer to take a considered and rounded approach 
to design. Also offers the possibility of much easier public engagement than the current 
system, where developers can get away with paying lip service to consultation by show-
casing a near-finished proposal immediately prior to submitting a final planning 
application with too much technical detail for the average lay person to assess. But early 
consultations with council officers, neighbours and other stakeholders must be more than 
'recommended'. They need to be compulsory and genuine, not merely box-ticking 
exercises. 
 
There is nowhere else for me to make this comment, but I'm really impressed with this 
whole document. Some very clever, knowledgeable people have put a lot of work into 
this. Thank you and well done. 
 
Brighton is a very compact city. Lots of problem with narrow roads, traffic, parking 
problems, crowded areas, lack of open green places. 
Brighton has not seen much changes in last few decades, Higher buildings and Wider 
roads and pavements are preferable in regards to the safety, comfort, parking, etc. 
The new Church Road in Hove is a very good example of a good wide road. 
 
There is no specific mention of Air Quality even though many areas of the city experience 
illegal levels of NO2, high ozone, high NO and levels that exceed the WHO 24 hour 
guidelines on particulate matter. There is very little effective work going into improving air 
quality; the new BH buses may improve things but they are still 100% diesel powered 
hybrids and have not plug in functionality. 
Significant wording should be added; people's health is currently being harmed as it is 
well above the levels that COMEAP and other government and EU departments say will 
cause harm. 
 
'Enhances nature' - how can the destruction of 7% of green land and natural habitat 
enhance nature? This is awful and frankly offensive to everyone's intellect. 
 
'the council is committed to promote and foster high-density' the roads cannot take more 
congestion 
A specific mention should be included on the current congestion, poor current 
infrastructure and that additional development will add to this pressure. 
 
'if possible exceed, these targets' - it is a fantasy that you might exceed the targets or 
even meet them without significant destruction of natural habitat and green land. The 
targets should not be exceeded due to this reason. 
There should an amendment adding the difficulties and challenges and sacrifices that will 
be required to meet the targets. 
 
Specifically 2, 4, 6 and most of all 7 are all in sensitive areas that currently exceed legal 
air quality standards as recognised in the council's own air quality anual status report. 
Building large buildings reduces air flow and due to the vists to those buildings will 
increase traffic increasing congestion and traffic emissions further. This will increase 
pollution and should be a red line for the protection of the current residents. 
 

353



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 7 

Further and possibly more seriously, the locations chosen will expose serious numbers of 
people who are not currently exposed to pollution. New student apartments in Brighton 
have increased the total number of residents exposed to illegal levels of particulates by 
around 50% over just the last 3-4 years. It is an absolute scandal. 
 
There is currently insufficient tools to prevent air quality from being assessed properly. 
For example the assessments (paid and arranged by the developers) are wholy 
inadequate and will use every trick to avoid the recognition of poor quality air in regards 
to proposed sites. 
 
Air Quality and congestion are not recognised in any level of seriousness here. It is an 
outrage to those who suffer daily from being exposed to illegal levels of NO2 and 
particulate matter and who are exposed to harmful levels of unregulated gases such as 
ozone. 
 
We particularly value the criteria which 
 Preserves or enhances key views and the settings of landmarks. 
 Enhances nature and helps to make the city more climate-resilient. 
 Positively promotes health and well-being, providing appropriate level of 
public and private amenity for all users. 
 
We request that the much-loved wide panoramic view along the northern section of 
Surrenden Road which runs east-west be classified as a ‘strategic view’ and be included 
in the list of strategic views within the UDF-SPD. The view meets all the criteria for a 
‘Strategic View’ as defined within the Urban Design Framework – Supplementary 
Planning Document. We have submitted a document providing the evidence in support of 
this request by email. 
 
We suggest the inclusion of more recent landmarks including the i360 and the Rampion 
Wind Farm. 
 
Look the draft is not following your own guide lines 
The building is to tall it is going to block out people sun light for a large part of the year 
You talk about story’s what is that in metres from the kings way not basin road 
If it goes ahead it will be the tallest building along the harbour part of the kings way and 
will set a precedent 
Spoiling everyone who lives along this stretch of road amount of sun light in the autumn 
and winter months we need vitamin D which you get from sunlight 
This could affect people’s mental and physical health 
 
If you lower the height and have space in between you will meet all the criteria you are 
not doing with this design 
 
Brighton and Hove needs development for housing retail commercial and jobs 
However it should be in keeping within the areas that this development is 
The local people should be happy and proud of this development 
As this is in their community and they will use these amenities or at least look at it in a 
favourable way 
 

354



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 8 

Add "prioritising" so that the 4th bulleted point on page 6 reads: 
"Supports accessibility and the ease of daily activities aiding connectivity 
and PRIORITISING active travel for all users. 
Where you say: "For each priority, the council has set out a set of design principles for 
applicants to prioritise when preparing proposals.", these must include compliance with 
standards for high quality cycling and walking infrastructure e.g. LTN 1/20 and Gear 
Change. Also, no one-way streets should be approved without a cycling contraflow, and 
barriers such as gates must not be placed across routes for active travel. 
 
Whatever categorisation the neighbourhood receives, active/sustainable travel plans 
must not be compromised by developments. Land at the urban fringe is particularly 
vulnerable, and often contains routes that people use to exercise, walk and cycle into the 
countryside. Routes needed for BHCC cycling/walking plans i.e. the Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan and the Local cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan must be 
maintained, not built over or filled with traffic. 
 
Regarding "1.1. Environmental conditions": wind currents become stronger between 
buildings. The effect on walking and cycling needs to be acknowledged. "Narrow 
openings" are not necessarily effective in reducing the problem. Particularly towards the 
seafront, the junctions with the (fairly narrow) side roads can become impassable in 
windy conditions. This makes active travel more difficult, particularly for the older person, 
those who are less mobile and people cycling. There needs to be some scientific back up 
so that wind tunnels (as seem to be developing on the Lewes Road) are not created. 
Regarding "1.2. Neighbourhood character" the point "Allow existing levels to guide layout 
options and optimise effective pedestrian and vehicle access." is conservative and needs 
to be subject to greater ambition in line with enabling active and sustainable travel, not 
perpetuating previous levels of motor vehicle access. Low Traffic Neighbourhoods need 
to be created and ubiquitous parking needs to be stopped. 
Regarding "1.3. Composition of street scene". There must be compliance with the 
standards for cycling and walking infrastructure, not simply creating "shared spaces for 
pedestrians and cyclists." Developers often cram people walking or cycling into shared 
space, rather than providing adequate space for each mode. Shared space is not 
popular with either mode, and where space is narrow, this causes conflict. Requirements 
for high density housing where there are no gardens for children to play, mean that street 
play is highly desirable as an alternative and space might need to be shared, but this is 
completely different to the situation around shops and central streets, or in blank canvas 
developments like Toads Hole Valley, where there provision for people walking should 
be separate from people cycling, and this should all be in line with the latest up to date 
guidance given in Gear Change and LTN 1/20. People walking and cycling should not be 
expected to constantly give way to motor vehicles at side roads in street design. This is 
particularly reprehensible in new developments. 
Regarding "1.5. Opportunities for masterplanning", these need to take active travel 
seriously and employ the correct walking and cycling infrastructure standards, and not 
defer the planning for sustainable/active travel to the end of the planning process. 
 
2.1 Active and Inclusive Travel: The references, while containing historically important 
guidance are getting out of date, particularly the Public Life, Public Space Study from 
2007. Manual for Streets 1 is also from 2007, and Manual for Streets 2 from 2010. The 
latest guidance in this area, i.e. LTN 1/20 and Gear Change need to be referenced and 
their up to date guidance included in the UDF SPD. Low Traffic Neighbourhoods also 

355



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 9 

need to be referenced. The definition on page 17 of active and inclusive travel needs to 
be checked with these guidance documents. 
New vehicles e.g. e-scooters, e-bikes, cargo bikes, adapted and non-standard cycles, 
trikes and trailers need to be considered in the UDF SPD and designed for, particularly in 
the light of Covid and inevitable subsequent pandemics, where active travel and greater 
distancing is required. 
There needs to be a clear distinction between the modes of cycling and walking. They 
should not be lumped together. Shared space is not a preferred solution because it is 
unpopular with both groups. 
The Streetscape Design Guidelines referenced on page 17, are from 2010, and need 
updating. 
Regarding the "High Density Considerations": It would be better to "prioritise" rather than 
simply "consider" in this sentence on page 17: "Consider low car and car-free 
development options while avoiding putting pressure on on-street parking in the 
surrounding area." 
 
What is needed o encourage active travel: 
We need a coherent, integrated cycling network of safe cycle routes separated from 
traffic. 
Traffic reduction, modal filters and road closures are a necessary part of safer provision 
which will encourage cycling and walking. 
Low Traffic Neighbourhoods. The "place" function of neighbourhoods should not be 
destroyed by providing a "link" function for motor vehicles. 
Protected space on main roads and at junctions. 
Removal of through motor traffic on residential streets. 
Cycle-friendly town centres and neighbourhoods with people prioritised over motor traffic 
Routes through green spaces and parks 
Safe routes to schools using School Streets methodology and encouraging cycling to 
school. 
Cycle facilities must be safe, two-way, have adequate width, priority and separation from 
traffic like “Dutch style” facilities. All cycle facilities must be of the highest standards i.e. 
Gear Change and LTN 1/20. 
All junctions must be reviewed from the cyclist and pedestrian point of view and safer, 
wider routes are provided. 
All one-way streets need to be converted to 2-way cycling. No more one-way streets 
should be created. 
Cycle parking must be increased through a continuous programme of review and 
provision. 
Provide more “early green phase” cycle traffic lights e.g. on Western Road. 
Parking in cycle lanes must be stopped e.g. by double yellow lines and enforcement or 
made physically impossible by design. 
Continue to push down speed. Extend 20 mph limits and review higher speed limits e.g. 
where they exist in suburbs, estates and links to major roads. 
Better signage and clearer mapping. 
Keep cycle routes clear of obstructions and hazards: Vehicles, Skips, Bollards, Rubbish, 
Gravel, Barbed wire, Ice, mud, Hidden kerbs, Potholes, Drain covers, Undergrowth, 
Hedge cuttings, inappropriate or poor surfaces. 
Cycling must not be brought to a halt by utility companies, contractors, delivery 
companies and development works. There need to be temporary cycle lanes if routes are 
obstructed as are sometimes provided for pedestrians. 

356



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 10 

No unnecessary “Cyclists dismount” signs, “give ways” or locked gates installed by the 
Council or others. 
Removal of freight from places where people are. Strict standards for HGVs and 
restrictions on delivery times/routes. 
 
2.2 Outdoor Amenity: The UDF SPD needs to make it clear that no "No cycling" signs 
should be used in public spaces such as have been heavy-handedly applied at Wild 
Park, next to the Lewes Road. Children need to ride somewhere. The Coldean Lane 
junction is not a suitable place for novice riders, even though there is some paint marking 
a route across the wide expanse of tarmac. Similarly, one way arrangements in Stanmer 
Park are a nuisance for people cycling and should not be made unless a cycling 
contraflow is also put in. 
2.4 Mix of uses and active frontages: P23-24. When recommending cafe tables on 
streets, there needs to be space left for people to walk and cycle. This is a big problem 
now in Brighton and Hove, notably at Ship Street where a 2-way cycle route has become 
dominated cafe tables from two establishments and complicity by the council to allow the 
width for walking/cycling to be reduced to a substandard level, even worse due the 
additional need for social distancing. 
2.6. Materials and management: page 27. The Streetscape Design Guidelines from 2010 
need to be updated to take account of the many changes in personal transport (e.g. e-
scooters, e-bikes) and government guidance. Some points about what is included in 
those Guidelines: Cafe tables should not obstruct active travel (as mentioned above); 
Cycle stands need to have sufficient space between them so that people with full 
panniers can park, and to be suitable for non-standard cycles and cargo bikes; 
Advertising at bus stops blocks the view and this is not only a loss to the person waiting, 
but can be hazardous if located near a cycle route or in shared space; Bollards can be a 
danger to people cycling (not just pedestrians) because they may not be noticed for a 
variety of reasons; Heavy vehicles crack paving stones and the council seems unable to 
prevent this or find any material that is strong enough to resist the weight of lorries e.g. at 
Black Lion Street; The Cycle Tracks/Lanes section in the Streetscape Design Guidelines 
is completely out of date. 
Page 28 "Use water porous rigid and unbound aggregate surfaces around existing and 
proposed street trees." Added to this should be "Where materials are used to build a 
boundary around trees or other items, they should have rounded edges, not sharp 
corners". The trees in Valley Gardens are bounded by a square concrete base with 
protruding sharp corners. These are an unnecessary hazard to people walking and 
cycling who might fall near them. A rounded base could have been used instead. 
2.7 Phasing: Major work should not be allowed to obstruct cycle routes for months and 
months without an adequate diversion. This has happened in Brighton during the Shelter 
Hall works and on the Lewes Road. The neglect of people cycling and walking has been 
unacceptable. The UDF SPD needs to refer to a Freight Strategy and enforce standards 
for how contractors conduct their work as regards walking and cycling routes. What is 
becoming common is for contractors to fence off an area of a street simply to park their 
vehicles, often private cars, even if this obstructs active travel routes. 
 
3.2. Designing at density and 3.3. Housing types and mix of uses: 
Design guidance would benefit from reference to communal cycle storage facilities which 
are common in the basements of blocks of flats in Germany, (as are communal rooms to 
accommodate washing machines belonging to residents.) There is little space afforded to 
indoor or secure outdoor cycle storage in current or historical design in Brighton. Lack of 

357



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 11 

secure and dry storage space is a reason why a proportion of people don’t own a cycle 
or ride one. 
Convenient cycle parking (this is different to storage) for residents needs to be included 
in design. If outdoors, it should be spaced to accommodate all kinds of cycles including 
non standard cycles, and covered to prevent rain soaking things. 
 
3.7. Deliveries and servicing facilities: Good to recommend the use of cargo bikes. 
 
With all tall buildings, the wind currents at ground level for people walking or cycling need 
to be reduced by design which is evidence-based. Particularly in seafront locations, the 
wind currents can push people over. 
 
5.1. Area 1: Brighton Marina: No mention of facilitating cycling. There is a marked cycle 
route around part of the Marina. This needs to be updated in lines with up to date 
guidance on cycling and walking infrastructure. Particularly the western side of the 
Marina is not a pleasant environment for walking. 
Area 2: Brighton Station / New England: There is a lack of connectivity of cycle routes 
and the road environment is often poor, with large vehicles, big expanses of tarmac and 
long delays at traffic lights. The Emergency Active Travel Fund award for Tranche 2 
improvements and the LCWIP need to be referenced and taken into account. As 
mentioned previously, tall buildings e.g. Providence Place by St. Bartholomew's Church 
becomes impossible to walk/cycle along in some windy weather. This must be avoided 
by design in new developments. 
5.3. Central Seafront: As for 5.2: The Emergency Active Travel Fund award for Tranche 
1 and 2 improvements and the LCWIP need to be referenced and taken into account. As 
above, side streets can have strong wind currents, and this should be reduced as much 
as possible by design. 
Area 4: Eastern Road / Edward Street: As well as the listed improvements, there need to 
be cycling contraflows in all one way streets, including St James's Street. Links need to 
fit with Valley Gardens Phases 2 and 3. 
Area 5: Hove Station: Support improvements for walking and cycling. 
Area 6: Lewes Road corridor: The massive car park that was allowed to be built as part 
of the Field development is an eyesore and counter to the Council's sustainable transport 
objectives. It is also reportedly underused. If it becomes popular, all the 600 vehicles will 
cross the path of people cycling as they go in and out. The road design includes swept 
kerbs which encourage drivers to speed out of side roads. This is also unhelpful and 
should not be permitted. 
Re "Optimise the use of community facilities in the Hodshrove Lane area.", page 54: this 
road and other nearby roads are one way streets. Unless these are made 2-way for 
cycling with a cycling contraflow, the facilities will not be optimised. 
Area 7: London Road / Preston Road and Area 8: Western Seafront/Kingsway: again, 
The Emergency Active Travel Fund award for Tranche 1 and 2 improvements and the 
LCWIP need to be referenced and taken into account. As above, tall buildings can create 
strong wind currents which impede people walking/cycling and these should be reduced 
as much as possible by evidence-based design. 
Area 9: Shoreham Harbour: Improvements to walking and cycling around this area will be 
welcome. 
 
Whenever there is a large planning application, the number of associate documents, 
their size and complexity and the laborious nature of going through them on the council's 

358



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 12 

website, is generally too difficult and time consuming for most people who would actually 
have an opinion if they could see a balanced summary of the plans. Even this 
questionnaire requires a huge amount of work to answer knowledgeably. The expert 
knowledge needed to make relevant responses to planning is certainly a barrier to 
participation. 
 
There are no references to standards for active travel such as Gear Change and LTN 
1/20, nor BHCC's draft LCWIP (consultation in January) or the Tranche 1 and 2 
proposals that have been awarded very substantial government funding. 
 
So-called "major enhancement" seems to be a euphemism for brutalist high rise blocks 
which the MCHA objects to in all areas. 
 
The view from Clifton Hill (in the Montpelier and Clifton Hill conservation area) looking 
west towards the South Downs should be included here. This view, from an historic 
thoroughfare, is now threatened by high rise proposals for the Peacock Industrial Estate 
in Davigdor Road. 
 
2.5 Artistic element. The Montpelier and Clifton Hill Association (MCHA) notes with regret 
the lack of community consultation re. BH2020/03247 Norfolk Square Gardens. 
 
2.6 Materials and management. The MCHA notes with regret the continued use of 
unattractive concrete kerbs to replace the granite kerbs in conservation areas. 
 
2.7 Phasing development. The MCHA contends that high rise developments cannot be 
reconciled with phased developments as no parts of an 18 storey tower can be safely 
occupied until construction is completed. 
 
2.5 Artistic element. The example of the "World Turned Upside Down" fails to mention 
the security cameras which protect this site. Until our streets and public spaces are made 
safe, monuments are likely to be vandalised or suffer the fate of the bronze statue of 
Steve Ovett which was stolen from Preston Park. 
 
3.1 Royal Alexandra Quarter_ page 32 The MCHA is especially pleased to see this 
example cited here. Despite the BHCC officers' recommendation to totally demolish the 
site the MCHA persuaded councillors in 2008 to refuse permission and at the public 
enquiry in 2009 the MCHA persuaded the planning inspector to dismiss the developers' 
appeal. 
 
The buttons for 3.2 to 3.7 do not seem to be functioning! 
The other examples except the All England club are "Helpful" 
 
3.4 page 36 The green walls of the All England Club may not be practical for less 
prosperous property owners! 
 
5.2 Area 2 Indicative heights should be 6 to 8 storeys maximum 
5.3 Area 3 Indicative heights should be 6 to 8 storeys maximum 
5.4 Area 4 Indicative heights should be 6 to 8 storeys maximum 
5.5 Area 5 Indicative heights should be 6 to 8 storeys maximum 
5.6 Area 6 Indicative heights should be 6 to 8 storeys maximum 

359



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 13 

5.7 Area 7 Indicative heights should be 6 to 8 storeys maximum. The terms "key 
landmark" and "gateway location" are unhelpful. A gateway consisting of a pair of 15 
storey tower blocks would give the impression of entering Croydon. 
 
The MCHA is oppose to CP12 which allows for taller developments albeit in defined 
zones for the reasons which BHCC itself cites above in the introduction to this section: 
(Tall buildings) "tend to be more visible, put further pressure on infrastructure, require 
more extensive management and are harder to maintain than low-rise development". It 
nevertheless acknowledges the attempts of this draft UDF to mitigate the harmful impact 
of tall buildings in our City. 
 
Whilst DesignPlace no doubt wants to sell its services to developers the BHCC should 
also make it clear to developers that when heritage assets are affected, free pre 
application advice may be available from the Council's Conservation Advisory Group . 
 
Major applications are already long enough! 
 
1.0 Overview and background 
1.1 An initial review of the content, organisation and of the consideration of consultation 
feedback received since the Issues and Options stage of 2018, indicates much appears 
to have improved in the Draft UDF SPD document. 
1.2 There is a far greater level of relevant advice, across a broader and more relevant set 
of considerations, and PAF welcome this improvement to the previous draft. 
1.3 Furthermore, there is no longer a slavish adherence to narrow sets of density figures 
which instead appear to be encouraged to be challenged with higher density where 
appropriate, and this step is encouraging. 
1.4 Nonetheless, we do have some concerns and we outline these below. 
 
2.0 Appearance and Structure 
2.1 Such an important document as this UDF has to be easy to follow and understand, 
otherwise it will not fulfil its proper role as essential guidance to development. 
2.2 Where for the most part the new draft does read very well, its structure might be 
clearer were this made more emphatic in the two introductory pages. For example a 
simple sub title ‘Structure of this SPD’ inserted below the second set of bullets on page 3 
would clearly set up what follows. 
2.3 Similarly, the sub categories of Section A and Section B are lost within their 
respective Section lead pages, whereas Section C does not list any of those that follow. 
2.4 It would assist the reader to recall this structure were the main Section header; A, B 
or C repeated above each sub-category (e.g. Section A: Local Priorities, 1. Context. 
Section A: Local Priorities, 2. Spaces Between Buildings etc, etc.) 
2.5 Furthermore, within the text, reference to sub-sections should be preceded by their 
Section header, e.g. p9, reference to Section 11 should read Section D, sub-section 11 – 
there is no ‘Section 11’ per se. 
2.6 Specific notes should be added in pages that lead sub-sections to emphasise the 
importance of repeated graphic devices within that section. (e.g. Section A throughout; 
Pale green boxes denote crucial policy links that need to be referred to, Section A: sub-
sections 2 and 3; grey boxes need reading specifically against considerations of high 
density proposals, Sections B and C; pale green boxes denote crucial guidance and/or 
assessment criteria.) 
2.7 Sections A, B, C and D should always start on a facing / even numbered page. 

360



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 14 

2.8 The use of illustrations and diagrams is vastly improved on the previous draft. 
However, those on page 7 are not particularly strong in conveying the rich tapestry of 
urban character exhibited in the landscape and topography of Brighton and Hove. Those 
at the foot of pages 16 and 30 are particularly poor examples of their subject matter and 
their respective titles sometimes obscured. The second referenced diagram in the central 
panel on page 72 is incorrectly noted as ‘below’ where ‘above left’ would be correct. 
2.9 The second sentence of the second paragraph on page 8, referring those 
considering small sites and householder development to SPD 12, needs to be placed 
earlier in the whole document. Thereby this would better frame the purpose of the UDF in 
setting standards and offering guidance for more significant development across the City. 
2.10 There is a grammatical error in the last sentence of the grey box at the foot of page 
34 and unfortunately its meaning is lost. 
2.11 Likewise, the second paragraph of page 39 seems unfinished. 
 
3.0 Content 
3.1 Whilst welcoming the general improvement on content and structure we have some 
concerns over content as follows: 
 
3.2 Environment 
3.2.1 With the importance of meeting recently adopted climate change initiatives there 
could be greater emphasis made on carbon emission reduction, carbon capture and 
embodied carbon calculation, together with the methods used to demonstrate this. 
3.2.2 The encouragement contained within the Draft UDF to utilising a range of 
sustainable building design assessment tools is welcomed. However, clarity is needed 
that this does not mean only BREEAM, which could be inferred by reference to Policy 
CP8. 
3.2.3 Whilst it is recognised that the UDF does not act as a representation of planning 
policy contained elsewhere, greater emphasis should be made of the need to reduce car 
ownership, integrate parking in innovative and multiuse / adaptable ways, and to better 
incorporate non-petrol fuelled vehicles. 
3.2.4 Section A, sub-section 3.1 might also note a local example of the use of circular 
economy materials and of autonomous house design principles in the Earthship project 
at Stanmer Park. Built almost entirely from waste or donated materials and being the first 
prototype of Mike Reynold’s Earthship concept in the UK, it’s a great shame not to see 
this referenced by our own City. 
 
3.3 Neighbourhood Character 
3.3.1 The use and online reference to the UCS map on page 10 is very helpful, 
specifically because the shading used to denote different zones is so similar and 
therefore confusing in the printed form. 
3.3.2 However, on first reading the map and key would suggest that there is very little of 
the City are where ‘positive and pro-active measures’ are encouraged within new 
development. Those being limited to zones 3A, 3B and parts of 4. Elsewhere the map 
suggests the emphasis is on preserving, conserving as is, or doing piecemeal 
enhancement only. 
3.3.3 That makes for a very worrying background and one that immediately suggests 
there is little scope for much high density, high quality, contemporary design that could 
sustain and promote the vitality and diversity so typical of Brighton and Hove. 
3.3.4 It is only upon reading the detail of Section D, sub-section 11, at the back of the 
document, that one realises Zone 2A might also be open to a more progressive 

361



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 15 

approach to new development. 
3.3.5 Whilst this greatly increases the scope of delivering much needed higher density 
schemes within the City, the totality of central Brighton falls within Conservation Areas, 
and the UDF reiterates that, here, areas must be preserved or enhanced. 
3.3.6 This is unfortunate and is a hugely missed opportunity to expand on the definition 
or expectations of such preservation and/or enhancement. There are many excellent 
examples of contemporary preservation or enhancement of listed and historic buildings 
where boundaries of design and density are pushed with often quite breath-taking 
results. 
3.3.7 These must be actively encouraged if the heart of the City is to continue to lift the 
hearts of those who live here. 
 
3.4 Opportunities for Masterplanning 
3.4.1 Although there is much content within the UDF that covers what a good masterplan 
might include, it is nonetheless disappointing to read only one brief paragraph and 5 
bullet points on this matter. 
3.4.2 A reference at least to the importance of a well-considered parameter plan, 
summarising the many layers of townscape and landscape considerations, proposals 
and guiding principles for future development might have been incorporated here. 
3.4.3 We can recommend many but one local example would be that submitted for the 
North Street Quarter, Lewes, as approved by SDNPA in Dec 2015. 
 
3.5 Density 
3.5.1 Throughout the UDF there are encouraging statements about using density 
sensibly in more sensitive sites, achieving minimum density targets, or increasing density 
figures wherever possible to increase development potential, and this not necessarily by 
building tall. 
3.5.2 Specifically, this is addressed in Section A, sub-section 3.2, with policy links to 
various policies of CPP1 and CPP2. One policy reference notable by its absence is to 
CPP2 DM19. Maximising Development Potential, aimed at avoiding the 
underdevelopment of sites. 
3.5.3 Moreover, it is hoped that the interpretation of a ‘minimum’ density figure is not 
incorrectly understood as a ‘maximum’ threshold for any site or any character area, either 
by planning officers or planning committee members. Therefore, we would prefer the 
UDF to contain a statement reassuring the reader that such mis-understandings are 
irrefutably counter to BHCC policy. 
 
3.6 Tall Buildings 
3.6.1 Section B, sub-section 4 Definitions starts with a sentence that unfortunately 
immediately creates confusion. For clarity we believe the sentence should state that a tall 
building is defined as either one that is equal or over 18m high (from its entrance level), 
or that is significantly taller than the prevailing height of those surrounding the site. 
3.6.2 Currently, by saying it is both, immediately sets up contradiction. 
3.6.3 The Tall Building Statement outlined in sub-section 6 includes a set of bullet points 
that describe what must be contained by a TBS. The section also refers to Section D, 
sub-section 13 which then gives greater summarised detail without clearly noting which 
of the bullet points just noted the summary advice refers to. 
3.6.4 Hence, again, this creates confusion and it might be better were Section D, sub-
section 13 condensed further and incorporated into Section B, sub-section 6. 
3.6.5 Within the TBS guidelines of Section D, sub-section 13, it is noted that groups of 

362



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 16 

tall buildings should not mask natural valley formations, and should instead always step 
in response to natural slopes. 
3.6.6 This simple statement would appear to remove the ability to use counterpoint as a 
compositional means of creating both drama and gravitas within the urban framework, 
unless only employed on flat sites. 
3.6.7 This would be better were such instances considered on a case by case basis. 
 
3.7 Pre-application Process 
3.7.1 Section C: Planning Process, sub-section 7, notes the importance of early 
consultation with the local authority. It contains a useful flow chart of when such pre-
application services should be utilised, notable three times prior to the application 
submission. 
3.7.2 The following sub-section then suggests that pre-application consultation should be 
undertaken after that stage, immediately contradicting the advice contained within the 
flow chart as this would be an additional, pre-application stage. 
3.7.3 Whilst not wishing to counter the good intentions and advice captured by the 
contents of this section, and as it contains no policy links, there must be absolute clarity 
given on the required number, type and arrangements for such pre-application 
consultation. 
3.7.4 In addition, and perhaps most pertinently, the expectation of a client entering into 3 
pre-application meetings when to agree a date and obtain feedback from just one is 
currently longer than many clients expect a full application process to take, is wholly 
unrealistic. 
3.7.5 Notwithstanding this pertains to a wider issue of performance in delivering the pre-
application process far more effectively than current, even with a fast and efficient pre-
app service, one might only expect 3 rounds of pre-application review on the most 
sensitive sites. 
3.7.6 Again, it may be better were this section reviewed in terms of what is achievable by 
BHCC and what is reasonable to expect from the client / developer, on a case by case 
basis. 
 
3.8 Communicating Design Ideas Well 
3.8.1 This sub section refers to the submission of a Design Statement or, where 
applicable, a DAS. Within the description of its contents there is no specific mention of 
the 5 standard criteria one would normally expect; Layout, Access, Amount, Appearance 
and Landscape. 
3.8.2 Being the 5 aspects referred to in reserved matters approvals, these criteria are 
particularly important to cover within such statements. 
3.8.3 Further guidance on Design and Access Statements and how to write, read and 
use them can be found on the Design Council website, and this would be a very helpful 
reference. 
 
3.9 Conclusion 
3.9.1 Overall there is much to welcome within the current draft UDF and we support the 
continued improvement of such an important document. 
3.9.2 However, there are shortcomings as noted above. 
3.9.3 To be taken more seriously and embraced by those who need to use it the layout 
and structure needs relatively minor improvement. 
3.9.4 To be more supportive of the aims and ambitions of CCP1 further clarification and 
support for innovative, high density, well thought out and expertly delivered schemes 

363



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 17 

needs to be introduced. 
3.9.5 Expectations of developers and design teams need to be matched by reciprocal 
expectations of BHCC departments in facilitating a smooth, and hopefully linear, process. 
 
Active travel is so important for health and environmental reasons. I strongly support 
segregated cycle lanes for children and families to cycle safely around the city, and of 
course these can also be used by people with disabilities to use either on bikes or 
motorised scooters, and older people too. 
 
Generally I'm pretty anti any new building that is higher than what was there before. 
 
I disagree with the report that the eight-storey buildings is appropriate for this part of 
Kingsway, 
The proposed building will be too high and reduce the light considerable for those 
houses north of the build. 
I believe that six stories should be the maximum allowable. 
 
I support the councils ideas but object when they aren't adhered too. 
The proposed design for the high rise building on the Kingsway would make a mockery 
of your good intentions. 
 
The west end of the Brighton and Hove city should not become a high rise ghetto. 
The draft specifically talks about the horizon landscape and having a massive tower 
block does not equate with the explanation in Section 1 
 
I object to having very high building plopped in front of a long standing residential area 
purely for financial gain of the developers with total disregard of local residents and the 
councils good planning practices mostly documented in this draft urban frame work. 
I OBJECT totally in the council slipping in a design change in the document especial the 
proposed building on the KIngsway that total flies in the face of common sence good 
practice and residents wishes. 
 
The new building on the Kingsway will have gross implications re servicing and road 
access that increasing the height of the building to 8 stories will exacerbate. 
 
Why have the planners totally ignored all the advise and guidelines they have set out in 
section 13 and slipped in the proposed plan for a tall building nightmare on the Kingsway 
in Hove. 
******** please take note 
 
I object because a 8 story high building is out of character with the area the skyline. 
The eight story building against the low backdrop of community housing will be high over 
powering and depressive in design and nature 
 
Yes the blurring of definition of a tall building doesn't take into account where it is to be 
built. A new 8 story building will not be out of place amongst other 7 storey apartments ... 
but an 8 story building in the 2 story residential area become a shock and an eyesore. 
 

364



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 18 

Pleased that there is a section on Active travel and this include inclusion. Should there 
be a section on climate emergency? 
 
There could be reference to 15 minute neighbourhoods here ie to reduce the need to 
seek out services and activities across the city. 
 
I am interested to know why the coast itself isn't an approach either by sea of East - 
West along the NCN and the England Coast Path and A259. Both routes are iconic and 
also lin 
 
The section strongly aligns to Sustrans aims for Liveable Cities and Paths for Everyone. 
 
We would like to see more examples of inclusive and commercial cycling eg cargo cycle 
deliveries. Sustrans has more examples of different types of surfaces and materials. 
 
I couldn't see reference to cycle storage which will be crucial to accommodating the 
increase in cycling and to people living in flats. We would like to see alongside provision 
for storage that there are ground level easy access cycle garages and parking eg similar 
to those at 20 Norfolk Terrace building on the corner of Montpelier Place. 
 
Good practice examples would include cycle garages and covered, passive or active 
surveillance accessible parking in line with LTN1/20. Also dropped kerbs. 
 
Adequate cycling parking must be provided preferally cycle in and out and with space to 
change and decant luggage. Safe and secure, Accessible to non-standard cycles. 
Consider provision for ebike battery charging in fire safe lockers. Consider fire hazards of 
lithium batteries. 
 
Is there an opportunity to direct developers to Sustrans advice and guidance documents. 
eg designing inclusive infrastructure. 
 
It would be useful for a Day in the life to include some assigned personas such as a 
disabled cyclist. 
 
General - see below re making this Guidance mandatory..Many applications clearly do 
not follow much of the Guidance available and time is wasted when examining planning 
applications. 
 
suggest addition of the Peace Statue -looking west 
 
The Peace Statue included as a civic landmark 
 
Rather than stating "the Council recommends" suggest the following. "the Council 
requires". 
 
Currently, there is too much 'wriggle ‘room for applications. Is it not possible to make it a 
Legal requirement to fulfil the Council's Policy, rather than offer Guidance? 
 
very comprehensive 
 

365



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 19 

They are good positive aspirational criteria but the ability to achieve them, or what is 
deemed to be achieving them or measurements for success would both be subjective 
and partial. So an understanding of what is meant in practice is needed e.g. "appropriate 
level of public and private amenity for all users". Who deems what is an appropriate level 
and are we likely to really be considering 'all users'. How can we do that, are design team 
staff going to have a level of knowledge that enables consideration of all users or will 
they need to be in dialogue with groups to develop this? 
 
There is clearly a correlation between the type of area and 'sensitivity to change' and the 
average income of areas. There needs to be a real critical reflection on this being a plan 
for gentrification and what safeguards are in place in terms of housing tenure and rent 
levels. This also raises the question that would development be beneficial to the people 
who live in the poorest areas. How has sensitivity been calculated? This is not clear and 
raises questions around what is really meant by sensitivity to change, as poorer 
neighbourhoods are classed as being less sensitive to change but would be the groups 
most effected by precarity in housing and employment. 
 
Bevendean Down is not included as a strategic view but is a popular location particularly 
for locals in the surrounding housing estates. It should be included as gives an 
outstanding view of the typical pattern of past developments being able to see the terrain 
of North-East Brighton from Falmer to Coldean, Down the Lewes Road, Bevendean and 
across central Brighton. This gives an unparalleled view of the composition of North East 
Brighton and the relation to the terrain it lies upon. 
 
In Housing types and mix of uses, the inclusion of mix of housing typologies is welcome 
but this will only contribute to social sustainability when combined with a mix of tenures 
including focusing on social rent which is almost the only affordable type of housing for 
most poorer people in Brighton. 
In greening there should also be consideration of provision of space for community 
gardening uses. This helps with place-making, allowing people to have a sense of 
investment, control and decision-making over their environment. 
 
There is no consideration of amenities such as toilets or changing rooms within buildings 
despite the criteria outlined at the start" Positively promotes health and well-being, 
providing appropriate level of public and private amenity for all users." 
BHCC's own research from the Trans Scrutiny Panel (2013) highlighted: 
"Recommendation 22: There should be provision for accessible and gender neutral 
toilets in all areas. The council should take the first step, with consultation with trans 
individuals, to ensure gender neutral and accessible toilets are available in public 
buildings. Where appropriate, this process should involve consultation with other groups 
affected such as disabled people who may have a view about widening access to toilet 
facilities designated as accessible for disabled people." 
The Trans Needs Assessment 2015 for Brighton & Hove also highlighted the crucial role 
adequate provision of toilets for trans residents: "The provision of gender neutral toilets 
was thought to make a big difference and was described by one focus group participant 
as ‘life-saving’." 
This needs to be considered in order to meet the SPD's objectives of inclusivity and 
sustainability as toilets and changing rooms (the most obviously binary-gendered 
spaces) are key to securing the city's social infrastructure are inclusive of all users. 
 

366



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 20 

It should be made clear in the UDF SPD that applicants need to evidence consideration 
of appropriate facilities that do not have only binary-gender (male/female) options. The 
evidence for this I have commented before from BHCC's own research and Trans Needs 
Assessment. 
 
The design team should engage with trans and non-binary residents as key local 
stakeholders in developing the ability advise on the provision of spaces such as toilets 
that are often gendered. The design team need to consider this in interactions with 
developers and applicants in order to make sure inclusive toilet infrastructure for all users 
has been considered. This is key in achieving inclusive social infrastructure in Brighton & 
Hove. This is why it needs to made explicit as part of the process with consideration 
evidenced, just like would be done with external materials chosen and used on a 
building. This should be a sub-section or criteria as part of the design statement or 
Design & Access statement from applicants. The applicant must evidence how they have 
considered any binary-gendered spaces in the design stage or if all spaces are 'gender-
neutral'. This inclusion means applicants must consider and reflect on if there design is 
inclusive or not of trans and non-binary residents as well as cis-gender residents. 
 
[A day in the life] section has the real capacity for applicants to produce designs that are 
heteronormative (exclusionary forms of social life that overlook or marginalise sexual and 
gender minorities). Also whether this a place only those with higher incomes can afford to 
inhabit in the ways imagined. For example is the 'A day in the life' affordable for those on 
low-incomes, are spaces free to use or inhabit, are they gated or open to all residents. 
 
Suggestion of writing includes Michael Frisch's 'Finding transformative planning practice 
in the spaces of intersectionality' and the work and edited collections of Prof. Petra Doan. 
However, this is US-based this is a real chance for Brighton to be a leader in this area 
and collaborate with the Equalities co-ordinators in BHCC, local trans groups such as 
The Clare Project, Allsorts and Switchboard, as well as myself at the University of 
Brighton to create leading best practice in the area of trans-inclusive design. 
 
Consider strategic reference to the Local Transport Plan (LTP) and the emerging Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) where possible 
 
Section 1.3 
• Optimise provision of electric charging points…include cycle parking/storage, although 
needs to take into account the obstacle-free point. Refer to level access bus stops or well 
designed waiting areas. Also to seating and provision for parklets, if appropriate here. 
Would also be good to refer to design to naturally calm vehicle speeds. 
• See the TfL ‘Healthy Streets’ principles (page 13) http://content.tfl.gov.uk/healthy-
streets-for-london.pdf which is referred to in the PHE Healthy High Streets document that 
you have a link to in section 2.1. 
 
Page 16 
• Is the figure showing gardens, footways and roads helpful in demonstrating that we are 
trying to create attractive safe streets for people? It suggests segregating vehicles and 
pedestrians, each having their own space and design…and gives the impression that 
vehicles may dominate the overall design and safety feel. 
 
Section 2.1 

367



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 21 

• Para 1 – Add reference to noise too at the end. 
• Refer to TfL Healthy Streets? (see section 1.3 comment) or the PHE document. 
• Refer to DfT’s new ‘Local Transport Note (LTN) 1/20’ – cycle design guidance. 
• Refer to 15 minute neighbourhoods [think there is BHCC talk of 15 rather than 20 
minute ones], whereby access to key day to day services including cafes/restaurants, 
education, leisure facilities and retail are within a 15 minute walk or cycle. 
• The link to National Institute for Health Protection takes you instead to the PHE Healthy 
High Streets document (which should be kept). 
• Design Considerations: Can we add 'car-free' to low car parking, and can provision be 
prioritised for disabled persons and car club vehicles [although operators prefer publicly 
accessible parking] and electric vehicles, and incorporate charging points? Can we add 
providing attractive and safe provision for cycling [which could be through segregated or 
other dedicated infrastructure] around and to the site/masterplan? 
• High density considerations box: The text in this box is too generic and needs more 
explanation / detail where possible. Do the ‘shared facilities’ refer to parking (including 
cycle parking)? If so, amend to ‘easily accessible by cycles (including electric cycles, 
cargo cycles and cycles for use by those with mobility impairments), powered two 
wheelers and cars’. It is not clear what the storage relates to...bins as well as bike 
storage? 
• Consider drop-off and pick-up provision too (including deliveries), depending on the 
development type. 
• Add recognition that cycle parking/storage needs to cater for a range of bicycles 
including cargo bikes and trailers. 
• Refer to contributing to creating neighbourhood mobility hubs, where local bus stops, 
shared cycle/e-bikes, car club vehicles, EV charging points and collection points are 
provided. 
 
Section 2.2 
• Add reference to places to rest. 
• Add reference to on-street parklets…or (since they considered temporary) providing 
space to enable the provision of these ‘pop up’ green/rest spaces. 
 
Section 3.7 
• 2nd para – looks to be in note form, at least first sentence. Yes, needs to 
accommodate/encourage cargo bike and small electric vehicle deliveries. 
 
Section 13.1 
• Infrastructure: amend ‘road network’ to 'streets', or add ‘footways’ and ‘cycle routes’. 
New development should minimise the increase in private vehicle trips, therefore the 
focus should not be on road network capacity, which is how it currently reads. 
 
Section 13.2 
• Active travel: add reference to 15 minute neighbourhoods (see comment in section 2.1). 
We should focus on increased access rather than increased mobility. 
• First sentence in box – include reference to car club and cycle hire provision 
• ‘Sustainable transport corridors’ – where are these identified (can’t see them in the City 
Plan Part 1 or LTP4)? 
 
There is not enough emphasise on local pollution, respiratory-cardiac health and air 
quality. In the 2020s this will be one of cities most important responsibilities. 

368



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 22 

Small cities can be outstanding exemplars of working towards carbon neutrality. However 
city policy has much bigger potential to influence local air quality on its own doorstep. 
 
Welcome the use of slopes & topography in design. Try to avoid habitable space and 
dwelling time where traffic may be congested, launch, hill climb or hill start. 
 
Development may enhance the views in some cases 
 
Welcome design space between buildings. It is important that transport corridors with 
road traffic emissions are not fully enclosed with massive parallel walls - forming a street 
canyon that has poor air quality. 
Active ground floor uses, outdoor seating, amenity and balconies are not appropriate for 
polluted areas or in locations where harmful emission are high. 
 
Set back is required between buildings, dwelling places and road traffic emissions. 
Consider future integrated zero emission transport; electric, cable car or autonomous that 
can travel between the indoor and outdoor domain that has potential for a number of 
development areas including Brighton Centre-Churchill Square. 
 
It will be important to avoid combustion; including gas and biomass in the tall building 
development areas. Reason: to avoid the risk of noxious plumes, smoke or odour 
entering the habitable space at height. The government plans to cease gas (fossil fuel) 
boilers in new developments from 2023. It is advisable this happens in the tall high 
density development zones first. 
 
Tall buildings are good for reducing travel and urban sprawl. Important size and massing 
is set back from busy transport corridors. For example Eastern Road at the hospital and 
other AQMAs should not be enclosed. There is gain in public amenity space, nature and 
parks whilst delivering good value per hectare. 
 
Like to see development see opportunities to open up streets 
 
In relation to the requirement for Tall Building Statements to accompany planning 
applications for tall buildings, it is important that the level of detail sought is 
proportionate to the scale and appropriateness of the proposed building. For 
example, for schemes considered an appropriate height from a design 
perspective and in locations identified as appropriate for tall buildings, it is 
considered onerous to require evidence of testing of other forms of high density 
development. We therefore suggest that the text in Section 6 is amended to state 
that Tall Building Statements “must include written and illustrative supporting 
information and justification for the chosen uses and proposed built form, which 
includes the following WHERE APPROPRIATE:”  
 
In connection with the above, we strongly support the recognition of Brighton 
Marina as an appropriate location for tall buildings given its role as a key 
commercial and leisure destination in the city and the positive contribution that 
can be made to the city’s skyline. 
 
We note that in relation to the indicative height range the draft SPD states that the 
heights will largely be determined by visual impact on views from hillsides and 

369



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 23 

from historic Kemp Town Enclosures. We welcome this design led approach to establish 
appropriate heights as part of the natural design progress for emerging schemes. 
 
We welcome the recognition in the Brighton Marina design considerations of the 
need to resolve poor connections with the surrounding area including Madeira 
Drive, Marine Parade, areas to the north and the city centre given the sites 
limitations in terms of transport services and infrastructure. 
  
Consider including headings to emphasise the need for carbon neutrality, protecting 
Communities from the effects of pollution, designing for the lifetimes of buildings and 
housing priced to be available for local people.  
 
I support the criteria but have serious reservations about the concept of higher densities 
– I feel that a cap on density should be agreed and implemented. I think there should 
also be more clarity over what constitutes “good design”. 
 
1.2 Neighbourhood character – There are some good practice examples of 
neighbourhoods zoned to make best used of transport, terrain, focal points and 
infrastructure. The City of Chichester in West Sussex is, in my view, a good example of 
neighbourhoods zoned into retail and tourism focal points, commerce zones, education 
zones, sport and leisure zones, residential planned transport hubs, traffic, cycling and 
pedestrian routes planned to facilitate sustainable transport. 
There are also examples of living/work hubs where residents can walk to their places of 
work to minimize the need for transport - Perhaps, also use an example of a “20 minute 
neighbourhood”? 
 
Need to ensure that strategic views do not include objects in the foreground that may 
“hide” features in the background view! 
 
I think these requirements have been well thought out but feel that the use of the word 
“should” implies a certain amount of discretion that may allow developers to prioritise 
their financial returns over the needs of residents and communities. Perhaps a stronger 
word (e.g. “shall”) could be considered? Generally, many of the requirements in the UDF 
should be mandatory, rather than desirable. 
 
2.1 I think that BHCC should consider adopting a standard design code for cycle ways 
similar, perhaps, to that used in London? 
2.6 The design and management of developments must prevent any risk, to public 
health, of disturbing toxic or contaminated material, especially in brownfield sites, and 
protect Communities from the impacts of pollution. 
 
2.1 to 2.7 Very difficult to find good practice examples in Brighton, apart from the 
Victorian squares and crescents. Perhaps look for good examples in France and 
Germany ? 
 
I think there must be a specific requirement for all new builds to be carbon neutral or 
carbon negative. 
Waste storage and collection is a very important issue and perhaps the City could 
consider the use on below-ground waste containers (as used overseas) in large new 
build projects. 

370



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 24 

More careful thought needs to be given to delivery and servicing facilities, especially in 
car-free developments, where there will be higher dependance on home deliveries. 
 
3.1 to 3.7 Very difficult to find good practice examples in Brighton,. Perhaps look for good 
examples elsewhere in Europe + award-winning Goldsmith Street Passivhaus 
development in Norwich? 
 
Whilst I wouldn’t object to the well-considered use of tall buildings in some locations and 
with generous open spaces around them, I do have a problem with excessive tall 
building developments, especially if they fail to provide suitable, truly affordable homes 
for local people. There also needs to be a much tighter definition of what constitutes 
“good design”! 
 
5.1 – Is an obvious over-development with little value to local residents or as a tourist 
attraction 
5.2 – Is an area with a claustrophobic feel, poor natural wayfinding or sense of place. 
However – I do support the Greenway initiative. 
5.6 – An obvious over development, creating a canyon-like, closed-in environment, with 
little evidence of how the road environment may be improved 
 
5.1 to 5.9 - The excessive use of tall and very tall buildings is likely to have an adverse 
impact on views, the well-being of local communities and the related densities may risk 
overwhelming the City’s infrastructure. 
 
5.9 – No mention of supporting and developing the use of Shoreham Harbour as a port. 
 
I think that tall buildings can only be justified where they provide decent, sustainable 
homes for local people. 
 
It may help to cross reference the design stages with the RIBA Plan of Work 2020, to 
encourage consistency. 
 
Perhaps include some more specific guidance on community consultation? 
 
Perhaps include some guidance on the quality and size (e.g. number of pages) of 
supporting documents? I agree there are advantages in early stakeholder engagement 
and buildability studies can also prove beneficial! 
 
Consider increased use of digital technology (e.g. 3D visualisations – walk-throughs, fly 
throughs) to help stakeholders and reviewers gain a better understanding of what is 
being proposed? I think this can be especially useful when superimposed on Google 
Maps 3D! 
 
It would be useful to understand how proposed buildings would be used and 3D 
visualisations (+BIM?) could help facilitate this. 
It may also be worth looking at how a proposed development may perform during its 
lifetime (e.g. maintenance, responses to climate change, responses to potential changes 
in use, adaption, re-assembly, etc.)? 
 

371



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 25 

Page 70 - DPH – I have seen some developments proposing densities of up to 300 – 
350 dph in Brighton & Hove – well over the “very high” classification. Could BHCC state a 
maximum allowable dph in the UDF, in the light of the potential effects of high density 
living on health, safety and well-being of communities? 
Pages 8- to 80 – Perhaps there should be a more specific definition of what constitutes 
and “enhancement” of an area? Especially from a Community’s perspective! 
Page 92 – Infrastructure – Some Utilities companies appear to be reluctant to assess 
capacity of water/sewage systems until after Planning Approval has been granted – this 
may be too late in some instances! 
  

 

 

 

Transcripts of email responses 

Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure 
that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of 
present and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.  
 
Our remit includes protected sites and landscapes, biodiversity, geodiversity, soils, 
protected species, landscape character, green infrastructure and access to and 
enjoyment of nature. 
 
While we welcome this opportunity to give our views, the topic this Supplementary 
Planning Document covers is unlikely to have major effects on the natural 
environment, but may nonetheless have some effects.  We therefore do not wish 
to provide specific comments, but advise you to consider the following issues: 
 
Green Infrastructure 
This SPD could consider making provision for Green Infrastructure (GI) within 
development. This should be in line with any GI strategy covering your area.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that local planning authorities should ‘ 
take a strategic approach to maintaining and enhancing networks of habitats and green 
infrastructure; ’.  The Planning Practice Guidance on Green Infrastructure provides more 
detail on this. 
 
Urban green space provides multi-functional benefits. It contributes to coherent and 
resilient ecological networks, allowing species to move around within, and between, 
towns and the countryside with even small patches of habitat benefitting movement. 
Urban GI is also recognised as one of the most effective tools available to us in 
managing environmental risks such as flooding and heat waves. Greener 
neighbourhoods and improved access to nature can also improve public health and 
quality of life and reduce environmental inequalities.  
 
There may be significant opportunities to retrofit green infrastructure in urban 

372

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/green-infrastructure/


Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 26 

environments. These can be realised through: 
• green roof systems and roof gardens; 
• green walls to provide insulation or shading and cooling; 
• new tree planting or altering the management of land (e.g. management of verges 

to enhance biodiversity). 
You could also consider issues relating to the protection of natural resources, including 
air quality, ground and surface water and soils within urban design plans.  
 
Further information on GI is include within The Town and Country Planning Association’s 
"Design Guide for Sustainable Communities" and their more recent "Good Practice 
Guidance for Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity". 
 
Biodiversity enhancement 
This SPD could consider incorporating features which are beneficial to wildlife within 
development, in line with paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework.   
You may wish to consider providing guidance on, for example, the level of bat roost or 
bird box provision within the built structure, or other measures to enhance biodiversity in 
the urban environment. An example of good practice includes the Exeter Residential 
Design Guide SPD, which advises (amongst other matters) a ratio of one nest/roost box 
per residential unit. 
 
Landscape enhancement 
The SPD may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local distinctiveness of 
the surrounding natural and built environment; use natural resources more sustainably; 
and bring benefits for the local community, for example through green infrastructure 
provision and access to and contact with nature. Landscape characterisation and 
townscape assessments, and associated sensitivity and capacity assessments provide 
tools for planners and developers to consider how new development might makes a 
positive contribution to the character and functions of the landscape through sensitive 
siting and good design and avoid unacceptable impacts.   
 
For example, it may be appropriate to seek that, where viable, trees should be of a 
species capable of growth to exceed building height and managed so to do, and where 
mature trees are retained on site, provision is made for succession planting so that new 
trees will be well established by the time mature trees die.   
 
Other design considerations 
The NPPF includes a number of design principles which could be considered, including 
the impacts of lighting on landscape and biodiversity (para 180).   
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulations Assessment 
A SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment only in exceptional 
circumstances as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance here.  While SPDs are 
unlikely to give rise to likely significant effects on European Sites, they should be 
considered as a plan under the Habitats Regulations in the same way as any other plan 
or project.  If your SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment or Habitats 
Regulation Assessment, you are required to consult us at certain stages as set out in the 
Planning Practice Guidance.   
 

373

http://www.tcpa.org.uk/pages/planning-for-a-healthy-environment-good-practice-for-green-infrastructure-and-biodiversity.html
http://www.tcpa.org.uk/pages/planning-for-a-healthy-environment-good-practice-for-green-infrastructure-and-biodiversity.html
http://www.exeter.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=12730
http://www.exeter.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=12730
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/11-conserving-and-enhancing-the-natural-environment/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal/sustainability-appraisal-requirements-for-local-plans/


Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 27 

Should the plan be amended in a way which significantly affects its impact on the natural 
environment, then, please consult Natural England again.  

Page 8 Section 1.1 Environmental conditions 
We support the inclusion of the following design consideration: 

• Look to improve biodiversity and secure net gains.  
 

Page 11 Section 1.3 Composition of Street Scene 
We are pleased to see the design consideration below which is important to ensure 
protection of the Brighton Chalk Block Aquifer (public water supply).   

• Incorporate features to help reduce water run-off and manage water quality.  
 

Page 17 Section 2.1 Active and Inclusive Travel  
We are pleased to see the following design consideration included although we suggest 
adding a qualifying statement that careful consideration needs to be given to the use of 
appropriate sustainable drainage systems to ensure that the quality of the Chalk Block 
Aquifer is not compromised.  

• Incorporate wildlife-friendly planting and sustainable drainage to make routes 
more climate-resilient, attractive and comfortable for users.  
 

Page 21 Section 2.3 Landscaping, Biodiversity and Water  
Again, we are pleased to see the following included, although, as above, we suggest 
referencing appropriate sustainable drainage solutions.    

• Use locally suitable and climate resilient plant and tree species to help deliver 
multiple policy gains (e.g. biodiversity and edible landscaping) and ensure 
capacity for their growth to full maturity.  

• Incorporate nature conservation features to support biodiversity (e.g. bird/bat 
boxes and bee bricks).  

• Adopt nature-based/sustainable drainage solutions to reduce surface water run-
off and risk of contamination of the city’s aquifer and flooding from the sea.  
 

Page 31 Section 3.1. Resource performance and use  
We are pleased to see the following design consideration which will reduce mains water 
use.  

• Incorporate rainwater harvesting to help maintain soft landscaping and/or for non-
potable water uses (e.g. window washing or toilet flushing).  
 

Page 36 Section 3.4 Greening 
We support the concept of greening being included within building design. As well as the 
benefits detailed, greening can also increase water absorption and hence reduce surface 
water runoff and flood risk.   Reference to this could be included in the paragraph below: 
Buildings can be designed to incorporate green roofs and walls, courtyards and gardens 
to help increase food provision, improve the health and wellbeing of residents, support 
biodiversity and pollinators and reduce the need to cool and heat buildings mechanically  
 
Page 43  5.1. Area 1: Brighton Marina  
We are pleased to see the sentence below included, however, it should also make 
reference to improving flood risk where possible. 

374



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 28 

• Incorporate design features that help to minimise the risk of flooding from the sea 
and surface water.  
 

Page 59 Section 5.9. Area 9: Shoreham Harbour  
As above, the sentence below should also make reference to improving flood risk where 
possible: 

• Minimise flood risk and reduce the impact of noise and air pollution.  
 

Page 61 Section C: Planning Process 
The Environment Agency provide a charged for service for detailed and bespoke pre-
application advice.  It may be useful to reference this at a relevant place in this section. 
In addition, we always encourage early engagement on development proposals.  
 
Page 95 Section 13.3 Buildings 
We would suggest including water efficiency targets in the Sustainability Statement 
requirements.   

1. We welcome this document as a high quality supplementary planning guidance with a 
sufficient level of attention to detail. We believe this will serve as a useful practical 
document for communities developing a Neighbourhood Plan and for developers to pay 
heed to, and we will feel reassured once this guidance is adopted. 
2. We especially welcome the attention given to Strategic Views and the inclusion of 
views from Rottingdean Windmill and the views across from the East to Beacon Hill and 
the Windmill. Might it be possible to also include the view from Falmer Road, north of 
Woodingdean across to the Isle of Wight (when rain is pending)? 
3. We also welcome the categorisation of Rottingdean as a suburban area to be 
conserved largely as existing. Furthermore, we thought it would be good to reference the 
following in the Neighbourhood Plan: 
• UCS: Urban Characterisation Study and  
• CACS: Conservation Area Character Statement 
Both are referred to in para 1.2 of the Urban Design Framework.  
The UCS is part of a characterisation study by BHCC, Rottingdean is on pages 99 - 102. 
The CACS is again from BHCC which talks about Conservation areas and Article 4 
Direction. The Rottingdean part covers 41 pages.  

With reference to Section 3.1 Resource performance and use, we support the inclusion 
of rainwater harvesting for non-potable use as a prioritised design consideration.   
Our Target 100 (https://www.southernwater.co.uk/water-for-life/target-100) program aims 
to reduce customers’ per capita water consumption to 100 litres per day by 2040.  
Planning policies that seek to ensure future development is water efficient by design will 
contribute to achieving this goal and are therefore supported by Southern Water.  

As the Government’s adviser on the historic environment Historic England is keen to 
ensure that the protection of the historic environment is fully taken into account at all 
stages and levels of the local planning process, and welcomes the opportunity to 
comment upon this key planning document. 
Historic England welcomes the preparation of an urban design framework for the city. 
For Historic England, a primary issue is the embedding of the conservation and 
enhancement of the city’s historic environment in the guidance to ensure the existing 

375



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 29 

distinctive historic environments are maintained and provide a context for high quality, 
contemporary design in new developments. We are pleased that the SPD successfully 
achieves this. Building upon the city’s distinctive character areas, as promoted in 
1.2.Neighbourhood character is a key part of doing this. 
Historic England promotes the retention or reuse of traditional materials, patterns and 
textures in public spaces in historic areas to complement the historical building forms 
they contextualise, e.g. in the Lanes or Kemp Town. However, we recognise that in 
some areas high quality modern public realm design is appropriate, as has been 
achieved in Jubilee Street area and New England Quarter as shown in 2.Spaces 
between buildings. Attention to 
detail is crucial to achieving good public realm outcomes and the approach taken should 
be based upon this. Reference to Historic England’s Streets for All documents as an 
additional source of advice on public realm works in historic areas may be useful in this 
section (or in the Appendices) - https://historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/streets-for-all/ and https://historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/streets-for-all-south-east/.  

The plan and text on page 58 give the impression that the whole eastern end of 
Shoreham Port is an appropriate location for high rise development. All of the land is 
shaded grey, with grey shading given the title – ‘indicative area with potential for tall 
buildings’. In fact the grey area is dominated by the JAAP’s character areas 2 and 4, 
which are designated for commercial use, or are beach.  

Our primary objectives are to enhance and conserve the landscape of the South Downs 
National Park (SDNP) and to enable its quiet enjoyment, recognising that these qualities 
can only be realised if the setting of the SDNP is also respected and protected. We 
recognise that the SPD relates to the City that lies outside the SDNP, but it is vital that 
appropriate priority is given to the conservation and enhancement of the SDNP. Indeed, 
there is a statutory duty on the City Council under Section 62 of the Environment Act 
1995 to have regard to its implications for the SDNP. 
  
[We] generally support the content of this SPD development subject to the inclusion of 
the following: 
  
The design of buildings must preserve the visual integrity, identity, and scenic quality of 
the SDNP, by conserving and enhancing key views, and views of key landmarks within 
the SDNP. Buildings should not be higher than the skyline when viewed from the SDNP 
towards the City that could affect the enjoyment of the SDNP. 
  
Where buildings can be seen from the SDNP, architectural design must be appropriate 
and sympathetic to its setting in terms of height, massing, density, roof form, materials, 
night, and day visibility, elevational and, where relevant, vernacular detailing. There 
should be no light spill from any building into the SDNP.  

Introduction  
Thank you for inviting us to comment on the Draft Urban Design Framework SPD. [We 
have] considered this substantial tome and welcomes many of the suggestions in there. 
We have however some reservations which are in essence matters of emphasis and 
effectiveness of the advice given as set out below.  

376



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 30 

 
General Comments  
Design needs to recognise the major challenges on the urban environment today. 
Climate resilience, liveable cities with an attractive public realm are key issues that need 
to be considered.  
The draft SPD in our opinion fails to pay sufficient regard to these considerations in an 
overarching way. IF Brighton and Hove is to respond to the climate challenge as councils 
from various administrations have repeatedly stated then a design guide should major on 
what this means for new development for example by:  
• Setting our clear expectations on how to deal with developments that need to rely 

less on fossil fuels. This has repercussions on car use (see more below), on bringing 
nature into the city for cooling, pollution control, water management, effective use of 
energy, imaginative use of building materials etc. A reference to the Brighton and 
Lewes Downs Biosphere and the contribution design can make to bringing the 
ambitions of that initiative into our built-up areas would also be appropriate.  

• Dealing specifically with the management of traffic, we must recognise that although 
we may move towards a shift from internal combustion engines to electric with 
batteries or fuel cells this won’t deal with the fundamentals of too many tins on our 
roads. Over 40% of households in some parts of our city don’t run a car – we need to 
plan for those 40% as much as for those that run cars. Car free developments in the 
central parts of Brighton and Hove are an obvious answer – and the council has 
started to recognise this in terms of first thoughts and experiments on cycling and 
walking. Fundamentally reducing car spaces in new developments gives us plenty of 
additional land to devote to child play, walking, cycling, microparks etc. HCS believes 
that a car ratio of .25 per new dwelling in the central parts of Brighton and Hove is an 
appropriate level for the sustainable city that the council wishes to create. A design 
guide for the city should illustrate the benefits of such lower car parking standards 
and how land freed up should be put to use for the benefit of the immediate 
environment within and surrounding new development sites.  

 
Although the draft SPD states at the outset that it helps the city to achieve its ambition of 
becoming carbon neutral by 2030, we believe that there is substantially more that needs 
to be done for the guide to come anywhere near meeting that claim. 
 
Generally we feel the guidance lacks the innovative thinking needed to reflect the climate 
change ambitions of the current and previous administrations of the city. Below we make 
detailed comments especially where we believe the guidance lacks ambition and is likely 
to result in no beneficial change.  
 
Detailed comments  
1.1 Environmental Conditions: The draft guide suggests: Retain existing mature trees 
and seek to add more: Why not look at something like maximising bio-mass on site to 
help reduce the carbon footprint of the development. We have previously suggested the 
planting of one new tree per dwelling on or offsite, where there is no opportunity on-site.  
The current wording is unlikely to prompt the change needed for more sustainable 
development.  
1.3 Composition of street scene: The draft guide suggests: Optimise provision of electric 
charging points and avoid letting parking dominate the street scene. This is ineffective 
unless the issue of car free developments is handled in an assertive way right at the 
beginning of the guide. There should be some thinking about the substitution of 

377



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 31 

petrol/diesel with electric – and the desired sustainability impact. Perhaps one electric 
space in, two normal car spaces out.  
2.1 High density consideration: here we find a boxed reference to car free development – 
we don’t feel this is assertive enough. If the city needs less cars this should be stated 
clearly as a firm expectation.  
2.2 Outdoor Amenity: The draft guide suggests the preparation of a Landscape 
Management plan. This should be preceded by clear landscape design statements which 
set the framework for sustainable planting.  
2.3 Landscaping, biodiversity and water: The guide suggests: Create landscapes that 
make a positive contribution to the city’s green infrastructure network and introduce 
street trees where possible, improving environmental comfort. The City is crying out for 
street trees, with 500 odd having been lost recently due to the recent Dutch Elm Disease 
outbreak. The statement is well meaning but ineffective. This needs to be firmed up not 
least because the City is desperately dependent on developments funding new street 
trees.  
2.5 Artistic element: We have no objection to the sentiment of this section, but believe a 
significant issue is being ignored: Most new development will not generate sufficient 
sums for the culture and arts contribution to create anywhere near the type of 
installations that your images suggest. Typically a new high quality arts and permanent 
arts installation will require north of £100K – in Brighton and Hove this can normally only 
be generated by pooling funds from several developments to generate a lasting artistic 
expression. The impact of the Council’s efforts in the last 10-15 years in this field has 
been documented and is woefully inadequate and has left a generally unimpressive 
legacy. We therefore strongly recommend that the issue of pooling funds for high quality 
installations / sculpture is highlighted and would suggest that the idea of providing 
additions to the Sculpture in Our City initiative is also raised as a potential to create a 
collective legacy for the city.  
3.1 Resource Performance and Use: The draft guide states: Incorporate electricity and 
renewable heat generation and energy saving measures. We believe this needs further 
elaboration in terms of space needed to be allocated for central boilers, connectivity to 
heat nodes etc. This has major land use and design implications and should pick up the 
details proffered in CCP2.  
3.4 Greening: All the proposed measures are welcome although we believe they should 
be prefaced somewhere in the guide with an explanation. The rational for greening apart 
from visual attractiveness is functional in terms of creating a CO2 sink, filtering pollution 
dealing with heat islands etc. If the City is going to meet its 2030 CO2 neutral objective 
then here is an opportunity to explain how new development can become CO2 neutral.  

The presentation seemed to focus largely on the built up city centre to the detriment of 
the Urban Fringe and beyond which is around 50% of our city. I believe a speculative 
housing development under construction on the Urban Fringe at the top of Falmer 
Avenue, Saltdean, is a prime example of Urban Design (UD) at its worst.  I will use this 
(but not exclusively), to focus on what is bad, to be avoided and what good sustainable 
Urban Design should include: 
Washing Machine Close: The Falmer Avenue development consists of: 32 dwellings 
comprising of 4 two bedroom flats and 28 two storey two, three and four bed dwellings.  
It is on green field land originally designated to be within the South Downs National Park 
(SDNP), around 40% is within the city.  The buildings are completely incongruous to 

378



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 32 

the surrounding area and can best be described as ‘giant white washing machines 
landed from outer space.’  [See photos below]. 
 

 
 
This development is likely to add around 48 additional cars, plus service and delivery 
vehicles to the already congested A259 coast and polluted roads around the city. 
Another speculative housing development on the Urban Fringe in Saltdean is: Coombe 
Farm: Three years ago planning permission was given for 60 houses at the farm on land 
which is currently buildings and yards.  
https://www.brightonandhovenews.org/2017/09/13/sixty-homes-approved-for-farmland-
on-edge-of-brighton/ . 
The farmers then sold the land to a property development company which submitted a 
planning application for 72 homes.  The site to have parking for 150 cars.  Along with 
daily deliveries and service vehicles this will add to the congestion and pollution of the 
coast road at a time when this should be reduced.  The site lies within Flood Zone 1 for 
which residential development is deemed appropriate for Flood Zone 1 as stated within 
the NPPF. However, the UFA identifies Site 48 as having a high risk of surface water 
flooding. This area and including lower down in Saltdean Vale has suffered from 
mud slides from recent heavy rainfalls.  There must be a guarantee that any 

379

https://www.brightonandhovenews.org/2017/09/13/sixty-homes-approved-for-farmland-on-edge-of-brighton/
https://www.brightonandhovenews.org/2017/09/13/sixty-homes-approved-for-farmland-on-edge-of-brighton/


Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 33 

development must not make this situation worse particularly for residents in the 
Saltdean Vale area and that drainage and sewage measures will be more than 
adequate 
This application will be considered at the planning committee on 02/12/20 
The above speculative developments of questionable design are two examples of urban 
fringe building which on their own may not seem too bad but along with the ever 
relentless additional developments chipping away at Brighton & Hove’s boundary 
between the built up area and green open space countryside, will lead to ‘Death by a 
thousand cuts’.   
 
Development in the Urban Fringe Countryside and SDNP must only be allowed in truly 
exceptional circumstances.  If there has to be ever increasing development, then let it be 
in the city centre on the brown field sites that exist and be construed to the highest 
sustainable, carbon neutral and people friendly standards. 
 
Air Pollution Targets:  The recent Queens speech promised air quality targets that would 
be “among the most ambitious in the world”. 
The most dangerous type of air pollution is small particulates because their microscopic 
size allows them to penetrate deep into the lungs and enter the bloodstream.  The WHO2 
limit for PM2.5 is 10 microgrammes per cubic metre of air.  Pollution from tyre wear can 
be 1,000 times worse than car exhaust emissions1.  Relying on the change from diesel 
and petrol motor vehicles to electric ones may not be the answer as these could be 
heavier producing more tyre wear. 
The Urban Design Framework must take into account and address issues associated 
pollution and congestion from motor vehicles in our city now, tomorrow will be too late. 
In the city centre cars to be banned, cycling and pedestrian routes to avoid/be separated 
from polluted and congested roads as much as possible.  More streets to be car free 
Along with reduction in motor transport, convenient access to improved Public Transport, 
Cycling and Walking must be promoted components in the Urban Design Framework, to 
help achieve the 10mcg/m3 target by 2030, and many other benefits.  
 
Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan: This is being developed and along with 
the ‘B&HCC Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2017-2027’ Plan (RoWIP). These plans 
have key roles and must be given high priority: 
Easy access to countryside, green spaces and parks makes us healthier and happier, 
improves our sense of community and encourages us to take positive action to protect 
the environment.  In England over £2 billion every year could be saved in health costs 
alone if everyone had easy safe access to green space. 
The planning system should encourage and support the development of more walking 
and cycling routes in towns and cities to better enable everyone to reach green space for 
recreation and enjoyment of nature, journeys to school and workplaces.  Furthermore, 
the public rights of way network and open access land remain key building blocks for 
leisure walking and sustainable active travel, particularly on the fringes of towns and 
cities - however these are often overlooked as a way of getting people moving. 
 
RoWIP:  Bridleways and Footpaths are Public Highways.  These important routes 
provide sustainable travel to work, school and recreation and can provide important 
community links away from roads.  Covid19 has emphasised the value of access to the 
SDNP, open green space, parks and the countryside in our City.  The author has seen 
significant use of Public Rights of Way for exercise, recreation, and enjoyment.   

380



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 34 

 
High rise buildings and particularly building on the urban fringe must not be allowed to 
break the sky line.   
The best way to consistently deliver high quality design is to set clear, minimum 
standards. The Ramblers support the Town and Country Planning Association’s 
proposal for a Healthy Homes Act which would create a set of enforceable design and 
quality standards – guaranteeing, for example, that all new homes would be within 
walkable neighbourhoods and have access to green space. All government departments 
would be required to abide by these principles when making policy, as would all public 
authorities that have responsibilities relating to planning and the delivery of housing.  
  
Climate change and sustainably issues are here now more than ever, we cannot keep 
putting off decisions that make matters worse.   

Section 5: Tall building areas  
5.3. Area 3: Central Seafront (page 47)  
1.2 We suggest adding a new sentence after first sentence of paragraph 1 as follows:  
“Area 3 is already identified in the adopted Brighton & Hove City Plan Part 2 as a major 
development site in Policy DA1. This allocation will need to be updated in due course to 
reflect the structural changes in the retail and leisure market. The SPD seeks to provide 
guidance on the urban design principles for the development of the site.”  
1.3 The sentence beginning “This area is made up…” can now form a separate 
paragraph. The site is not a “small strip of land”. We suggest “large area of built up land”.  
1.4 The current second paragraph starting with “A new vision statement…” should be 
replaced as follows:  
“A new masterplan for Area 3 should be developed in collaboration with the Council 
based upon a views analysis of the site and its surroundings to set out agreed massing, 
routes and open spaces . This should take account of the opportunities for phasing as 
well as constraints including heritage settings and rights of light.” 
 
Indicative Height Range (page 47) 
1.5 The wording of this key guidance should be less prescriptive as it predetermines the 
outcome of the masterplan. It should be completely rewritten. It currently states: “Height 
is best positioned centrally, behind established frontages preferably in slender forms with 
a north-south orientation”. 
1.6 Preferences for form should not be part of an SPD nor should the position of the 
highest building be prescribed. Instead of the wording “a very tall building (over 15 
storeys) in the northern part of the existing Brighton Centre land parcel, immediately 
south of Russell Road and taller development (8-10 storeys) in the north-east”, we 
suggest “very tall buildings (over 15 storeys) should be explored for the centre of the site 
and taller development (8-10 storeys) at the periphery. There may be a case for accent 
buildings of height in other strategic positions”. Also, the existing words: “on the seafront, 
proposals should complement, and not exceed, existing heights” should be replaced with 
more open guidance and could better be expressed thus “There is a presumption that 
established heights along the Seafront would be respected and any variance to this 
would need the strongest justification”. 
 
Bullet Points (BP) (pages 47 and 48) 
1.7 The design consideration bullet points 1 to 5 and bullet point 7 are acceptable. 

381

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/healthy-homes-act
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/healthy-homes-act


Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 35 

1.8 BP6: The phrase “a more constrained, but taller building, that helps to unlock 
important space for public realm” is not appropriate. The bullet point would better be 
phrased in the following way: “Provide mixed-use and flexible conference centre venue 
capable of co-locating wide ranging uses and explore options for a highly functional 
venue which nevertheless considers its impact on and accommodation of a spacious 
public realm”. 
1.9 BP8: This bullet point should be replaced with “The southern alignment should 
continue to allow the existing quantum of public realm but with an increase in its quality”. 
1.10 BP9: To “…open up to sea views” from the north boundary, given the large change 
in level, may be over ambitious. It would be better to say “…create a new townscape 
which leads towards the sea, opening up views to the sea at appropriate opportunities 
along a north/south route”. 
1.11 BP10: We suggest changing the wording of this bullet point to: “Consider 
landmarking a new shopping area through the creation of distinctive spaces including 
open streets which would define the character of the area”. 
1.12 BP11: A larger space at the northern boundary would not necessarily be a better 
space. We suggest changing the wording of the last sentence to: “…alongside a better 
defined and flexible space which functions for the benefit of the public and improves the 
continuity of levels”. 
 
Indicative Design Principle Diagram (page 48) 
1.13 This diagram is described as illustrative and indeed it is. Further notes in the 
caption should state:  
A) “the cruciform shape, delineation and position of new cross routes is entirely indicative 
and represents one possible masterplan approach”. 
B) “the number and position of ‘very tall buildings’ is again indicative and will depend on 
views, townscape studies, practical considerations of aspect, amenity and ground 
conditions among other considerations”. 
 
6: Tall Building Statements (page 59) 
1.14 The paragraph beginning: “Where EIA is required…” should be amended as 
follows: 
“Where EIA is required in order to avoid duplication, it will be appropriate for applicants 
to undertake a townscape and visual impact assessment, which forms part of the EIA”. 
1.15 Similarly the paragraph beginning: “Major tall building developments…” should have 
the additional text added: “…or an appropriate transport chapter in an EIA which should 
be agreed at the scoping stage”. 
Section 13 : Tall Building Statement guidelines (page 91) 
1.16 At 13.1 the section titled ‘Siting of buildings’ states that “Groups of tall buildings 
should be staggered or stepped to respond to natural slope contours and not mask 
natural valley formations, or block strategic or important local views within and across the 
city”. 
1.17 We believe it is incorrect to require, by the use of the word “should”, groups of tall 
buildings to step down in height according to the natural land contours. This is a 
prescriptive requirement that will not always give rise to the optimum solution to a site 
and may never be appropriate. Composed groups of tall buildings invariably benefit 
compositionally from being high at the centre and low at the periphery even when 
located in a valley. We believe this part of the sentence should be deleted.  

382



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 36 

[We] welcome the UDF SPD as something which we have been calling for some time 
and agree with the basic aim of policy – that good design is vital. 
We also consider that the UDF policies and recommendations will help amenity and 
community groups such as ourselves (as well as of course the Council), to deploy more 
arguments against poor development proposals. For that reason we suggest that the 
UDF draft could be improved as set out in the following pages. 
In the main we support many of the policies proposed in the document. We do however 
have several comments which are discussed below. 
 
About this SPD (p.3) 
“Higher quality higher density” - we suggest that the following phrase be added: 
“…but higher density does not necessarily mean tall buildings”. We discuss this further 
on p.4 below. 
“Uses innovative contemporary architecture” - we consider that there is a danger that this 
will encourage architectural horror stories. What we need is architecture which is ‘polite’ 
to its neighbours and fits comfortably into its local surroundings. 
That doesn’t preclude the definitions of ‘innovative’ and ‘contemporary’ but puts those 
qualities within an overall context of acceptability. 
By “polite” we mean buildings which relate well to their neighbours, which do not 
aggressively try to dominate their surroundings, and which do not affect the amenity of 
the occupants of neighbouring properties in a detrimental way. Many designs fail to meet 
those criteria. 
“reflects positive engagement..” – we discuss this further under Section C below 
 
Local Planning Policy 
Sections DM18 – 32 - Design and Heritage Section - of the (draft) City Plan Part 2 
policies should be included in the list of relevant Council planning policy documentation. 
 
Section A: Local priorities 
In the main this is useful but there is not enough emphasis on the unique urban heritage 
of the City, its 3500 listed buildings and its 34 conservation areas. 
Brighton & Hove is one of the most important heritage cities in the country and  nowhere 
in this UDF is that vitally important point made. 
This section makes no reference to the importance of community involvement at the 
early stages of the design process, though the topic is covered later in the draft UDF 
under Section C. We would have thought that a brief statement to that effect should be 
included under Local Priorities. 
It is vital that local people affected by developments, particularly large ones, feel that 
they have a voice – and that their voices will be listened to. Which currently is rarely the 
case. 
 
1. Context 
Missing is the basic priority that the landscape must dominate the buildings – not the 
buildings dominating the landscape. 
 
Para 1.1 - Environmental conditions 
The Malmo image shows a wall of buildings along the waterfront – should we be using 
this as a model we want to encourage? 
 
Para 1.2 - Neighbourhood character 

383



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 37 

“Where a proposal is promoting a clear departure from the established neighbourhood 
character, the council will expect this to be robustly justified through a design and where 
appropriate heritage statement…” 
A list of considerations is suggested to illustrate what acceptable criteria for justifying 
such a departure would be. This statement should refer to that relevant design guidance 
rather than state it should be “robustly justified”. That is just meaningless. Anyone can 
provide a robust justification. The important point is whether that justification is relevant 
to the particular neighbourhood situation into which the design proposal fits – or 
otherwise. The suggested policy doesn’t say that. 
We suggest that the words “polite design” and a more detailed description of what that 
means should be added to the list of relevant design considerations. 
One of the main problems with so many planning applications is that the designers 
appear to have little concept of how to design buildings which respect the character of 
the surrounding buildings in terms of scale, form and materials, and – often with the 
active encouragement of their clients – come up with a design which may look good in 
their portfolio, but looks dreadful in its neighbourhood context. 
It is particularly important to include this criterion if you are promoting “innovation and 
contemporary design”. We agree with this aim, but without further clarification it could be 
used to justify all sorts of unsympathetic and “impolite” design proposals. 
The recent Planning White Paper talks about ‘Design Guides’. We would be very much 
in favour of these as long as they are locally inspired and formulated with community 
involvement in that process. Should this future direction be referred to at this stage in the 
UDF? 
There should also be a specific statement to discourage design pastiche approaches – 
perhaps this could be added to the last item about innovation and contemporary design. 
 
p.10 - Neighbourhood map : 
- the word “sensitivity” is spelt wrongly. 
- “this map is avaiable…” Should be “available” 
- “Fore more details… “ should be “For more….” 
 
para1.3 - Composition of street scene 
Design considerations: 
“Shared spaces for pedestrians and cyclists” – in principle this is a desirable aim, but by 
their very nature, shared spaces have to accommodate a variety of different users from 
old people walking very slowly to the occasional inconsiderate cyclist, as well as the 
increasing hazard of silent e-scooters whizzing through them. 
Therefore, they need to be very carefully designed and managed. The most important 
consideration here is to create pedestrian-friendly urban spaces where people feel safe 
- merely tacking a token gesture to cyclists on to the topic of shared spaces is not 
adequate without further clarification." 
 
Para 1.4 - Views and Landmarks 
Tall building proposals constitute the biggest threat to the preservation of existing 
views. Surely this should be specifically highlighted in this paragraph. 
The other really important aims which should be highlighted are: 
a) to avoid a wall of tall buildings along the seafront which would substantially block 
existing views of the sea from areas of the city to the north; 
b) to prevent conglomerations of tall buildings impacting upon the city’s 34 conservation 
areas to the extent that the historic character of those areas is fatally compromised; 

384



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 38 

c) to emphasise the importance of the existing landscape character of the city – its 
ridges, its hills and its valleys, and to state the principle that the landscape must 
dominate the buildings, not the buildings dominating the landscape. 
The tendency to date in the city has been to ignore these  considerations – an example 
is the way the views of the sea from locally listed Hove Park will now be blocked by high 
rise developments such as the recently approved Sackville Trading 
Estate development. 
 
para1.5 - Opportunities for masterplanning 
Caption to first image – “Edingurgh Royal Infarmary” – spelt wrongly. And “Edingurgh 
Council” – again spelt wrongly 
 
2. Spaces between buildings 
para 2.2 – Outdoor amenity 
The importance of sunlight in public spaces is insufficiently emphasised. All this 
paragraph says is, “Locate outdoor amenity spaces to maximise sunlight and daylight….” 
What does maximise mean? How much sunlight - or how little – would be enough to 
satisfy this? 
Direct sunlight is particularly crucial to open spaces within high rise developments where 
they would otherwise be in shadow for much of the day. In commercial developments 
people need to be able to come outside in their lunch hour and sit in the sun, shoppers 
need to be able to rest their legs in a sunny space. 
In high density housing developments people need public spaces which offer them 
opportunities to be able to sit outside in sunny places. 
if Council planning policies don’t even acknowledge the importance of sunlight in public 
spaces as a necessary design consideration, no wonder developments like Circus Street 
and the Edward Street Quarter get planning approval and the spaces between buildings 
end up as sunless canyons in permanent shadow,. The way this policy is worded 
seems to encourage the provision of shade more than it does sunlight. 
This is a serious omission which needs to be rectified. 
 
para 2.5 - Artistic element 
This paragraph should include some reference to the scourge of graffiti, afflicting the city 
and to clarify that all forms of unauthorised graffiti such as tagging, throwups and 
Wildstyle do not fall under the category of public art. 
 
3. Buildings 
para 3.2 - Designing at density 
We question the statement at the end of the third paragraph “However, the greater the 
density and height of a development…” 
This as expressed, appears to conflate the separate issues of density and height. 
We would prefer “the greater the density or height…” 
It may seem academic, but it is important that the concepts of density and height are 
treated as completely separate issues. There is high-rise high density and there is low-
rise high density. 
The models illustrated below show this clearly. 

385



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 39 

 

On the left hand side is a 60 
storey tower block (six storeys 
higher than the i360). It 
accommodates 180 flats. 
On the right is a 4 storey 
block of flats built around a 
central courtyard. This also 
accommodates 180 flats 
Same density, same floor 
areas,same number of flats. 
One is high rise/high density, 
the other is low rise/high 
density. 
There is a quite a difference 

Any discussion on designing for density should include some background analysis on the 
different approaches to designing for density and the suitability of different models to 
provide those densities in relation to the context of Brighton & Hove, particularly where 
nearby heritage assets may be affected. 
 
Para 3.3 – Housing type and mix of uses 
Following the Covid pandemic it looks as though the current commercial areas in the city 
will be significantly affected in terms of reduced retail and office floor space, and working 
from home will be a permanent feature of life for many people. 
Virtual working will increasingly become the norm after Covid as people will want to work 
on a more part term basis and companies who have realised the benefits of not needing 
large office space will encourage this in order to keep their overheads down. 
These changes have two main implications: 
Firstly a large amount of vacant commercial floor space will become available which 
could potentially be converted to housing; 
Secondly the consequent need for home office workspace will become an important 
consideration in the design of future residential developments. Current minimum space 
standards will not provide that. 
The UDF design considerations should acknowledge that situation and though the likely 
extent and effects of the current ongoing pandemic are not yet clear, the UDF should at 
the very least refer to the potential problem in a general sense, paving the way for more 
detailed policies to be introduced as and when the situation becomes more clear. 
 
Section B: Tall Buildings 
As many of our previous submissions and objections to the Council demonstrate, the 
Brighton Society is vehemently opposed to tall buildings, particularly where they have a 
detrimental effect on the historic central city area, but also in sensitive landscape and 
seascape situations such as the Marina. 
Since the Tall Buildings Policy was introduced back in 2004, the planning guidance for 
each of the Tall Buildings zones which should have accompanied that policy in the form 
of Urban Design Frameworks has never – until now – been formulated. 

386



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 40 

The result has been that developers have been left to come up with their own 
interpretations of how appropriate their design proposals are in relation to the 
townscape, seascape and landscape contexts into which they are being installed – 
mostly with entirely predictable and unfortunate results. 
Although we consider that tall buildings are not appropriate solutions for Brighton & Hove 
– particularly as low-rise high density designs are a feasible alternative as demonstrated 
in the images on p.4 above, it is from that point of view that we make the comments 
below. They should not be interpreted to imply support for tall buildings in any way 
whatsoever. 
We understood from previous discussions with council officers about the Urban Design 
Frameworks, that they would incorporate detailed guidance to developers on the way in 
which tall buildings should relate to the context of particular sites within the various Tall 
Building Zones. 
For example in our discussions about Anston House on Preston Road, we pointed out 
that the heights of the buildings should relate to the skyline of the ridge to the west 
behind the site and that the tall buildings proposed should not project above 
that skyline. Further to the north on Preston Road the ridge line is higher, implying that 
the building heights could also be higher to fit below the skyline and not project above it. 
But is this sort of guidance to developers set out in the Draft UDF? No it isn’t. 
It should be if it is to provide any real improvement to the existing Tall Buildings policies. 
 
Introductory paragraph 
Regrettably this makes no reference whatever to the vitally important heritage 
considerations described above, and the detrimental effects that tall buildings can have 
on our historic urban landscape. 
This is an appalling omission which has to be corrected. Lots of European and American 
cities do not even allow tall buildings in their central historic centres. 
 
5. Tall Building Areas 
“in general conservation areas….are unlikely to be suitable to accommodate tall 
buildings.” 
This statement needs to expanded to include any areas which are close to existing 
conservation areas from which tall buildings will be prominently visible, and which would 
have a detrimental effect on those conservation areas and accompanying heritage 
assets such as listed buildings – of which the city has around 3,500. 
 
Para 5.1 – The Marina 
The key design factor that the draft UDF fails to mention is the detrimental impact that a 
conglomeration of tall buildings (as the current planning application demonstrates) will 
have on the city’s coastline and chalk cliffs behind the Marina. 
The existing buildings, which are only about eight storeys high, already block views of 
the chalk cliffs east of the Marina from the western end of the Hove promenade. 
A conglomeration of ten tall blocks between 9 and 28 storeys will have a disastrous 
effect on the appearance of our coastline. As we emphasised at the beginning of this 
response, the landscape must dominate the buildings not the other way round. 
A conglomeration such as that proposed will also (as acknowledged in the draft UDF), 
have a detrimental effect on and partially block views from the top of the cliffs out across 
the sea. 

387



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 41 

The Tall Buildings Policy is directly responsible for both the previous and current tall 
buildings development proposals for the Marina, and has already had a disastrous effect 
on the appearance of our coastline, the chalk cliffs and the South Downs 
National Park behind. 
 

 
View of Marina proposal from Black Rock 
 
Does the current UDF draft do anything to mitigate this disaster? Answer – No 
It is completely inadequate. 
 
Para 5.2 – Area 2 Brighton Station / New England 
Reading through this paragraph confirms all the points we have already made about the 
potential detrimental effects tall buildings will have on “..the interface with the North Laine 
Conservation Area…similarly, visual impacts on heritage assets such as St 
Bartholomew’s Church, St Peter’s Church, the viaduct, railway station (all listed) and on 
views from the Valley Gardens Conservation Area and from across the valley will need to 
be considered in detail…” 
Wouldn’t it be more sensible just to say that tall buildings in this area are inappropriate 
because they will have a detrimental effect on adjoining Conservation Areas and 
heritage assets such as the listed buildings identified in the draft UDF? 
All the design considerations proposed can be achieved by low-rise developments in this 
area. High rise is not an essential component of any of these aims – so why promote tall 
buildings here? 
 
Area 3 - Central seafront 
We dispute the statement that this area is “a ‘natural’ location for additional high quality 
tall buildings”. 
There is nothing ‘natural’ about it at all. We have written on our website 
(https://www.brighton-society.org.uk/historic-seafront-under-threat/ and 
https://www.brighton-society.org.uk/seafront-opportunities-will-they-be-grasped/) about 
the value that mostly consistently scaled buildings along the whole length of our 
promenades has in creating and conserving the character of our historic seafront. 
Tall buildings at any point along the seafront can only prejudice and compromise the 
value of this consistency of scale and character. 

388

https://www.brighton-society.org.uk/seafront-opportunities-will-they-be-grasped/


Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 42 

As with Area 2, all the design considerations listed can be achieved without tall buildings. 
 
Area 4 - Eastern Road / Edward Street 
The giveaway statement here is “Mid-rise (up to 8-storeys) with limited tall (9 – 15 
storeys) buildings in areas that do not harmfully impact on designated heritage asset 
settings” 
The Council’s Tall Buildings Policy is back to front – why not start with the need to 
protect heritage assets rather than create problems by promoting tall buildings then 
trying to make planning applications for tall buildings subject to unenforceable caveats? 
As with Areas 2 and 3 above, all the design considerations listed can be better and more 
easily achieved without tall buildings. 
 
Area 5 – Hove Station 
The Council has unfortunately already missed the boat here. The planning approvals 
granted to the Sackville trading Estate and Ellen Street developments (assuming they go 
ahead in the post-Covid period economic reality), have already had a severely 
detrimental effect on the intentions in the draft UDF – 
 
“Hove Station itself is a listed building and other designated heritage assets adjacent to 
the area require that key views be carefully considered in order to preserve and enhance 
their settings.” 
 

 
Does this monstrous building towering over the listed Station Tavern and the listed Hove 
Station on the right preserve and enhance their settings? 
We have already mentioned to loss of views of the sea from the locally listed Hove Park 
which will be caused by the Sackville Estate development. 
Again, all the design considerations listed have no direct relationship to tall building 
developments. They could relate to any developments. 
 
Area 6 – Lewes Road corridor 
The Preston Barracks development currently under construction will render the stated 
intentions of the proposed design considerations irrelevant: 
 

389



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 43 

“Enhance the look and feel 
of the Lewes Road 
approach into the city from 
the northeast and 
re-inforce its character as a 
continuous street with a 
strong green and active 
travel character (eg slow 
vehicles, multi-model 
movement, interconnected 
green 
infastructure)” – whatever all 
that means.  

Preston Barracks – this is the reality 
 
Does it enhance the look and feel of the the approach to the city…? 
As with all the Tall Building zones discussed above, none of the design 
considerations listed depend on tall buildings – in fact in most cases tall buildings 
actually make achieving the stated objectives much more difficult than they might 
otherwise have been. 
 
Area 7 – London Road / Preston Road 
The Brighton Society objected strongly to the previous applications to develop the 
Anston House site within this zone so we know it well. 
The first application foundered after we discovered that the applicant’s 
overshadowing diagrams on Preston Park were completely inaccurate. 
The second application was approved in spite of our efforts to persuade the Council that 
a low-rise high density development along the lines of the low-rise model illustrated on 
p.4 above was entirely feasible on this site. 
We said at the time, “A layout based on 2 courtyards with a 7 storey frontage facing on to 
Preston Road, 3 storeys at the rear of the site, and no more than 9-10 storeys in 3 blocks 
running on an east/west access based at each end of the site and centrally between the 
2 courtyards would provide the same amount of accommodation as the threatened 3 
towers of 15, 13 and 14 storeys in height.” 
We submitted plans showing the proposed layouts but our representations were ignored 
and the three towers were approved. 
We considered at the time (and still do), that at this southern end of Preston Park where 
the line of the ridge to the west behind the site, would set a limit on the height of the 
proposed buildings to avoid them projecting above the skyline. This approach would 
result in a more sympathetic and polite solution than the three towers of 15, 
14 and 13 storeys proposed. 
Do we see this key factor included in the draft UDF? No we don’t. 
 
Area 8 – Western Seafront / Kingsway 
We disagree with the assessment in the UDF that, “Mid-rise (up to 8 storeys ) along 
Kingsway and tall (9 – 15 storeys) to very tall (over key locations within the King Alfred 
Strategic Allocation).” 
We consider that, as a general rule, only buildings up to six storeys should apply to the 
majority of sites along Kingsway, as there are many much lower buildings along the 

390



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 44 

western end of the road – as well as the residential areas bordering the northern side of 
Kingsway where 8 storeys would be inappropriately high and cause overshadowing 
issues and block views and sunlight to those properties. 
There are a few situations along Kingsway where adjacent existing buildings are of 
comparable height to eight storeys, where new buildings of that height might be 
acceptable, but this is not something which should apply everywhere along the whole 
length of Kingsway. 
As far as the King Alfred site is concerned, this should comply with our previously stated 
criteria that the scale, height and character of the existing historic seafront should be 
consistently maintained along its entire length. This would preclude anything much over 
eight storeys. 
The draft UDF does actually recommend this – “Design considerations should be 
prioritised in proposals to… contribute to creation of a more consistent height, form and 
scale on the north side of Kingsway to ensure a coherent streetscape that is neighbourly 
and maintains public access and local views to the seafront” 
Why is this only mentioned here? – It’s exactly what we have been proposing should 
apply to whole seafront. 
The main reason King Alfred is included in a tall building zone is because the site is 
council owned and it can therefore be used by the Council to develop the site more 
intensively than private landowners on adjacent sites would be allowed to do. 
That is a travesty – it completely undermines the Council’s role as an independent arbiter 
of planning policy – what kind of example is that setting to private developers and what 
message does it send to them and the community at large about the Council’s integrity? 
 
Area 9 – Shoreham Harbour 
This suggests mid-rise (up to 8 storeys) along Kingsway. But the map suggests that both 
sides of Kingsway – and the huge area to the south between Shoreham harbour and the 
beachfront, also has the potential for tall buildings. 
The five design considerations listed fail to anticipate the probability that the whole area 
could be developed as a wall of tall buildings completely blocking off Kingsway from 
views of the harbour and the sea beyond, blocking out sunlight and creating huge areas 
of shadow over the residential areas to the north. 
 
We have already seen an example of this in the proposed 11-storey high Hove Gateway 
development. 
Eight storeys over this area is too high and equally importantly, there must be gaps 
between any new buildings to allow views through and to allow sunlight and minimise the 
overshadowing problem. 
Is any of this set out in the draft UDF? Answer - No. 
Finally we strongly consider that the Tall Building Statement guidelines which contain a 
lot of essential information should be included in this section and not relegated to the end 
of the Appendices. 
Overall, we regret to have to say this, but we consider that the design guidance in this 
draft UDF is completely inadequate to protect our city from the detrimental effect tall 
buildings will have on our heritage, our landscape of hills, ridges and valleys and our 
historic urban environment. 
It completely fails on its own terms of aiming to encourage good design. 
 
6. Tall Building Statements 

391



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 45 

This section really only sets out what studies have to accompany planning applications 
for Tall Buildings. It provides no guidance as to how this information might be used to 
help developers prepare their designs in the early stages. All it does is give them the 
opportunity to justify whatever schemes they decide to come up with. 
 
Section C – Planning Process 
Recommendations (p.61) 
Item 1 - a requirement should be added for feedback of comments on preliminary 
proposals to be publicised prior to a planning application being lodged. 
There have been occasions when developers have refused to publicise the comments 
they have received from the local community until too late in the design process. 
Item 5 - We would suggest including the use of models in addition to drawings and 
illustrations. People respond far better to 3D presentations, particularly if those 
presentations show how a proposal fits into the wider urban context too. 
For Tall Building applications in particular, sunlight and overshadowing diagrams 
throughout the year should be included as an essential requirement. 
 
7. Pre-application process 
7.1 Vision and site strategy 
Under “Context” this section should be improved to include and ensure full early 
consultation and feedback procedures are held with the local community prior to a 
planning application being submitted. 
Under “Spaces between buildings” we suggest the following addition: 
“Have the effects of overshadowing of proposed and existing public spaces been 
studied?” 
 
7.2 Conceptual design options 
As Brighton & Hove includes so many conservation areas and listed buildings we 
suggest that an additional item should be added under “Context” as follows: 
“Do they have any effect on local heritage assets?” 
 
7.3 Preferred design concept 
Should there be a statement to the effect that planning applications which fail to provide 
the information expected will not be registered until such information is provided to the 
Council’s satisfaction? So many applications, particularly the smaller ones, try to get 
away with providing minimal information about the design and how the proposed building 
relates to its urban context. 
 
7.4 Detailed design 
There seems to be potential confusion between the terminology here. The term “Detailed 
design” in the construction industry usually means exactly that – the detailed design of 
the building construction which is normally carried out after planning approval has been 
obtained. Prior to planning approval, the designs are normally referred to as “final sketch 
plans”. 
 
Section 8 - Design Advice Services 
The contribution and local expertise of the Council’s Conservation Advisory Group (CAG) 
should be added to this section. 

392



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 46 

Incidentally, would it also be useful to add the names of reputable amenity societies such 
as the Regency Society and ourselves to this section for potential advice and feedback 
on building proposals? 
 
Appendices 
Para 11 – Neighbourhood sensitivity… 
Bullet point 7 – Listed buildings are not mentioned! There are about 3,500 of them in 
Brighton & Hove. Please add them to the list. 
Penultimate paragraph – It should be pointed out that the quality of Conservation Area 
Character Studies varies enormously. The more recent, such as studies for the Old 
Town CA and Queen’s Park, are excellent and up to date. Others have not been updated 
or reviewed for over 40 years and urgently need to be re-written in the light of current 
standards. 
 
13. Tall Building Statement Guidelines 
It seems strange that this section is located in Appendices right at the end of the draft 
UDF. Does this indicate its status as a mere footnote the rest of the document? 
Yet it contains some really useful and essential information and advice. It should really 
be moved as previously suggested, to a location under Section B: Tall Buildings - where 
it belongs.  

1.1 Environmental conditions 
Tree cover is important and is often lacking in Brighton and Hove. In some areas it is 
good while in others, for example, Hangleton, Saltdean, it is almost entirely absent. 
Trees encourage the use of active travel, providing character, shade in the summer, 
seasonal notations and aesthetic value. 
Brighton and Hove should consider adopting a tree levy on all new developments to be 
spent anywhere in the city it is needed. 
When planted in pavement space, trees and their roots can obstruct pavement users and 
are particularly hazardous to those with disabilities, including wheelchair and mobility 
scooter users and blind people. Instead, trees should be planted in space taken from the 
main carriageway [we could submit a photo of this] 
 
1.2 Neighbourhood character 
Neighbourhood character should seek to optimise street space for the use of people 
rather than cars. There should be an active strategy to minimise streets for car drivers 
and parking and to maximise the opportunities for streets to be used for children to play 
out, as places to sit and stroll, and as a general civic amenity. There are 42,000 on-street 
parking bays in the city, representing an area almost four times the size of Preston Park. 
This is an extremely inefficient use of public space. 
Rat runs should be identified and eliminated using modal filters to block motor vehicle 
through-traffic while allowing access for cycles and mobility scooters and creating a safer 
walking environment. 
 
1.3 Composition of street scene 
Parked cars are visually intrusive and efforts should be made to reduce their dominance. 
For example, the rich visual aesthetic of Marine Parade’s architecture is marred by a 
profusion of mini-car parks which could be repurposed as parks and gardens, vastly 

393



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 47 

improving the public realm. Similarly, Palmeira Square and Adelaide Crescent are cut in 
half by parked cars.  
Roads should not curve round at corners facilitating the movement of cars and making 
pedestrians walk further to cross the road. (there’s a technical name for this …) 
Planning permission should not be given for gardens to become car parking spaces, as 
this entrenches car dominance, reduces biodiversity and increases flood risk. Instead, 
incentives should be given to reduce the amount of hardstanding. 
 
1.5 Opportunities for masterplanning 
Masterplanning should ensure that through movement by motor vehicles  is designed out 
of neighbourhoods. 
Car parking in any regeneration project should be retained only for Blue Badge holders. 
There should be a sufficiently high density of people [I’d say this is less about population 
density and more about planning permission - Chris] to ensure that areas are able to 
become 15 minute neighbourhoods, where active travel is prioritised over private vehicle 
use. 
 
2.1 Active and Inclusive Travel 
The guidelines are sensible and practicable and should be followed rigorously; however 
in many cases they do not go far enough in eliminating car dependency. 
Cycle and pedestrian routes should be separated at all times.  
Cycle routes should be coherent and logical, allowing people on bicycles to traverse the 
length and breadth of the city without disruptions or unnecessary detours. 
All one way streets should be made two way for cycling. 
Active travel should be the normative way of getting around, followed by public transport 
with private cars at the bottom of the hierarchy. 
Cycle parking should be available to all residents, and should be accessible, level, well-
lit, covered and secure. 
New developments should have the minimum of car parking space and that should be 
reserved for Blue Badge holders. 
There should be a 20 mph speed limit in all parts of the city and this should be enforced. 
Every encouragement should be made to turn car parks into residential use. 
Public car parks at public parks should be for the exclusive use of Blue Badge holders 
and their capacity reduced accordingly. 
 
2.2 Outdoor amenity 
Children should have the right to ‘play out’; this means designing outdoor spaces, 
including streets, as places where they have the right to play without danger from motor 
vehicles  and without overt adult supervision. 
 
2.4 Mix of use and active frontages 
The idea of the 15 minute city is used here but not placed in context. How will this be 
achieved? Population densities need to be sufficiently high for all local amenities to be 
within a 15 (or 20) minute radius. 
More coherence and development are needed to make a 15 minute neighbourhood a 
reality. This means that new residential neighbourhoods should not be given planning 
permission if they are physically separate from existing facilities, and that planning 
consent should not be granted for leisure and retail facilities which only a minority of 
people can access using active travel (… there [may be] some kind of calculation 
regarding population density/distance etc …) 

394



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 48 

 

The Sussex Wildlife Trust (SWT) wish to submit the following comments to the above 
consultation. Where we are proposing a change to policy or the supporting text, 
recommended additions are highlighted in bold and deletions are struck through. 
 
Section A: Local Priorities 
1. Context 
 
1.1 Environmental Conditions 
SWT is pleased to see section 1.1 Environmental Conditions reference Biodiversity Net 
Gains. We encourage Brighton and Hove City Council (BHCC) to be more positive with 
its wording and confident with its intentions. Therefore we make the following 
recommended amendments to the last bullet point: 

• Look to Improve biodiversity and secure delivery of Biodiversity Net Gains. 
We also suggest that there could be an additional point to reflect the importance of 
recognising the spatial/strategic significant of a development within the City’s Nature 
Recovery Network. 

• Consider the context of the proposals in terms of its impact and/or ability to 
deliver towards a strategic network for biodiversity 

 
1.5 Opportunities for Masterplanning 
SWT believes that the masterplanning process can provide an important opportunity for 
developments to be positively design for biodiversity. It is imperative that ecological 
information supporting a development is used to inform the masterplanning process and 
is not retro fitted into a design. Therefore we support the acknowledgment of 
masterplanning protecting environmental assets. However, this must be done at the right 
stage. The process of masterplanning must embed biodiversity net gain at the outset to 
ensure it is in the most appropriate locations to enhance existing biodiversity. BHCC 
should also ensure that the process of masterplanning is not insular to the development 
location and seeks to compliment the wider biodiversity network. 
 
Therefore we suggest that an additional bullet point could be added to list that references 
green infrastructure and its multiple benefits: 

• There are opportunities to deliver green infrastructure to ensure it 
complements the wider City’s green infrastructure network aspirations 

 
2. Spaces between buildings 
2.1. Active and inclusive travel 
SWT welcomes the priorities for this section recognising that active and inclusive travel 
can deliver multiple benefits with the inclusion of the point relating to incorporating 
wildlife friendly planting. 
 
2.2. Outdoor amenity 
SWT welcomes the acknowledgment of biodiversity within the final two points of the 
priorities. In relation to the final bullet point, SWT suggests clarity is needed on the 
degree to which biodiversity will be represented in a landscape management plan. 
Finally, we suggest that this section may benefit from a bullet point which encourages 

395



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 49 

outdoor amenity space to consider position in relation to opportunities to link to the wider 
network of green spaces within the city 

• Optimise opportunities to link outdoor amenity space into the wider network 
of the City’s green spaces. 

 
2.3. Landscaping, biodiversity and water 
SWT supports the points proposed in this section. SWT encourage BHCC to ensure this 
section recognises coastal elements, acknowledges the role of blue infrastructure and 
recognises the importance of connectivity for biodiversity function and resilience. 
We therefore propose the following additions to the priorities: 

• Create landscapes that make a positive contribution to the city’s green and blue 
infrastructure network and introduce street trees where possible, improving 
environmental comfort. 

• Deliver towards networks that promote and deliver a resilient and connected 
network for biodiversity 

 
2.7. Phasing development 
SWT suggests that this section needs to reflect the importance of timing and delivery of 
Green 
Infrastructure within phased developments. We therefore propose the following wording: 

• Green infrastructure to be established and provided for each phase 
throughout the process 

 
3. Buildings 
3.4. Greening 
SWT strongly supports this section, however we are concerned about the limitations of 
the term ‘buildings’, as other structures referenced in this document, such as bin stores 
(3.6) and bus stops, provide clear opportunities for greening of surfaces. 
 
Section C: Planning Process 
SWT have previously stated in section A1.5 about the importance of ensuring ecological 
information informs the process of masterplanning at the earliest stage. By ensuring that 
key information is collated and used to inform the design process at the earliest stages, it 
will give the development the clear opportunity to ensure biodiversity is protected, net 
gains are identified and planned in for delivery and that the development can think about 
its connectivity and function in the wider city network.  

We are writing in response to the B&HCC Urban Design SPD which is currently out for 
consultation. We have reviewed the contents of the SPD and will now provide detailed 
comments from an emergency services perspective. These comments have been 
informed by our Designing out Crime officers who provide consultation comments on a 
variety of planning applications in the City.  
This SPD concerns urban design and essential priorities that applicants should take into 
consideration when designing new developments.  
New development should ensure that crime prevention and access for the emergency 
services is an important design consideration with the sites masterplan and the finer 
design detailing of a development. This includes ensuring that appropriate consultation is 

396



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 50 

given to the emergency services and their concerns are resolved throughout the design 
process.  
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) is very clear that:  
‘Designing out crime and designing in community safety should be central to the 
planning and delivery of new development. Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998 requires all local authorities to exercise their functions with due regard to their likely 
effect on crime and disorder, and to do all they reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder. The prevention of crime and the enhancement of community safety are matters 
that a local authority should consider when exercising its planning functions under the 
Town and Country Planning legislation.  
Local authorities may, therefore, wish to consider how they will consult their Police and 
Crime Commissioners on planning applications where they are Statutory Consultees and 
agree with their police force how they will work effectively together on other planning 
matters.  
It is important that crime reduction-based planning measures are based upon a clear 
understanding of the local situation, avoiding making assumptions about the problems 
and their causes. Consideration also needs to be given to how planning policies relate to 
wider policies on crime reduction, crime prevention and sustainable communities. This 
means working closely with the police force to analyse and share relevant information 
and good practice.’  
At present, there is limited reference to designing out crime and crime prevention 
measures within the SPD which is inconsistent with national planning policy guidance 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
We strongly advise that the emerging SPD includes clear reference to crime prevention 
and access for emergency services as a standalone topic under ‘Local Priorities’. This 
should include descriptions of both the Secured by Design and Crowded Places 
initiatives relevant to policing and partner emergency service organisations.  
1. Secured by Design – This is the UK Police flagship initiative with the objective of 
designing out some forms of crime during the planning process. Good quality design, 
which is core to delivering sustainable development, is not possible unless it ensures 
that places and buildings contribute to the realisation of safe and secure environments 
for all. This encompasses being fully accessible by ‘blue light’ vehicles. It is therefore 
imperative that planners and developers alike are signposted to research and use the 
best practice guidance in this area provided by the Secured by Design guides, which are 
freely available to everyone online.  
2. Crowded Places – National Planning Practice Guidance currently references 
‘Protecting Crowded Places: Design and Technical Issues’, ‘Crowded Places Guidance’ 
(2017) by the National Counter Terrorism Security Office and the built environment 
guidance published by the Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure. This must 
all be retained in the new planning system. It is the only way that new buildings and 
places can be made as resilient as possible from a counterterrorism perspective.  
The superseded Brighton & Hove City Council Local Plan (2005) included Policy QD7 
(Crime prevention through environmental design) which would ask is incorporated into 
the new Urban Design SPD which states:  
Where large scale developments are proposed (defined as 10 or more houses or 1,000 
sq m of commercial floorspace), planning permission will only be granted for proposals 
where the applicant can demonstrate clearly how crime prevention measures have been 
incorporated into the layout and design. The development should also meet the safety 
requirements of the transport policies in this Plan.  

397



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 51 

3.33 Policy QD7 aims to ensure that new development does not increase and if possible 
reduces, the opportunities for crime in a neighbourhood. The definition of large scale 
development is specific to Policy QD7 and reflects an agreement between the council, 
Sussex Police and other councils in East Sussex. All large scale and other appropriate 
proposals will be referred to the Police for a risk assessment and comments. All such 
proposals will be assessed with reference to crime prevention measures set out in the 
national flag ship initiative 'Secured by Design'. Developments should also conform to 
the design policies in particular where there are safety considerations.  
We have now included examples from other planning policy documents from various 
adopted policy documents. These documents have undertaken examination by various 
planning inspectors ad adopted within local plans. 
 
Example policies  
1. Opportunities for creating a safe and secure environment and providing surveillance 
should be included, principally through the layout and positioning of buildings, spaces 
and uses. Where appropriate, development should incorporate measures for crime 
reduction that are consistent with those recommended by the Secured by Design guides. 
Buildings and their surrounding spaces should incorporate fire safety measures and be 
designed to allow rapid access by emergency service vehicles.’  
 
(Policy SWDP 21 – ‘Design’ of the South Worcestershire Development Plan)  
2. Encourage community safety and ‘design out’ vulnerability to crime by incorporating 
the principles, concepts and physical security standards of the ‘Secured by Design’ 
award scheme; providing infrastructure for policing and emergency services; and 
considering the incorporation of fire safety measures.  
 
Policy 40 – ‘High Quality Design and Safer Communities’ of the Borough of Redditch 
Local Plan No.4  
3. Development proposals should create safe, sustainable, well integrated environments 
for all members of the community. In conjunction with this, all development proposals 
should incorporate the following requirements…  
 
 Create safe and accessible environments, and that minimise opportunities for crime 
and antisocial behaviour by incorporating Secured by Design principles, and consider the 
incorporation of fire safety measures.  
 
4. Create a safe, secure and crime free environment through providing active frontages,  
 
natural surveillance, incorporation of Secured by Design principles and supporting 
security  
infrastructure where necessary.  
We have now included examples from other planning policy documents from various 
adopted policy documents. These documents have undertaken examination by various 
planning inspectors and adopted within local plans.  

Thank you for consulting Sport England on the above document.  
The following table sets out Sport England’s comments on various sections of the 
consultation.  
2.1 Active and inclusive travel  

398



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 52 

Sport England welcomes this section of the SPD that introduces the principle of active 
travel and inclusive travel that will assist in improving health and wellbeing in the layout 
of developments.  
This section provides the opportunity to incorporate the principles of Active Design into 
new developments.  
Sport England believes that being active should be an intrinsic part of everyone’s daily 
life – and the design of where we live and work plays a vital role in keeping us active.  
Good design should contribute positively to making places better for people and create 
environments that make the active choice the easy choice for people and communities.  
Sport England in partnership with Public Health England, have produced the Active 
Design Guidance. This guidance builds on the original Active Design (2007) objectives of 
improving accessibility, enhancing amenity and increasing awareness, and sets out the 
Ten Principles of Active Design.  
The guide features an innovative set of guidelines to get more people moving through 
suitable design and layout. It includes a series of case studies setting out  
practical real-life examples of the principles in action to encourage planners, urban 
designers, developers and health professionals to create the right environment to help 
people get more active, more often.  
The Active Design Principles are aimed at contributing towards the Government's desire 
for the planning system to promote healthy communities through good urban design.  
Sport England has an online resource detailing Active Design and this includes videos 
illustrating the principles, the guidance document and case studies:  
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-
guidance/active-design  
Sport England suggests that SPD includes reference to new development meeting 
the principles of Active Design and that in any planning application, the applicant 
should submit a statement setting out how the design and layout of the 
development meets the principles of Active Design.  
2.2 Outdoor amenity  
This section introduces the opportunity to provide sport facilities as part of the outdoor 
amenity offer. Appropriate sport facilities that meet an identified demand can add to the 
range of outdoor amenities.  
It is important that the right sport facilities are provided. Sport England would not wish to 
see the provision of sport facilities which are not used because they are the wrong type, 
there is general over provision, or they do not meet any demand.  
An up to date evidence base should be used to inform what new sport facilities should be 
provided. This should consist of:  
• An up to date playing pitch strategy (carried out in accordance with a methodology 

approved by Sport England)  
• An up to date built sports facilities strategy (carried out in accordance with a 

methodology approved by Sport England).  
 
By ‘up-to-date’ Sport England means prepared within the last 3 years for Playing Pitch 
Strategies, and 5 years for Built Sports Facilities Strategies  
Sport England would suggest that this section of the SPD is amended to 
encourage the provision of appropriate sport facilities.  
Every year hundreds, if not thousands, of sports events take place that rely upon the 
natural environment or roads etc. Marathons are an example of a sport event taking 
place in urban areas.  

399



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 53 

Many are the transient, peripatetic sporting events that the organising club sets up, the 
competition takes place, and afterwards any equipment (e.g. signage, fences, ropes, 
show jumps) are dismantled and the land reverts to its original use. These events can 
include equestrian activities, motorsport, cycling, running, canoeing and climbing events.  
What all these sporting activities tend to have in common is a control point (often the 
start and finish) where participants will assemble and register for the event, prior to it 
starting. Because of the transient nature of these type of events, they  
tend to operate outside the planning system and rely on permitted development rights 
because:  
• Events are mostly low-key and non-profit generating. The peripatetic nature of these 

sport events results in them using a number of different sites during the year.  
• There are often no alternative sites with planning permission available at an economic 

price.  
• The short-term simplicity of using Permitted Development rights suits the organisers, 

many of whom are volunteers.  
• Landowners of these sites show reluctance to become involved in the formal process 

of seeking planning permission, leading to the loss of sites even where there is 
reasonable prospect of planning consent being granted.  

 
Occasionally some events do require planning permission and this tends to be where 
permitted development rights do not apply, or that the events have taken place more 
than 14 or 28 days per year and therefore exceed their permitted development rights.  
Local Plan documents generally lack positive policies for formally dealing with such 
sporting events - because the use is temporary, the forward-looking planning processes 
is essentially incapable of recognising, acknowledging and safeguarding that temporary 
use as a valuable recreation asset.  
Open space can provide the opportunity for ‘pop up’ sport events to take place, even if 
this is for ancillary facilities that support the main event: portable buildings to take 
entries, scoring facilities etc.  
The SPD provides and opportunity to recognise these temporary sport events and 
can encourage them to take place thought the provision of open space.  
2.4 Mix of uses and active frontages  
Recent changes to the use class order have made it easier to introduce sport facilities 
into retail units.  
It should be recognised that sport can contribute to the evening economy. A diverse local 
economy is one of the building blocks of a sustainable community, and the promotion of 
economic vitality is a central concern of regeneration initiatives which are seeking to 
tackle multiple challenges associated with declining industries, changing consumer 
demand, unemployment, skills gaps, under-investment. Sport has a potential role to play 
in all these, some of the direct and indirect contributions being:  
• Investment in physical fabric;  
• Catalyst for investment and regeneration;  
• Employment  
• Image enhancement for living, working and visiting;  
• Reducing workforce absence due to ill health;  
• Improving skills and qualifications.  
Town centres provide opportunities for sporting activities that attract multiple users and 
spectators such as leisure centres, football stadia and swimming pools. Such uses can 

400



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 54 

assist in contributing to the vitality and viability of centres. Often leisure centres and sport 
facilities remain open beyond traditional shop opening  
hours bringing people into to the centres and contributing to an evening economy and 
contributing towards a sense of a safe community.  
Sport England has produced guidance on the economic value of sport and it can be 
viewed on this link:  
https://www.sportengland.org/news/sport-england-launches-new-model-to-show-the-
economic-value-of-sport-to-local-communities  
As previously stated, the siting of any new sport facility should be based on an evidence 
base in order to ensure that it will serve demand.  
The SPD should encourage the siting and introduction of sport facilities as a range 
of uses.  
3.3 Housing types and mix of uses  
Please see Sport England’s previous comments in respect of Active Design for 2.1 
(Active and Inclusive Travel).  
Active Design is applicable to this section of the SPD.  
A design consideration should be introduced to ensure any new development 
meets the principles of Active Design and that in any planning application, the 
applicant should submit a statement setting out how the design and layout of the 
development meets the principles of Active Design.  
7.0 Pre-application process  
As part of this process, the applicant should demonstrate how they have incorporated 
the principle of Active Design, considered to siting of new appropriate sport facilities 
(based on an evidence base) and demonstrates how any new open space can be multi 
functional, for example to host a temporary sport event.  
Section D: Appendices  
Sport England’s Active Design Guidance should be included in the appendix: 
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-
guidance/active-design    
 
Thank you for consulting the RSPB on the above document. We have reviewed the UDF 
SPD and would like to make the following comments. We have focused our response on 
Section 2.3. Landscaping, biodiversity and water; Section 3.4. Greening; and Section 10. 
Extended list of policies and documents.  
 
Section 2.3. Landscaping, biodiversity and water  
The RSPB welcomes Brighton & Hove City Council’s prioritisation of design 
considerations towards enhancing the city’s green infrastructure network, delivering 
biodiversity gains, and incorporating nature conservation features into development 
design. The RSPB recommends that the following wording be added to provide clarity on 
new policy guidance for the incorporation of swift bricks/boxes and bee bricks into new 
build, refurbishment, and renovation schemes:  
Original text:  
‘The following design considerations should be prioritised in proposals: …  
• • … Incorporate nature conservation features to support biodiversity (e.g. bird/bat 
boxes and bee bricks)’  
 
Amended to:  

401

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/active-design
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/active-design


Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 55 

‘The following design considerations should be prioritised in proposals: …  
• • Incorporate nature conservation features to support biodiversity, ensuring a net 
gain in biodiversity is achieved (e.g. bird/bat bricks and boxes, and bee bricks). Where 
required, swift bricks/boxes and bee bricks should be installed following best practice 
guidance (see Special Guidance A: Swift Boxes and Bricks for New Developments).’  
 
Providing clarification of measures in place to secure swift bricks/boxes and bee bricks 
through planning conditions will ensure developers are able to incorporate suitable 
implementation of these features into design at the earliest opportunity. Further, the 
RSPB wishes to highlight that incorporation of swift bricks rather than boxes should be 
preferred where the scheme design allows. Swift bricks are maintenance free, long 
lasting, less prone to predation, and less prone to temperature variations. However, 
should internal swift bricks not be feasible, swift boxes should be provided.  
The RSPB also recommends the inclusion of reference towards SPD11 Nature 
Conservation and Development within the text under Section 2.3. Landscaping, 
biodiversity and water. Although SPD11 is due to be updated, the SPD refers to a range 
of low-cost nature conservation features that should be encouraged for use by 
developers given the requirement for providing biodiversity net gains.  
 
Section 3.4. Greening  
The RSPB acknowledges the prioritisation of ‘Greening’ by Brighton & Hove City Council 
within its Draft UDF SPD. We agree that plant species should be appropriately chosen 
with consideration to native species found around Brighton and Hove’s coastal and 
downland habitats. A variety of native plants that are adapted to different environmental 
conditions (e.g. sunlight, moisture, soil) should be sought and incorporated into the 
design of urban development. To ensure that the role ‘Greening’ can play in enhancing 
biodiversity and the natural environment in an urban setting is acknowledged and 
highlighted appropriately, the RSPB recommended that Brighton and Hove City Council 
include DM37 Green Infrastructure and Nature Conservation as one of the key policy 
links within Section 3.4. Greening under Policy link CPP2.  
 
Section 10. Extended list of policies and documents  
Links to Planning Advice Notes and site briefs have been provided by Brighton and Hove 
City Council within Section 10. Extended list of policies and documents. The RSPB 
would like to highlight that the hyperlink provided for Planning Advice Notes currently 
directs users to the Major Projects Planning section of the Brighton and Hove City 
Council website. The below link would direct users to the Planning Advice Notes page of 
the website, where users will be able to view Planning Guidance A: Swift Boxes and 
Bricks for New Developments:  https://www.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/planning-advice-notes-pans-other-special-
guidance  
 
Thank you for providing us with the opportunity to comment on the Council’s draft Urban 
Design Framework (UDF) Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). I write on behalf of 
our client, Legal & General Investment Management (LGIM), who has an interest the 
above site.  
Below I set out a brief background to the site before turning to specific comments on the 
consultation document.  
Background  

402

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/planning-advice-notes-pans-other-special-guidance
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/planning-advice-notes-pans-other-special-guidance
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/planning/planning-policy/planning-advice-notes-pans-other-special-guidance


Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 56 

On 26th September 2019 the Council granted full planning permission to LGIM for the 
comprehensive redevelopment of Longley industrial Estate for a mixed-use development 
(LPA Ref. BH2018/02598). This permission was subsequently amended on 25th 
September 2020 and represents the extant planning permission at the site (LPA Ref. 
BH2019/03113).  
The extant permission at the site includes the following:  
• 3,101sqm of office / research / development floorspace (B1a / B1b use)  
• 356sqm of flexible commercial / retail floorspace (B1a / B1b / A1-A4 use)  
• 209 residential units (C3 use); and  
• buildings up to 19 storeys (plus roof plant level) in height.  
 
The permission is due to be implemented shortly.  
 
Comments on the Consultation Documents  
Of specific relevance to Longley Industrial Estate and the extant permission at the site 
are pages 45 and 46 of the draft UDF which deal with the Brighton Station / New 
England tall buildings area. Our comments are limited to these pages.  
 
Building Heights  
On Page 45 the draft UDF SPD sets out the following ‘indicative height range’:  
“Potential to accommodate mid-rise (up to 8 storeys) with some tall (9-15) buildings at 
the northern end where it meets Elder Place and New England Road.”  
As mentioned above, the extant permission at Longley Industrial Estate (which is due to 
be implemented shortly) includes building heights of up to 19 storeys (plus plant on roof). 
The ‘indicative height range’ within the draft UDF SPD should be updated to reflect this. 
 
Preston Circus Junction  
We are aware that the Council has aspirations to redesign the approaches and junction 
where A23 (north-south) intersects with A270 (east-west) (known as the Preston Circus 
junction) to improve access to the New England Quarter and London Road and reduce 
severance to local movements. This is set out within the Council’s latest Local Transport 
Plan (2015). We understand that these improvements are likely to impact the design of 
any public realm improvements in the New England Quarter. It would therefore seem 
prudent that the final UDF SPD makes some form of reference to the Preston Cirus 
junction improvements.  
 
Public Realm Improvements  
On Page 46 we note that the draft UDF SPD sets out a number of ‘design 
considerations’ which should be prioritised in any public realm proposals within the area. 
This includes ensuring that ‘individual schemes contribute to a co-ordinated public realm 
strategy.’  
In the context of the emerging development at Longley Industrial Estate, LGIM has 
committed to giving the Council £745,907 to pay for public realm improvements within 
the local area. A payment to the Council rather than delivering any improvements 
themselves was considered that most appropriate due to the number of different land 
ownerships (including BHCC itself). This is a significant sum of money and it is expected 
that other developments within the local area will also contribute towards such 
improvements. It is expected that the Council will then lead on, co-ordinate and 
implement the improvements.  

403



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 57 

Given the above, it is respectively requested that the final UDF SPD include a 
commitment by the Council to design and bring forward the final public realm 
improvements in this area using the significant sums of money that it has and will be 
given.  
 
Public Realm Improvement Images  
On Page 46 we note that a few example images of public realm improvements to Elder 
Place and new links from New England Road to the Greenway and Brighton Station 
have been included. These have been taken from planning application BH2018/02598 at 
Longley Industrial Estate.  
Firstly, the application reference number is incorrect (BH2011/02886 rather than 
BH2018/02598). Secondly, these images were submitted to the Council as indicative 
only as part of the wider masterplan and cost exercise. They showed one out of 
numerous options and possibilities. It is respectfully requested that this is made 
abundantly clear within the final UDF SPD. The final design of the public realm may look 
completely different to the images. These images shouldn’t restrict the final design.  

Quod are instructed by St William Homes LLP (‘St William’) to submit representations to 
the Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (‘UDF SPD’) 
consultation (2020). St William welcomes the opportunity to respond to the consultation 
and is pleased to provide comments on the draft SPD.  
St William is a joint venture between the Berkeley Group and National Grid Property 
(‘National Grid’), established in 2014 to bring forward regeneration and the 
redevelopment of decommissioned and underutilised gasworks sites across the south-
east, delivering essential new homes and jobs. The partnership combines National Grid’s 
extensive portfolio of surplus brownfield sites with the Berkeley Group’s design expertise, 
substantial experience of redeveloping complex regeneration sites and proven track-
record of significant housing delivery and high-quality developments.  
As part of the Berkeley Group, St William focuses on transforming sites into exceptional 
places where communities thrive. St William do not have a range of standard housing 
product types, but, instead each site is delivered with a design led approach responding 
to the individual opportunities and constraints that exist. Through this, bespoke 
masterplans are created which are designed in collaboration with local stakeholders and 
communities that help to create and deliver high quality homes and sustainable places.  
St William believe that good design reaches far beyond the use and appearance of an 
individual building; the quality of spaces between buildings, the connections, how a place 
functions as well as its green and natural spaces and its climate change resilience all 
contribute to high quality place-making. St William therefore seeks to deliver homes and 
neighbourhoods on this basis, their driving purpose is to create high quality homes, 
strengthen communities and improve people’s lives through fantastic place-making. 
St William is applying this design philosophy in actively progressing plans to deliver a 
mixed use development on the Brighton Gasworks site (‘Brighton Gasworks’) in line with 
its site allocation under the City Plan Part 1. St William are currently in pre-application 
discussions with BHCC and have commenced a programme of public consultation with a 
view to submitting a planning application in 2021.  
 
Scope of representations  

404



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 58 

St William supports the draft SPD’s objectives of delivering inclusive and sustainable 
development and shares the Council’s ambitions to deliver high quality development and 
successful places.  
The comments set out in these representations are provided in the spirit of developing a 
positive and effective Urban Design Framework SPD which will help to secure high 
quality design in the City through achievable and deliverable design expectations.  
To that end, the representations focus on the following: the general role and extent of the 
SPD; the Tall Buildings guidance; and ensuring the guidance set out within the SPD and 
its appendices is supplementary to adopted policy, is clear and consistent, and does not 
place onerous requirements on proposals.  
We would like to actively engage with and would be very happy to meet with planning 
policy officers to discuss the comments in further detail or provide any clarifications, if 
helpful.  
 
A. Role and extent of the SPD  
Policy context  
In line with Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), supplementary guidance must only build 
upon and provide more detailed advice or guidance on policies already in the adopted 
local plan. A SPD cannot introduce new policies1.  
The PPG is also clear2 that supplementary guidance should not add unnecessarily to the 
financial burdens on development.  
 
Application of PPG to the draft SPD  
We have two overarching concerns regarding the draft UDF as currently drafted: 
 
1. That aspects of the draft SPD are overly prescriptive in nature – resulting in 
guidance that is more akin to development management policies rather than 
supplementary guidance.  
2. That as a result the draft SPD, if enforced as currently drafted, would impact on 
deliverability and viability of development proposals – arising from individual or 
cumulative impact of guidance requirements placing additional financial burden on 
projects threatening their viability and deliverability.  
These concerns could be addressed via some simple changes in wording which we 
recommend in the enclosed Appendix 1.  
 
1. Prescriptiveness  
The draft SPD states that the intention of the supplementary guidance is to support the 
City Council’s corporate objectives as set out in the ‘Council Plan 2020-2023 – A Fairer 
City with a Sustainable Future’ and the vision, objectives and planning policies set out in 
the Brighton and Hove City Plan (Parts One and Two), in particular City Plan Part One 
Policy CP12 Urban Design.  
However, as currently drafted the draft UDF goes beyond providing guidance on existing 
policy and seeks to introduce requirements more akin to additional development 
management policies.  
In addition whilst we acknowledge that the UDF intends to focus on how good design 
can deliver inclusive, sustainable and climate-resilient development, the scope of the 
SPD extends beyond specific design and sustainability issues outlining guidance on a 
number of other matters including transport and phasing matters. In combination with the 
development management style nature of the policies and guidance, this results in the 
SPD being an overly prescriptive document that goes against PPG guidance.  

405



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 59 

We feel this could be addressed through some moderate amendments which we set out 
in Appendix 1. These amendments are necessary to ensure that the policies are 
providing supplementary guidance that will not place onerous requirements or 
unnecessary financial burdens on development whilst still meeting the Council’s positive 
design aspirations.  
 
2. Viability and deliverability  
There a number of amendments to the draft SPD that are necessary to ensure that the 
SPD will not place undue financial burdens on schemes and/or threaten their 
deliverability, in accordance with PPG.  
In particular, we consider the terminology used could be clarified particularly when using 
terms such as ‘prioritised’, ‘avoid’ or ‘minimise’. As currently drafted, each section of the 
draft SPD outlines a list of considerations that are to be ‘prioritised’. For example, 
Section A 1.1 Environmental conditions states that “the following design considerations 
should be prioritised in proposals…”.  
We recognise that in the most part the considerations listed are all relevant 
considerations, however it is important that the design guidance recognises that every 
site is different and therefore that priorities will differ on a case by case basis. It is likely 
that not all of the priorities set out within each document or the document as a whole will 
be appropriate, deliverable or viable on each site. Instead the guidance should provide a 
more flexible approach to maximise the opportunities for innovation and to ensure 
deliverability by making clear that the considerations are items that proposals should aim 
for as good practice but are not be mandatory. We recommend that this is addressed by:  
- Where the phrase ‘should be prioritised’ is used, this should be revised to state 

‘consider’ or ‘seek to’.  
- Where the words ‘avoid’ or ‘minimise’ are used, this should be replaced with ‘seek to 

avoid’ or ‘seek to minimise’. For example, Section A 1.3 Composition of street scene 
states ‘avoid blank facades’, this should be replaced with ‘seek to avoid blank 
facades’.  

Please also refer to the detailed schedule of recommended amendments is set out in 
Appendix 1.  
This proposed revised terminology and language would make it clear that the aspirations 
outlined in the draft SPD are guidance rather than prescriptive policy that is intended to 
assist with the delivery of good design but should not place unnecessary financial burden 
or onerous requirements on proposals where it has the potential to hinder delivery.  
 
B. Tall Buildings  
We welcome the updated guidance on tall buildings outlined within Section B and 
Appendix 13 and note the intention for this guidance to eventually replace the adopted 
SPG Note 15 ‘Tall Buildings’.  
In particular we welcome the recognition in Section 5.1 ‘Area 1: Brighton Marina’ that the 
Brighton Gasworks is an area with potential for tall buildings, which aligns with the 
strategic nature of the site as one of the adopted Local Plan’s key Development Areas.  
There are a number of minor amendments needed to the draft SPD to ensure all of the 
policy and supplementary guidance are consistent in making it clear that the Gas Works 
site is considered a suitable location for tall buildings. These are set out in Appendix 1 
and in summary request:  

• Area 1: Brighton Marina: That the map on page 43 is revised to reference 
the Gas Works site to make it clear that it falls within the Tall Buildings area; 
and  

406



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 60 

• Appendix 11 - Blackrock Area: That the Blackrock Area description is 
revised to specifically reference the Gas Works site as distinct from the wider 
Roedean area and that this area is likened to group 3A, rather than 2A – 
‘urban areas where positive and pro-active measures are required to secure 
major enhancement.’  

• Appendix 13 - Tall Building Statement guidelines: that the reference to 
groups of buildings being staggered or stepped to respond to natural slope 
contours is removed, in order to be less prescriptive and allow for scale and 
massing to be determined through careful site-specific consideration.  

 
C. Planning Process  
St William specialise in the regeneration of former gas works sites, which are extremely 
challenging and complex to take forward. Their approach is to work with local councils, 
their officers and communities to transform these redundant and unused spaces and 
unlock a mix of social, environmental, economic and commercial benefits. As part of this 
process, St William embrace community engagement and work in partnership with 
councils.  
We therefore share the Council’s preference for a proactive and collaborative process of 
design development between the applicant team and the Council’s design officers.  
We are concerned however that Section C ‘Planning process’ as currently drafted is 
particularly prescriptive as to the nature and amount of information to be produced over 
the course of the pre-application process without making it clearer that this is a preferred 
approach and might not always be appropriate to adopt a ‘one size fits all’ approach.  
Appendix 1 contains further detailed comments on this section. In short our main 
concerns and recommendations are that:  

• The nature of the information sought does not appear to recognise that 
applications may come forward in hybrid or outline form meaning that certain 
details would not be available pre-application or determination. The document 
should be updated to recognise the potential for outline or hybrid applications 
and to make clear that the level of information to be provided will be 
proportionate to the nature of the intended form of application.  

• The section should be updated to recognise the role for planning conditions to 
discuss and agree certain design details that do not necessarily need to be 
agreed pre-application or pre-determination. This is particularly relevant to 
outline or hybrid applications and larger multi-building or multi-phases 
development and prevents applicants incurring disproportionate professional 
fees which adds further time and risk to the planning application process.  

• The section should be updated to make it clear that the expectation for 
applicants to submit the Design & Access Statement and ‘fully-realised and 
calculated sustainability strategies’ before application submission may be 
helpful but is not an absolute requirement. These documents can take a very 
long time to produce and are the accumulation of design and other pre-
application discussions. To require these documents before submission could 
add significantly to the pre-application programme without necessarily 
benefiting the quality of the design process or outcomes. What is important is 
that applicants are aware of the Council’s expectations which are made clear 
through adopted policy and can be discussed through pre-application 
meetings.  

 
Conclusion  

407



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 61 

We would like to reiterate St William’s support for the principles of the draft SPD and 
trust the above and enclosed Appendix 1 are helpful in shaping the draft document.  
St William welcomes the opportunity to work with BHCC to develop a positive and 
effective Urban Design Framework SPD which will help to secure high quality design in 
the City that is also achievable and deliverable. We would be very happy to discuss or 
provide clarification on any of the comments enclosed. 
 

 

 

408



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 62 

 

 

409



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 63 

 

 

410



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 64 

 

 

 

411



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 65 

 

Thank you for your notification dated 23rd October 2020, inviting Highways England to 
comment on the Brighton & Hove Draft Urban Design Framework Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) Consultation, seeking responses no later than 11th December 
2020.  
Highways England has been appointed by the Secretary of State for Transport as 
strategic highway company under the provisions of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and is the 
highway authority, traffic authority and street authority for the strategic road network 
(SRN). The SRN is a critical national asset and as such Highways England works to 
ensure that it operates and is managed in the public interest, both in respect of current 
activities and needs as well as in providing effective stewardship of its long-term 
operation and integrity. We will therefore be concerned with proposals and policies that 
have the potential to impact the safe and efficient operation of the SRN. In the case of 
Brighton & Hove our focus will be on any impact to the A27 and A23 corridors.  
We have reviewed the Draft Urban Design Framework SPD, which has been prepared to 
support the Council’s corporate objectives set out in the Council Plan 2020 – 2023 – A 
Fairer City with a Sustainable Future, and the objectives and planning policies set out in 
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One and Part Two. Highways England does not have any 
objections to the Brighton & Hove Draft Urban Design Framework SPD. Please note that 
where development is likely to affect the SRN, either in terms of traffic impact or a direct 
impact on Highways England’s assets/land, we would encourage early engagement with 
Highways England. 
Thank you for consulting Highways England. Should there be any queries regarding this 
response, please contact the team…  

… The South Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA) … and all relevant authorities 
(including Brighton & Hove City Council) are required to have regard to the purposes of 
the South Downs National Park (SDNP) as set out in Section 62 of the Environment Act 
1995. The purposes are ‘to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and 
cultural heritage of the area’ and ‘to promote opportunities for the understanding and 
enjoyment of the special qualities of the national park by the public.’  
The creation of this SPD is welcomed by the SDNPA, and we fully support the City 
Council’s intentions to encourage all interested parties to enter into dialogue on design 
matters. We do have several limited concerns which we would want the City Council to 
take account of, but this should not be interpreted as a criticism of the document overall.  
 
Section A: Local Priorities  
1.2 Neighbourhood Character Map (P.10) - We would suggest the boundary of the 
SDNP is added to the map or be referenced in the Map Key.  
1.4. Views and landmarks (P.13) – it is disappointing that although reference is made to 
“the Downs”, there is an absence of recognition of the National Park designation that 
surrounds and extends into the city, or the potential implications for the conservation and 
enhancement of the natural beauty of the SDNP. We are of the view that the document 
should acknowledge the considerations in terms of setting and in particular the 
importance of views both to and from the SDNP, including across the city and out to sea. 
In certain circumstances applicants could be encouraged to approach the SDNPA for 
input into proposals, prior to submitting an application to B&HCC. 
Strategic Viewpoints and Landmarks Map (P.14) – On the whole, the inclusion of this 
map and identification of viewpoints is supported. However, it would be worth 

412



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 66 

acknowledging that 6 of the strategic view locations are set either within or adjacent to 
the National Park (see further comments on the relevant appendix below). To assist this, 
we would suggest that the boundary of the SDNP could be added to the map and that 
the National Park is referenced in the associated key (for the strategic views and 
approaches).  
The identification of specific viewpoints is of particular use to officers, applicants and 
other interested parties in identifying key sensitivities, but there should be an 
accompanying caution that some sites will require sequential views from a number of 
surrounding locations – for example Viewpoint 5 (Woodingdean) could be supplemented 
by a viewpoint nearer Red Hill to the south. This is acknowledged later on by the City 
Council in its approach to tall buildings, where 360-degree views are required.  
Although not possible to specify on a map, some of the more significant developments 
within the city could benefit from inclusion of views from further out to sea. These would 
allow an assessment of some of the best overall views of the city and its Downland 
backdrop.  
2.1. Active and inclusive travel (P.17) – where appropriate, applicants should be 
encouraged to create or enhance foot and cycle links from their sites to the SDNP. The 
National Park provides an important recreational resource for the City’s inhabitants (in 
line with the second purpose of its designation), but residents should be encouraged to 
access it by sustainable means, where possible.  
2.3. Landscaping, biodiversity and water (P.23) – the SDNPA is particularly 
supportive of the inclusion of this section. It is good to see reference to the 
multifunctional role of sustainable drainage systems and reference could be made here 
to The Aquifer Partnership (see https://wearetap.org.uk/), which include the City Council 
as a partner. We would suggest a reference to Green Infrastructure (GI) is made in your 
document - highlighting the importance of GI and identifying opportunities to improve the 
GI network, from the City to the countryside.  
 
Section B: Tall Buildings  
4. Introduction (P.40) & Definition (P.41) – there appears to be a slight inconsistency 
in the definition of tall buildings within the document. The introduction on P.40 refers to 
the assessment of “any building of 18 metres or more in height and significantly taller 
than surrounding buildings”, whereas the overall introduction on P.3 states “and/or”. We 
believe the City Council intends this to be an and/or scenario, but we are also uncertain 
in our reading of the definition set out on P.41, which refers to “any building of 18 metres 
or more in height and that is significantly taller than the prevailing height of surrounding 
buildings (whichever is less)” (our italics).  
5.1. Area 1: Brighton Marina (P.43) – this section could benefit from specific reference 
to views to/from the SDNP and opportunities for creating foot/cycle links from the 
northern part of the site through to the adjacent SDNP.  
 
Section D: Appendixes 
12. Strategic Viewpoints and Landmarks (P.84 onwards) – please also see our 
comments above regarding pages 14-15 of the document. Viewpoint 3 (Hollingbury Hill 
Fort) is identified in this section as falling within the SDNP, but the following viewpoints 
also fall either within or are on the edge of the SDNP:  
1. Foredown Tower (within SDNP)  
2. Toads Hole Valley (on edge of SDNP)  
5. Woodingdean (on edge of, overlooking SDNP)  
7. Rottingdean East (overlooks SDNP)  

413



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 67 

8. Rottingdean Windmill (within SDNP)  
 
Summary  
We are grateful for the opportunity to comment on an SPD that we are in overall support 
of. However, we would be grateful if the above comments could be taken into 
consideration and that, in particular, greater reference be made within the document to 
the presence of the National Park and the opportunities that this designation provides, in 
addition to the additional considerations in terms of conserving and enhancing this 
nationally protected landscape.  

Thank you for the providing the opportunity to assist in the preparation of your Draft 
Urban Design Framework. Network Rail actively welcomes the opportunity to work with 
stakeholders in providing for their communities and advancing sustainability. In this 
instance, we will focus our comments on sustainable transport and relevant schemes 
underway within the Network Rail Kent and Sussex Strategic Planning team (Network 
Rail K&S SP). 
 
Network Rail Infrastructure Limited (Network Rail) is the owner and operator of the rail 
network in Great Britain and is responsible for its safe operation, maintenance, renewal 
and enhancement for the benefit of passengers and freight users. The strategic planning 
function is responsible for planning for the future development of Britain's railway system 
so that the needs of passengers and freight customers are balanced to support 
economic and sustainable growth. In the Southern Region, long-term strategic objectives 
include alleviating overcrowding and accommodating growth on the rail network; 
improving connectivity; and supporting decarbonisation and modal shift.    
 
Network Rail K&S SP is actively working with local stakeholders on the concept of the 
‘First & Last Mile’, looking at how users and potential users can better access the railway 
in Network Rail’s Southern Region. The study focuses on the interaction of bus, cycle 
and road infrastructures with the rail network to assess how best the rail and wider 
transport system may fit together in the future. This would provide better first and last 
mile connectivity for customers, support an integrated transport network, and encourage 
modal shift from road to the cleaner transport provided by rail.  
 
The study will also research accessibility and inclusivity of the rail network in the 
Southern Region and consider how this can be improved. This in mind, we welcome the 
emphasis paid by the SPD to the consideration of low-car and car-free developments 
and the provision of cycle facilities where possible – especially regards cycle and 
pedestrian connectivity to Brighton & Hove train stations. Network Rail would welcome 
the opportunity to work with the Council in developing sustainable transport and driving 
modal shift from road to rail.  

Section 1.3 (page 11) includes the following design consideration:  
• Create obstacle-free and sight impaired-friendly routes and shared spaces for 

pedestrians and cyclists. 
This suggests that “shared spaces for pedestrians and cyclists” should be encouraged. I 
disagree. They may sometimes be necessary, but they should not be the first choice. 
My reasoning is that pedestrians move at slower speeds than cyclists and include elderly 
people and families with young, adventurous children. Their behaviour ranges from 

414



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 68 

standing still in a group to wandering randomly to running. 
Cyclists on the other hand are likely to follow a straighter path towards their destination 
and to move faster than pedestrians. 
This can result in a threatening environment for less agile pedestrians. It also increases 
the risk of collision and injury. So, cyclists should, whenever possible, be provided with 
separate clearly marked cycle lanes and discouraged from mingling with pedestrians. In 
some cases, such as complex junctions this may prove impractical and a “shared space” 
may be necessary, but such cases should be the exception.  
Can I suggest that the design consideration quoted above is split into two separate 
items, one encouraging the good pedestrian areas and the other encouraging separate 
and clearly marked cycle lanes?   

We welcome the inclusion of and emphasis on food growing, as well as the references to 
wider food issues such as markets, allotments and composting. 
 
We would suggest it might be useful to include an example of edible landscaping under 
2.3 as this is a key way for developers to deliver on more informal food growing. There 
are useful examples and images in the updated PAN (or we could provide). 
 
In section 7.4 on detailed design it would be helpful to include a prompt here to consider 
food growing space at this stage. 
 
On p. 77 (section 10 policies) it might be helpful to include a link to the food growing PAN 
, rather than a generic link to all PANS, as this PAN has been explicitly referenced in the 
document above. 
 
Thanks  for the opportunity to submit to this, to reiterate we really welcome the inclusion 
of food especially food growing.  

I am attaching a submission in support of our request that the wide panoramic view 
along the northern section of Surrenden Road which runs east-west be classified as a 
‘strategic view’ and be included in the list of strategic views within the UDF-SPD. Our 
submission sets out the evidence that demonstrates that the view meets all the criteria 
for a ‘Strategic View’ as defined with the UDF-SPD document.  
As a local community group, supported by over 200 local residents, we would be happy 
to provide any further information required and to meet with officials for a site visit.  We 
look forward to engaging further on this matter. 
 
Green Varndean Action Group (GVAG) is a local community group supported by over 
200 local residents who have come together to protect and enhance the green space 
known as ‘Varndean Green’.1 Varndean Green was registered by the group as an Asset 
of Community Value (ACV) in 2018. Green Varndean Action Group is grateful for the 
invitation to respond to the UDF-SPD consultation. 
Specifically, we request that the much-loved wide panoramic view along the 
northern section of Surrenden Road which runs east-west (as illustrated below) be 
classified as a ‘strategic view’ and be included in the list of strategic views within 
the UDF-SPD.  
The view provides a stunning panorama from an elevated position, over the open green 
space of playing fields in the foreground, and across the city from the racecourse and 

415



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 69 

Whitehawk Hills to the east and to Hove in the west, taking in visible landmarks of the 
pier, i360 and Brighton station among others. Beyond this is the far horizon across the 
sea, as far out as the east-to-west shipping lane and the wide expanse of the Rampion 
Wind Farm with the ever-changing sea and skyscapes. The view is publicly accessible 
from all along the well-used beautiful wide verge and pathway, running along a main 
east-west route, which is also part of the Surrenden Crescent and Surrenden Road Local 
Wildlife Site  (LWS) designated in the City Plan Part 2. 
Research indicates that views of open green space which are panoramic views are 
critical to the mental health and well-being of urban populations. The importance of our 
green spaces has been demonstrated more than ever during the COVID -19 pandemic. 
The Surrenden area has great value as one of the few remaining tranquil green and 
wooded spaces between the Downs and the sea. Indeed, we believe the view is unique 
in quality from a 
public thoroughfare in the whole of Brighton and Hove. 
 

 
Fig 1: the view looking south from Surrenden Road, across the city, towards the Palace 
Pier and i360 and beyond to the Rampion wind farm and the horizon out to sea. 
 

416



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 70 

 
Fig 2: Location and scope of proposed strategic view from Surrenden Road. 
 

 

417



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 71 

Fig 3: the view to the south-west across the trees of Preston Park, towards the Dyke 
Road ridgeline with sea and skyscapes beyond. 
 

 
Fig 4: View looking south-east illustrating the connection between the urban 
development along the Ditchling Road/Roundhill Ridge and the sea and skyscape 
beyond. 
 
Definition and determination of Strategic Views 
The UDF-SPD defines ‘Strategic views’ as “generally distant views from elevated 
locations mostly on the periphery of the built-up area and include some panoramic 
views” (Section 1.4 Views and landmarks, page 13). The document additionally states 
that the following factors are used to determine strategic views: 
• The degree to which the view illustrates the relationship between the built-up city and 
the Downs and/or the sea; 
• The prominence of key ridge lines; 
• The extent to which the view reveals the typical pattern of past development; and 
• The presence of any notable landmarks. 
The consultation document recognises there are likely to be other views that may be 
important to local communities, that can be identified in consultation with the council and 
local communities. The document also recognises that it is important to ensure that 
newly identified views are available from a viewpoint on accessible public land that is 
well used. 
Below we set out the evidence that demonstrates how the panoramic view along the 
east-west section of Surrenden Road meets the above criteria as a ‘strategic view’. 
 
1. Distant views from elevated locations on the periphery of the built-up area, 
including some panoramic views. 

418



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 72 

 

 
Fig. 5: The lower image shows the panoramic view. Source: Urban Characterisation 
Study, 2009 – p115 
 
This definition of a strategic view is evidenced by the attached photographs showing the 
panoramic view south towards the city and the sea (see Figs 1, 3, 4, 5), although 
photographs do not do full justice to the extent and beauty of the panorama in reality. 
The significance of the view is supported by the Council’s Urban Characterisation Study 
(UCS) of the Surrenden Neighbourhood area (2009) which classifies the Surrenden 
neighbourhood as ‘suburban downland fringe’ i.e. on the periphery of the built-up area. 
The UCS notes that “the steep slopes… frequently afford impressive views” and it 
identifies the view from the east-west section of Surrenden Road from the public 
pathway (see Fig 5). 
There are continuous panoramic viewpoints from all points along the pathway and wide 
grass verge alongside Surrenden Road (also classified as a bridleway as it was originally 
laid out for that specific purpose - see Section 4 below). The views are at an elevation of 
between 100m and 110m above sea level and look down over the open green space of 
the large campus shared by four different schools towards the city and the sea in the 
distance (4 km). The views provide a wide panorama from the east to the west from the 
ridge of Ditchling Road and Roundhill with Whitehawk Hill beyond, across the expanse of 
the city and its coastline towards Hove, the Dyke Road ridge line, the Prestonville 
escarpment and the green hillsides of Withdean in the west. In the foreground is the 
open green space of the multi-school campus and playing fields, the trees of Preston 
Park, the valley of the railway and London Road towards the Palace Pier and the i360 
with the Rampion wind farm approximately 20km out to sea. 
The magnificent panorama provides ever-changing skyscapes as the sun crosses from 
east to west, often with magnificent sunsets, and cloud formations reflecting the 
prevailing weather predominantly from the south-west. 
The view is genuinely panoramic which is rare in Brighton. This was confirmed by the 
Planning Inspector2 who made the following observation after a site visit regarding the 
view south from Surrenden Road, in supporting the Council’s decision not to grant 
planning permission for housing development: 
“the pleasure derived from the view is due in no small part to it being a panorama. The 
proposed development would result in an expansive view becoming more focused and 
reduced to limited glimpses of the long-distance view through the proposed buildings. 
The proposed development would therefore be harmful to the character and appearance 
of the area due to the disruption to and partial loss of the view from the footpath”. 
We therefore consider that the material weight afforded to this panoramic view by the 
Inspector, merits its consideration as a designated “strategic view”. 
 

419



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 73 

 
Fig 5: Source: Urban Characterisation Study (2009) – Surrenden Neighbourhood p115 
 
2. The degree to which the view illustrates the relationship between the built-up 
city and the Downs 
and/or the sea; 
The view clearly demonstrates the connectedness of the green space of the Surrenden 
area, the school playing fields, and Preston Park, through the pattern of houses and 
street lines leading down towards the sea-front, while the train line, the pier and the i360 
lead the eye along the line of the seafront and further out across the water towards the 
distant seascape, the wind farm and the horizon. 
It gives a unique illustration of how the city nestles below the hills of the Surrenden area 
to the north leading to the Downs, the hill ridge of Withdean and Dyke Road to the west 
and Whitehawk Hill to the east and is bounded by the sea to the south, with a view of the 
Pier, the i360 on the coast and the Rampion wind farm out to sea. 
The view has inspired Brighton-based poet John Davies to write: 
“The view from Surrenden, way across the schools’ campus, over city villas and houses, 
apartments and offices, seems to zoom down to the station and the i360, then swoop up 
and out to the distant horizon of the Rampion Wind farm and the English Channel. This 
is an experiential view because it is deeply engaged with the human, with the vernacular 
built environment, with artifice and technology. But it is also deeply elemental, engaging 
the human with sea and sky and wind, light and shade, storm and stillness. The great 
green sweep of the playing fields refreshes and replenishes the viewer. The openness of 
the vista lifts the spirits. Changes of light and cloudscape call forth wonder and delight in 
young and old alike. 

420



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 74 

The experience of the view from Varndean Green sets its own agenda, determines its 
own strategy. The viewer is cradled, embraced and reassured by nature on the verge, is 
reaffirmed in citizenship as the eye is drawn to the heart of the city, and is challenged to 
hope and thoughts beyond self by the open panorama that bids us all to think with vision 
about the future we want for future generations. 
Of all the views in Brighton, this must be the most strategic.” 
 
3. The prominence of key ridge lines 
The view is intersected by the key ridge lines of Dyke Road/Withdean to the west and 
Ditchling Road/Roundhill to the east with the racecourse and Whitehawk Hill aerial 
clearly visible beyond. It is also possible to identify specific buildings along both of these 
key ridge lines. Figure 6 illustrates the key ridge lines. 
 

 
Fig 6: views of the ridge lines of Dyke Road/Withdean to the west and Ditchling 
Road/Roundhill to the east. 
 
4. The extent to which the view reveals the typical pattern of past development 
The view provides a visual representation of the development of the city, from its centre 
and the Georgian developments of Clifton Hill and Montpelier in the direction of the i360, 
spreading back towards the Victorian and Edwardian suburbs towards the largely inter-
war development of the Surrenden neighbourhood. In revealing past 
usage, the Council’s Arboriculture Team3 has said: “This landscape over the school and 
college campus still reflects its former agricultural use and provides a glimpse of the 
past. The site appears now more heavily tree populated than it would have done when 

421



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 75 

used as agricultural land but this adds to the landscape and screens many of the school 
buildings.” 
The green open space was originally part of Varndean Farm established c. 1800; a 
restored flint barn remains to the south of the College, which is still visible as part of the 
Surrenden Road view. During the war the fields were used as allotments to aid the Dig 
for Victory efforts. 
Furthermore, the view is part of a historically planned panorama. The exceptionally wide 
and beautiful, tree-lined Surrenden Road was laid out in 1875 to afford the public exactly 
the view in question, originally as an equestrian ride from Preston Park to Ditchling 
Road.4 
 
5. The presence of any notable landmarks. 
Notable landmarks that can be seen from the view include the i360, the Sussex Heights 
and Chartwell Court tall buildings, the Palace Pier (including its night-time illuminations), 
the Rampion Wind Farm, Brighton Railway Station and other railway buildings along the 
main London rail route cutting, St Michaels’ and All Angels church in Clifton Hill, the 
Church of the Good Shepherd on Dyke Road, as well as the Royal Sussex County 
Hospital and Whitehawk Hill race course and Broadcasting Aerial. 
 
6. Importance and accessibility of the view to the local community and city 
The consultation document recognises the importance of ensuring that newly identified 
views are available from a viewpoint on accessible public land that is well used. 
We can confirm that the view is well-used and accessed from a public footpath (also 
designated as a bridleway) on the wide verge along the south side of the east-west 
section of Surrenden Road. Because of changes from the original layout of this section 
of Surrenden Road (from dual carriageway to single carriageway) the tree-lined road has 
a unique green verge of approximately 15 metres in width which creates a wonderful 
roadside viewing environment from which to look out across the city (see Fig 7). This 
makes the spot extremely popular with families, dog-walkers and people making 
journeys on foot to work and school. Cyclists also select this route for the view and 
frequently stop to enjoy it. It is also important to note that it is accessible for those with 
limited mobility as it borders a roadway and the surface of the footpath along the length 
of the view is smooth tarmac and relatively flat. 
 

422



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 76 

 
Fig 7: the wide tree-lined verge and footpath along the east-west section of Surrenden 
Road is a popular and accessible location for admiring the panoramic view. Here local 
residents enjoy a community picnic (July 2019). 
 
The ACV designation for Varndean Green in 2018 recognised the importance of this 
locally cherished view and its amenity and health benefits for people living in or visiting 
the Surrenden area from other areas of the city. In 2018, Green Varndean conducted a 
survey of local residents and users of the public footpath and green verge via a 
questionnaire. In total, 134 responses were received to our survey. All of the 
respondents said they valued the calm and tranquil nature of the area, with 120 (90%) 
respondents saying that they go out of their way to use the northern section of 
Surrenden Road specifically to experience the view over Varndean Green and the city. 
Using statistics from this survey we calculated that, on an annualised basis, over 94,000 
walks take place along the verge to enjoy the views. 
 

423



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 77 

 
Fig 8: Pupils from Balfour School enjoying the view for their art class. (October 2018) 
 
Every day people stop specifically to admire the panorama, to take photographs, and 
can often be seen pointing to identify the various roads, landmarks and buildings they 
may be familiar with. The photograph in Figure 8, for example, shows school-children 
enjoying the view for their art class. The extent of the trees and green spaces across the 
city is clearly visible. The patterns of historic development of the buildings of the city can 
be observed. 
The colours of the city and the sea are constantly changing from an early sunrise that 
illuminates the façades of Prestonville to the spectacular sunsets that can sometimes be 
experienced across the sea to the west (see Fig 9). 
The changing cloud formations cast moving shadows across the city and a kaleidoscope 
of shapes on the sea. The evening and night sky will also often attract visitors, even 
professional photographers, while any occasion of fireworks whether from Balfour School 
or more especially from Preston Park for New Year will bring large numbers of people 
from far afield. 
 

424



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 78 

 
Fig 9: View of winter sunset over the city 
 
Surrenden Road serves as a primary route into the city and the main link for traffic 
entering on Ditchling Road to London Road and onwards to Hove and the west. 
Therefore, this view gives unique and very striking first impressions of wide space and 
the urban topography for people initially arriving into the city from that direction. 
As Figure 10 clearly shows (with the two blue triangles) the addition of this view with its 
central position, as a strategic view would fill a gap in the spread of strategic views 
across and around the city. 
 

425



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 79 

 
Fig 10: Map of existing Strategic Views in Brighton & Hove (UPD-SPD 2020 p14) with 
proposed Surrenden Road strategic view marked by blue triangles. 
 
Conclusion: 
As we have demonstrated above, the panoramic view from Surrenden Road clearly 
meets all the criteria for a ‘Strategic View’ as defined within the Urban Design 
Framework – Supplementary Planning Document. We believe it is a unique view – it is 
more panoramic, embraces more landmarks and has a  ‘greener’ quality than many 
other strategic views from the upper reaches of the city towards the sea, it is accessible 
running alongside a popular public thoroughfare, and its central position fills a gap in the 
spread of strategic views. 
We therefore request that this view be included in the list of strategic views within the 
UDF-SPD. 
As a local community group, we would be happy to provide any further information 
required and to meet with officials for a site visit. We look forward to engaging further on 
this matter.  

Considers height range set of up to 8 storeys along the south side of Kingsway 
unacceptable. This does not take account of JAAP and planning history for the land 
between Kingsway and Basin Road North over the past eight years. In particular local 
concerns around the impact of overshadowing upon existing properties. 
Suggests the following amendments be made to the Shoreham Harbour section (page 
58): 
 Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 

North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This 
would then accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 
2013 and the planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North 
and Kingsway in 2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid 
ambiguity. 

426



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 80 

 Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing 
the JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the 
UDF with the relevant design policies in the JAAP.  

These are the formal comments of The Kingsway and West Hove Residents’ Association 
on the draft UDF 2020.  
These all relate to DRAFT UDF: PAGE 58 - SECTION 5.9 - AREA 9 SHOREHAM 
HARBOUR. 
 
1. SHOREHAM HARBOUR JOINT AREA ACTION PLAN (JAAP) AREA BOUNDARY 
1.1 The council adopted the City Plan One in 2016, and more recently adopted the 
Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP) in 2019.  The JAAP includes the part 
of Shoreham Harbour which lies within the Brighton and Hove city boundary, and 
adjoining parts of Hove and Portslade. 
1.2 The JAAP area boundary is not notated as such in the key to the plan for Area 9: 
Shoreham Harbour on page 58 of the draft UDF.  We think that it is important to show 
the JAAP boundary in this one part of the city where two adopted development plans 
overlap. The JAAP itself includes nine area-wide policies in addition to the area-specific 
policies for each of its four individual character areas. Therefore anyone looking at the 
plan for the Shoreham Harbour Area in the UDF needs to see clear information about the 
area covered by the JAAP. Although the boundary is shown it is not explained on the 
Key. 
1.3 Therefore KAWHRA suggests that the JAAP boundary should be clearly 
identified in the key on the plan in the UDF for Area 9 Shoreham Harbour. It could 
easily replace the words relating to CPP1, which has less relevance to Area 9. 
 
2. INDICATIVE HEIGHT RANGE FOR DEVELOPMENT ALONG THE KINGSWAY 
2.1 On the plan for Area 9: Shoreham Harbour (page 58 of the draft UDF) the indicative 
height range for development along the south side of Kingsway is shown as up to 8 
storeys.  However this has been previously proven by the Building Research 
Establishment to be seriously damaging to daylight and sunlight to homes along the 
north side of Kingsway, and therefore would be contrary to a number of adopted policies 
in two development plans which overlap in this area: the City Plan One and the 
Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan. 
2.2 The land south of Kingsway is sandwiched between Basin Road North in Aldrington 
Basin and the earth bank supporting Kingsway. That land is approximately 2 storeys 
below the level of Kingsway.  The site is over 300 metres long but very narrow, being 
only 18 metres wide.  Therefore there is no flexibility for this site’s layout other than to 
build a single line of buildings.  Above 2 storeys any buildings on this land would rise 
above the pavement on Kingsway’s south side. Kingsway is narrow at this point and 
such buildings would be only 27 metres due south of homes facing them on the opposite 
(north) side of Kingsway.  Therefore the new buildings would cast shadows across 
Kingsway depending on heights of the new buildings and the varying height of the sun in 
the sky in the different seasons of the year.  
2.3 The resultant serious harm was first established in 2010 when a planning application 
was submitted for a line of buildings on that site which rose to 6 storeys above the level 
of Kingsway.  Using scientific data KAWHRA showed that those buildings would 
overshadow the existing homes along the north side of Kingsway for nearly 5 months a 
year (mid-October to the end of February). As a result serious harm to residents’ amenity 
was one of the reasons for the planning committee refusing planning permission for that 
proposal in 2012. 

427



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 81 

2.4 A second revised planning application was submitted in 2012 for a line of buildings 
on this site of varied heights rising to the equivalent to 4, 5 and 6 storeys above 
Kingsway.  This met the BRE’s guidelines and was approved in 2014, however it has not 
been built. 
2.5 Subsequently, the preparation of the Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (the 
JAAP) began in 2013 with the preparation by urban design consultants of a development 
brief for the JAAP area. Thenceforth the issue of the height of development on land at 
Basin Road North in Aldrington Basin was a highly controversial issue between West 
Hove residents and prospective developers. Therefore in view of the conflict about the 
facts of overshadowing in the JAAP area, in 2013 the City and ADC officers who jointly 
managed the JAAP commissioned the Building Research Establishment (BRE) to review 
the sunlight and daylight impact of the potential heights of new buildings on site 
allocations in the City’s part of the JAAP area. A copy of the BRE’s 2013 report ‘Review 
of Daylight and Sunlight Issues, South Portslade Industrial Estate and Aldrington Basin 
Development Brief’ is attached herewith. 
2.6 This report established that, in relation to houses and flats along the north side of 
Kingsway Hove, only a continuous line of new buildings along the south side of 
Kingsway of 12.5 metres (4 storeys) above Kingsway (i.e. 6 storeys above Basin Road 
North) would be within the BRE guidelines for planning for daylight and sunlight to the 
existing homes.  However the BRE added that in some circumstances higher new 
buildings could still meet the guidelines if enough light came around the side of them 
through gaps along the Kingsway frontage.  In which case the buildings could be higher: 
5 to 6 storeys above Kingsway (i.e. 7 to 8 storeys above Basin Road North), depending 
on the size of the gaps.  
2.7 For the remainder of the sites in Aldrington Basin, which are further away from 
residential dwellings, the BRE report said that building heights of 6 storeys above 
Kingsway (i.e. 8 storeys above Basin Road North) would enable their guidelines to be 
met, subject to checks on light to any new housing on the Basin Road North site.  
2.8 The City Plan One, eventually adopted in 2016 after a long period of preparation, 
explained in Policy DA 8 that the City Council was working with adjoining partner 
authorities to prepare a Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP) that would contain detailed 
policies for the overall Shoreham Harbour area.  City Plan One’s Policy CP12 identified 
Shoreham Harbour (Aldrington Basin, South Portslade, and waterside areas) as one of 
eight areas having the potential for taller development (over 18 metres or more in height 
- approximately over 6 storeys). Supporting text in paragraph 4.147 explained that for 
these eight areas further detail on the boundaries of the tall building areas and guidance 
on appropriate height ranges would be provided in the Urban Design Framework.  
However for the Shoreham Harbour area the Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan 
(the JAAP) was completed before the UDF.   
2.9 Surprisingly in 2018, at the JAAP Public Hearing, during KAWHRA’s discussion of 
height limits on site AB4 (the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway) the city 
council denied knowledge of the 2013 BRE report. KAWHRA outlined its findings to the 
inspector, and in her report paragraph 112 she said that: 

“Taking into account the difference in land levels involved, it will be particularly 
important that the redevelopment of the site is undertaken sensitively, so that any 
new building respects the living conditions of neighbouring residential occupiers 
on Kingsway. Policy CA2 does not include specific height limits for such 
development. However, I am satisfied that such restrictions are not necessary, as 
Policy SH9, as amended, would enable sufficient safeguards of this nature to be 

428



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 82 

secured, whilst providing a sufficiently flexible approach to the redevelopment of 
the site.” 
 

2.10 The city council adopted the JAAP in 2019. The adopted JAAP policy SH9-(7) for 
Place Making and Design Quality now says that: 
 

“Development proposals must demonstrate that the effects of the development on 
the amenity of proposed future and existing users, residents and occupiers would not 
be unacceptable. When designing new development, applicants will be required to 
consider the effect of their proposal upon all of the following: …..”outlook • 
overshadowing • sunlight and daylight…..” 

 
Also, adopted JAAP policy CA2 (7a) for Site AB4 in Aldrington Basin now says that: 

“Building heights should be justified with regard to analysis of the local urban design 
context, orientation, sunlight and daylight impacts, and apply high quality design 
principles.” 

2.11 Now therefore, after all the events of the past eight years, residents of the area 
north of Kingsway are extremely concerned that the Draft UDF 2020 proposes an 
indicative height range of ‘Mid-rise (up to 8 storeys along the Kingsway)’.  Using 
KAWHRA’s scientific data for the sun’s elevations in the sky throughout the year at site 
AB4 we calculate that buildings rising 8 storeys above the south side of Kingsway would 
overshadow homes on the north side of Kingsway for 7 months (from the end of August 
to the end of March).  Clearly this would not meet the BRE’s guidance and also would be 
contrary to policies SH9 and CA2 in the adopted JAAP; to policy DA8 in adopted City 
Plan One; and also to proposed policy DM2 in the emerging City Plan Two; and in 1.1 of 
the UDF itself.   
2.12 Therefore KAWHRA urges that the wording of the indicative height ranges 
along the Kingsway is amended.  We request that the UDF “Section B Tall 
Buildings: 5.9 - Area 9 Shoreham Harbour” (page 58) is altered as follows: 

Amend the pale green box to read “Indicative height ranges. Mid-rise In 
Aldrington Basin: up to 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North i.e. up to 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of 
Kingsway”. 

2.13 Also, for the avoidance of doubt, KAWHRA would like to see building heights 
in the UDF described in metres as well as storeys.  This is because, in the two 
planning applications, the Kingsway-level commercial units in mixed use 
buildings were described as one storey, although that storey contained a 
mezzanine floor and therefore was actually as high in metres as two residential 
storeys.  In sensitive locations such as this giving the indicative building height in 
metres would clarify the intentions. 
 
3. DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS 
3.1 The Shoreham Harbour area is unique in the city in being covered by two adopted 
development plans: City Plan One 2016 and the Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action 
Plan (JAAP) 2019. The JAAP explains in paragraph 1.1.3 that  

“The plan builds on and complements the Adur Local Plan (2017) and the 
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (2016). Planning applications within the 
regeneration area must comply with the strategy and policies in the JAAP, as well 
as the relevant local plans, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.” 

429



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 83 

 
3.2 Thus by its nature the JAAP covers detailed matters which in the other areas of the 
city are contained in the UDF. Residents of the area north of Kingsway are concerned 
that future confusion and conflict must be avoided by making a clear interrelationship 
between the priorities and policies of the JAAP and the UDF. This is not the case in the 
current draft UDF. Furthermore, confusingly the draft UDF includes some of those 
priorities in some of its other eight areas but not in Area 9 Shoreham Harbour. 
3.3 Therefore KAWHRA considers that the list of design considerations to be 
prioritised in proposals listed in the dark green box on page 58 needs to be 
amended by also adding these important design considerations from JAAP 
policies SH9: Place making and design quality; and CA2: Aldrington Basin: 

• Improve legibility, permeability and connectivity through high quality 
building design, townscape and public realm, whilst respecting and 
enhancing the character and environment of surrounding areas. 

• Along Kingsway on site AB4 building heights should be justified with regard 
to analysis of the local design context, and should demonstrate that the 
effect of the development on the amenity of residents and occupiers would 
not be unacceptable in relation to the outlook, overshadowing, sunlight and 
daylight impacts, and should apply high quality design principles. 

• Development south of Kingsway should maintain a sense of openness and 
promote views through to the harbour where possible. The scale of the 
development should provide an attractive character along the A259 and 
contribute towards the street scene. 

• Within Aldrington Basin building heights of two to three storeys are 
generally considered acceptable.  If taller buildings are proposed, care 
needs to be taken to consider sunlight impacts on other sites. 

• Upgrade and extend Basin Road North. 
Attachment: Building Research Establishment: Review of Daylight and Sunlight Issues 
South Portslade Industrial Estate and Aldrington Basin, 2013 
ATTACH BRE REPORT IN PDF FORMAT  

We are writing to express our deep concern and disappointment to hear about the 
proposal in the draft UDF to re-evaluate the height of any development to the south of 
the Kingsway in Hove. This ongoing saga threatening the health and wellbeing of local 
homeowners should be rejected and an end put to the uncertainty and anxiety felt by 
many Hove residents for the past eight years. We wholeheartedly support the objections 
forwarded by the local residents’ association (KAWHRA): 
We are extremely concerned that the draft UDF (on page 58) is saying that development 
of up to 8 storeys along the south side of Kingsway would be acceptable. It ignores the 
facts about the development of the land between Kingsway and Basin Road North, and 
events over the past eight years. 
In 2012 KAWHRA gave evidence to the council that the line of 6 storeys proposed in the 
first Portzed planning application would overshadow homes along the north side of 
Kingsway for nearly 5 months of the year. The council refused this application on 
grounds including the serious damage to residents’ amenity by overshadowing. 
In 2013, in view of the conflict between residents and the landowner about the facts of 
overshadowing, the council commissioned a report for the JAAP from the expert Building 
Research Establishment (the BRE).  
The BRE reported that in some circumstances buildings higher than 4 storeys would still 

430



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 84 

meet their guidelines if enough light came around them through gaps between them, in 
which case buildings could rise 5 to 6 storeys above Kingsway. (As the Basin Road 
North land that they would be built on is 2 storeys lower than Kingsway, this means 7 to 
8 storeys above Basin Road North.) 
In 2014 the council approved the second Portzed planning application for a line of six 
buildings varying from 4 to 6 storeys above Kingsway (i.e. 6 to 8 storeys above Basin 
Road North). 
Following the 2018 public examination of the JAAP, where building heights were again in 
contention, the government-appointed planning inspector told the council that: “Taking 
into account the difference in land levels involved, it will be particularly important that the 
redevelopment of the site is undertaken sensitively, so that any new building respects 
the living conditions of neighbouring residential occupiers on Kingsway.” 
The KAWHRA Committee’s concerns about what the UDF now says are: 
1.     That in 2020, out of the blue, there is a proposal in the new UDF for development 
up to 8 storeys above the south side of Kingsway.  We calculate that this would 
overshadow homes on the north side of Kingsway for 7 months (from the end of August 
to the end of March).   
2.     That we think that the UDF does not adequately take account of a number of other 
important policies (e.g. protection of residential amenity) which the council adopted in the 
JAAP in 2019, and so therefore the UDF should be amended to clearly integrate the 
design considerations of both documents. 
This is what we propose: 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture.  

I totally support the views and proposals of KAWHRA. as indicated below. High rise 
buildings on this stretch of road are completely out of character. One thing that can get 
missed, but as a local resident I am well aware of , is the vehicle traffic on this stretch of 
road, particularly in rush hour. Adding to this traffic will increase air pollution as well as 
cause more hold-ups in general. Traffic from the dual carriageway by Hove Lagoon 
funnels into this narrow stretch of road causing tailbacks. I urge the Councill to take the 
sensible option indicated below 
“The KAWHRA Committee’s concerns about what the UDF now says are: 
1.     That in 2020, out of the blue, there is a proposal in the new UDF for development 
up to 8 storeys above the south side of Kingsway.  We calculate that this would 
overshadow homes on the north side of Kingsway for 7 months (from the end of August 
to the end of March).   
2.     That we think that the UDF does not adequately take account of a number of other 
important policies (e.g. protection of residential amenity) which the council adopted in the 

431



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 85 

JAAP in 2019, and so therefore the UDF should be amended to clearly integrate the 
design considerations of both documents. 
This is what we propose: 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture.”  

I am very much in favour of The KAWHRA Committee’s concerns about the new UDF 
height proposals, namely. 
1.That in 2020, out of the blue, there is a proposal in the new UDF for development up to 
8 storeys above the south side of Kingsway.  We calculate that this would overshadow 
homes on the north side of Kingsway for 7 months (from the end of August to the end of 
March).  
2.That we think that the UDF does not adequately take account of a number of other 
important policies (e.g. protection of residential amenity) which the council adopted in the 
JAAP in 2019, and so therefore the UDF should be amended to clearly integrate the 
design considerations of both documents. 
This is what we propose: 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A. Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road North, 
i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway.This would then accord 
with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the planning 
permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 2014. 
Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
B.Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP.This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture.  

As a local neighbour to the above planning, or UDF, for High Rise Buildings at the above 
location, I would like to register my objections. 
This high rise building is shown as being 8 storeys from pavement level whereas an 
earlier agreement for a  building was shown to be a maximum of 5 storeys, (still too 
high), above pavement level. The shadow from 8 storeys on housing on the north side of 
Kingsway would be total virtually all day, and indeed, will cover houses beyond the north 
side of Kingsway. As it is now, the offices and flats adjacent to the Gather Inn pub cast a 
shadow on the Vegas building from mid morning until mid afternoon, and that building is 
only 3 storeys. 8  storeys will just  close the north side of Kingsway down totally. Car 

432



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 86 

parking will be a problem – you cannot stop people owning cars – and this will affect 
local residents if space is not allocated within the buildings premises. Also the 
surrounding area has parking limitations and cycles are not going to cure the problem 
that will inevitably arise.  Doctors, dentists and schools facilities are very limited locally, 
and with the supposed habitation within these flats, these facilities will be desperately 
needed. 
Overall, I think that the proposed building is vastly too big, and I have to say that in all 
the details of the plan and in the choosing of sites to build there is no mention of the cost 
that local residents will have to pay in regards to loss of freedom of move or daylight. 
I also would like to state that I am in agreement with KAWHRA and their points of view 
on this plan/UDF.  

I’m in complete agreement with KAWHRA s concerns re: the proposed development of 
the Shoreham Harbour area, and support the amendments as outlined below. 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture. 
I am very unhappy with your suggestions on Page 58 of the Draft UDF 2020 in which you 
have changed your original proposals for what was 'the  Old Portzed' planning 
application. 
You now state that raising the height of developments above the Kingsway road level to 
up to 8 stories would be acceptable..  
I object as this will have a number of far reaching implications. from creating an 
extensively wide property that will over shadow large  area of the Kingsway inland of the 
development. 
Also the  loss of light and shadowing will cover the area North of the development  for  
over 7 months of the year.  
So I think  that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58):  
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity.  
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture.   

433



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 87 

Having looked at the report, we want to highlight our concerns about what the draft UDF 
2020 says about development in the Aldrington Basin along the south side of Kingsway, 
which is very close to our home. 
We share the concerns of the Kingsway and West Hove Residents Association 
Committee, which are: 
1.     That in 2020, out of the blue, there is a proposal in the new UDF for development 
up to 8 storeys above the south side of Kingsway.  We calculate that this would 
overshadow homes on the north side of Kingsway for 7 months (from the end of August 
to the end of March). 
2.     That we think that the UDF does not adequately take account of a number of other 
important policies (e.g. protection of residential amenity) which the council adopted in the 
JAAP in 2019, and so therefore the UDF should be amended to clearly integrate the 
design considerations of both documents. 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the picture  

In accordance with the concerns of Keyna And West Hove Residents Association 
(KAWHRA) committee, I propose the following in relation to the recent Brighton & Hove 
City Council Draft Urban Development Framework publication: 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture.  

I am writing as a resident of Hove.  
I share KAWHRA’s  concerns with the details in the proposed Urban Development 
Framework (UDF) as expressed below. 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 

434



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 88 

planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture. 
I would like to add two things. 
1) The clarity requested in these two proposal is necessary for good quality, transparent 
public policy decision making processes.  
2) In addition to the sun light issue concerning developments along the south side of 
Kingsway, there is a concern about the “blockiness” of any developments, and the 
integration of the north and south sides of Kingsway. The residential area has always 
been part of the port area, residents have always been able to see the sea, and been 
able to easily access the port area. I am one of the residents who wants to maintain and 
develop this connectedness. 
I have written to you earlier with a response to the draft UDF. 
This email is to fully support KAWHRA’s detailed response to you dated 4th Dec. 2020.  

It has been brought to my attention of  the proposals regarding UDF. I am appalled that 
no consideration has been given to the residents regarding their protection re Amenity, 
the complete lack of light for at least 6 months of the year, especially in our back 
gardens, should a development go ahead on the height scale that you are proposing . 
This became apparent when Portzed was first proposed back in 2010, a study at that 
time highlighted the overshadowing of buildings and the impact on the houses opposite. 
Should the building start from Basin Road level and set back from the road, the impact 
would not be as dramatic. The height of 6 floors would be more in keeping with the 
surroundings , again built from Basin Road.  

Please except this email as my support for the … submission by KAWHRA and I would 
like to object to the Draft Urban Design Framework 2020 as outlined in [their submission 
document].   

I support the KAWHRA proposals.  There must be very definite limits on height above 
the Kingsway in metres. Even the 6 storey limit is too high & will look like Chicago.  

I am a resident and member of KAWHRA.  I have read their letter to you dated 4th 
December and agree with its submissions and recommendations. 
While I am sure it is an obvious point and well within your considerations I still feel it right 
to stress that over development which is out of proportion to the area will increase 
vehicle usage and pollution and encroach on street parking availability.  

We write in support  KAWHRA ‘s response dated 4 Dec 2020. In particular we consider  
that eight - storey buildings are inappropriate for this part of Kingsway.  

I refer to the Draft Urban Development Framework  which has been published for public 
consultation.  My concern is regarding the Kingsway and the harbour area in the Tall 
Buildings section.  In particular the draft UDF says that the development of up to 8 
storeys along the south side of the Kingsway would be acceptable.It completely 

435



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 89 

overlooks the fact that in 2012 KAHWRA gave evidence to the council that the line of 6 
storeys proposed in the first Portzed planning application would overshadow homes 
along the north side of Kingsway for the best part of five months. 
Building Research Establishment (BRE ) in 2013 reported that in some circumstances 
buildings higher than 4 storeys would still meet their guidelines if enough light came 
through gaps between them so buildings could rise to 5 or 6 storeys above Kingsway.  
However, the Basin Road North land that they would be built on is actually 2 storeys 
LOWER than Kingsway which means 7 to 8 storeys above Basin Road North.  Following 
the 2018 public examination of the JAAP where building heights were again in contention 
the government appointed planning inspector remarked on the difference in land levels 
and stressed the need for the redevelopment of the site to be undertaken sensitively so 
that the living conditions of the neighbouring residential occupiers are respected.  
In addition the UDF does not adequately take account of the number of other important 
policies ( among them protection of residential amenity ) which the council adopted in the 
JAAP in 2019.  This requires the UDF to be amended to clearly integrate the design 
considerations of both documents.  

I fully support KAWHRA's response to the Draft Urban Design Framework. 
I would suggest that even the six storey limit is too high and out of keeping with the area.  

I live near the lagoon part of the seafront in West Hove. I am very concerned by the 
proposals to build very high developments in the area.  
I therefore strongly support KAWHRA`s submission as [set out in their letter].  

I would like to support the comments made by Kingsway and West Hove residents 
Association on the draft UDF page 58 section 59 Area 9 Shoreham harbour. 
8 storey buildings will greatly reduce daylight and sunlight for several months of the year. 
It will also increase the noise and pollution from an already busy road.  

We are writing in full support of the submission made by the Kingsway and West Hove 
Residents' Association ('KAWHRA'), in particular in relation to Area 9 and Tall Buildings. 
Its recommendations are as follows: 
1.3 KAWHRA suggests that the JAAP boundary should be clearly identified in the key on 
the plan in the UDF for Area 9 Shoreham Harbour. It could easily replace the words 
relating to CPP1, which has less relevance to Area 9. 
2.12  KAWHRA urges that the wording of the indicative height ranges along the 
Kingsway is amended.  We request that the UDF “Section B Tall Buildings: 5.9 - Area 9 
Shoreham Harbour” (page 58) is altered as follows: 
Amend the pale green box to read “Indicative height ranges. Mid-rise In Aldrington Basin: 
up to 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road North i.e. up to 5 to 6 storeys 
(15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway”. 
2.13 Also, for the avoidance of doubt, KAWHRA would like to see building heights in the 
UDF described in metres as well as storeys.  This is because, in the two planning 
applications, the Kingsway-level commercial units in mixed use buildings were described 
as one storey, although that storey contained a mezzanine floor and therefore was 
actually as high in metres as two residential storeys.  In sensitive locations such as this 
giving the indicative building height in metres  
3.3  KAWHRA considers that the list of design considerations to be prioritised in 
proposals listed in the dark green box on page 58 needs to be amended by also adding 

436



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 90 

these important design considerations from JAAP policies SH9: Place making and 
design quality; and CA2: Aldrington Basin: 
•  Improve legibility, permeability and connectivity through high quality building design, 
townscape and public realm, whilst respecting and enhancing the character and 
environment of surrounding areas. 
• Along Kingsway on site AB4 building heights should be justified with regard to analysis 
of the local design context, and should demonstrate that the effect of the development on 
the amenity of residents and occupiers would not be unacceptable in relation to the 
outlook, overshadowing, sunlight and daylight impacts, and should apply high quality 
design principles. 
•  Development south of Kingsway should maintain a sense of openness and promote 
views through to the harbour where possible. The scale of the development should 
provide an attractive character along the A259 and contribute towards the street scene. 
•  Within Aldrington Basin building heights of two to three storeys are generally 
considered acceptable.  If taller buildings are proposed, care needs to be taken to 
consider sunlight impacts on other sites.  
• · Upgrade and extend Basin Road North.  

As a local resident, I have concerns about the UDF and I feel that the following proposal 
would be better suit to the area. 
 
The following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour section of the 
UDF (page 58):  
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity.  
   
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture.   

I agree with the KAWHRA committee's concerns about the UDF proposals, which are 
outlined below: 
This is what we propose: 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 

437



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 91 

picture. 
I am concerned that the proposed buildings on the Shoreham Harbour section of the 
UDF (page 58) should be a maximum of 6 storeys from the harbour basin, which would 
then bring it to the level of 336 Kingsway.  This would be in keeping with the highest 
building level on that stretch. 
Anything beyond this level is unacceptable to me because it would overshadow for half 
the year the buildings within the proximity of this proposed site.  It would inevitably 
increase noise and air pollution, restrict the existing residents' view of the skyline and 
have an effect on parking and public services by virtue of the increased number of 
people living in the area. It also has the potential to reduce the value of the already 
existing properties. 
One alternative suggestion I would like to put forward to the council and possibly to 
environmental lobbyists is different from the one already proposed. It is to introduce the 
idea of a green space, providing a habitat for many species.   
The government has clearly stated its aims for 2021 and beyond: 
‘£40 million additional investment into the government’s Green Recovery Challenge 
Fund will go towards creating and retaining thousands of jobs, with funding being 
awarded to environmental charities and partners across England to restore the natural 
environment and help make progress on the UK’s ongoing work to address the twin 
challenges of biodiversity loss and climate change, as part of our green recovery from 
Covid-19.’ Published 14 November 2020  From: Prime Minister's Office, 10 Downing 
Street, Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, The Rt Hon George Eustice 
MP, and The Rt Hon Boris Johnson MP 
I propose that the council seeks permission for government funds for Aldrington 
Basin/Shoreham Harbour to address these twin challenges.  I am sure the local 
community would welcome involvement in creating a green space, which would add to 
the ambience of the verdant surrounding area.  It could be an exciting project for the 
local community, where local expertise could be employed for encouraging biodiversity. 
I sincerely hope you will give this idea due consideration.  

I agree with the KAWHRA committee's concerns about the UDf proposals which are 
outlined below:  
 
This is what we propose: 
We think that the following amendments need to be made to the Shoreham Harbour 
section of the UDF (page 58): 
A.     Indicate a height range of 8 storeys (24 metres) above the level of Basin Road 
North, i.e. 5 to 6 storeys (15 to 18 metres) above the level of Kingsway. This would then 
accord with the guidance from the Building Research Establishment in 2013 and the 
planning permission granted for the land between Basin Road North and Kingsway in 
2014. Defining storey heights also in metres would avoid ambiguity. 
 
B.    Clarify the interrelationship of the UDF with the policies of the JAAP by showing the 
JAAP boundary on the plan and combining the design considerations in the UDF with the 
relevant design policies in the JAAP. This would then ensure that residents and 
developers alike would understand the overall intentions, and not get only half the 
picture. 
 
Along with other residents living in the area I am extremely concerned about the 

438



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 92 

development of the land between Kingsway and Basin Road North.  (UDF page 58) .   It 
is important that any proposed buildings should be a maximum of 6 storeys from the 
harbour basin, which would bring it no higher than to the level of 336 Kingsway.   
Anything beyond this level is absolutely unacceptable because it would overshadow for 
nearly 5 months of the year the buildings within the proximity of the proposed site.  If this 
development goes ahead it would inevitably increase noise and air pollution, restrict the 
existing residents' view of the skyline and  have a detrimental effect on parking and 
public services.  

I totally agree with what KAWHRA committee and residence are saying. New 
development is unavoidable but developers needs to take in consideration the existing 
resident’s view and worries. People in this area have choose to purchase their properties  
for what there is on their door step. We as residence of these area do accept that 
development is going to come as the land has been sold to developers what we oppose 
is new development totally changing this area with Lots of environment impact on this 
part of Hove and portslade. The gateway to hove needs to stay in contact with what is 
there already existing and new developer needs to plan sympathetic and enhancing 
development. This are has lots of retired people who has bought their homes for 
relaxation and retirement for tranquility and peace but for last few years this hanging on 
our head it has been very trace full and worrying.  

We are local residents and wish to formally object to the above building proposal for the 
reasons stated in [the], Chairman, Kingsway and West Hove Residents’ Association five-
page formal comments letter to you dated 4/12/20.   

I have been sent a copy of the above by the Kingsway & West Hove Residents 
Association (KAWHRA). 
I live on [locally] and as such the areas of the document regarding the development of 
Shoreham Harbour is of particular concern to me. 
I note that had I not been on KAWHRA’s mailing list I would not have known of these 
plans.  I received nothing through my door or by post.  I saw no posters or notices.  How 
will this be addressed going forwards? 
 
The open area of Shoreham Harbour was one of the reasons I moved here.  The 
Harbour, as a working port, is a unique part of West Hove and unless thought and care is 
taken with regard to its development this uniqueness risks being lost. 
I believe any developments need to respect this and enhance what is already there.  
Balancing both the needs of the Harbour and the surrounding residential area which are 
predominantly 1 -2 storied houses (3 if loft conversions are counted). 
 
The recent development next to the Gather Inn is an example, of the negative impact 
poorly designed (ugly) tall buildings have on both the immediate housing over the road 
(extensive shade and reduced visibility of sky line) and being out of sorts with the 
residential nature of the area.  If all future developments are as poorly thought out as 
this, the integrity of the port and local area will be lost. 
I am really concerned as to the impact of further poorly designed tall buildings which 
would not only block out the light for numbers of local residents but would totally change 
the character of the port and area rather than enhance it.  Kingsway is already a busy 
road so the additional traffic as well as parking needs to be thought though plus the 

439



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 93 

impact on local facilities. 
 
The building next to the Gather Inn and the more recent proposals submitted for 
Gateway Hove give little consideration of how the buildings will look from the other side 
of the road (Kingsway) including how this will be maintained.  The latter proposal (posted 
through our letterbox earlier this year) was a huge overdevelopment (172 flats) ignoring 
all the concerns that have been raised in the past (JAAP, BRE, Portzed) including height 
restrictions and gaps and with little given back to enhance the area. My concern is that 
the UDF will give carte blanche for more of the same.  A chance to make money out of a 
sea view with little consideration regarding what is already there and of the needs of the 
area behind it.  I am extremely suspicious that, given the location, any of the proposed 
social housing will actually come into fruition. 
 
I generally give my support to the amendments suggested by KAWHRA as follows: 
 
I am not opposed to the development of the brown site area, it just needs to be in 
keeping with the local area and enhance it, rather than turn it into a mini marina with no 
soul or personality.  One of the joys of living in Brighton and Hove is its variety of 
different types of area.  The development of the area could be a real opportunity to 
create something very special to be enjoyed by locals and new residents alike. 
 
I generally support point A regarding the height of the any buildings.  However, I feel that 
the maximum height of 5 -6 storeys above Kingsway should be the exception and not the 
rule.  I also want to reinforce the condition identified by the Building Research 
Establishment that there must be sufficient gaps between buildings to allow light and 
visibility (sense of space).  I also support the request to put restrictions in terms of 
metres rather than storeys to avoid ambiguity. 
 
I also support point B regarding clarification of how the UDF and existing JAAP will 
combine.  
Brook Mead Extra Care scheme on Albion Hill [in Brighton is recommended] as good 
example of communal gardens that include food growing. 
 
[UDF could] reference link to webpage with the council’s Developer Contributions 
Technical Guidance. … [This guidance] is subject to … further amendments … [including 
in regard to artistic element] in due course. 
 
If you are interested you can find the full report on the … Your Lockdown Housing 
Stories | Brighton & Hove Community Land Trust survey results on bhclt.org.uk - 
https://bhclt.org.uk/your-lockdown-housing-stories/ ). We had an excellent return of 
nearly 300 respondees, this was more than some national surveys. The results could be 
useful in terms of the UDF. 
One of the things we said to respondees, whether they completed in anonymously or 
gave their contact details, was that we would use their stories and evidence to try and 
drive the change that the city needs to combat its housing crisis and inequalities. 
 
…[In regard to links between] gas combustion … transport and health - there is a … 
preference that electromotive charging is not derived from fossil fuel or wood combustion 
with NOx or smoke to air.   Advantageous if new developments avoid gas combustion [in 

440



Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 94 

particular] as part of the tall buildings strategy.  Reason to avoid noxious plume (and 
nuisance) from flues or chimneys on the roof entering the habitable space of upper 
storey residential. This is known as one of the contributors to sick building syndrome.  
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/sick-building-syndrome/   
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-54634166    
 
[Draft] UDF mentions tucking parking discreetly around the back of accommodation 
rather than dominating shared space at the frontage.  By 2021/22 the city is likely to 
have >1,000 plug in electric cars + vans and this development should be woven into the 
UDF…. Energy supply between buildings & vehicles is both-ways. Grid electricity and 
microgeneration charge e-vehicles. When the vehicles are not moving (most of the time) 
their batteries can help balance intermittent renewable supply by feeding kwh to charge 
devices, offices and housing.  …. Electric vehicles can provide households with a wired 
room for multiuse, including online learning and remote working.   
 
On p.43 of that document is a map which indicates a shaded area defining an “Indicative 
area with potential for tall buildings” 
This includes the Marina which was designated a Tall Buildings Area in the 2004 Tall 
Buildings Study, - and that is formalised in the 2016 City Plan. 
But the draft UDF effectively extends this tall buildings area to include the Gasworks site 
on the clifftop above the Marina and also includes the area just to the east of the 
Gasworks. 
…  
That is patently inaccurate because the draft UDF has not yet been approved.  
But even if it was, can an Urban Design Framework SPD (a subsidiary document), over-
rule the primary policy document - which is the 2016 City Plan?  Would not an 
amendment to the City Plan be required, together with the necessary procedures for a 
draft policy amendment statement and public consultation? 
 

 

 

441

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/sick-building-syndrome/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-54634166


Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft UDF SPD consultation report, APPENDICES                                                                             
 95 

 

442



1 

Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)   

Summary of comments/suggestions received and part of Draft UDF SPD consultation (2020) and how the council responded to these 
when producing the final version of the UDF SPD. 

Abbreviations 

BHCC  Brighton & Hove City Council 
LPA  Local Planning Authority (i.e. the council) 
NCN  National Cycle Network 
NPPF  National Planning Policy Framework 
SDNP  South Downs National Park 
SDNPA South Downs National Park Authority 
UDF SPD Brighton & Hove’s Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
 

You said We responded 

Contents and About this SPD 
Suggestions to make structure clearer, improve 
illustrations/diagrams and/or provide local good practice examples 

Suggestions to help to identify more clearly the sections and sub-
sections were incorporated into the guidance. A few additional 
local good practice examples were added. 

Introduce section on climate emergency and/or set out clearer 
targets to address climate challenge 

No change. Targets for addressing the climate emergency are set 
at policy level. The SPD shows how an integrated approach to 
design can help to deliver across a range of sustainable 
development targets including energy and water efficiency, 
biodiversity gains and reduction in emissions, flood risk and air 
pollution. 

Emphasise the need for carbon neutrality and to consider air 
quality and its impact of local pollution upon health 

Aspects of the Draft SPD are overly prescriptive and would impact 
on deliverability and viability. 

Paragraph clarifying status of and recommendations set out in the 
NPPF paragraph 126 for SPDs (i.e. not mandatory) has been 
added to the About this SPD section. Clarify that considerations are not mandatory. 

Make guidance mandatory. 

443



2 

You said We responded 
Wording changed in parts of the SPD to clarify recommendations 
should be treated flexibly including first sentence of advice set out 
in green boxes in Section A Local priorities. 

SECTION A Local priorities  

Overall criteria 
Ensure new housing looks like existing buildings, in particular in 
Conservation Areas and/or Urban Fringe sites 

No change. This approach would be too restrictive going against 
NPPF support for innovative, contemporary design. Section A 
Local priorities sub-section 1 Context seeks to strike a balance 
across a range of considerations that include heritage settings and 
fringe sites. 

Introduce cap on and/or do not promote high-density development 
given impact upon traffic congestion and ability to meet 
biodiversity targets 

No change. Minimum housing densities are set at policy level. The 
SPD focuses on how well-designed high-density development can 
help to deliver housing targets while at contributing to reduction is 
carbon emissions and delivery of biodiversity gains. 

Strengthen need for access to local services within 20- and/or 15-
minute walking distance and/or cycling 

The 15-minute walking distance may not be viable or achievable 
for non-residential uses in some locations in less dense areas of 
the city. Wording has been revised in Section A Local Priorities 
sub-section 2.4 Mix of uses and active frontages to suggest 
residents’ needs be met locally where possible. 

Explain how densities need to be sufficiently high for local 
amenities to deliver 15/20-minute neighbourhoods and how this 
approach may not be achievable in lower-density, suburban areas 
of the city 
Sussex Police and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex 
asked that reference be added to need to consider crime 
prevention, access for emergency services and protection of 
crowded places. 

Crime prevention through environmental design is covered by City 
Plan Part 1 Policies CP12 Urban Design, CP13 Streets and Open 
Spaces and SA6 Sustainable Neighbourhoods. The LPA already 
consults Sussex Policy on all major applications.  
The UDF SPD illustrates how good design can help to address 
priorities around crime prevention, access for emergency services 
and protection of crowded spaces. 

444



3 

You said We responded 
Wording has been added to signpost Secure by Design and 
Crowded Places guidance in Section A Local priorities sub-section 
2.4 Mix of uses and active frontages. 
Given the nature and scale of tall building proposals, reference 
added to sub-section 13 Tall Building Statement guidelines, to 
include criteria around access for emergency services as part of 
sub-section 13.1. Infrastructure; and crime prevention and 
protection of crowded spaces measures in sub-section 13.2 Public 
realm and open space. 

Not enough reference made to importance of the city's heritage No change. The importance of the city’s heritage is reflected at 
policy level in policies CP15 of City Plan Part 1 and policies 
DM26-DM31 in the Proposed Submission City Plan Part 2. The 
SPD is guidance on how to implement policy. Section A Local 
Priorities sub-section 1 Context of the SPD makes clear that 
development should respond positively to the local context of the 
site. 

Not enough reference in this section to the importance of 
community involvement at the early stages of the design process 

In Section C Planning Process, a new sub-section 8.1 Community 
Engagement has been added to signpost opportunities for 
applicants to engage with community and stakeholders before 
submission of a planning application. 
Further opportunities for local communities to engage in the earlier 
stages of the design and planning process are being considered 
as part of emerging national planning reforms and the preparation 
of local design codes. 

1. Context 
Strengthen measures to deliver biodiversity net gains, particularly 
tree planting. 

Reference to and examples of opportunities for achieving 
biodiversity net gains including via tree planting in made 
throughout the document, in particular Section A Local Priorities 
sub-section 2.3 Landscaping, biodiversity and water. Some of the 

445



4 

You said We responded 
wording in this sub-section was amended to highlight opportunities 
to achieve net gain via the implementation of nature conservation 
features. Reference to SPD11 and Special Guidance A was also 
added to this section. 

Introduce new trees in carriageway space rather than pavements 
to ensure roots do not adversely impact upon equal access. 

Wording added to Section A Local priorities sub-section 3.4 
Greening to ensure tree pits are adequately sized to avoid 
creating trip hazards/adversely impacting upon equal access. 

Consider adopting a tree levy on all new developments  No change. The Draft UDF SPD illustrates how tree planting can 
help to deliver more successful places while delivering additional 
benefits like biodiversity net gain and active travel. Developer 
Contributions are addressed through Section 106 obligations (see 
CPP1 CP7 Infrastructure and Developer Contributions) and 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) respectively. An updated 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is being prepared by the council 
which will form the basis for CIL-funded projects. 

Promote low-speed, low traffic streets that maximise active travel, 
equal access and children play and minimise rat runs and car 
parking. 

No change. Section A sub-section 2.1 Active and inclusive travel 
illustrates how flexibly-designed streets and open spaces can help 
to slow down traffic and take account of the different needs of all 
users. Sub-section 1.3. Composition of street scene refers to the 
need to avoid letting car parking dominate the street scene and 
optimise provision of electric charging points. 

Strengthen need to consider equal/disabled access journeys into 
and through spaces and buildings 
Reduce dominance of cars and hardstanding surfaces and 
maximise infrastructure provision for electric vehicles. 
Refer to need to conserve and enhance key views and views of 
key landmarks within the SDNP 

Some of the strategic views and landmarks are within or adjacent 
to the SDNP. The SDNPA asked that all viewpoints within or  on 
the edge of the SDNP are clearly identified but did not suggest 
any additional viewpoints. 

Avoid placing habitable spaces where traffic may be congested 
and launch (i.e. hill climb or start). 

Bullet point added to Section A Local priorities sub-section 3.3 
Housing types and mix of uses to address these issues. 

Avoid placing active ground floor uses, outdoor seating, amenity 
and balconies in locations where harmful emissions are high 

446



5 

You said We responded 
Assess impact of wind conditions in all uses of public routes. This would be too prescriptive. This currently applies to major 

developments including tall buildings and new street layouts. It 
would be disproportionate to require this for all developments as 
matter of course. 

Set criteria to assess departures from established neighbourhood 
character. 

This would be too prescriptive. Each application would be 
expected to respond positively to its context as set out in Section 
A Local priorities sub-section 1.2 Neighbourhood character. 

Refer to importance of parameter plan summarising townscape 
and landscape considerations, proposals and guiding principles 
for future development. 

Reference to how the council would look to assess considerations 
of green infrastructure and ecological site conditions have been 
added to Section C Planning process sub-section 7.1 Vision and 
site strategy. Consider ecological information from the onset and use it to 

inform the masterplanning process and strategic green network 
biodiversity net gains. 

Good practice examples 
Provide examples for 1.2 Neighbourhood character and 1.4 
Views and landmarks. 

No change. Both these sub-sections are explained in greater 
detail in Section D Appendices. 

Using examples of creative/innovative incorporation of non-
petrol-fuelled vehicles and community consultation. 

Example of allocated electric vehicle parking spaces has been 
added to Section A Local priorities sub-section 1.3 Composition of 
street scene.  
Sub-section 8.1 Community engagement added to Section C 
Planning Process signposts opportunities to consult local 
communities and other stakeholders at the various stages of the 
planning/design process. 

Neighbourhood characterisation 
Requests for review 'urban' and 'suburban' classification of 
particular areas. 

It is acknowledged that in Brighton & Hove the transition from 
urban to suburban development character is often transitional and 
does not neatly correspond with neighbourhood boundaries. This 
is why neighbourhoods have been assessed as ‘predominantly’ 
urban or ‘predominantly’ suburban. A consistent approach has 

447



6 

You said We responded 
been taken so that, as far as possible, similar neighbourhoods are 
classified in the same way. 

Concerns that emphasis on preserving and piecemeal 
enhancement for most areas limits scope for high-density, high-
quality, contemporary design. 

Design issues that are relevant for each neighbourhood type have 
been set out which identify where there will be the most likely 
opportunities for increased density. The UDF SPD as a whole 
encourages high quality, contemporary design that responds 
positively to its specific local context. 

Make Categorisation map clearer by using greater contrast to 
differentiate colours 

Colours in this map has been amended to provide greater 
contrasts between areas. 

Concerns about the impact neighbourhood gentrification could 
have upon affordability (i.e. housing tenure and rent levels) in 
poorer neighbourhoods which tend to be classed as being ‘less 
sensitive to change’. 

The SPD is concerned with matters of good design in order to 
support design policy. Matters such as affordable housing and 
housing type and mix are addressed in policies in City Plan Part 1 
and Proposed Submission City Plan Part 2. 

Strategic views 
Requests for additional views to be included from Clifton Hill, 
Peace Statue, Bevendean Down and Surrenden Road. 

The view from Clifton Hill is considered to be an important local 
view within the conservation area but does not sufficiently meet 
the criteria to be considered a strategic view. The Peace Statue is 
to be added as a landmark but is not considered to be a strategic 
viewpoint. The views from Bevendean Down and Surrenden Road 
have been added. 

Acknowledge importance of the setting and views to and from 
the SDNP and for applicants to get input from SDNPA prior to 
submitting an application to Brighton & Hove City Council. 

Policies SA5 and CP12 of City Plan Part 1 make clear that new 
development must have regard to the setting of the National Park. 
Some of the strategic views and landmarks are within or adjacent 
to the SDNP. The section on Views and Landmarks has been 
amended to specifically refer to the National Park and the potential 
for identifying additional viewpoints in consultation with the 
SDNPA for specific development proposals. 

Ensuring views do not hold back new development and/or that 
new development enhances views. 

The aim of the UDF SPD is to ensure that strategic views are 
identified so that there is consistency when proposals are 

448



7 

You said We responded 
assessed. The impact of a particular development proposal, and 
the opportunity to enhance a view, will be a matter for 
consideration on each application. 

Ensure foreground features do not hide features in the 
background. 

This will be one of the matters for consideration when assessing 
the specific impact of a development on views and landmarks. It 
would not be appropriate for the UDF SPD to seek to list all the 
ways in which development could potentially impact on views. 

Landmarks 
Requests for Royal Crescent and other elements of Kemp Town, 
i360, Rampion Wind Farm and Peace Statue to be added to list 
of identified landmarks. 

Royal Crescent and other such historic terraces in that area are 
not sufficiently large or prominent to be city-wide landmarks. The 
Rampion Wind Farm is outside of and very distant from the BHCC 
boundary. The i360 and the Peace Statue will be added as 
landmarks. 

Consider view corridors to landmarks. This will be a matter for developers to consider in discussion with 
the LPA when putting forward development proposals for specific 
sites. 

Approaches  
Requests for coastal approaches by sea of East-West along the 
NCN and the England Coast Path and A259 to be added to list 
of identified approaches. 

Fixed strategic viewpoints have been included from adjacent to 
the NCN, coastal path and A259. 

2. Spaces between buildings 
Use of shared space should be exception and carefully 
considered as it can result in a threatening environment for less 
agile users. 

Section A Local priorities sub-sections 1.3. Composition of street 
scene highlights the importance of designing accessible routes 
and shared spaces that deliver equal access and encourage 
sustainable modes of travel. 
Sub-section 2.1 Active and inclusive travel has been amended to 
include links to Local Transport Plan and Cycling and emerging 

Encourage use of street design and/or walking and cycling 
infrastructure standards and the use of sustainable materials, 
segregated lanes.  

449



8 

You said We responded 
Ensure compliance with the standards for cycling and walking 
infrastructure, particularly space and facilities provided for each 
mode of transport. 

Walking Infrastructure Plan guidance and national guidance on 
street design and cycling infrastructure. Wording in this section 
also revised to make reference to national guidance on how active 
design is central to delivering better health outcomes.  Consider improving main routes into the city for cyclists, buses 

and pedestrians. 
Ensure developments are fully accessible with wide, continuous, 
safe and even routes, including connections to the 
SDNP/countryside 
Strengthen reference to health benefits associated with active 
travel principles and lower car use, in particular improved air 
quality. 
Set out evidence base needed to support assessment of outdoor 
amenity priorities/sports provision, biodiversity enhancement, 
impact of wind and/or levels of sunlight/daylight. 

The evidence base is set in the supporting documents for City 
Plan Parts One and Two that are available on the council’s 
website. 

Emphasise how green infrastructure can help to optimise blue 
infrastructure and biodiversity net gains and minimise impact of 
lighting on landscape. 

Reference to how well-designed landscape can make a positive 
contribution to the city’s green ‘and blue’ infrastructure has been 
added to Section A Local priorities sub-section 2.3 Landscaping, 
biodiversity and water. The additional policy objectives that can be 
met by incorporating green and blue infrastructure measures are3 
highlighted already in this and other sub-sections of the guidance. 

Highlight additional benefits of greening including carbon 
neutrality, water management and wildlife including measures to 
retrofit green infrastructure. 
Extend Greenway concept and improve wayfinding. 
In low- and/or car-free development optimise parking provision for 
Blue Badge holders. 

No change. This is one of the design priorities identified in Section 
A Local priorities sub-section 2.1 Active and inclusive travel. 

Identify opportunities for pooling resources to deliver large scale 
artistic element that can create a collective legacy for the city. 

The Draft UDF SPD illustrates how artistic element can help to 
deliver more successful places. Developer Contributions are 
addressed through Section 106 obligations (see CPP1 CP7 
Infrastructure and Developer Contributions) and Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) respectively. An updated Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (IDP) is being prepared by the council which will 
form the basis for CIL-funded projects. Reference to further 

450



9 

You said We responded 
guidance on commissioning of artistic element that  will form part 
of city’s emerging Public Art Strategy and Developer Contributions 
Technical Guidance has been added to Section A Local priorities 
sub-section 2.5 Artistic element. 

Encourage engagement with local communities when 
commissioning artistic element within schemes. 

Encouragement to involve ‘communities’ rather than ‘residents’ in 
the development of artistic element has been added to design 
considerations Section A Local priorities sub-section 2.5 Artistic 
element.  

Highlight potential for sporting activities to attract multiple users 
and spectators and contribute to the vitality and viability of town 
centre areas. 

Reference to ‘sports’ facilities added to priorities set in Section A 
Local priorities sub-section 2.4 Mix of uses and active frontages. 

Prevent risk to public health of contaminated land. The SPD is concerned with matters of good design in order to 
support design policy. Specific mitigation measures regarding 
contaminated land would be identified during consideration of an 
individual development proposal consistent with City Plan Part 1 
and Policy DM40 Protection of Environment and Health – Pollution 
and Nuisance.   

Good practice examples  
Diagram illustrating relationship between built form and public, 
accessible space. 

No change. An example of a diagram is provided in Section C 
Planning process sub-section 7.1 Vision and site strategy. 
Examples in Section A Local priorities sub-section 2.2 Outdoor 
amenity and 2.3 Landscaping, biodiversity and water show how 
open space relate to built form. 

Multi-function streets and facilities designed for electric and/or 
autonomous vehicles. 

Sub-section 1.3. Composition of street scene provides an example 
of multi-function street with children’s play and communal gardens 
and spaces in residential development. An example of provision of 
electric charging facilities in this development has been added. 

Show how safe, multi-function local streets and open spaces can 
provide opportunities for children play, communal gardening and 
places to rest. 

451



10 

You said We responded 
Food growing. A local example of food growing facilities in the Brook Mead Extra 

Care development has replaced the London example provided in 
Section A Local priorities sub-section 2.2 Outdoor amenity. 

3. Buildings 
Set out methods/assessment tools to calculate carbon emission 
reduction, carbon capture, embodied carbon and/or reduction in 
car use. 

The SPD is concerned with matters of good design in order to 
support design policy. Information requirements related to carbon 
emissions reduction and building performance standards in 
residential and major developments are set out in paragraphs 4.85 
and 4.86 of City Plan Part 1 Policy CP8 Sustainable Buildings. 
More information about energy statements are set out in 
paragraphs 2.359 and 2.260 of the Proposed Submission City 
Plan Part 2 Policy DM44 Energy efficiency and renewables. 

Refer to the need to provide convenient, dry, secure indoor and 
outdoor cycle storage and parking facilities including non-standard 
cycles. 

Reference to the need to consider provision of non-standard bike 
storage, parking and delivery facilities has been highlighted as in 
Section A Local priorities sub-sections 2.1. Active and inclusive 
travel and 3.7 Deliveries and servicing facilities. Example of inclusive and commercial cycling. 

Strengthen need to tackle housing inequality/affordability for local 
people. 

No change. The SPD is concerned with matters of good design in 
order to support design policy. Targets for affordable housing, 
housing type and mix and performance standards are addressed 
in policies in City Plan Part 1 and Proposed Submission City Plan 
Part 2. 

Request highest/zero carbon standards of design and 
construction, in particular for affordable housing. 

Ensure transport corridors with road traffic emissions are not fully 
enclosed forming street canyons that result in poor air quality. 

Section A Local priorities sub-section 2.1 Active and inclusive 
travel has been amended to include national guidance on street 
design. Wording in this section also revised to make reference to 
national guidance on how active design is central to delivering 
better health outcomes has been made clearer.   

Refer to space requirements needed to deliver renewable heat 
generation and other energy saving measures. 

Reference to taking account of space requirements needed to 
support delivery of energy efficient new development added to 

452



11 

You said We responded 
Section A Local priorities sub-section 3.1 Resource use and 
performance. 

Request statement setting out how the design and layout of the 
development meets the principles of active design. 

No change. The SPD focuses on how well-designed new 
development can achieve a number of the policy objectives 
including active design Design principles that support active 
design ares set out throughout Section C Planning Process.t. 

Consider post-Covid space demand for home working. No change. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic are not yet clear 
and it would be inappropriate to build advice based on indicative 
trends. The SPD focuses on how good design can deliver more 
flexible homes that are able to accommodate change over time 
and activities like home working. 

Consider use of underground waste storage and collection in large 
new build development. 

Advice on how proposals that incorporate different types of waste 
systems should trigger consultation with the Cityclean team has 
been added to Section A Local priorities sub-section 3.6 Waste 
storage and collection. 

Emphasise importance of delivery and servicing facilities where 
there is higher dependence on home deliveries (i.e. car-free 
development). 

Reference to considering ‘drop-off and pick up provision including 
deliveries depending on development type’ has been added to 
Section A sub-section 3.7 Deliveries and service facilities. 

Consider the need to provide gender neutral toilet and changing 
room facilities. 

Reference to considerations around the provision of gender-
neutral public toilet facilities in shops and restaurants has been 
added to Section A Local priorities sub-section 2.4 Mix of uses 
and active frontages. 

Good practice examples 
Provide good practice examples of passive, active surveillance 
and accessible parking, dropped kerbs and covered, easy to 
access indoor and outdoor cycle storage, in particular in flatted 
development be provided. 

Good practice examples of these are provided throughout the 
SPD. The SPD focuses on how well-designed new development 
can achieve a number of the policy objectives identified in these 
comments. 

Use more examples of Passivhaus development. 

453



12 

You said We responded 
Use local examples to illustrate application of circular economy 
principles. 

An example has been added to sub-section 3.1 Resource 
performance and use.  

Use less onerous, easier to achieve examples of green walls 
than that of the All England Club. 

All England example has been replaced with example of green 
roof over bike shed in Section A Local priorities sub-section 3.4 
Greening. 

SECTION B Tall buildings  
Given the adverse impact of wind and overshadowing from tall 
buildings it is important, when assessing proposals, to ensure 
these do not create inhospitable open spaces for people and plant 
growing. 

No change. Assessment of impact of tall building proposals on 
surrounding properties is part of the climatic impact considerations 
identified in Section D Appendices sub-section 13 Tall Building 
Statement guidelines, 13.1 Context. 

Limited availability of space for new development in the city will 
mean that proposals for taller buildings need to be considered as 
an option. 

The council’s policy on tall buildings is set out in policy CP12 of 
City Plan Part 1, which acknowledges that taller buildings will form 
part of the city’s approach to increasing development density. The 
SPD is guidance intended to provide further detail on tall building 
area boundaries and height ranges. 

‘Tall’ and ‘very tall’ development is harmful and/or unacceptable 
and should only be considered in exceptional circumstances 
and/or when providing greater benefits like, for example, more 
affordable housing. 
Given the impact of air pollution upon tall building users, there is a 
need to ensure, when assessing proposals, continuous long-term 
user exposure, in growth and/or congested areas of the city is 
avoided. 

Bullet point added to Section A Local priorities sub-section 3.3 
Housing types and mix of uses to address these issues. 

Need for tall buildings to provide safe, secure, accessible cycle 
parking and storage with e-bike charging points in fire safe lockers 
and non-standard cycle facilities be emphasised. 

No change. Reference to the need to consider provision of non-
standard bike storage, parking and delivery facilities in all 
development, including tall buildings, has been highlighted as in 
Section A Local priorities sub-sections 2.1. Active and inclusive 
travel and 3.7 Deliveries and servicing facilities. 

Tall buildings definition should be simplified and/or made clearer 
and that the Tall Buildings Statement guidelines set out in Section 
D be condensed and incorporated into the Tall Building Statement 

 Guidance has been provided for developers and agents 
assessing whether a specific proposal would meet that definition. 
The suggested alternative wording would be ambiguous and 

454



13 

You said We responded 
section. They also asked for the recommendation that all buildings 
should not mask natural valley formations to be removed given it 
unduly restricts compositional approach and would be better 
assessed on a case by case basis. 

would mean that, for example, a 4-storey building in a low-rise 
area could be regarded a tall building. The requirements of a Tall 
Building Statement are necessarily extensive and so have been 
included as an appendix to ensure that the main SPD is concise 
and readable. The downland topography is very important to the 
character of Brighton & Hove and it will be a matter for the 
applicant to demonstrate how a proposal appropriately sits within 
the landform. 

Facilitate walking and cycling and identify cycling routes be 
strengthen and for funding opportunities available to deliver 
improvements to be added. 

Ways to facilitate walking and cycling as part of the active travel 
agenda is set out in Section A sub-section 2.1 Active and inclusive 
travel. It would be inappropriate to refer to funding opportunities 
that change given that the SPD is a longer-term document. 

Applicants to undertake a townscape and visual impact 
assessment and to agree inclusion of transport chapter as part of 
an EIA be included in the guidance. 

Whether an EIA is required is a matter for the legislation and what 
an EIA should cover will be determined in each case at the 
scoping stage. The wording of these paragraphs has been 
amended to reflect the comments made. 

5.1.  Area 1: Brighton Marina 
Align indicative boundary with that set out in City Plan Part One 
Policy CP12 Urban Design. 

Map amended to align with indicative boundary in City Plan Part 
One Policy CP12 Urban Design. 

Emphasise the need to reduce the risk of flooding from the sea 
and surface water where possible. 

Need to ‘reduce’ rather than ‘minimise’ the risk of flooding from the 
sea and surface water added to design considerations.  

Avoid overdevelopment. City Plan Policies provide a robust framework for protecting sites 
from overdevelopment on the basis of impact upon heritage, 
sustainability, open space, landscape and design. The UDF SPD 
aims to show how well-designed spaces and buildings can deliver 
high-quality, high-density development that deliver City Plan policy 
objectives. 

5.2.  Area 2: Brighton Station / New England 

455



14 

You said We responded 
Recently granted consents for tall building are too high or reduce 
maximum height range to mid-rise (6 to 8 storeys). 

Assessment of tall building proposals depends on site-specific 
conditions and is carried out on a case by case basis. Granted 
consents are one aspect of the criteria used to set out Section B 
Tall buildings. Indicative heights are based on unpublished 
sections of the 2003 Tall Buildings Study and assessment of the 
areas as they have developed since then. These are indicative. 
Any proposal for tall buildings will be subject to assessment using 
the criteria set out in sub-sections 6 Tall Building Statements and 
explained in more detail in Section D Appendices sub-section 13 
Tall Building Statement guidelines.  

Recently granted consents for tall buildings should be 
considered when setting height range. 

Improve connections to facilitate walking and cycling and 
signpost funding opportunities.  

It would be inappropriate to refer to funding opportunities that 
change given that the SPD is a longer-term document. 

5.3.  Area 3: Central Seafront 
Reduce maximum height range to mid-rise (6 to 8 storeys). Indicative heights are based on unpublished sections of the 2003 

Tall Buildings Study and assessment of opportunities in 
partnership with the DesignPLACE panel. These are indicative. 
Any proposal for tall buildings will be subject to assessment using 
the criteria set out in sub-sections 6 Tall Building Statements and 
explained in more detail in Section D Appendices sub-section 13 
Tall Building Statement guidelines. 

Design considerations are not flexible enough to enable for tall 
buildings to be located on the periphery of the Brighton 
Centre/Churchill Square site and/or to unlock the potential of 
view corridors, use mix and public realm network across this site. 

Text has been added to the diagram illustrating design principles 
and priorities for this area to state that: “The shape, delineation 
and position of routes and tall buildings are indicative and will be 
guided by views, townscape studies, practical considerations of 
aspect, amenity and ground conditions among other 
considerations.” 

5.4.  Area 4: Eastern Road / Edward Street Indicative heights are based on unpublished sections of the 2003 
Tall Buildings Study. These are indicative. Any proposal for tall Reduce maximum height range to mid-rise (6 to 8 storeys). 

456



15 

You said We responded 
5.5.  Area 5: Hove Station buildings will be subject to assessment using the criteria set out in 

sub-section 6 Tall Building Statements and explained in more 
detail in Section D Appendices sub-section 13 Tall Building 
Statement guidelines. 

Reduce maximum height range to mid-rise (6 to 8 storeys). 
5.6. Area 6: Lewes Road 
Reduce maximum height range to mid-rise (6 to 8 storeys). 
5.7.  Area 7: London Road / Preston Road 
Reduce maximum height range to mid-rise (6 to 8 storeys). 
5.9.  Area 9: Shoreham Harbour 
Add character areas and other relevant policy boundaries set out 
in the Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP) to 
indicative boundary map. 

This tall Building Area benefits from boundaries, heights and 
design principles set at policy level as part of the Shoreham 
Harbour Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP). The area map and 
information in this section has been amended to refer to this. 
Reference to Shoreham Harbour as a working harbour has been 
added. 

Describe heights in metres as well as in storeys and set 
maximum height range of up to 8 storeys (24 metres) above the 
level of Basin Road North (i.e. up to 6 storeys/18 metres above 
the level of Kingsway). 
Emphasise the need to minimise flood risk and reduce the 
impact of noise and air pollution. 
Combine design considerations with the relevant character areas 
and design policies in the Shoreham Harbour Joint Area Action 
Plan (JAAP).  
Support and develop the use of Shoreham Harbour as a port. 

SECTION C Planning Process  
Vision and site strategy 
Ensure comprehensive early consultation is carried out and 
feedback is sought from the local community prior to a planning 
application being submitted. 

Wording has been updated to strengthen this recommendation, 
and the following 3 stages (sub-sections 7.2 – 7.4) recommend 
that applicants submit an updated community and stakeholder 
engagement report.  

457



16 

You said We responded 
Conceptual design options 
Requests for figure ground studies, plans, sections, elevations, 
3D images and/or models is too excessive, onerous and items 
such as sections and elevations should not be expected.  

The guidance offers recommendations, not requirements. The 
level of detail recommended aligns with the RIBA Plan of Work 
2020. 
The intention of these recommendations is that the LPA secure as 
full an understanding of design proposals as possible, so a wide-
ranging variety of presentation methods (drawings, 3D visuals, 
models etc.) is encouraged. 
In response to the comment, recommendations have been 
updated to recommend that design information “may include” the 
list of different presentation methods. 

Ask applicants about impact upon local heritage assets. This question has been included in the light green boxes in 
Section A Local priorities sub-section 1. Context.  

Preferred design concept 
Request drawings in greater detail and a sustainability strategy 
is overly prescriptive for the pre-application stage. Instead, a 
more targeted approach to drawings and engagement with 
sustainability officers at an early stage to ensure policy 
requirements are considered as part of the emerging design 
proposals is needed. 

The guidance offers recommendations, not requirements. The 
level of detail recommended aligns with the RIBA Plan of Work 
2020. 
The intention of these recommendations is that the LPA secure as 
full an understanding of design proposals as possible, so a wide-
ranging variety of presentation methods (drawings, 3D visuals, 
models etc.) is encouraged. 
In response to the comment, recommendations have been 
updated to suggest that design information may still be in sketch 
form at this stage but should be as wide ranging and informative 
as possible. 

Request a design statement from applicants setting out minimum 
design information given that many applications, particularly the 
smaller ones, fail to explain how proposals relate to the 
surrounding urban context. 

The first bullet point in the green box in this section has been 
updated to recommend that the preferred design concept is 
justified by a written design development statement. 

458



17 

You said We responded 
Detailed design 
Ask applicants to submit a Design and Access Statement (DAS) 
or fully-realised and calculated sustainability strategies prior to 
submission of an application too onerous and should be made 
optional or replaced by information that can be shared iteratively 
during the pre-application stage.  

The guidance offers recommendations, not requirements. The 
level of detail recommended aligns with the RIBA Plan of Work 
2020 regarding Strategic Engineering Analysis, Cost Plans, 
Architectural Concept, Spatially Coordinated Design and Outline 
Specifications. The intention of this stage is that the preferred 
design concept is progressed to a level of detail sufficient to 
submit a planning application, and to minimise the amount of 
development work required between the last pre-application 
advice checkpoint and planning submission. 
In response to the comment, care has been taken to ensure that 
recommendations are not more onerous than the RIBA work 
stages or than can reasonably be expected at this stage. 

Make distinction between ‘detailed design’ and that which refers 
to that produced after planning approval has been granted. 

Changed the stage title to “Developed Design”. 

Pre-application process 
Highlighted the importance of factoring in design priorities at the 
earliest stages of the design process (i.e. active design, ecological 
assessments, gender neutral facilities, food growing, 
daylight/sunlight). 

The process diagram in Section 7 indicates how local design 
priorities identified in Section A of the UDF align with the design 
process and when these should be considered. 

Standards and consistency in public consultations by the Local 
Authority and applicants could be raised by, for example, adding 
guidance on community consultation and/or promoting the use of 
consultation rooms where design proposals could be displayed 
and discussed with local communities. 

Pre-application discussions are confidential. However, an 
additional sub-section 8.1 Community and stakeholder 
engagement guides developers on how to make the best of this 
engagement. 
 

Ensure poor design is refused and/or suggest upgrading wording 
from ‘council recommends’ to ‘require'. 

Guidance cannot make requirements but intends to show how 
national and local policy objectives can be met by means of high-
quality urban design. 
 

459



18 

You said We responded 
Stress the need for applicants to positively engage with local 
communities at the various stages of the design process (i.e. more 
often and meaningfully rather than as part of a tick-box exercise). 

Wording has been updated to strengthen this recommendation, 
and the following 3 stages (sections 7.2 – 7.4) all recommend 
applicants submit an updated community and stakeholder 
engagement report. 
An additional sub-section 8.1 addresses community and 
stakeholder engagement and includes hyperlinks to guidance by 
several specialist organisations. 

Asked for greater clarity on the required number, type and 
arrangements of design consultations given that expectation of all 
applicants entering into 3 pre-app consultations and the ability of 
the LPA to cope with increased demand is unrealistic. 

Sub-section 7 Pre-application process now advises that the 
appropriate pre-application advice services proportionate to the 
scale and complexity of a development proposal should be agreed 
with the LPA. 
The process diagram in this section now indicates how different 
development scales and application types may align with the four 
indicative stages and checkpoints. 

Information about the nature and amount of information required 
at pre-application stage too prescriptive, failing to recognise the 
demand of different types of application (i.e. detailed, outline or 
hybrid) and the role of planning conditions in enabling details to be 
agreed at the later stages of the design process. 

Sub-section 7 Pre-application process now advises that the 
appropriate pre-application advice services proportionate to the 
scale and complexity of a development proposal should be agreed 
with the LPA. 
The process diagram in this section now indicates how different 
development scales and application types may align with the four 
indicative stages and checkpoints. 
Sub-sections 7.1 – 7.4 outline the level of detail recommended at 
each identified stage, proportionate to the complexity of 
development proposals. 

Cross reference the design stages with the RIBA Plan of Work 
2020. 

Included the RIBA work stages in the Design Process diagram 
(Section 7) and referenced RIBA work stages in sub-sections 7.1 
to 7.4. 

Need for applicant and design team expectations to be matched 
by reciprocal expectations of BHCC departments in facilitating a 
smooth, linear assessment process. 

Section 7 Pre-application process now advises that the 
appropriate pre-application advice services proportionate to the 

460



19 

You said We responded 
scale and complexity of a development proposal should be agreed 
with the LPA. 

Asked whether the approach set out in this section of the guidance 
is a preferred approach that can be applied flexibly according to 
the type of application and proportionately when it comes to the 
level of information to be provided as part of the Design & Access 
Statement. 

Section 7 Pre-application process now advises that the 
appropriate pre-application advice services proportionate to the 
scale and complexity of a development proposal should be agreed 
with the LPA. 
The process diagram in this section now indicates how different 
development scales and application types may align with the four 
indicative stages and checkpoints. 

Design Advice Services 
Signpost free design advice/review delivered by non-governmental 
organisations that are not part of council services (i.e. 
Conservation Advisory Group, Brighton & Hove amenity societies 
and Sustrans) 

Wording has been updated to encourage applicants to approach 
other such organisations in conjunction with LPA design advice 
services if appropriate to their proposals. 

Ensure design advice benefits from local knowledge. 
 

Wording has been amended to say that design review is most 
successful when reviewers “benefit from an understanding of local 
context”. The Design Review Panel is comprised of returning 
panel members to ensure a continued knowledge of the city, and 
the council has recently appointed a permanent in-house Urban 
Design Officer who can provide local knowledge. 

Signpost the Environment Agency’s charged for service to provide 
detailed and bespoke pre-application advice 
 

Wording has been updated to encourage applicants to approach 
other such organisations in conjunction with LPA design advice 
services if appropriate to their proposals. 

Encourage applicants to collaborate with the council’s Equalities 
co-ordinators, local trans groups and University of Brighton to 
create leading best practice in trans-inclusive design. 

Sub-section 8.1 Community engagement added to signpost 
opportunities to consult local communities and other stakeholders, 
including LGBTQ+ groups, at the various stages of the 
planning/design process. 

Communicating design ideas well 
Provide guidance on the quality and size of supporting documents. Wording of this section has been updated to reflect this comment. 

461



20 

You said We responded 
Simplify the content and reduce the length of documents given 
that this can be a barrier to engaging local communities and non-
experts. 

Wording of this section has been updated to reflect this comment. 

Refer to Design Council online guidance on how to write, read and 
use Design Statements. 

A hyperlink to this guidance is now included in this section. 

Promote use of 3D modelling as consultation tool. Wording of this section has been updated to reflect this comment. 
9.1. A day in the life  
Identify some assigned personas to guide assessment such as, 
for example, a disabled cyclist, a transgender and/or resident 
living in affordable housing accommodation 

The wording of this section has been updated to reflect these 
comments and to promote ‘day in the life’ assessments as a 
method to ensure fairness and inclusivity in the design of buildings 
and spaces. 

Include assessment of performance over the lifetime of the 
development in regard to, for example, maintenance, responses 
to climate change, changes in use, adaption and/or re-assembly. 

Post-occupancy evaluation can be secured via planning 
conditions. The SPD focuses on how good design can deliver 
more sustainable spaces and buildings. 

SECTION D Appendices  
Extended list of policies and documents 
Provide a detailed list of relevant Planning Advisory Notes (PAN) 
and/or available external guidance on active travel. 

Detailed list of PANs added to this section. External guidance is 
signposted in the relevant sub-sections of the SPD. Additional 
external guidance on active travel was added to Section A Local 
priorities sub-section 2.1. Active and inclusive travel. 

Neighbourhood sensitivity to change and priorities for enhancement 
Set maximum densities, explaining what constitutes 
'enhancement' of an area from a community’s perspective, and/or 
referring to Listed Buildings and the need to review older 
Character Area Statements. 

The SPD is guidance to support policy. Policy on development 
density is set out inCP14 of City Plan Part 1. The UDF SPD sets 
out how development can achieve high quality design to enhance 
areas. What is an enhancement in any particular case will vary 
and sub-section 7 Pre-application process recommends consulting 
with local communities prior to submission of an application to 

462



21 

You said We responded 
identify local priorities. There are policies on heritage assets in 
City Plan Part 1 and Proposed Submission City Plan Part 2. The 
majority of listed buildings are concentrated in the central 
conservation areas but where these exist in clusters elsewhere, 
they have influenced neighbourhood sensitivity and the text had 
been amended to clarify this. 

Gas Works site in the Blackrock Area description is recognised as 
distinct from the wider Roedean area likened to group 3A rather 
than 2A (i.e. as ‘urban areas where positive and pro-active 
measures are required to secure major enhancement’). 

This is acknowledged and the text has been amended. 

Strategic viewpoints and landmarks 
Remove reference to groups of buildings being staggered or 
stepped to respond to natural slope contours to allow for scale and 
massing to be determined through site-specific consideration. 

The text has been amended to make the wording less prescriptive. 
The SPD provides guidance only and it will be a matter for the 
applicant to demonstrate how the proposal sits appropriately 
within the existing landform.  

The South Downs National Park Authority asked that all 
viewpoints within or are on the edge of the SDNP are clearly 
identified. 

The map in Section A Local priorities sub-section 1.2 
Neighbourhood character has been amended to show the SDNP 
boundary. 

Tall Building Statement guidelines 
Need to ensure utility companies assess capacity of water/sewage 
systems before planning approval has been granted. 

No change. The LPA already consults Southern Water on all 
major applications, including tall buildings, prior to making 
planning decisions. 

Regarding public realm and open spaces, Natural England 
suggested flagging up the need to consult the organisation if an 
Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulation Assessment is 
required.   

This is acknowledged and the text has been amended and link to 
Habitats Regulation Assessment added in sub-section 6 Tall 
Building Statements. 

Regarding sustainability, the Environment Agency suggested 
including water efficiency targets in the Sustainability Statement 
guidelines. 

This is acknowledged and the text has been amended. 

 

463



464



TOURISM, EQUALITIES, 
COMMUNITIES & CULTURE 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 13 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Volk’s Railway Potential Improvements 

Date of Meeting: 17th June 2021 

Report of: Executive Director, Economy, Environment & 
Culture 

Contact Officer: 
Name: 

Ian Shurrock 
Toni Manuel 

Tel: 
01273 292084 
01273  

 
Email: 

ian.shurrock@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
toni.manuel@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
 

Ward(s) affected: East Brighton, Queen’s Park, Rottingdean Coastal 

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE   
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 At the meeting of the TECC Committee in November 2020 a notice of motion 

was presented regarding potential improvements to the Volk’s Railway.  In 
response to the notice of motion the committee requested an officer report to a 
future meeting and this report considers the potential improvements previously 
suggested. 

 
1.2 The Volk’s Railway is a much-loved visitor attraction which is the oldest operating 

electric railway in the world.   The railway attracted around 75,000 visitors per 
year (pre pandemic) and operates between May and September.  Four full time 
staff are employed by the Council and during the summer season an additional 
seven full time equivalent jobs are created. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That the Committee agrees as a priority the progression of the project to achieve 

a new accessible railcar, including a costed design and the identification of full 
funding for the project. 
 

2.2 That the Committee agrees to £30,000 of the funding of £40,000 previously 
identified for signage, a new shelter and siding is instead allocated to a new 
accessible railcar. 
 

2.3 That the Committee notes that consideration to extend the railway to Black Rock 
will be given during the development of the Eastern Seafront Masterplan. 

 
2.4 That the Committee notes the uncertainty of the impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic on the future operation of the railway, and that the financial viability of 
future improvements would need to be given careful consideration to ensure the 
viability of the Volk’s Railway is sustainable. 
 

465

mailto:ian.shurrock@brighton-hove.gov.uk
mailto:toni.manuel@brighton-hove.gov.uk


 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 The Volk’s Railway is a heritage railway visitor attraction, which operates during 

the summer months to transport members of the public from the Aquarium to 
Black Rock along Madeira Drive. As a consequence, the railway has to operate 
to meet the requirements of Her Majesty’s Railway Inspectorate (HMRI).  
 

3.2 The responsibility to meet these requirements rests with the very experienced 
and professionally qualified small Volk’s Team, which is supplemented by 
seasonal drivers and ticket office staff to enable the railway to operate each year. 
 

3.3 The railway has benefitted greatly from the improvements that the council 
undertook in recent years to replace the former siding sheds with new 
Conservation Workshops, a new Aquarium Station and Visitor Centre, together 
with the restoration of a railcar. All of these improvements have enabled an 
enhanced educational programme and prior to the lockdown increased usage. 
These improvements were primarily funded by a grant of £1.65M from the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund. 
 

3.4 The railway receives welcome support from the enthusiasts of the Volk’s Electric 
Railway Association (VERA), who regularly assist with winter maintenance tasks 
under the supervision of council staff, together with the operation of occasional 
evening services over the summer period. 

 
3.5 At the meeting of the TECC Committee in November 2020 a notice of motion 

was presented and the following agreed: 
 

 To thank Volk’s Electric Railway Association for the proposal document 
‘An Accessible Future for Volk’s Electric Railway’; (see Appendix 1) 

 

 To note the potential positive implications for inclusivity, the tourist 
economy and community wealth building of successfully expanding, 
updating and improving accessibility to Volk’s Electric Railway 

 

 To call for an Officer Report exploring how these proposals could be 
considered alongside existing planned works at Black Rock and Madeira 
Terraces, and be complementary to them; and 

 

 Notes that due to the Covid-19 pandemic councils across the country are 
in a difficult financial position and that this council’s financial opportunities 
are just as limited. Committee therefore requests the report also explores 
options for funding the proposals through external funding, such as the 
Heritage Lottery Fund, or S106/CiL money. 

 
3.6 The council’s budget for 2021/22 approved the following funding: 
 

 Volk’s Disabled Access Carriage - £100,00 

 Volk’s Railway, signage, siding and shelter - £40,000 
 
 
 

466



POTENTIAL IMPROVEMENTS TO THE VOLK’S RAILWAY 
 

3.7 The following potential improvements highlighted in the VERA report An 
Accessible Future for Volk’s Electric Railway have been reviewed by the 
experienced council staff who have the appropriate professional technical 
qualifications necessary to operate the railway. Where appropriate, further advice 
has been sought in order to give ideas appropriate consideration. 

 
New Accessible Railcar 
 

3.8 The proposal of a new accessible railcar is considered to be the highest priority 
needed to improve the Volk’s Railway. In addition to the very important 
accessibility issues that this proposal would address, the railway also loses 
valuable revenue throughout the year when the service has to stop because of 
inclement weather (the downtime in 2020 was equal to 14 full days revenue). A 
railcar that can operate in wind and rain would eliminate the times where the 
railway cannot operate. This would assist with revenue generation through a 
more reliable service for passengers. 
 

3.9 There are considered to be two potential options in relation to a new accessible 
railcar. The first option, as identified in the VERA report has a budget estimated 
cost in the region of £500,000 (see p x in Appendix 1). 
 

3.10 In order to develop this proposal, consideration would need to be given to new 
safety and evacuation measures that would need to be implemented on the 
railway.  Any additional expenditure from these requirements would need to be 
included in the total build figure for this car. 
 

3.11 In addition, the revenue cost of the long-term servicing and maintenance of this 
railcar would need to be factored into the overall cost of the project. The railcar 
would have technologies and features that are new to the railway, the 
implications of which would need to be fully costed into the project. 

    
3.12 There is the potential second option which is a shorter car which has an 

estimated budget estimated cost in the region of £300,000. Both options are 
therefore a significant cost, and it is proposed that the options are fully designed 
and costed to give certainty to the extent of the funding that is required. 
 

3.13  As already indicated, there is a budget allocation of £100,000 towards this 
project which will be used to support the cost of designing both options for an 
accessible railcar. 

 
New Signage 
 

3.14 Signage on the gable ends of the new Aquarium Station is unfortunately not as 
straightforward as would first appear. The membrane surface that covers the 
external cladding of the station is not suitable to be drilled into to fix lettering or 
other signage. This was an issue which the architects of the NHLF Project sought 
to address, but a technical solution which would not compromise the integrity of 
the building wall could not be identified. A professional signage company have 
been contacted who declined to provide a sign or lettering to fix to the station due 
to the concern of damaging the waterproof membrane. 

467



 
3.15  A range of other options have been considered including using banners, but they 

are problematic and wear quickly in a seafront location. Also, vinyl lettering would 
not stick permanently to the membrane covering of the station. 
 

3.16 The Volk’s Railway are therefore looking to improve the existing marketing of the 
attraction, particularly through on-line advertising to increase awareness and 
attract more users. In addition, greater use of “teardrop banners” and the 
replacement of the flagpole adjacent to the station will also be employed to 
increase the visibility of the station. It is therefore proposed to utilise £10,000 of 
the additional funding of £40,000 to make these improvements. 
 
Providing Shelter at the Halfway Station 
 

3.17 The provision of a new shelter has been considered at the Halfway Station. 
Options have been investigated and a there is real challenge to identify a suitable 
space on the existing small platform at the station. In addition, designs that are 
appropriate for a heritage railway have a significant cost. 
 

3.18 A budget cost to provide a new heritage kiosk with ancillary seating is in the 
region of £30,000. Therefore, as the accessible railcar is considered the main 
priority, it is recommended the funding allocated for this improvement is 
transferred to the railcar project. 
 
Restoring the Aquarium Station North Siding 
 

3.19 The Volk’s staff have reviewed this proposal and consider that the cost of 
restoring the North Siding would far exceed that suggested in the VERA report. 
The cost to re-establish a second line is in excess of the £25,000 quoted in the 
VERA report and more likely to be circa £500,000.  A breakdown is as follows: 
 
South Side 
 

 Moving of current steel beams and instillation of new ones. Ground 
levelling around the southside area. Current track moved 
southwards.  COST: £100,000     

 Erection/labour of above beams and groundwork south 
side. COST: £40,000   

 Building and erection of double-tracked bridge. COST: £30,000   

 Fixing of railway track, catch rail, walkway, and points to steel sleepers 
and live line, station to level ground to includes scaffolding & Labour. 
COST: £20,000  

 Track Materials (running line, catch rail, walkway, live line, fish plates) 
from Aquarium Station to new level ground. COST: £30,000   

 Purchase and laying of Points/switch. COST: £15,000    

 Electronic Signal system to operate the switch points at the points and 
in the building. COST: £80,000   

 Cad designer and structural engineer costs plus ORR approval 
process. COST: £10,000 to £15,000   

 Planning and ecological reports. COST: £300   

 Widen concrete platform base to south and east of station to 
accommodate central barrier. COST: £15,000   

468



North Side  
  

 New Gantry steels on the old north track back to level 
ground.  COST: £80,000   

 Labour to fix North side steels. COST: £20,000    

 New rail and fixings north track. COST: £20,000   

 New buffer for second line. COST: £5,000   

 Barriers down centre platform plus gates and fencing to south 
side. COST: £20,000   

 Make good the south beach pavement and detour walking 
route. COST: £15,000   

 
Total Estimated Budget Cost to restore the Aquarium North Siding: £515,000  
 

3.20 As a consequence of the level of the estimated total cost for this work, it is 
recommended that the accessible railcar is prioritised as an improvement, with  
£30,000 of the £40,000 of funding previously allocated for signage, a new shelter 
and siding being transferred to the project to provide a new accessible railcar to 
give a greater chance of that project being achieved.   
 
Extending the railway at Black Rock 
 

3.21 The proposal by VERA to extend the railway across the Black Rock site needs to 
be given very careful consideration. The current Enabling Works being 
progressed provide a new and level access to accommodate a future transit link 
in the form of an electric bus or similar which can transport people – in volume 
numbers if necessary. How an extended heritage link would complement this or 
add to the potential for transit along the seafront will need to be considered as 
part of the future Development Brief for the Black Rock site, which will guide 
development.  Whilst the Volks Railway is a treasured attraction, it is also true 
that electrification along a long stretch of public realm is prone to create a 
dissection of the public realm and therefore an extension of the railway needs to 
be considered within this context as well. The current Enabling Works are 
delivering improvements to the five crossing points from the Volk’s Conservation 
Workshops to the Black Rock Station. 
 

3.22 To improve the possibility of the Black Rock site becoming a future destination in 
its own right a planning permission was received in June 2020, which agreed to 
an extension of the site  southwards to create a developable area and to rebuild 
the seawall further south, creating a new promenade space. Therefore, placing 
an extension to the railway directly through the site, even in part, tends to dissect 
the land that is needed to support future development (and amenity space 
around a future development).  It would possibly also undermine the reasoning 
behind loss of the Local Wildlife Site. The site is being relocated with the 
agreement of the Planning Committee and the County Ecologist, and this was 
agreed in order to allow the Black Rock site to be extended and the new sea wall 
to be erected in advance of redevelopment.    

 
3.23 The proposed extension to the line would involve electrification which would take 

up a strip of land across the site with a width of approximately 4-5m.  This would 
inhibit movement across the site and has the potential to have a significant 
negative impact on the links into and out of the Marina which would be important 

469



to the future development of the site. Therefore, the advantages and 
disadvantages of any extension in this location would need to be carefully 
assessed before any decision was made. 
 

3.24 Work will also commence shortly on an Eastern Seafront Masterplan and the 
relationship of the Black Rock site to the Marina and the wider Eastern Seafront 
will be key considerations in that process. VERA will be included as a consultee, 
along with local businesses and a range of other key stakeholders, in the 
development of the Masterplan. 
 

 
4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 The options for potential improvements for the Volk’s Railway have been 

considered in the body of the report. The Volk’s Railway staff are constantly 
seeking to improve the railway as part of the day to day operation of the 
attraction. 

 
 
5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 The council works in close collaboration with VERA on an on-going basis. This 

report has been discussed with Peter Williams, Chairman of VERA and co-author 
of the proposals in Appendix 1. Mr Williams supports the recommendation to 
prioritise the provision of a new accessible railcar, and to utilise most of the 
available resources for that project.  

 
 
6.  CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 The provision of a new accessible railcar for the Volk’s Railway is considered the 

priority of the proposed improvements. Therefore, it is recommended that the 
additional budget allocated for the Volk’s Railway in 21/22 is prioritised for that 
project to give it the greatest opportunity to be achieved. 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
 

Financial Implications: 
 
7.1 Budget Council, in February 2021 allocated £0.140m capital investment for the 

Volks Railway. The recommendation is to prioritise most of these resources to a 
new accessible railcar. The estimated cost of a new accessible railcar is between 
£0.300m to £0.500m and therefore further funding will need to be identified 
before this project can be implemented. 

 
 
 Finance Officer Consulted: James Hengeveld Date: 24/05/21 
 
 
 

470



 
Legal Implications: 

 
7.2 If the project to provide a new accessible railcar proceeds it will need to be 

procured in accordance with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders and the 

procurement regulations. The action proposed is in line with the Council’s duty to 

remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 

characteristics under the Equality Act 2010.  

   
 Lawyer Consulted: Alice Rowland  Date: 21/05/21 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 The addition of an accessible rail car would greatly enhance the inclusivity of the 

provision which is a challenge for a heritage railway with the design of the 
existing carriages.  

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.4 The sustainability implications of a new accessible railcar would be given due 

consideration in the detailed design. 
 
Brexit Implications: 
 

7.5 There are no implications identified. 
 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
7.6 Visitor attractions can have a positive impact on the health and well-being of 

users, especially those such as the Volk’s Railway which are all part of the 
experience of a coastal resort. 

 
  
 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. ‘An Accessible Future for Volk’s Electric Railway’ 
 
Background Documents 
 
1. None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

471



472



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

An Accessible Future for 

Volk’s Electric Railway 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A proposal to Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

October 2020 

 

 

473



Executive Summary 

This document sets out a proposal by Volk’s Electric Railway Association (VERA) to 
radically change the future of the world’s oldest operating electric railway.  Built in 1883, 
Volk’s Electric Railway has run along Brighton’s seashore from the Aquarium and Palace 
Pier to Black Rock for 137 years, with only two short breaks in service during that time. 

 

The railway, officially designated as a Heritage Railway, is an under-utilised asset owned 
and operated by Brighton & Hove City Council. It has a route configuration that severely 
limits its ability to raise meaningful revenue.  Parts of the railway do little to impress the 
visitor especially between Banjo Groyne and Black Rock Station.  It is by no mistake that 
VERA has captioned the title photograph in this document as ‘Britain’s smelliest station?’ 
and it is this vista that attracts by far the most adverse comments from the railway’s 
passengers. 

 

The case for extending the railway towards, or even into, the new Black Rock 
Development at the site of the old Lido is compelling.  Not only would this remove the 
railway from the scourge of the present terminus but enable it to provide a public service 
throughout the year to and from a station that is eminently fit-for-purpose. 

 

Being built during the reign of Queen Victoria, the railway’s cars were not designed to be 
accessible to less able-bodied passengers but VERA has bold and ambitious plans to 
rectify this problem. Inaccessible transport, in any form, is an unsustainable situation for 
21st century Brighton and needs to be given due consideration when planning for the 
future. 

 

Although the railway benefitted from the Heritage Lottery Fund in 2015 -2017, VERA 
believes there is an obligation to go further in order to fully realise the potential that can be 
unlocked.  Despite the work that was done, there is little to inform the visitor to the seafront 
that they are heading for the Aquarium Station and that is unacceptable from a marketing 
perspective.  

 

For more than 25 years VERA has been assisting the Council with the operation and 
maintenance of Volk’s Electric Railway, providing skilled volunteer labour and, from time to 
time, financial support.  Of equal importance is the in-depth knowledge and appreciation of 
what the railway needs to become the ‘outstanding visitor attraction’ that it so richly 
deserves. 

 

The proposal set out in the following pages is in logical steps, each one costed to enable 
the next to achieve the maximum impact on public awareness and revenue.  With an 
overall ‘package’ cost of just under £1 million, if all steps were implemented in one 
financial year then payback could be achieved in 6 years, equivalent to a revenue benefit 
of £167,000 per annum.   

 

 

      1 
474



THE PROPOSAL 

Step 1 – Signage 

For some years and certainly since 2017 when the Heritage Lottery-funded project was 
finished, visitors arriving at the forecourt of Palace Pier have no idea where Volk’s Electric 
Railway is, even though they are only 400 metres from Aquarium Station.  There is, quite 
simply, nothing to direct them and no signage to tell them they have arrived! 

It is quite incomprehensible that the ‘oldest operating electric railway in the world’ is not 
seen from a distance when standing near the pier, looking eastwards.  This is what can 
been seen: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The cost of a quality sign, in weather-resistant material and frame, fully installed by 
professional sign fitters, is £5,000 - £6,000.  Adding a directional sign on a post near the 
pier would add another £1,500.  If this step results in just a 5% increase in railway 
patronage each season then the revenue benefit would be 7,600 single journeys x £1.99 
(average single fare) i.e. £15,124. Revenue will cover the cost in less than one 
season. 

Step 2 – Restoring the Aquarium North Siding 

The north siding at the Aquarium Station was isolated in the mid-1960’s for an operating 
experiment that was not deemed a success. The rails were subsequently lifted and this 
has imposed huge restrictions on the service capability of the railway; it was no longer 
possible to always have a train at the station, attracting attention and encouraging 
ridership.  

 

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

Two fishermen’s huts? An ice 
cream parlour? Or perhaps a 
café? 
 
This building is crying out for 
signage that says ‘Volk’s 
Electric Railway, established in 
1883 and still carrying 
passengers along Brighton’s 
seafront’ or something very 
similar.   
 
The sign could be illuminated 
at nighttime with low-energy 
LED lamps to good effect. 

 

Today, the main supporting girders are still in 
place so it is possible to restore the siding to its 
original form.  A new set of points will be required 
and a curve put into the end of the existing 
platform, in an area that passengers do not use. 
 
Almost immediately, a 3-car service could be run, 
increasing capacity by at least 10%.  For an 
expenditure of £25,000 the revenue benefit would 
be 15,300 x £1.99 i.e. £30,447 resulting in a 

payback within one season. 
      2 

475



Step 3 – New Accessible Railcar 

The youngest of the Volk’s fleet is a mere 94 years old, the oldest is 128 years.  When 
these were built there was not the slightest awareness of the needs of disabled persons, 
thus the cars are constructed in such a way that they cannot, and indeed should not, be 
altered in anyway.   

Even though the railway has accessible platforms, it has no accessible cars and means 
that wheelchairs have to be folded up, either being left at a station or awkwardly loaded on 
board, creating hazards for the driver and/or passengers.  This is a situation that is no 
longer acceptable and should be put right as a matter of the highest priority, in keeping 
with the Council’s policy of ‘supporting and caring for people with disabilities’. 

In 2015 VERA drew up a specification for a fully-accessible, weatherproof railcar for 
operation throughout the year and in all weathers.  It features power-operated doors, 
wheelchair spaces, good lighting and even heating. Certain seats are removable so it can 
also be used as a classroom for school visitors. Unfortunately, funding was not available at 
the time and the project fell silent.  However, with the prospect of substantial development 
at Black Rock there has never been a better time to purchase a brand-new vehicle for the 
transport link. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

      3 
476



This new railcar will be a significant improvement to the railway. As well as providing easy 
access for disabled persons, it will be modern, comfortable and can be used in poor 
weather when service is often suspended owing to the open construction of the older cars. 
With internal heating, the car could operate a basic service in winter months.  A car of this 
type, waiting in the new north siding at Aquarium Station, will deliver a powerful ‘we are 
open for business’ message. 

Depending on the final specification, mainly dictated by the type of electric control system 
used, the cost will be in the range £450,000 - £480,000.  Allowing for school visits, 
increased disabled persons ridership and a winter service, the estimated increase in 
passenger numbers is 25% per annum, giving a revenue benefit of 38,250 x £1.99 i.e. 
£76,117.  Payback on capital could therefore be achieved in 6 years. 

Step 4 – Providing Basic Shelter at Halfway Station 

Halfway Station serves the mid-point of the line, giving access to the children’s play area 
and the crazy golf with a café facility. It is also one of three passing loops, the others being 
known as the Western Loop and the Eastern Loop. Halfway station is exposed to the 
elements and very bleak, having lost its post-war canopy in the mid-1980’s.  When the 
weather is fine, there is no problem but when it is raining, would-be passengers do not wait 
around and revenue is lost.   

The solution is simple.  Provide a purpose-built modular shelter similar to those used at 
bus stops, basic but functional.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Passengers will greatly appreciate this improvement, which will add to the ‘visitor 
experience’.  Typical cost for an anti-vandal shelter similar to that illustrated is £4,000 and 
if it encourages a 1% increase in ridership then the revenue benefit will be 1,530 x £1.99 
i.e. £3,045, a payback in less than two seasons. 

Step 5 – Extending the railway at Black Rock 

By far the most important investment the Council can make for the railway is an extension 
beyond the existing terminus.  Black Rock Station is owned by Southern Water. It is a 
venting and pumping station for the Storm Water Collection drain but also serves as a 
platform at the end of the line with a small room that acts as the ticket office. Without 
doubt, it is not fit for purpose and is one of the most depressing sights to confront the 
railway passengers.  Looking tired and neglected, the drains emit a highly toxic 
combination of gases, particularly after a heavy storm when there is a high proportion of 
sewage content.  The gases given off, smelling like ‘rotten eggs’, are methane, ammonia, 
carbon dioxide and hydrogen sulphide (H2S), the latter being the most potent and 
extremely harmful if exposed to it for long periods.  When H2S combines with moisture it 

  

      4 

477



becomes highly-corrosive Sulphuric Acid that attacks metal, concrete and the human 
lungs.  The effects of this can be clearly seen and smelt at the platform and are a source 
of constant negative comment. 

It is not a pleasant experience for Volk’s Electric Railway passengers to be confronted with 
this stench at Black Rock Station.  It is also unpleasant and hazardous to staff working 
there.  It is degrading for the ‘oldest operating electric railway in the world’ to have to 
endure such disfigurement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As a matter of urgency, the railway must be extended beyond the present terminus to a 
point that will be close to the proposed Black Rock Development.  Initially, this could be to 
a temporary two-siding station, designed to be moved again if necessary and become a 
permanent building, perhaps inside the new complex.  Two sidings would enable a 4-car 
service to be operated. 

There are two options, the first is to extend the line in virtually a straight line, crossing the 
car park to the new station or secondly, to slew the line south of the Southern Water 
building and run parallel to the ‘promenade’.  These options are shown in the Appendix. 
The second option is preferred as it avoids having to install expensive barriers and signals 
at the car park entrance/exit and also provides the railway with a short storage siding just 
west of the existing platform. 

An extension, with modest capital outlay, will enable the railway to be a major contributor 
to the forthcoming ‘visitor attraction’ at Black Rock.  Estimates for this step range from 
£350,000 to £500,000 depending on the extent of civil works.  A new and more meaningful 
destination could well increase ridership by 30% or more, producing a revenue benefit of 
45,900 x £1.99 i.e. £91,341, a payback of 4 – 6 years.  The prestige element of this 
step will far outweigh that of revenue; it will give Brighton’s iconic railway a 
renewed purpose. 

END. 

This proposal has been prepared and presented by Adrian Richards and Peter Williams on behalf of Volk’s 

Electric Railway Association. 

Notes 

1. Costs do not include VAT. 

2. Revenue benefits based on 2019 results: Tickets sold 74,853, equivalent to 152,858 
one-way passenger journeys at average fare of £1.99.  Total revenue £304,272.27 

3. The Association was established in 1995 and is now a Registered Charity, No.1186970,                     
dedicated to supporting and safeguarding Volk’s Electric Railway. 

  

      5 

478



 

 

New station 
within BR 
Development 

 Red route more direct but will involve 
signalled crossing/barriers for access to car park. 
 
 Blue route avoids ‘smelly’ pumping station 
but will require pedestrian separation. A short 
siding can be created for engineering trains. 
 
 

Volk’s Electric Railway Association – Proposal for extension of Volk’s Electric 

Railway to new Black Rock Development October 2020 

APPENDIX 

479



480


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Anti-racism pledge update
	8 Tourism Recovery Plan
	Tourism Recovery Plan APX. n 1
	Tourism Recovery Plan APX. n 2
	Tourism Recovery Plan APX. n 3

	9 MHCLG Funding Award
	MHCLG Funding Award APX. n 1

	10 CIL Governance & S106 Member Protocol
	CIL Governance & S106 Member Protocol APX. A
	CIL Governance & S106 Member Protocol APX. E
	CIL Governance & S106 Member Protocol APX. B - Citywide CIL
	CIL Governance & S106 Member Protocol APX.C - Neighbourhood CIL
	CIL Governance & S106 Member Protocol APX D - Member Protocol

	11 Beach Chalet Feasibility Study and Letting Policy
	Beach Chalet Feasibility Study and Letting Policy APX. n 1
	Beach Chalet Feasibility Study and Letting Policy APX. n 2
	Beach Chalet Feasibility Study and Letting Policy APX. n 3
	Beach Chalet Feasabulity Study and Lettign Policy Consultation Responses APX4n
	All respondents

	Beach Chalet Feasability Study and Letting Policy EIA APX.n5.docx

	12 Urban Design Framework Supplementary Planning Document (UDF SPD)
	UDF SPD APX. n 1
	About this SPD
	Structure of this SPD
	National Planning Policy
	Local Planning Policy
	1. Context
	1.1. Environmental conditions
	1.2. Neighbourhood character
	SECTION B: Tall buildings
	SECTION C: Planning process

	8.1. Community and stakeholder engagement
	SECTION D: Appendices


	1.3. Composition of street scene
	1.4. Views and landmarks
	1.5. Opportunities for masterplanning
	2. Spaces between buildings
	2.1. Active and inclusive travel
	2.2. Outdoor amenity
	2.3. Landscaping, biodiversity and water
	2.4. Mix of uses and active frontages
	2.5. Artistic element
	2.6. Materials and management
	2.7. Phasing development

	3. Buildings
	3.1. Resource performance and use
	3.2. Designing at density
	3.3. Housing types and mix of uses
	3.4. Greening
	3.5. Materials and maintenance
	3.6. Waste storage and collection 
	3.7. Deliveries and servicing facilities

	4. Definition
	5. Tall Building areas
	5.1. Area 1: Brighton Marina
	5.2. Area 2: Brighton Station / New England
	5.3. Area 3: Central Seafront
	5.4. Area 4: Eastern Road / Edward Street
	5.5. Area 5: Hove Station
	5.6. Area 6: Lewes Road corridor
	5.7. Area 7: London Road / Preston Road
	5.8. Area 8: Western Seafront/Kingsway
	5.9. Area 9: Shoreham Harbour

	6. Tall Building Statements
	7. Pre-application process
	7.1. Vision and site strategy
	7.2. Conceptual design options
	7.3. Preferred design concept
	7.4. Developed design

	8. Design advice services
	9. Communicating design ideas well 
	9.1. A day in the life

	10. Extended list of policies and documents
	11. Neighbourhood sensitivity to change and priorities for enhancement
	12. Strategic viewpoints and landmarks
	12.1. Viewpoints 
	12.2. Strategic approach points
	12.3. Landmarks

	13. Tall Building Statement guidelines
	13.1. Context
	13.2. Spaces between buildings
	13.3. Buildings


	Draft UDF SPD consutltation report APX. n 2
	1. About this report
	2. Summary of findings
	 5 dedicated online events for those stakeholders that had formally requested to be kept informed about planning consultations;
	 12 online briefings for local city partnerships that registered an interest in helping to promote the consultation among their members;
	 a survey posted on the council’s online Consultation Portal made available to all those stakeholders / individuals who have registered an interest to be kept informed of planning consultations and anyone else who wanted to comment on the document; and
	 opportunities for people without internet access to view consultation documents using computers available in council libraries, given that libraries were running a restricted service and were not able place paper copies of the document at the librar...
	 There were 15 responses were received regarding this section of the guidance.
	 Respondents put forward ideas for making structure clearer, improving illustrations/diagrams and/or using more local good practice examples.
	 Some suggested that the guidance is made mandatory and/or strengthened while others requested a clearer steer that considerations set out in the guidance are not mandatory and/or should be treated flexibly.
	 A maximum of 22 responses were received regarding this section of the guidance.
	 On average two out of three respondents strongly support or tend to support the overarching criteria for determining the quality of new development, priorities and good practice examples provided in the Context, Spaces between buildings and Building...
	 More than half of respondents strongly support or tend to support all but category 3A (urban areas where positive and pro-active measures required to secure major enhancement) of the neighbourhood categorisation set out in heading 1.2: Neighbourhood...
	 Detailed comments received ranged from:
	 ensuring new development is in keeping with the surrounding area;
	 suggestions for new strategic views and landmarks;
	 strengthening guidance on active travel (including cycling and walking standards and 15/20-minute neighbourhood principles); to
	 equal access and securing biodiversity net gains.
	 A maximum of 37 responses were received regarding this section of the guidance
	 On average half or just over half of respondents strongly supported or tended to support the identified indicative boundaries and the proposed design considerations for tall building areas except for Area 9 Shoreham Harbour.
	 In regard to height ranges, there was roughly a three-way split as per table below:
	 Two out of three respondents strongly objected to the indicative boundaries, height ranges and design considerations set out for Tall Building Area 9 Shoreham Harbour. Respondents made comments/suggestions to address issues raised including:
	 ensuring greater consideration of the impact of wind and overshadowing upon open spaces for people and nature; to
	 encouraging ‘tall’ and ‘very tall’ development only in exceptional circumstances and/or when these provide greater benefits like, for example, more affordable housing.
	 A maximum of 15 responses were received regarding this section of the guidance.
	 Three out of four respondents strongly agreed or tended to agree with the stages in the design process.
	 Detailed comments received included:
	 the need to encourage applicants to factor in design priorities at the earliest stages of the design process; and
	 for the Local Authority and applicants to raise the standards and consistency in public consultations by positively engaging with local communities at the various stages of the design process.
	 There were 14 responses were received regarding this section of the guidance.
	 Comments involved requests for the detailed list of documents to be improved and extended to include all relevant Planning Advisory Notes (PAN) and/or available external guidance to setting maximum densities, explaining what constitutes 'enhancement...

	 There is broad support for most aspects of the guidance.
	 The graph on the right indicates the maximum number of responses received for each section. Section B Tall buildings is shown as attracting the most interest. It is important to note that most of theses focused specifically on guidance provided for Tall Building Area 9 Shoreham Harbour.
	3. Responses received
	 24 were received via Consultation Portal (2 of these via response forms); and
	 53 were received via email.
	 Brighton Active Travel;
	 Brighton & Hove Community Land Trust;
	 Brighton & Hove Food Partnership;
	 Brighton & Hove Local Access Forum;
	 Brighton & Hove Planning Agents Forum (PAF);
	 Brunswick Town Association;
	 Citydesigner on behalf of advisors to Brighton Central-Churchill Square masterplan;
	 Cycling UK, Brighton and Hove;
	 Environment Agency;
	 Friends of the South Downs / South Downs Society;
	 Green Varndean Action Group;
	 Highways England;
	 Historic England;
	 Hove Civic Society;
	 Kingsway and West Hove Residents Association;
	 Lichfields on behalf of Landsec;
	 Montpelier and Clifton Hill Association;
	 Natural England;
	 Network Rail;
	 North Laine Community Association;
	 Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex;
	 Quad on behalf of St William Homes;
	 Rottingdean Parish;
	 RSPB England - Brighton Office;
	 Savills on behalf of Legal & General Investment Management;
	 Shoreham Port Authority;
	 South Downs National Park Authority;
	 Southern Water;
	 Sport England;
	 Sussex & Surrey Police;
	 Sussex Wildlife Trusts;
	 Sustrans; and
	 The Brighton Society.

	4. Consultation findings
	 Respondent details: Q1-Q4.
	 Contents and About this SPD: Q5.
	 Local priorities: Q6-Q21.
	 Tall buildings: Q22-Q24.
	 Planning Process: Q25-Q29
	 Appendices: Q30
	Q3      In responding to this survey, are you:
	Q4      What is your Postcode?
	Contents and About this SPD
	Q5     Do you have any comments on the table of CONTENTS and/or ABOUT THIS SPD sections of the Draft SPD (pages 1-5)? Please reference page number if possible.

	SECTION A: Local priorities
	Q6     To what extent do you support or object and/or have comments regarding the OVERARCHING CRITERIA identified for determining the quality of new development in the city?
	Q7      Do you have any comments regarding these criteria?
	1. Context
	Q8     To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES set out in the Context sub-sections of the Draft SPD (pages 7-16)?
	Q9     To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES provided for each of the Context sub-sections helpful or unhelpful?
	Q10   Do you want to suggest GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES that better illustrate your comments and/or the design priorities identified in the Context section?
	 Providing examples for 1.2 Neighbourhood character and 1.4 Views and landmarks; and
	 Using examples of creative/innovative incorporation of non-petrol-fuelled vehicles and community consultation.

	Q11   To what extent do you support or object to the NEIGHBOURHOOD CATEGORISATION set out in sub-section 1.2. Neighbourhood character of the Draft SPD (pages 9-10)?
	 Requests for review 'urban' and 'suburban' classification of particular areas;
	 Concerns that emphasis on preserving and piecemeal enhancement for most areas limits scope for high-density, high-quality, contemporary design;
	 Making Categorisation map clearer by using greater contrast to differentiate colours and adding SDNP boundary; and
	 Concerns about the impact neighbourhood gentrification could have upon affordability (i.e. housing tenure and rent levels) in poorer neighbourhoods which tend to be classed as being ‘less sensitive to change’.

	Q12   To what extent do you support or object to the STRATEGIC VIEWS LANDMARKS AND APPROACHES identified in sub-section 1.4. Views and landmarks of the Draft SPD (pages 13-14)?
	 Requests for additional views to be included from Clifton Hill, Peace Statue, Bevendean Down and Surrenden Road;
	 Acknowledge importance of the setting and views to and from the SDNP and for applicants to get input from SDNPA prior to submitting an application to Brighton & Hove City Council;
	 Ensuring views do not hold back new development and/or that new development enhances views; and
	 Ensure foreground features do not hide features in the background.
	 Requests for Royal Crescent and other elements of Kemp Town, i360, Rampion Wind Farm and Peace Statue to be added to list of identified landmarks; and
	 Consider view corridors to landmarks.
	 Requests for coastal approaches by sea of East-West along the NCN and the England Coast Path and A259 to be added to list of identified approaches; and
	 Consider improving main routes into the city for cyclists, buses and pedestrians.

	Q13   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Context section of the Draft SPD? Please reference the sub-section and page number.

	2. Spaces between buildings
	Q14   To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES set out in the Spaces between buildings sub-sections of the Draft SPD (pages 17-29)?
	Q15   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Spaces between buildings section of the Draft SPD? Please reference the sub-section and page number.
	Q16   To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES provided for each of the Spaces between buildings sub-sections helpful or unhelpful?
	Q17   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate your comments and/or the design priorities identified in the SPACES BETWEEN BUILDINGS section? If yes, please provide details below.
	 Diagram illustrating relationship between built form and public accessible space;
	 Inclusive and commercial cycling;
	 Multi-function streets and facilities designed for electric and/or autonomous vehicles; and
	 Food growing.


	3. Buildings
	Q18   To what extent do you support or object to the DESIGN PRIORITIES set out in the Buildings sub-sections of the Draft SPD (pages 30-39)?
	Q19   Do you have any additional COMMENTS on the Buildings section of the Draft SPD? Please reference the sub-section and page number.
	Q20  To what extent do you find the GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES provided for each of the Buildings sub-sections helpful or unhelpful?
	Q21   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate your comments and/or the design priorities identified in the BUILDINGS section? If yes, please provide details below.
	 Three respondents asking that good practice examples of passive, active surveillance and accessible parking, dropped kerbs and covered, easy to access indoor and outdoor cycle storage, in particular in flatted development be provided;
	 Two respondents suggested using local examples to illustrate application of circular economy principles;
	 One respondent suggested using less onerous, easier to achieve examples of green walls than that of the All England Club; and
	 Another using more examples of Passivhaus development.



	SECTION B: Tall buildings
	Q22  To what extent do you support and/or object to the aspects of the current framework as set out in SPGBH15 Tall buildings that have been progressed into the Draft SPD?
	Q23   To what extent to you support or object to the additional information provided for each of the tall building areas set out in City Plan Part One Policy CP12 Urban Design?
	 ‘strongly objected’ or ‘tended to object’ to height ranges set out for Areas 4 Eastern Road / Edward Street and 6 Lewes Road corridor;
	 ‘strongly supported’ or ‘tended to support’ the height ranges set out for Areas 1 Brighton Marina, 2 Brighton Station / New England, 3 Central Seafront, 5 Hove Station and 8 Western Seafront/Kingsway; and
	 ‘neither supported nor objected’ to height ranges set out for Area 7 London Road / Preston Road.

	Q24   Do you have any additional comments on SECTION B TALL BUILDINGS of the Draft SPD?
	 Four respondents considered that given the adverse impact of wind and overshadowing from tall buildings it is important, when assessing proposals, to ensure these do not create inhospitable open spaces for people and plant growing;
	 Three respondents who pointed out that limited availability of space for new development in the city will mean that proposals for taller buildings need to be considered as an option;
	 Three respondents who stressed that ‘tall’ and ‘very tall’ development is harmful and/or unacceptable and should only be considered in exceptional circumstances and/or when providing greater benefits like, for example, more affordable housing;
	 Two respondents considered given the impact of air pollution upon tall building users, there is a need to ensure, when assessing proposals, continuous long-term user exposure, in growth and/or congested areas of the city is avoided; and
	 Two respondents requested that the need for tall buildings to provide safe, secure, accessible cycle parking and storage with e-bike charging points in fire safe lockers and non-standard cycle facilities be emphasised;
	 One respondent requested that the tall buildings definition be simplified and/or made clearer and that the Tall Buildings Statement guidelines set out in Section D be condensed and incorporated into the Tall Building Statement section. They also ask...
	 One respondent requested that the need to facilitate walking and cycling and identify cycling routes be strengthen and for funding opportunities available to deliver improvements to be added; and
	 Another that a request for applicants to undertake a townscape and visual impact assessment and to agree inclusion of transport chapter as part of an EIA be included in the guidance.


	SECTION C: Planning process
	Q25  To what extent do you agree and/or disagree with the STAGES IN THE DESIGN PROCESS set out in Pre-application process sub-section of the Draft SPD?
	Q26   Do you have any comments regarding the PRE-APPLICATION PROCESS section of the Draft SPD?
	 Five respondents highlight the importance of factoring in design priorities at the earliest stages of the design process (i.e. active design, ecological assessments, gender neutral facilities, food growing, daylight/sunlight);
	 Four respondents feel the standards and consistency in public consultations by the Local Authority and applicants could be raised by, for example, adding guidance on community consultation and/or promoting the use of consultation rooms where design ...
	 Four respondents want to ensure poor design is refused and/or suggest upgrading wording from ‘council recommends’ to ‘require';
	 Three respondents stress the need for applicants to positively engage with local communities at the various stages of the design process (i.e. more often and meaningfully rather than as part of a tick-box exercise);
	 Two respondents ask for greater clarity on the required number, type and arrangements of design consultations given that expectation of all applicants entering into 3 pre-app consultations and the ability of the LPA to cope with increased demand is ...
	 One respondent finds information about the nature and amount of information required at pre-application stage too prescriptive, failing to recognise the demand of different types of application (i.e. detailed, outline or hybrid) and the role of plan...
	 One respondent suggested cross referencing the design stages with the RIBA Plan of Work 2020; and
	 One respondent stressed the need for applicant and design team expectations to be matched by reciprocal expectations of BHCC departments in facilitating a smooth, linear assessment process.

	Q27   Do you have any comments regarding the DESIGN ADVICE SERVICES section of the Draft SPD?
	 Three respondents to signpost free design advice/review delivered by non-governmental organisations that are not part of council services (i.e. Conservation Advisory Group, Brighton & Hove amenity societies and Sustrans);
	 Two respondents to ensure design advice benefits from local knowledge;
	 The Environment Agency to signpost their charged for service to provide detailed and bespoke pre-application advice; and
	 One respondent to encourage applicants to collaborate with the council’s Equalities co-ordinators, local trans groups and University of Brighton to create leading best practice in trans-inclusive design.

	Q28   Do you have any comments regarding the COMMUNICATING DESIGN IDEAS WELL section of the Draft SPD?
	 One respondent to provide guidance on the quality and size of supporting documents;
	 One respondent to simplify the content and reduce the length of documents given that this can be a barrier to engaging local communities and non-experts;
	 One respondent to refer to Design Council online guidance on how to write, read and use Design Statements; and
	 One respondent to promote use of 3D modelling as consultation tool.
	 Two respondents to identify some assigned personas to guide assessment such as, for example, a disabled cyclist, a transgender and/or resident living in affordable housing accommodation; and
	 One resident to include assessment of performance over the lifetime of the development in regard to, for example, maintenance, responses to climate change, changes in use, adaption and/or re-assembly.

	Q29   Do you want to suggest good practice examples that better illustrate your comments and/or the examples provided in the PLANNING PROCESS section? If yes, please provide details below.

	SECTION D: Appendices
	Q30   Do you have any comments regarding the Appendices section of the Draft SPD?



	Draft UDF SPD consutltation report APPENDICES APX. n 3
	Transcripts of Consultation Portal responses
	Transcripts of email responses

	You said We responded table APX. n 4

	13 Volk's Railway Potential Improvements
	Volk's Railway Potential Improvements APX. n 1




